E-ISSN 1309 - 2251

KAFKAS ÜNİVERSİTESİ veteriner fakültesi dergisi

Journal of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kafkas University

Published Bi-monthly

Volume: 30 Issue: 3 (May - June) Year: 2024

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

E-ISSN: 1309-2251

This journal is published bi-monthly, by the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Kafkas, Kars - Turkey

This journal is indexed and abstracted in:

- Web of Science Core Collection: Science Citation Index Expanded (since 2007)
- Additional Web of Science Indexes: Essential Science Indicators Zoological Record
- CABI Veterinary Science Database
- DOAJ
- EBSCO Academic Search Premier
- Elsevier SCOPUS
- Elsevier EMBASE
- SOBİAD Atıf Dizini
- TÜBİTAK/ULAKBİM TR-Dizin
- Türkiye Atıf Dizini

Address for Correspondence

Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi Editörlüğü 36040, Kars - TÜRKİYE Phone: +90 474 2426807-2426836/5228 Fax: +90 474 2426853 E-mail: vetdergi@kafkas.edu.tr

ELECTRONIC EDITION http://vetdergikafkas.org

ONLINE SUBMISSION http://submit.vetdergikafkas.org

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

OFFICIAL OWNER

Dr. Mete CİHAN Dean of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kafkas University E-mail: vetfak@kafkas.edu.tr; ORCID: 0000-0001-9883-2347

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Dr. İsa ÖZAYDIN Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: iozaydin@kafkas.edu.tr; aras_isa@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-4652-6377

MANAGING EDITOR

Dr. Özgür AKSOY Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: drozguraksoy@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-4800-6079

LANGUAGE EDITOR

Dr. Hasan ÖZEN Balıkesir University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: hasanozen@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-6820-2536

STATISTICS EDITOR

Dr. İ. Safa GÜRCAN Ankara University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: sgurcan@ankara.edu.tr; ORCID: 0000-0002-0738-1518

Associate Editors

Dr. Fatih BÜYÜK Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: fatihbyk08@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-3278-4834

Dr. Erol AYDIN Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: dr-erolaydin@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0001-8427-5658

Dr. Ali YİĞİT Dokuz Eylül University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: aliyig@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-1180-3517

Dr. Serap KORAL TAŞÇI Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: serapkoral@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0001-8025-7137

Dr. Ekin Emre ERKILIÇ Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: ekin_emre_24@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-2461-5598

Associate Managing Editor

Dr. Semine DALGA Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: sdalga91@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0001-7227-2513

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org

E-ISSN: 1309-2251

EDITORIAL BOARD

Prof. Dr. Harun AKSU, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Marycz KRZYSZTOF, European Institute of Technology, Prof. Dr. M. Sinan AKTAŞ, Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE POLAND Prof. Dr. Feray ALKAN, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Ercan KURAR, Necmettin Erbakan University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Divakar AMBROSE, University of Alberta, CANADA Prof. Dr. Hasan Rüştü KUTLU, Çukurova University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Mustafa ARICAN, Selçuk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Erdoğan KÜÇÜKÖNER, Süleyman Demirel University, Prof. Dr. Selim ASLAN, Near East University, NORTHERN CYPRUS TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Sevil ATALAY VURAL, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Levan MAKARADZE, Georgian State Agrarian University, Prof. Dr. Tamer ATAOĞLU, İstinye University, TÜRKİYE GEORGIA Prof. Dr. Levent AYDIN, Bursa Uludağ University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Erdal MATUR, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Les BAILLIE, Cardiff School of Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Prof. Dr. Muhammad Aamer MEHMOOD, Government College Sciences, UK University Faisalabad, PAKISTAN Prof. Dr. Urban BESENFELDER, University of Veterinary Sciences, Prof. Dr. Erdoğan MEMİLİ, Prairie View A&M University, USA Prof. Dr. Nora MIMOUNE, National High School of Veterinary AUSTRIA Prof. Dr. Kemal BÜYÜKGÜZEL, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Medicine, ALGERIA TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Cevat NİSBET, Ondokuz Mayıs University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. K. Paige CARMICHAEL, The University of Georgia, USA Prof. Dr. Vedat ONAR, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Burhan ÇETİNKAYA, Fırat University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Abdullah ÖZEN, Fırat University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Recep ÇIBIK, Bursa Uludağ University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Zeynep PEKCAN, Kırıkkale University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Ali DAŞKIN, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Alessandra PELAGALLI, University of Naples Federico II, Prof. Dr. Ömer Orkun DEMİRAL, Erciyes University, TÜRKİYE ITALY Prof. Dr. İbrahim DEMİRKAN, Afyon Kocatepe University, Prof. Dr. Abdul Qayyum RAO, Centre of Excellence in Molecular TÜRKİYE Biology University of the Punjab, PAKISTAN Prof. Dr. Hasan Hüseyin DÖNMEZ, Selçuk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Muhammad Asif RAZA, MNS University of Agriculture, Prof. Dr. Emrullah EKEN, Selçuk University, TÜRKİYE PAKISTAN Prof. Dr. Marcia I. ENDRES, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN, Prof. Dr. Michael RÖCKEN, Justus-Liebeg University, GERMANY Prof. Dr. Sabine SCHÄFER-SOMI, University of Veterinary Medicine USA Prof. Dr. Ayhan FİLAZİ, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Vienna, AUSTRIA Prof. Dr. Bahadır GÖNENÇ, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Çiğdem TAKMA, Ege University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Aytekin GÜNLÜ, Selçuk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Fotina TAYANA, Sumy National Agrarian University, Prof. Dr. İ. Safa GÜRCAN, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE UKRAINE Prof. Dr. Zafer ULUTAŞ, Ondokuz Mayıs University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Hasan Hüseyin HADİMLİ, Selçuk Üniversitesi, KONYA Prof. Dr. Johannes HANDLER, Freie Universität Berlin, GERMANY Prof. Dr. Cemal ÜN, Ege University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Armağan HAYIRLI, Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Oya ÜSTÜNER AYDAL, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Prof. Dr. Riaz HUSSAIN, Islamia University of Bahawalpur, TÜRKİYE PAKISTAN Prof. Dr. Axel WEHREND, Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen, Prof. Dr. Ali İŞMEN, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, TÜRKİYE GERMANY Prof. Dr. Fatih Mehmet KANDEMİR, Aksaray University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Thomas WITTEK, Vetmeduni Vienna, AUSTRIA Prof. Dr. Mehmet Çağrı KARAKURUM, Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy Prof. Dr. Rıfat VURAL, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Cenk YARDIMCI, Ondokuz Mayıs University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Mükerrem KAYA, Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Alparslan YILDIRIM, Erciyes University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Hüseyin YILMAZ, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Prof. Dr. Servet KILIÇ, Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University, TÜRKİYE TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Ömür KOÇAK, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Zeki YILMAZ, Bursa Uludag University, TÜRKİYE

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

THE REFEREES LIST OF THIS ISSUE (in alphabetical order)

Ahmet Mutlu GÖZLER Recep Tayyip Erdoğan Üniversitesi Su Ürünleri Fakültesi Ahmet ÖZAK Ondokuz Mayıs Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Aksem AKSOY Kafkas Üniversitesi Mühendislik-Mimarlık Fakültesi Alireza LOTFI Islamic Azad Unversity, Ilkchi Branch, Animal Husbandry, Iran Cihat CELİK Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit Üniversitesi Çaycuma Gıda ve Tarım MYO Çağrı GÜLTEKİN Yakın Doğu Üniversitesi veteriner Fakültesi Ondokuz Mayıs Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Didem PEKMEZCİ Ebru ERAVCI İstanbul Üniversitesi-Cerrahpaşa Veteriner Fakültesi Elif DOĞAN Kastamonu Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Enes AKYÜZ Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Erdoğan UZLU Balıkesir Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Erkan SAY Çukurova Üniversitesi Ceyhan Veteriner Fakültesi Funda YİĞİT İstanbul Üniversitesi-Cerrahpaşa Veteriner Fakültesi Hakan ÜSTÜNER Bursa Uludağ Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Lahore, Pakistan Haroon AKBAR Balıkesir Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Hasan Tarık ATMACA Hasan ÖZEN Balıkesir Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Hatice İSKENDER Artvin Çoruh Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Bursa Uludağ Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Hüseyin YILDIZ İsmail TONTUL Necmettin Erbakan Üniversitesi Mühendislik Fakültesi Aydın Adnan Menderes Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Levent KARAGENC Mudassar MOHIUDDIN Islamia University of Bahawalpur, Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Pakistan Nail Tekin ÖNDER Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Nedzad HADZIOMEROVIC University of Sarajevo, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Bosnia and Herzegowina Nilüfer SABUNCUOĞLU ÇOBANAtatürk Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Özgür CELEBİ Kafkas Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Özgür ÖZYİĞİT Bursa Uludağ Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Sait EKİNCİ Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi Siyami KARAHAN Kırıkkale Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Ufuk KAYA Hatay Mustafa Kemal Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Yavuz ÖZTÜRKLER Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Yesari ERÖKSÜZ Fırat Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Yonca Betil KABAK Ondokuz Mayıs Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Yücel MERAL Ondokuz Mayıs Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

CONTENTS	
REVIEW	
Possible Threats of the Presence of Non-Native Invasive Land Snail Species in Türkiye HARLIOĞLU MM, BATOOL Z, ODABAŞI DA, AHMADOVA K (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31433)	293
RESEARCH ARTICLES	
Examination of the Vertebral Heart Scale and Anatomical Structure of Different Dog Breeds by Computed Tomography PARKAN YARAMIŞ Ç, OLĞUN ERDIKMEN D, ALTUNDAĞ Y, ÖZKAN E, GÜZEL BC (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.30599)	305
Estrous Cycle Length in the Algerian Arbia Goat: Exfoliative Vaginal Cytology and Serum Progesterone Levels YAHIA A, HAMMAMI N, SAIDANI K, HAMRAT K, MIMOUNE N (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.30898)	311
Temperature Humidity Index: Influence on Milk Yield and Milk Composition of Multiparous West African Dwarf Does YUSUFF AT, BADMOS AA, ALLI OI, CHIMEZIE VO, ADEYEMI SA, FAYEYE TR (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.30997)	319
Effects of Dietary Supplementation with <i>Clostridium butyricum</i> on Rumen Fermentation, Rumen Microbiota and Feces in Beef Cattle HE J, WU Z, YU L, LI L, ZHAO G, WANG D, XIANGXUE XIE X (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31114)	325
Effect of Dietary Inclusion of Alfalfa Polysaccharide on Performance and Immune System Efficacy of Broiler Chickens DONG Y, WANG L, ZHANG M, ZHANG K, ZHANG S (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31166)	335
Immunohistochemical Localization of Leptin and Ghrelin in Kidney Tissue of Capsaicin Administered Diabetic and Non-diabetic Rats BINGÖL SA, DEPREM T, İLHAN AKSU S, KORAL TAŞÇI S, ERMUTLU DG, ASLAN Ş (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31202)	341
Seroprevalence and Assessment of Risk Factors Associated to <i>Borrelia burgdorferi</i> Infection in Egyptian Horses ALRUHAILI MH, MARZOK M, GATTAN HS, SALEM M, ABD EL-LATEEF HM, SELIM A (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31264)	349
Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells Facilitate Alveolar Bone Remodeling in Periodontitis Rats During Orthodontic Tooth Movement Through STAT3/β-Catenin WANG H, GONG F, WU Z, LAI D, WU K, TIAN X (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31356)	355
The Effect of <i>Ferula communis</i> L. on Body-Relative Organ Weight, Serum and Tissue Oxidative Status, Biochemical and Pathological Changes in Rats Exposed to Continuous Light BOĞA KURU B, MAKAV M, YILDIZ G, ÖLMEZ M, KURU M, BEKTAŞOĞLU F, BEŞEREN H, ŞAHIN T, KIRMIZIBAYRAK T (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31403)	363
Probiotic Edible Film Added with Aqueous Clove Extract Milk Powder ABDUL KALAM SALEENA L, NYAM KL, PUI LP (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.30895)	375
Response Surface Methodology Mediated Optimization of Medium Components for Growth Density and Rate of <i>Mycoplasma gallisepticum</i> SUN Y, YU Y, ZHAO X, ZHAO J, XIA X, SHEN Z, LI S, CHENG L (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31651)	383

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

CONTENTS							
CASE REPORT							
Persistent Left Cranial Vena Cava in a Cat YILMAZ Z, KOCATÜRK M, KOCH J (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31186)	393						
Concurrent Occurrence of Aneurysmal Bone Cyst and Fibrous Dysplasia in the Mandibular Bone of a Neonatal Calf EROKSUZ Y, AKDENIZ INCILI C, TANRISEVER M, EROKSUZ H (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31261)							
Retinoblastoma-Like Tumor with Brain Metastasis in a Border Collie ÖZGENCIL FE, ÇERKEZ EE, YAZAN E, DIKBAŞ TSATSARONIS N, KULEYINOĞLU Ö, ÇAĞLAR V, ÖZDEMIR D, GÖKÇE AP, GÜREL A, ÜLGENALP O (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31363)							
Ethmoidal Meningoencephalocele in an Anatolian Shepherd Dog PERVAZ ALTUNYUVA D (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31535)	407						

REVIEW

Possible Threats of the Presence of Non-Native Invasive Land Snail Species in Türkiye

Muzaffer Mustafa HARLIOĞLU¹ [©] Zahra BATOOL¹ [©] Deniz Anıl ODABAŞI² [©] Konul AHMADOVA³ ^(*) [©]

¹ Fisheries Faculty, Department of Fish Cultivation, Fırat University, TR-23119 Elazığ - TÜRKİYE

² Marine Science and Technology Faculty, Department of Marine and Freshwater Biology, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, TR-17020 Çanakkale - TÜRKIYE

³ School of Higher Technologies and Innovative Engineering, Department of Natural Sciences, Western Caspian University, III Parallel, 21 Ahmad Rajabli, Baku, AZE1072, AZERBAIJAN



^(*) **Corresponding author:** Konul AHMADOVA Phone: +994 50 426 4029

E-mail: konul.sbio@gmail.com

How to cite this article?

Harlıoğlu MM, Batool Z, Odabaşı DA, Ahmadova K: Possible threats of the presence of non-native invasive land snail species in Türkiye. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 293-303, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31433

Article ID: KVFD-2024-31433 Received: 02.01.2024 Accepted: 20.03.2024 Published Online: 02.04.2024

Abstract

Land snails, including some economically important species, are commonly found in forests and mountainous regions of Türkiye. Türkiye's large geomorphological region and four surrounding seas, which offer a variety of malacofauna, help Türkiye achieve an endemism grade of over 65%. Despite extensive research over the past few decades, we still lack a sufficient understanding of the species identification of land snails in Türkiye, particularly in areas like forested mountain regions, and it is assumed that there are more than 1000 taxa in total. This review emphasizes the existence of invasive non-native snail species in Türkiye, such as Arion ater (Linnaeus, 1758) and Arion vulgaris Moquin-Tandon, 1855, which have a negative impact on agricultural and horticultural output. In addition to these species, Theba pisana, Cornu aspersum, Xeropicta derbentina, Xeropicta krynickii, Cernuella virgata and Eobania vermiculata are also found in Türkiye as nonnative land snail species. Moreover, it also places a strong emphasis on the necessity of managing invasive species to reduce their detrimental effects on natural ecosystems by giving examples from the world and covers the predictions about the possible threats that the presence of non-native invasive land snail species in Türkiye may pose in the future.

Keywords: Arion ater, Arion vulgaris, Crop loss, Ecosystems, Environmental problem, Malacofauna

INTRODUCTION

Compared to many countries, Türkiye's area is very vast (approximately 1650 km from east to west and about 570 km from south to north) and contains numerous biotopes from extremely damp subtropical to nearly wildernesslike conditions ^[1]. In addition, Türkiye is surrounded by four seas: the Black Sea, the Mediterranean Sea, the Aegean Sea, and the Sea of Marmara. Thus, Türkiye has a seaboard longer than 8.300 km. These seas differ in terms of parameters such as their biological content, temperature, salinity, and climatic conditions^[2]. The fact that Türkiye has such a wide geomorphological area and the overlap of many important biogeographic structures in its region has caused it to have an endemism degree of over 65% [1]. In addition, 44% of the alpine land snail fauna is endemic to Türkiye [3]. It has been reported that 220 species of 74 genus of terrestrial snails detected in Türkiye

are endemic to Anatolia ^[1]. However, land snails, which are endemic to Türkiye, mostly belong to the Monacha (Stylommatophora: Hygromiidae) Fitzinger, 1833, Albinaria (Stylommatophora: Clausiliidae) Vest, 1867, and Oxychilus (Stylommatophora: Oxychilidae) Fitzinger, 1833 genera (20, 13 and 12 species, respectively). For example, Meijeriella canaliculata (Stylommatophora: Enidae) Bank, 1985, Metafruticicola dedegoelensis (Stylommatophora: Hygromiidae) Hausdorf, Gümüş & Yıldırım, 2004^[4], Bulgarica denticulata (Stylommatophora: Clausiliidae) (Olivier, 1801), Assyriella guttata (Stylommatophora: Helicidae) (Olivier, 1804)^[5] and Monacha samsunensis (L. Pfeiffer, 1868)^[6] are endemic species of Türkiye. On the other hand, Helix lucorum (Stylommatophora: Helicidae) Linnaeus, 1758 is also considered to be a semi-endemic species for the country because it is also found outside the country ^[7,8].

The first land snails were recorded in Türkiye in 1801. After this record, Türkiye's land snails continued to be researched and a significant number of articles were published, especially in the last fifty years, including approximately one-third of the number of taxa considered valid today^[1]. However, it is thought that our knowledge about the species identification of land snails in Türkiye is still insufficient despite many investigations carried out in recent decades. Snail species in some areas, such as most forested mountain areas, are nearly fully unknown. Therefore, although it is assumed that many species have not yet been registered, the total count of species inhabiting Türkiye is estimated to presumably exceed 1000 taxa^[1]. On the other hand, although the species belonging to the Achatinidae family are not native species to Türkiye, the term land snail in the Special Hygiene Rules for Animal Foods Regulation of the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry refers to the terrestrial gastropods of Helix pomatia Linnaeus, 1758, Helix aspersa Müller, 1774, Helix lucorum species and the species belonging to the Achatinidae (Stylommatophora) Swainson, 1840 family^[9]. In addition to the presence of plenty of native land snail species of Türkiye, the presence of non-native land snail species has also been reported in the country. For this reason, this paper aims to highlight the record of Non-Native Invasive Land Snail species and possible threats to their existence in Türkiye.

Presence of Non-Native Land Snail Species in Türkiye

Since some synanthropic terrestrial mollusk species hide under various wooden, plastic, and ceramic items, they can spread to new environments because of these items being moved to another place ^[10]. The Western European snail species *Arion ater* s. l. (Stylommatophora: Arionidae) (Linneaus, 1758) and *A. vulgaris* Moquin-Tandon, 1855, which have recently been reported to exist in Isparta and the Asian and European sides of the Bosphorus in Türkiye ^[10] are among the most important invasive and harmful mollusk species in terms of their adverse effects on agricultural areas and horticultural production ^[11].

Biogeographic considerations and a phylogenetic analysis on *Theba pisana* (Stylommatophora: Helicidae) (O. F. Müller, 1774) indicate Morocco as place of origin^[12]. This species is found in many regions of Türkiye^[13]. *Cornu aspersum* (Stylommatophora: Helicidae) (O. F. Müller, 1774) (the Mediterranean mollusc) is one of the most broadly distributed terrestrial snails on a global scale, North Africa is known as the homeland of this species. Despite it is commonly seen in very humid locations (Istanbul, Antalya, Izmir, Bodrum, etc.), it is not very abundant in regions far from the coastal locations (such as Burdur, Isparta). Furthermore, it is reported in cultivated lands far from the sea in Anatolia^[13].

Another land snail, *Xeropicta derbentina* (Stylommatophora: Geomitridae) (Krynicki, 1836), is endemic to the Northern Black Sea steppes, and *X. derbentina* also originally lived in the Eastern Mediterranean, the Caucasus, and Anatolia^[14].

Xeropicta krynickii (Krynicki, 1833) is usually recorded in the Eastern Mediterranean. Its main distribution extends between the Black Sea and the Caspian Sea, from Bulgaria and Romania to Iran and Azerbaijan^[15]. It is mostly recorded from the Black Sea Region in Türkiye^[16].

Cernuella virgata (Stylommatophora: Geomitridae) (Da Costa, 1778) is indigenous to western Europe and Mediterranean. However, this species has also spread rarely in Türkiye. It has been recorded in İstanbul and Marmara Region^[17].

Eobania vermiculata (Stylommatophora: Helicidae) (Müller, 1774), is one of the most important examples of the helicid terrestrial snails, achieved a worldwide spread through anthropogenic affairs. It is of Circum-Mediterranean distribution, typical for the coastal areas of Greece, Libya, Spain, Croatia, France, Algeria, Italy, Montenegro, Albania, Tunisia and Morocco. In addition to these countries, it was also recorded in Türkiye^[13].

Adverse Effects of Invasive Snail Species on the Environment

An introduced species is a vegetable, animal, or another organism that is not native to a specific region, and which tends to spread to a degree believed to cause damage to the environment, human economy, or human health ^[18]. Invasive species can be introduced to a new environment through a variety of means, such as accidental or intentional releases by humans, natural dispersal, or through the actions of other animals. Therefore, it is very important to monitor and manage invasive species to minimize their negative effects on native ecosystems ^[19]. Snails are also among the species introduced in the world in recent years due to their economic importance ^[20].

Snails have a wide range of feeding habits depending on the species. Some are herbivorous and feed on plants, while others are carnivorous and feed on other invertebrates or even small vertebrates. Some species are scavengers, feeding on decaying organic matter ^[21]. Snails are hermaphrodites, meaning they possess both male and female reproductive organs ^[22,23]. They typically reproduce through internal fertilization (self-fertilization) and lay eggs in a variety of habitats such as on the ground, in freshwater, or in marine environments. The eggs hatch into small, fragile-bodied snails ^[24,25]. They are important decomposers, breaking down dead plant and animal material and recycling nutrients back into the ecosystem. They are also a food source for numerous animals, including birds, fish, and mammals ^[26]. Therefore, snails play an important role in many ecosystems ^[11,27].

Although snails have significant roles in many habitats, some species of snails can be invasive and cause significant ecological and economic damage. For example, the Giant African snail, which is native to Africa, has been introduced in many countries and is considered a pest due to its feeding habits that can damage crops, fruits, and vegetables ^[28]. Invasive snail species can have a variety of negative impacts on the environment. They can outcompete native snails for resources and habitat, leading to declines in native snail populations. They can also disrupt ecosystem functions and processes, such as decomposition and nutrient cycling. Invasive snails can also cause significant economic damage. For example, some invasive snail species are agricultural pests, feeding on crops, fruits, and vegetables. This can lead to significant crop losses and reduced agricultural productivity ^[29]. In addition, some invasive snails can act as vectors for disease, spreading diseases that can affect humans and animals. For example, some species of snails can carry bacteria and the parasitic worm responsible for angiostrongyliasis ^[30] and schistosomiasis, which can cause serious health problems in humans that can be transmitted if handled with bare hands or eaten [31]. In conclusion, invasive snail species can cause significant ecological and economic damage by outcompeting native snails for resources and habitat, disrupting ecosystem functions and processes, and causing damage to crop and infrastructure. Therefore, they can significantly negatively affect the environment, economy, and human health. Thus, it's crucial to monitor and manage invasive snail species to minimize their negative effects on native ecosystems and human activities.

Ecological Impacts of Invasive Snails

Invasive snails can have significant negative ecological impacts, including competition with native species for resources, predation on native species ^[32,33], disruption of ecosystem processes, the spread of diseases, loss of biodiversity ^[34-39] and economic impacts ^[40]. Examples of invasive snail species include the Giant African Snail ^[41]. Chinese Mystery Snail, European Brown Garden Snail ^[42] and Golden Apple Snail ^[43]. These invasive species can have an impact on the population dynamics and distribution of native snails, including alteration of community structure, changes in distribution, and genetic effects ^[31], which can lead to declines in biodiversity ^[24].

The Giant African Snail (Achatina fulica [Stylommatophora: Achatinidae] [Bowdich, 1822]): This invasive species is native to East Africa and has been introduced to many other parts of the world. It competes with native snails for food and habitat and can also prey on smaller native snails ^[28,44].

The Chinese Mystery Snail (*Cipangopaludina chinensis* [Architaenioglossa: Viviparidae] [J. E. Gray, 1833]): This invasive species is native to Asia and has been introduced to many parts of North America. It competes with native snails for nutrients and habitat and can also outcompete native snails for space in the substrate (e.g. mud, sand) ^[25,45,46].

The European Brown Garden Snail (*Helix aspersa*): Scattered throughout Western Europe, Great Britain, and the Mediterranean and Black Sea borders. It was brought to the Atlantic Islands, New Zealand, Australia, South Africa, Mexico, Chile, Argentina, and Australia ^[25,47,48].

Effects on Population Dynamics and Distribution of Native Snails

Invasive snails can have a significant impact on the population dynamics and distribution of native snails. These impacts can include ^[30,31]:

Competition for resources: Invasive snails can outcompete native snails for food and habitat, leading to declines in native snail populations ^[49].

Predation: Some invasive snails, such as the Giant African Snail, can prey on native snails, which can lead to declines in native snail populations ^[50].

Displacement: Invasive snails can outcompete native snails for space in the substrate (e.g., mud, sand), which can lead to the displacement of native snails from their preferred habitats ^[51].

Alteration of community structure: Invasive snails can alter the structure of native snail communities by reducing the abundance and diversity of native species ^[52].

Changes in distribution: Invasive snails can spread to new areas and displace native snails from their natural range, leading to changes in the distribution of native species ^[53].

Genetic effects: Invasive snails can hybridize with native snails and change the genetic makeup of native snail populations. These impacts can have cascading effects on the ecosystem and can cause declines in biodiversity ^[54].

Nutrient cycling: Invasive snails can alter nutrient cycling in an ecosystem by consuming large amounts of plant material, which can lead to changes in nutrient availability for other organisms ^[38].

Decomposition: Invasive snails can alter decomposition processes by consuming large amounts of dead plant material and other organic matter, which can affect the rate and efficiency of decomposition in an ecosystem ^[55].

Soil formation: Invasive snails can alter soil formation by consuming large amounts of vegetation, which can change the composition of soil and affect the growth of other plants ^[38].

Disruption of the food web: Invasive snails can disrupt the food web by preying on native snails and other invertebrates, which can lead to declines in native species and altered trophic interactions ^[40].

Altering ecosystem services: Invasive snails can change ecosystem services such as pollination, seed dispersal, and pest control by reducing the abundance and diversity of native species ^[51].

Examples of How Invasive Snails Alter Community Structure and Ecosystem Function

In Hawaii, the invasive Giant African Snail (*Achatina fulica*) is known to prey on native snails, which can lead to declines in native snail populations and altered community structure. This can also have ripple effects on other species that rely on native snails as a food source or as part of the ecosystem, leading to declines in biodiversity ^[42].

Effects on biodiversity and ecosystem services: Invasive snails can lead to a decline in native snail populations and ripple effects on other species that rely on native snails as a food source, resulting in declines in biodiversity. Invasive snails can also alter the structure of native snail communities and ecosystem function through changes in community structure, nutrient cycling ^[56], decomposition, soil formation, disruption of the food web and altering ecosystem services. These changes can have negative impacts on biodiversity, agriculture, and human health through the spread of diseases. Invasive snails can have negative effects on biodiversity and ecosystem services. These impacts can include:

Loss of native species: Invasive snails can outcompete native snails for resources and prey on native snails, which can lead to declines in native snail populations and loss of biodiversity. This can also have ripple effects on other species that rely on native snails as a food source or as part of the ecosystem ^[57].

Alteration of community structure: Invasive snails can alter the structure of native snail communities by reducing the abundance and diversity of native species, which can affect the functioning of the ecosystem and lead to declines in biodiversity ^[58].

Changes in ecosystem services: Invasive snails can change ecosystem services such as pollination, seed dispersal, and pest control by reducing the abundance and diversity of native species. Invasive snails can also change nutrient cycling and decomposition processes, which can affect the functioning of the ecosystem ^[51].

Economic impacts: Invasive snails can cause damage to crops and gardens, resulting in economic losses for farmers and gardeners^[59].

Human health impacts: Some invasive snails can serve as vectors for diseases that can affect humans (i.e., angiostrongyliasis^[30] and schistosomiasis^[31]).

Overall, invasive snails can have a range of negative impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services, which can have ripple effects on human well-being and the economy.

ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF INVASIVE Snails

Invasive snails can have a range of economic impacts, which include:

Crop damage: Invasive snails can cause damage to crop by consuming large amounts of plant material, which can result in reduced crop yields and economic losses for farmers ^[60,61].

Garden damage: Invasive snails can cause damage to gardens by consuming large amounts of plant material, which can result in reduced yields and economic losses for gardeners ^[56].

Control costs: Invasive snails can be difficult to control, and the costs of control measures can be significant. These costs can include the costs of labor, materials, and equipment for control measures such as snail baiting and manual removal.

Damage to infrastructure: Invasive snails can cause damage to infrastructure such as buildings, roads, and sidewalks by consuming mortar and other building materials ^[51].

Damage to the tourism industry: Invasive snails can cause damage to natural resources and native ecosystems, which can negatively influence the tourism industry ^[38].

Reduced exports: Invasive snails can lead to reduced exports of agricultural products and other goods due to quarantine measures and other restrictions ^[50,61].

Damage to Crop and Agricultural Lands

Invasive snails can cause damage to crops and agricultural lands in several ways:

Crop consumption: Invasive snails can consume large amounts of plant material, which can result in reduced crop yields and economic losses for farmers. This can be particularly damaging to crops such as fruits and vegetables, where even a small amount of damage can greatly reduce the value of the crop ^[50].

Soil damage: Invasive snails can cause damage to soil by consuming large amounts of vegetation and other organic

matter, which can change the composition of soil and affect the growth of other plants. This can lead to reduced crop yields and decreased productivity of agricultural lands ^[61].

Spread of diseases: Some invasive snails can serve as vectors for diseases that can affect crops, which can lead to reduced crop yields and economic losses for farmers ^[50].

Damage to irrigation systems: Invasive snails can cause damage to irrigation systems by consuming the plastic and other materials used in these systems, which can lead to reduced water delivery to crops and decreased crop yields ^[62].

Damage to farm equipment: Invasive snails can cause damage to farm equipment by consuming the rubber and other materials used in this equipment, which can lead to increased maintenance and repair costs for farmers^[44].

Economic Costs of Crop Damage

The economic costs of crop damage caused by invasive snails can be significant. These costs can include:

Reduced crop yields: Invasive snails can consume large amounts of plant material, which can result in reduced crop yields and economic losses for farmers. The cost of this loss can depend on the type of crop, the extent of damage, and the market price of the crop ^[50].

Increased costs of control and management: Farmers may need to spend additional money on control measures such as snail baiting, manual removal, and other pest management techniques to reduce the damage caused by invasive snails ^[45].

Damage to irrigation systems: Invasive snails can cause damage to irrigation systems, which can lead to reduced water delivery to crops and decreased crop yields. This can result in additional costs for farmers to repair or replace damaged irrigation systems ^[46].

Loss of exports: Invasive snails can lead to reduced exports of agricultural products and other goods due to quarantine measures and other restrictions, resulting in economic losses for farmers ^[38].

Loss of reputation and market value: Damage caused by invasive snails can reduce the quality and market value of crops, which can lead to a loss of reputation and reduced market value for farmers ^[62].

Reduced productivity: Invasive snails can cause damage to soil and other agricultural lands, which can lead to decreased productivity and reduced crop yields over time ^[48].

The economic costs of crop damage caused by invasive snails can vary depending on the type of crop, the extent of damage, and the location of the farm. But overall, it can be quite substantial for farmers and the economy [38,46,50,62,63].

Damage to Infrastructure and Buildings

Invasive snails can cause damage to infrastructure and buildings by consuming various materials.

Damage to buildings: Invasive snails can consume mortar and other building materials, which can cause damage to buildings and lead to increased maintenance and repair costs ^[49].

Damage to roads and sidewalks: Invasive snails can consume asphalt and other materials used in road construction, which can cause damage to roads and sidewalks and lead to increased maintenance and repair costs ^[44].

Damage to electrical infrastructure: Invasive snails can consume the insulation on electrical wires, which can cause damage to electrical infrastructure and lead to increased maintenance and repair costs ^[44].

Damage to communication infrastructure: Invasive snails can consume the insulation on telephone and internet cables, which can cause damage to communication infrastructure and lead to increased maintenance and repair costs ^[44].

Damage to water supply systems: Invasive snails can consume the materials used in water supply systems, which can cause damage to the systems and lead to decreased water delivery and increased maintenance and repair costs ^[50].

Costs of Control and Management

The costs of control and management efforts for invasive snails can be significant and can include:

Labor costs: Control and management efforts for invasive snails can be labor-intensive, and the costs of labor can be significant. This can include the costs of hiring staff, contractors, or volunteers to carry out control measures ^[50,64].

Materials and equipment costs: Control and management efforts for invasive snails can require the use of materials and equipment, such as snail bait, pesticides, traps, and protective gear. These costs can vary depending on the type of control measure used ^[45].

Monitoring and research costs: Control and management efforts for invasive snails often require monitoring and research to assess the effectiveness of control measures and identify new populations. These costs can include the costs of field surveys, laboratory analyses, and data management ^[51].

Education and outreach costs: Control and management efforts for invasive snails often require education and outreach to inform the public about the risks of invasive snails and how to prevent the spread. These costs can include the costs of developing educational materials, organizing workshops and presentations, and communicating with stakeholders ^[51].

Legal costs: Control and management efforts for invasive snails can involve legal measures such as permits, regulations, and enforcement. These costs can include the costs of obtaining permits and compliance with regulations and the costs associated with enforcement actions^[45].

Continual costs: Invasive species management is an ongoing effort, and the costs associated with it can be ongoing as well. The population of invasive snails can rebound if the management efforts are not continued ^[50].

Examples of Control and Management Efforts for Invasive Snails

Physical control: Physical control methods include the manual removal of snails, trapping, and fencing. This method can be effective but can be labor-intensive and costly ^[52].

Chemical control: Chemical control methods include the use of snail baits, pesticides, and molluscicides. These methods can be effective in reducing snail populations but can also have negative impacts on non-target species and the environment ^[53].

Biological control: Biological control methods include the release of natural predators or pathogens that target invasive snails. This method can be effective but can also have negative impacts on non-target species and the environment ^[54].

Cultural control: Cultural control methods include techniques to make the environment less favorable to invasive snails, such as altering the pH of the soil, reducing moisture, and planting repellent plants ^[38].

Quarantine and regulations: Quarantine and regulations can be used to prevent the introduction and spread of invasive snails by restricting the movement of potentially infested materials and enforcing regulations on the import and export of invasive snails ^[38].

Public education and outreach: Public education and outreach can help prevent the spread of invasive snails by raising awareness about the risks of invasive snails and how to prevent their spread ^[51,64].

Invasive snails can have significant economic impacts, including crop and garden damage ^[28], control costs, damage to infrastructure, harm to the tourism industry and reduced exports. They can cause damage to crop and agricultural lands by consuming large amounts of plant material ^[38] damaging soil, spreading diseases to crops,

and damaging irrigation systems and farm equipment ^[56]. These impacts can lead to reduced crop yields and decreased productivity of agricultural lands, resulting in economic losses for farmers. The economic costs of crop damage can include reduced crop yields ^[28], increased costs of control and management, damage to irrigation systems, and loss of exports due to quarantine measures and other restrictions. Invasive snails can also cause damage to infrastructure such as buildings, roads, and sidewalks by consuming mortar and other building materials.

SUCCESS AND CHALLENGES OF Control and Management

Successes and challenges of control and management efforts for invasive snails can vary depending on the invasive species and the ecosystem.

Successes

Physical control: Physical control methods, such as the manual removal of snails and trapping, can be effective in reducing the population of invasive snails in small areas or localized infestations ^[40].

Chemical control: Chemical control methods, such as the use of snail baits and pesticides, can be effective in reducing the population of invasive snails in large areas^[53].

Biological control: Biological control methods, such as the release of natural predators or pathogens that target invasive snails, can be effective in reducing the population of invasive snails over time ^[54].

Cultural control: Cultural control methods, such as altering the pH of the soil and reducing moisture, can make the environment less favorable to invasive snails and can be effective in preventing the establishment of invasive snails ^[38].

Quarantine and regulations: Quarantine and regulations can be effective in preventing the introduction and spread of invasive snails by restricting the movement of potentially infested materials and enforcing regulations on the import and export of invasive snails ^[42].

Challenges

Difficulty in detecting and monitoring invasive snails: Invasive snails can be difficult to detect and monitor, especially in the early stages of an invasion, which can make it difficult to control and manage their populations^[51].

Difficulty in controlling and managing large and established populations: Once invasive snails have established large populations, it can be difficult to control and manage their populations effectively ^[51].

Difficulty in controlling and managing in large and remote areas: Control and management efforts can be difficult and costly in large and remote areas, where access and resources may be limited ^[51].

Limited knowledge of invasive snails' biology and behavior: Although invasive snails can seriously harm the environment and the economy, managing them successfully can be difficult due to our limited understanding of their biology and behavior.

Control and management efforts for invasive snails can be successful using methods such as physical, and chemical ^[28], biological control, and quarantine and regulations ^[38]. These methods can be effective in reducing the population of invasive snails in small areas or localized infestations, large areas, and over time. However, there are also challenges in controlling and managing invasive snails such as difficulty in detecting and monitoring them ^[57], difficulty in controlling and managing large and established populations, difficulty in controlling and managing in large and remote areas and limited knowledge of their biology and behavior. These challenges can make it difficult to effectively control and manage invasive snail populations.

Importance of Preventing and Managing Invasive Snail Species

Preventing and managing invasive snail species is important for a variety of reasons, including:

Protecting native species and biodiversity: Invasive snails can outcompete, prey on, and alter the habitats of native species, leading to reduced population sizes and distribution of native species and potentially even extinction. Preventing and managing invasive snail species can help protect native species and biodiversity ^[58,65,66].

Maintaining ecosystem function: Invasive snails can change the composition and dynamics of ecosystems by consuming large amounts of plant material and other organic matter, which can affect the growth of other plants and the functioning of ecosystems. Preventing and managing invasive snails can help maintain the balance and functioning of natural ecosystems ^[59,67].

Protecting agricultural lands and crops: Invasive snails can cause damage to crop and agricultural lands by consuming large amounts of plant material, causing damage to soil and irrigation systems, and spreading diseases to crops, which can lead to reduced crop yields and decreased productivity of agricultural lands. Preventing and managing invasive snails can help protect agricultural lands and crops ^[38,58].

Protecting infrastructure and buildings: Invasive snails can cause damage to infrastructure and buildings by consuming various materials, which can lead to increased maintenance and repair costs. Preventing and managing invasive snails can help protect infrastructure and buildings^[42].

Saving costs: Control and management efforts for invasive snails can be significant and costly, including labor costs, materials, and equipment costs, monitoring and research costs, education and outreach costs, and legal costs. Preventing the introduction and spread of invasive snails is more cost-effective than trying to manage established populations ^[59].

Improving the quality of life: Invasive species can have a negative impact on human activities such as agriculture, recreation, and infrastructure. Preventing and managing invasive snail species can improve the quality of life for people who live and work in areas affected by invasive snails ^[59,66,68].

Future Directions for Research and Management of Invasive Snail Species

Future directions for research and management of invasive snail species can include:

Improving early detection and rapid response methods: Developing more efficient and cost-effective methods for detecting and responding to new invasive snail populations quickly can help prevent the establishment and spread of invasive snails ^[60,65,66].

Conducting more research on the impacts of invasive snails: More research is needed to understand the full range of impacts that invasive snails have on native species, ecosystems, and human activities, such as agriculture and infrastructure ^[54].

Developing and testing new control and management methods: New control and management methods, such as biological control methods that use natural predators or pathogens to target invasive snails, may be developed and tested to improve the effectiveness and sustainability of control and management efforts ^[54].

Incorporating citizen science and public engagement: Involving the public in monitoring, reporting and controlling invasive snails through citizen science programs and outreach can increase the speed and effectiveness of management efforts ^[61].

Enhancing international cooperation: Invasive snails can be spread through international trade and travel; therefore, international cooperation is needed to develop

and implement effective prevention and management measures ^[61].

Evaluating the long-term effectiveness of management actions: Long-term monitoring and evaluation of management actions are necessary to assess the effectiveness of management efforts over time and to identify any potential unintended consequences.

Improving risk assessment: A more robust risk assessment process for identifying invasive snails that are likely to establish in new regions and cause harm, will help to prioritize management efforts and resources.

In summary, invasive snail species can have a wide range of negative impacts on the environment, including on native species, ecosystems, and human activities such as agriculture and infrastructure. Preventing and managing invasive snail species is important to protect native species and biodiversity, maintain ecosystem function, protect agricultural lands and crops, protect infrastructure and buildings, and save costs. Future directions for research and management of invasive snail species can include improving early detection and rapid response methods and conducting more research on the impacts of invasive snails ^[62]. Also, developing more effective control and management strategies, such as biological control and habitat management, can help reduce the negative impacts of invasive snails ^[64].

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Adverse Effects of Invasive Snail Species on the Environment

Invasive snail species can have a wide range of adverse effects on the environment. These include competition with native snails, which can lead to reduced population sizes and distribution of native species, predation on native species, alteration of community structure and ecosystem function, damage to crops and agricultural lands, damage to infrastructure and buildings, and costs of control and management efforts. On the other hand, invasive snails can consume large amounts of plant material and other organic matter, which can affect the growth of other plants and the functioning of ecosystems. Furthermore, they can cause damage to crop and agricultural lands by consuming large amounts of plant material, causing damage to soil and irrigation systems, and spreading diseases to crops, which can lead to reduced crop yields and decreased productivity of agricultural lands, and they can cause damage to infrastructure and buildings by consuming various materials, which can lead to increased maintenance and repair costs. Control and management efforts for invasive snails can be significant and can include labor costs, materials, and equipment costs, monitoring and research costs, education and outreach costs, and legal costs. Overall, invasive snails can have a wide range of negative impacts on the environment, including on native species, ecosystems, and human activities such as agriculture and infrastructure.

Possible Threats of the Presence of Non-native Invasive Land Snail Species in Türkiye

Land snails are accepted in the aquatic products group in Türkiye. Importation of foreign live fishery products to Türkiye is stated in the Fisheries Regulation, "For the fisheries to be imported, it is obligatory to submit a Health Certificate and a Certificate of Origin, issued by the official institutions of the seller country, stating that they are free from infectious diseases and are found to be healthy. In the importation of broodstocks, these documents must also be approved by the Consulates" [69]. In addition, concerning "non-native species", in Article 13 of the "Regulation on the Protection of Wetlands" of the Ministry of Forestry and Water Affairs [70] it is stated that "non-native species cannot be stocked in areas protected by the Ramsar Convention and wetlands of national importance, for whatever purpose, without scientific research and without the approval of the Ministry" and "Removal of non-native species from the area, which have been stocked in the past and which have been found to have a serious negative impact on the wetland ecosystem as a result of scientific research, and if this is not possible, control of their populations is provided by the relevant Administrations under the coordination of the Ministry". However, despite these laws, the existence of non-native invasive land snail species has been reported in Türkiye.

Many non-native and invasive creatures can reach new geographic regions by many means of transport [66]. One of the most important ways of transporting these creatures to other environments is the worldwide ornamental animal trade, which increases its impact with the speed of global trade [22,25,72,73]. The exotic pet trade has increased rapidly in recent years, especially as interest in live animals kept for hobby purposes has increased, and there has been a simultaneous increase in the number of invasive species dispersed in this way ^[73]. The easy and fast access provided by the trade of pets over the internet has also accelerated this increase. One of the most striking examples of this situation is the sale of members of the African Giant Snail (Achatinidae family), which are known for their invasive and intermediate host properties for some zoonotic parasites [74], offered for sale in web shops in Türkiye. It is expected that these family members, whose invasive characteristics, and damage in the new habitats they enter, are imported to Türkiye, together with all freshwater snails, are indirectly possible according to the regulations [75] and will disperse within the country through various trade channels in the coming years. However, it is predicted that this distribution will create undesirable negativities soon

in terms of both ecological and health risks. For example, the negative impact of *A. vulgaris* on agriculture products has been reported in Düzköy, Trabzon city. It has been stated that *A. vulgaris* is particularly damaging to crops such as potatoes, beans, and cabbage. Therefore, residents, who have been trying to fight the snail species that have been affecting the district for about 4 years, are asking for help from the authorities.

Preventing the introduction and distribution of invasive snail species in Türkiye is essential to protect the country's biodiversity and ecosystems. Invasive snails can cause a wide range of negative impacts on the environment, including competition with native snails, which can lead to reduced population sizes and distribution of native species, predation on native species, alteration of community structure and ecosystem function, damage to crops and agricultural lands, damage to infrastructure and buildings, and costs of control and management efforts in Türkiye. It is therefore important for the Government and public to be aware of the potential risks and report any sightings to the authorities, and for the agricultural industry and travelers to be cautious and not to transfer and release any invasive snails into the wild. The presence of any non-native snail species in any location should be reported. Cooperation of the government, researchers, industry, and the public is vital to prevent the transfer, introduction, and spread of invasive snail species in Türkiye.

In Türkiye, the public, administrations, and especially entrepreneurs who want to import foreign species need to be conscious of the protection of natural genes and resources and the potential dangers and negative effects of foreign species stocking. In addition, it is of great importance to enact more effective import-controlling laws and to implement existing laws. If this is not successful, the quality of Türkiye's resources and the structure of our natural genetic resources will have deteriorated because of the introduction of foreign species into Türkiye's natural environment to gain economic income. Therefore, the importation and sale of invasive non-native snail species must be banned by the government for any purpose. For example, in many countries, including giant African snails, invasive snail species are prohibited from importing, bringing in by any means, and purchasing online, as exotic snails are likely to escape and spread, causing environmental problems. Moreover, more research should be done on the biology, ecology, artificial production, feeding, and rearing of economically important native snail species of Türkiye.

HIGHLIGHT KEYPOINTS

• The presence of non-native invasive snail species in Türkiye could lead to a decline in the country's unique biodiversity. These invaders might outcompete or prey upon native snails found exclusively in Turkish ecosystems, potentially disrupting the delicate balance of species in various regions across Türkiye.

- Given Türkiye's diverse agricultural practices and varied environmental landscapes, invasive snail species could cause disruptions in these systems. These invaders might negatively affect the intricate harmony within Turkish agricultural practices and environmental ecosystems, potentially leading to economic losses and environmental imbalances in different parts of the country.
- Invasive snails pose a threat to native snails by competing for resources, leading to reduced populations and altered distributions of native species. This disruption can shift the balance in ecosystems, impacting their structure and function.
- Invasive species cause significant harm to agriculture by consuming large quantities of plant material. This not only damages crop directly but also affects soil quality, irrigation systems, and spreads diseases among crops, ultimately decreasing yields and productivity.
- Invasive snails can wreak havoc on infrastructure and buildings by consuming various materials, resulting in increased maintenance and repair costs. Their activities pose threats to the integrity of structures and the need for continuous repairs.
- Managing invasive snail populations comes with considerable expenses, including labour, materials, equipment, monitoring, research, education, and legal costs. Controlling their spread and mitigating their impact demands substantial financial and resource investments.

DECLARATIONS

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Authors' Contributions: All authors contributed to study design and completion. The first draft of the manuscript was written by Muzaffer M. Harlıoğlu and all authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Bank RA, Menkhorst H, Neubert E: Descriptions of new and littleknown land snail taxa from Turkey, and establishment of a new genus (Gastropoda, Pulmonata: Lauriidae, Enidae and Vitrinidae). *Basteria*, 80 (1/3): 5-30, 2016. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.439745

2. Harlioğlu AG: Present status of fisheries in Turkey. *Rev Fish Biol*, 21, 667-680, 2011. DOI: 10.1007/s11160-011-9204-z

3. Yıldırım MZ, Kebapçı Ü: Alpine snails of Turkey. Museum of Oltenia Craiova, Oltenia, *J Nat Sci*, 29 (2): 131-134, 2013. DOI: 10.1016/j. geobios.2019.10.003

4. Gümüş BA, Neubert E: New taxa of terrestrial molluscs from Turkey (Gastropoda, Pristilomatidae, Enidae, Hygromiidae, Helicidae). *ZooKeys*, 171, 17-37, 2012. DOI: 10.3897/zookeys.171.2273

5. Gümüş BA, Neubert E: The biodiversity of the terrestrial malacofauna of Turkey-status and perspectives. *ZooKeys*, 31, 105-117, 2009. DOI: 10.3897/ zookeys.31.169

302

6. Pieńkowska JR, Manganelli G, Proćków M, Gürelli G, Kosicka E, Giusti F, Lesicki A: *Monacha samsunensis* (Pfeiffer, 1868): Another Anatolian species introduced to Western Europe, where it is known as *Monacha atacis* Gittenberger & de Winter, 1985 (Gastropoda: Eupulmonata: Hygromiidae). *Eur Zool J*, 89 (1): 966-990, 2022. DOI: 10.1080/24750263.2022.2100932

7. Korábek O, Juřičková L, Balashov I, Petrusek A: The contribution of ancient and modern anthropogenic introductions to the colonization of Europe by the land snail *Helix lucorum* Linnaeus, 1758 (Helicidae). *Contrib Zool*, 87 (2): 61-74, 2018. DOI: 10.1163/18759866-08702001

8. Fiorentino V, Manganelli G, Giusti F, Ketmaier V: Recent expansion and relic survival: Phylogeography of the land snail genus Helix (Mollusca, Gastropoda) from south to north Europe. *Mol Phylogenet Evol*, 98, 358-372, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.ympev.2016.02.017

9. Official Gazzete: Regulation on Special Hygiene Rules for Animal Food by the Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Livestock. 27 December, No: 28155, 2011. https://www.resmgazete.gov.tr/eskler/2011/12/20111227-10. htm; *Accessed*: 12.02.2023.

10. Reise H, Arslangundogdu Z, Schlitt B, Hutchinson JM, Hizal E, Bacak
E: First records of the terrestrial slug *Arion ater* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Pulmonata: Arionidae) from Turkey. *Folia Malacol*, 26 (4): 213-220, 2018. DOI: 10.12657/folmal.026.024

11. Zemanova MA, Broennimann O, Guisan A, Knop E, Heckel G: Slimy invasion: Climatic niche and current and future biogeography of *Arion slug* invaders. *Divers Distrib*, 24 (11): 1627-1640, 2018. DOI: 10.1111/ddi.12789

12. Greve C, Hutterer R, Groh K, Haase M, Misof B: Evolutionary diversification of the genus Theba (Gastropoda: Helicidae) in space and time: A land snail conquering islands and continents. *Mol Phylogen Evol*, 57, 572-584, 2010. DOI: 10.1016/j.ympev.2010.08.021

13. Yıldırım M, Kebapçi Ü, Gümüş BA: Edible snails (terrestrial) of Turkey. *Turk J Zool*, 28 (4): 329-335, 2004.

14. Adamova V, Orlov M, Sheludkov A: Land snails *Brephulopsis cylindrica* and *Xeropicta derbentina* (Gastropoda: Stylommatophora): Case study of invasive species distribution modelling. *Ruthenica*, 32 (3): 121-136, 2022. DOI: 10.35885/ruthenica.2022.32(3).5

15. Welter-Schultes FW: Bronze Age shipwreck snails from Turkey: First direct evidence for oversea carriage of land snails in antiquity. *J Molluscan Stud*, 74 (1): 79-87, 2008. DOI: 10.1093/mollus/eym047

16. Öztop M, Yıldırım MZ: Helicoid land snails from the province of Malatya, Turkey and the surrounding area. *Oltenia J Stud Nat Sci*, 28 (1): 179-186, 2012.

17. Örstan A, Pearce TA, Welter-Schultes F: Land snail diversity in a threatened limestone district near Istanbul, Turkey. *Anim Biodivers Conserv*, 28 (2): 181-188, 2005. DOI: 10.32800/abc.2005.28.0181

18. Chiba S: Morphological and ecological shifts in a land snail caused by the impact of an introduced predator. *Ecol Res*, 22 (6): 884-891, 2007. DOI: 10.1007/s11284-006-0330-3

19. O'Neil CM, Guo Y, Pierre S, Boughton EH, Qiu J: Invasive snails alter multiple ecosystem functions in subtropical wetlands. *Sci Total Environ*, 864:160939, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.160939

20. Adewunmi CO, Furu P, Madsen H: Evaluation of the effects of low concentrations of aridanin isolated from *Tetrapleura tetraptera* Taub. (Mimosaceae) on the growth and egg production of *Biomphalaria glabrata* Say and *Lymnaea columella* Say. *Phytother Res*, 3 (3): 81-84, 1989. DOI: 10.1002/ptr.2650030303

21. Herbert DG, Willows-Munro S: The wandering snaggletooth snail, *Gastrocoptaservilis*(Gould, 1843)-a new record of an alien non-marine mollusc in South Africa (Gastropoda: Eupulmonata: Gastrocoptidae). *Bioinvasions Rec*, 11 (4): 855-863, 2022. DOI: 10.3391/bir.2022.11.4.04

22. Adhikari S, Sharma HP, Rimal B, Belant JL, Katuwal HB: Road as a major driver for potential distribution of the invasive giant African land snail in Nepal *Trop Ecol*, 61, 583-588, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s42965-020-00115-4

23. Horgan FG, Stuart AM, Kudavidanage EP: Impact of invasive apple snails on the functioning and services of natural and managed wetlands. *Acta Oecol*, 54, 90-100, 2014. DOI: 10.1016/j.actao.2012.10.002

24. Lowe SM, Browne S, Boudjelas De Poorter M: 100 of the World's Worst Invasive Alien Species. *Invasive Species Specialist Group, World Conservation Union*, 12 pp., 2000. www.issg.org/ace; *Accessed*: 11.02.2023.

25. Kingsbury S, McAlpine DF, Cheng Y, Parker E, Campbell L: A review of the non-indigenous Chinese mystery snail, *Cipangopaludina chinensis* (Viviparidae), in North America, with emphasis on occurrence in Canada and the potential impact on indigenous aquatic species. *Environ Rev*, 29 (2): 182-200, 2021. DOI: 10.1139/er-2020-006

26. Scriber KE, France ChAM, Jackson FLC: Invasive apple snail diets in native vs. non-native habitats defined by SIAR (Stable Isotope Analysis in R). *Sustainability*, 14 (12):7108, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/su14127108

27. Greistorfer S, Klepal W, Cyran N, Gugumuck A, Rudoll L, Suppan J, von Byern J: Snail mucus-glandular origin and composition in *Helix pomatia. Zool,* 122, 126-138, 2017. DOI: 10.1016/j.zool.2017.05.001

28. Thiengo SC, Faraco FA, Salgado NC, Cowie RH, Fernandez MA: Rapid spread of an invasive snail in South America: the giant African snail, *Achatina fulica*, in Brasil. *Biol Invasions*, 9 (6): 693-702, 2007. DOI: 10.1007/ s10530-006-9069-6

29. Sneha JA, Chakravarthi R: Identification, behavior analysis, and control of snail pest in agricultural fields using signal analysis and nanoparticles. *Appl Nanosci*, 1, 529-538, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s13204-021-01830-7

30. Scriber KE, France CAM, Jackson FLC: Assessing the impact of biodiversity (species evenness) on the trophic position of an invasive species (apple snails) in native and non-native habitats using stable isotopes. *Sustainability*, 15 (11):8560, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/su15118560

31. Crone ER, Sauer EL, Preston DL: Non-native fish facilitate non-native snails and alter food web structure in experimental pond communities. *Funct Ecol*, *37*, 947-958, 2023. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2435.14274

32. Sura SA, Mahon HK: Effects of competition and predation on the feeding rate of the freshwater snail, *Helisoma trivolvis. Environ Biol*, 166 (2): 358-368, 2011. DOI: 10.1674/0003-0031-166.2.358

33. Lafferty KD, Kuris AM: Parasitic castration: The evolution and ecology of body snatchers. *Trends Parasitol*, 25 (12): 564-572, 2009. DOI: 10.1016/j. pt.2009.09.003

34. Greenwood D, Hall R, Tibbets T, Krist A: A precipitous decline in an invasive snail population cannot be explained by a native predator. *Biol Invasions*, 22 (4): 363-378, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s10530-019-02093-8

35. Gheoca V, Benedek AM, Schneider E: Exploring land snails' response to habitat characteristics and their potential as bioindicators of riparian forest quality. *Ecol Indic*, 132:108289, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2021.108289

36. Pimentel D, Lach L, Zuniga R, Morrison D: Environmental and economic costs of nonindigenous species in the United States. *BioScience*, 50 (1): 53-65, 2000. DOI: 10.1641/0006-3568(2000)050[0053:EAECON]2.3 .CO;2

37. Xiao-Ting L, Qiu-Yun G, Yanin L, Lan-Gui S, Zhong-Dao W, Kamolnetr O, Zhi-Yue L: Snail-borne parasitic diseases: An update on global epidemiological distribution, transmission interruption and control methods. *Infect Dis Poverty*, 7:28, 2018. DOI: 10.1186/s40249-018-0414-7

38. Djeddour D, Pratt CF, Makale F, Rwomushana I: The apple snail, *Pomacea canaliculata*: An evidence note on invasiveness and potential economic impacts for East Africa. *CABI*, 21:79, 2021. DOI: 10.1079/CABICOMM-62-8149

39. Andreazzi MA, Gasparotto F, Aparecida de Souza Paccolo E, Novais de Silva C, Rodrigues AF, Perez Lizama MA: Giant african snail, *Achatina fulica* (Férussac, 1821): An environmental and public health problem in the northwestern of Paraná State, Brazil. *Acta Sci Biol Sci*, 39 (3): 301-307, 2017. DOI: 10.4025/actascibiolsci.v39i3.35569

40. Barker G, Watts C: Management of the invasive alien snail *Cantareus aspersus* on conservation land. *DOC Science Internal Series, New Zealand Department of Conservation*, 31, 30 p., 2002.

41. Martin PR, Burela S, Seuffert ME, Tamburi RE: Invasive Pomacea snails: actual and potential environmental impacts and their underlying

mechanisms. CABI Reviews, 14 (42): 1-11, 2019. DOI: 10.1079/pavsnnr201914042

42. Joshi RC, Cowie RH, Sebastian LS: Biology and management of invasive apple snails. *Philippine Rice Research Institute (PhilRice)*, Maligaya, Science City of Muñoz, Nueva Ecija, 3119, 406 p., 2017.

43. Kubiak A, Wolna-Maruwka A, Niewiadomska A, Rilarska AA: The problem of weed infestation of agricultural plantation vs. the assumptions of the European biodiversity strategy. *Agronomy*, 12 (8):1808, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/agronomy12081808

44. Sneha JA, Chakravarthi R, Harun M, You KY: Acoustic identification of snail for pest control in agriculture. *JARDCS*, 7 (4): 267-270, 2018.

45. Roda A, Cong, MY, Donner B, Dickens K, Howe A, Sharma S, Smith T: Designing a trapping strategy to aid Giant African Snail (*Lissachatina fulica*) eradication programs. *PLos One*, 13(9):e0203572, 2018. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203572

46. Boltz JP, Goodwin SJ, Rippon D, Daigger GT: A review of operational control strategies for snail and other macrofauna infestations in trickling filters. *Water Pract*, 2 (4): 1-16, 2008. DOI: 10.2175/193317708X335181

47. Köse M, Eser M, Kartal K, Bozkurt MF: Infections of larval stages of *Dicrocoelium dendriticum* and *Brachylaima* sp. in brown garden snail, *Helix aspersa*, in Turkey. *Korean J Parasitol*, 53 (5): 647, 2015. DOI: 10.3347/kjp.2015.53.5.647

48. Schurkamn J, Tandingan I, Dilman AD: Dose dependence of *Phasmarhabditis* isolates (*P, hermaphrodita, P. californica, P. papllosa*) on the mortality of adult invasive white garden snails (*Theba pisana*), *PLos One*, 17 (7):e0270185, 2022. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0270185

49. Grossi GM, Brimblecombe P: Effect of long-term changes in air pollution and climate on the decay and blackening of European stone buildings. *Geological Society London Special Publications*, 271 (1): 117-130, 2007. DOI: 10.1144/GSL.SP.2007.271.01.13

50. Budha PB, Naggs F: The giant African land snail *Lissachatina fulica* (Bowdich) in Nepal. *Malacologia*, 50, 19-21, 2008.

51. Celis-Ramirez M, Quintero-Angel M, Varela RE: Control of invasive alien species: The Giant African snail (*Lissachatina fulica*) a difficult urban public management challenge. *J Environ Manag*, 322:116159, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.116159

52. Duffy DC: Development of tree snail protection enclosures: From design to implementation, *Pacific Cooperative Studies Unit University of Hawai'I At Mānoa*, 61 p., 2016.

53. Zheng L, Deng L, Zhong Y, Wang Y, Guo W, Fan X: Molluscicides against the snail-intermediate host of Schistosoma: A review. *PMC Parasitol Res*, 120 (10): 3355-3393, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s00436-021-07288-4

54. Messing RH, Wright MG: Biological control of invasive species: solution or pollution? *Front Ecol Environ*, 4 (3): 132-140, 2006. DOI: 10.1890/1540-9295(2006)004[0132:BCOISS]2.0.CO;2

55. Hollingsworth RG, Howe K, Javri SI: Control measures of slug and snail hosts of *Angiostrongylus cantonensis*, with special reference to the semislug *Parmarion martensi*. *Hawaii J Med Public Health*, 72 (6): 75-80, 2013.

56. Buddie AG, Rwomushana I, Offord LC, Kibet S, Makale F, Djeddour D, Day RK: First report of the invasive golden apple snail, *Pomacea canaliculata* in Kenya. *CABI Agric Biosci*, 2:11, 2021. DOI: 10.31220/agriRxiv.2020.00027

57. Rusiecki S, Rusiecka A: Hairy snail *Trochulus hispidus* (Linnaeus, 1758) in flight-A note on avian dispersal of snails. *Folia Malacol*, 21 (2): 111-112, 2013. DOI: 10.12657/folmal.021.013

58. Sin ST: Damage potential of the golden apple snail *Pomacea canaliculata* (Lamarck) in irrigated rice and its control by cultural approaches. *Int J Pest Manag*, 49 (1): 49-55, 2003. DOI: 10.1080/713867835

59. Alonso A, Collado GA, Gerard C, Levri EP, Salvador RB, Castro-Diez P: Effects of the invasive aquatic snail *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* (Gray, 1853) on ecosystem properties and services. *Hydrobiologia*, 2023, 1-19, 2023. DOI: 10.1007/s10750-022-05116-z

60. Woodell JD, Neiman M, Levri EP: Matching a snail's pace: Successful use of environmental DNA techniques to detect early stage of invasion by the destructive New Zealand mud snail. *Biol Invasions*, 23, 3263-3274, 2021.

DOI: 10.1007/s10530-021-02576-7

61. Hulbert JM, Hallett RA, Roy HE. Cleary M: Citizen science can enhance strategies to detect and manage invasive forest pests and pathogens. *Front Ecol Evol*, 11:1113978, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fevo.2023.1113978

62. Burnett NP, Belk A: Compressive strength of *Mytilus californianus* shell is time-dependent and can influence the potential foraging strategies of predators. *Mar Biol*, 165:42, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/s00227-018-3298-y

63. Okeniyi FA, Oghenochuko OM, Olawoye SO, Animashahun RA, Adeyonu AG, Akpor OB: Antimicrobial potentials of mucus mucin from different species of giant African land snails on some typed culture pathogenic bacteria. *Asian J Agric Biol*, 2022 (4): 1-12, 2022. DOI: 10.35495/ ajab.2021.07.294

64. Collas FP, Breedveld SK, Matthews J, Van der Velde G, Leuven RS: Invasion biology and risk assessment of the recently introduced Chinese mystery snail, *Bellamya (Cipangopaludina) chinensis* (Gray, 1834) in the Rhine-Meuse River delta in Western Europe. *Aquat Invasions*, 12 (3): 275-286, 2017. DOI: 10.3391/ai.2017.12.3.02

65. Geist JA, Mancuso JL, Morin MM, Bommarito KP, Bovee EV, Wendell D, Burroughs B, Luttenton MR, Strayer DL, Tiegs SD: The New Zealand mud snail (*Potamopyrgus antipodarum*): Autecology and management of a global invader. *Biol Invasions*, 24, 905-932, 2022.

66. Pejchar L, Mooney HA: Invasive species, ecosystem services and human well-being. *Trends Ecol Evol*, 24 (9): 497-504, 2009. DOI: 10.1016/j. tree.2009.03.016

67. Horgan FG: The ecophysiology of apple snails in rice: implications for crop management and policy. *Ann Appl Biol*, 172, 245-267, 2018. DOI: 10.1111/aab.12424

68. Lu XT, Gu QY, Limpanont Y, Song LG, Wu ZD, Okanurak K, Lv ZY: Snail-borne parasitic deseases: An update on global epidemiological distribution, transmission interruption and control methods. *Infect Dis Poverty,* 7 (1):28, 2018. DOI: 10.1186/s40249-018-0414-7

69. Official Gazzete: Communiqué Number 5/1 on Regulation of Commercial Fishery Fishing (Communique No: 2020/20) by the Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Livestock. 10 March 1995, No: 22223. https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/anasayfa/MevzuatFihristDetayIframe?MevzuatTur=9andM evzuatNo=34823andMevzuatTertip=5;*Accessed*: 12.02.2023.

70. Official Gazzete: Regulation on the Protection of Wetlands by the Ministry of Forestry and Water Affairs 04 April 2014, No: 28962. https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2014/04/20140404-11.htm#:~:text=g)%20 Sulak%20alanlar%C4%B1n%20korunmas%C4%B1%20%20 tescili,Koruma%20Kanunu%20h%C3%BCk%C3%BCmleri%20dikkate%20 al%C4%B1n%C4%B1r.andtext=MADDE%207%20%E2%80%93%20(1)%20 Sulak,Bu%20yolla%20arazi%20kazan%C4%B1lamaz; *Accessed*: 12.02.2023.

71. Lockwood JL, Welbourne DJ, Romagosa CM, Cassey P, Mandrak NE, Strecker A, Keller R: When pets become pests: the role of the exotic pet trade in producing invasive vertebrate animals. *Front Ecol Environ*, 17 (6): 323-330, 2019. DOI: 10.1002/fee.2059

72. Gippet JM, Bertelsmeier C: Invasiveness is linked to greater commercial success in the global pet trade. *PNAS*, 118 (14):e2016337118, 2021. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.2016337118

73. Gippet JM, Sherpa Z, Bertelsmeier C: Reliability of social media data in monitoring the global pet trade in ants. *Conserv Biol*, 37 (3):e13994, 2022. DOI: 10.1111/cobi.14041

74. Giraldo A, Garzón C, Castillo A, Córdoba-Rojas DF: Confirmation of the presence of *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* in lung tissue of the African giant snail (*Lissachatina fulica*) in Colombia. *Infectio*, 23 (2): 129-132, 2019. DOI: 10.22354/in.v23i2.768

75. Official Gazette: No: 28145, 17 December 2011: Regulation on official control of plant origin food and feed import. https://www.tarimorman.gov. tr/Belgeler/ENG/Legislation/regulation_plantorigin_import.pdf; *Accessed:* 27.03.2023.

Research Article

Examination of the Vertebral Heart Scale and Anatomical Structure of Different Dog Breeds by Computed Tomography

Çağla PARKAN YARAMIŞ¹ Dilek OLĞUN ERDIKMEN² Yusuf ALTUNDAĞ² Ermiş ÖZKAN³ Barış Can GÜZEL⁴ ^(*)

¹ Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Vocational School of Veterinary Medicine, Equine and Training Program, TR-34320 Istanbul - TÜRKİYE

² Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Surgery, TR-34320 Istanbul - TÜRKİYE

³ Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Department of Anatomy, TR-34320 Istanbul - TÜRKİYE

⁴ Siirt University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Anatomy, TR-56100 Siirt - TÜRKİYE



(*) **Corresponding author:** Barış Can GÜZEL Tel: +90 533 137 5393 E-mail: bcguzel@hotmail.com

How to cite this article?

Parkan Yaramış Ç, Olğun Erdikmen D, Altundağ Y, Özkan E, Güzel BC: Examination of the vertebral heart scale and anatomical structure of different dog breeds by computed tomography. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 305-310, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.30599

Article ID: KVFD-2023-30599 Received: 27.12.2023 Accepted: 26.02.2024 Published Online: 27.02.2024

Abstract

This study aims to reveal the statistical difference by measuring the vertebral heart scale and anatomical structures of the heart in different dog breeds. The vertebral heart scale (VHS) has recently been described as a method for measuring the heart silhouettes of dogs and cats. Vertebral heart scale (VHS) may vary in dog and cat breeds due to age, weight, etc. Twenty-one dogs (10 males and 11 females) of different ages and weights were used. Among the dog breeds used are the French Bulldog, Russian Poodle, Rottweiler, Jack Russell, Golden Retriever, King Charles, Pekingese, Belgian Shepherd, Husky, Chihuahua, Cocker, Terrier, Bulldog, Bouvier and Flanders breeds. Multislice detectors were scanned at 80 kV, 200 MA, 639 mGY, and 0.625 mm slice thickness. The resulting images were saved in Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine (DICOM) format. The obtained sections were measured in 3D-Slicer software. Thoracic height (TH) and cranial vena cava (CVC) measurement parameters were statistically significant with weight (P<0.05). Vertebral heart scale (VHS) was not statistically significant with any parameter in the correlation analysis (P>0.05). At the correlation table of animal weight with the measurements, it was seen that it had a very significant positive correlation with other measurement parameters except vertebral heart score (VHS) (P<0.01). Vertebral heart scale was determined as 9.09±1.37 vertebrae in females and 9.50±0.52 vertebrae in males. The study aims to contribute to veterinary anatomy, surgery and internal medicine.

Keywords: Computed tomography, Dog, Vertebral heart scale

INTRODUCTION

Dogs are beings that have been in constant interaction with humans since the past. Today, dogs live in our homes like a member of the family. Apart from taking part in our lives as companions, dogs are also involved in many areas such as search and rescue work ^[1].

Computed tomography (CT) is the processing of crosssectional images with high levels of ionizing radiation using X-rays and computers ^[2]. Computed tomography provides three-dimensional information about the structure, shape, position, and relationships of internal organs ^[3]. Axial, sagittal, and coronal sections obtained from CT and MR allow better evaluation of these structures. Moreover, the application of the morphometric method to these radiological images brings a new perspective to this analysis ^[4-6]. Since it is viewed from a single position in 2D (2D) imaging methods, it causes technical errors such as superposition and minimization. This increases the value of 3D (3D) works ^[7-9]. With the effect of developing technology in recent years, there are many studies in the field of anatomy with radiological, 3D modeling and different modeling techniques ^[10-13].

Early diagnosis of heart diseases in dogs is important for increasing the quality of life of the patient and prolonging its life. In the diagnosis of heart diseases, besides computed tomography, electrocardiography and echocardiography, biomarkers have been used recently ^[14,15]. Thoracic radiographs play an important role in the diagnosis of heart disease and also include prognostic information.

 \odot \odot

In particular, it contributes greatly to the subjective assessment of cardiomegaly. The wide variation in thoracic conformation among dog breeds leads to significant differences in the appearance of the heart silhouette ^[16,17]. Vertebral heart scale (VHS) has been described as a method to measure heart silhouettes of dogs and cats [18]. The development of the method started with the positive correlation between heart weight and body length in cats. The measurements have proven to aid in the diagnosis of heart disease in dogs ^[19]. It has been suggested that the vertebral heart scale may be a useful aid in cardiac assessment for inexperienced observers who may be prone to false positive interpretations in dogs, particularly when examining radiographs of puppies, brachycephalic breeds, or obese dogs ^[20]. The normal VHS values between 9.7 vertebrae(v), 8.7v and 10.7v in dogs are generally considered physiological ^[21]. Although the VHS value is high in some breeds, these values are normal for the breeds and each breed should be evaluated on its scale ^[19].

This study aims to reveal the statistical difference for the vertebral heart scale in dogs of different breeds and to determine whether there is a significant difference between the reference intervals of the breeds. It is also to examine the anatomical structures in the heart of dog breeds using computerized tomography images.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

The required ethics committee report for the study was obtained from Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee of Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa (Approval No: İÜC-HADYEK/29.11.2023-848033) and the Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Ethics Committee (Report Number: 2022/38). An "Informed Consent Form" was obtained from the animal owners before to conducting tomography scans

Animals

Twenty-one dogs, which were 11 females and 10 males, were used in the study. The age ranges are between 1 and 16 years old. The weight range is between 4 and 43 kg. The dog breeds used were French Bulldog, Russian Fino, Rottweiler, Jack Russell, Golden Retriever, King Charles, Pekingese, Belgian Shepherd, Husky, Chihuahua, Cocker, Terrier, Bulldog, Bouvier, and Flanders breeds. All of the images were obtained from the archive images of Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa Veterinary Faculty Animal Hospital. Samples were obtained from mature animals. Dogs with any evidence of pathological lesions, deformation, or other damage were excluded from this study.



Fig 1. Measurement points of anatomical structures on the heart (CVC and CVCA) $% \left(\mathcal{C}_{A}^{A}\right) =0$



Fig 2. Measurement points of anatomical structures on the heart (TH,TW,HH,HW, Ao,AAo,and DAo)

Computed Tomography Images

Computed tomography images were scanned with 64-detector multislice 80 kV, 200 MA, 639 mGY, 0.625 mm slice thickness. The resulting images were saved in DICOM format. The obtained images were measured in 3D-Slicer software. The measurement points, specified in *Table 1*, were used from the sources specified ^[22-24]. Measurement points taken on the heart are shown in *Fig. 1*, *Fig. 2* and *Fig. 3*.



Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed in the SPSS 22.0 software program. Descriptive statistics of measurement values were used as mean, standard deviation and one-way ANOVA depending on more than one variable. The Mann-Whitney U test was used for gender comparisons according to measurements. Spearman correlation coefficient was calculated to determine the relationship between the measurements provided that they are different.

Results

The anatomical structures of the heart and VHS were measured using axial, sagittal and coronal images of the dogs participating in the study. The statistical comparison of the measurements made in our study with the measurements of age, gender and weight on the anatomical structures of the heart is given in *Table 1*. It

Table 1. Descriptive	e statistics of measur	ements of anat	omical structu	res of the heart in do	ogs by sex, age, and w	veight	
Parameters	Gender	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	P Value for Age	P Value for Weight	P Value for Gender
ד דידי	Male	10	96.33	16.00	NS	*	NS
IT	Female	11	93.79	18.78			
77347	Male	10	102.57	25.67	NS	NS	NS
1 VV	Female	11	104.77	25.02			
TITI	Male	10	63.72	11.63	NS	NS	NS
пп	Female	11	61.11	9.72			
11347	Male	10	71.87	16.21	NS	NS	NS
Пүү	Female	11	59.76	21.56			
4.0	Male	10	17.29	6.10	NS	NS	NS
AO	Female	11	15.33	5.77			
4.4.5	Male	10	18.91	6.35	NS	NS	NS
AAO	Female	11	15.72	5.82			
DA	Male	10	14.96	4.41	NS	NS	NS
DA0	Female	11	13.72	3.84			
T Vere	Male	10	32.35	8.23	NS	NS	NS
LVW	Female	11	29.80	10.62			
T Aver	Male	10	20.17	6.29	NS	NS	NS
LAW	Female	11	17.41	5.91			
CNC	Male	10	13.36	3.38	NS	*	NS
	Female	11	11.05	3.28			
CVCA	Male	10	13.41	3.27	NS	NS	NS
CVCA	Female	11	10.90	3.50			
DVar	Male	10	22.49	6.05	NS	NS	NS
K v w	Female	11	19.97	6.31			
DAw	Male	10	13.95	4.87	NS	NS	NS
KAW	Female	11	13.24	4.75			
VHS	Male	10	9.50	0.52	NS	NS	NS
v115	Female	11	9.09	1.37			

TH: Thoracic high, TW: Thoracic width, HH: Hearth high, HW: Hearth width, Ao: Aorta, AAo: Ascendens aorta, DAo: Descendens aorta, LVw: Left ventricular width, LAw: Left atrium width, CVC: Cranial vena cava, CVCA: Caudal vena cava, RVw: Right ventricular width, RAw: Right atrium width, VHS: Vertebral high scale

Table 2.	ble 2. Correlation between measurements of anatomical structures of the heart in dogs by age and weight (Green: P<0.01; Yellow: P<0.05; Red: P>0.05)															
Items	Age	Weight	TH	TW	HH	HW	Ao	AAo	DAO	LV	LA	CVC	CVCA	RV	RA	VHS
Age	1															
Weight	0.279	1														
TH	0.28	.721(**)	1													
TW	.462(*)	.738(**)	.649(**)	1												
HH	0.261	.675(**)	.686(**)	.858(**)	1											
HW	.455(*)	.820(**)	.568(**)	.697(**)	.687(**)	1										
Ao	0.389	.819(**)	.751(**)	.770(**)	.732(**)	.804(**)	1									
AAo	0.229	.879(**)	.769(**)	.700(**)	.649(**)	.799(**)	.901(**)	1								
DAO	0.218	.870(**)	.609(**)	.656(**)	.617(**)	.813(**)	.822(**)	.873(**)	1							
LV	0.368	.755(**)	.466(*)	.665(**)	.551(**)	.795(**)	.869(**)	.781(**)	.839(**)	1						
LA	0.255	.825(**)	.571(**)	.688(**)	.562(**)	.739(**)	.922(**)	.886(**)	.862(**)	.939(**)	1					
CVC	0.300	.900(**)	.488(*)	.648(**)	.631(**)	.899(**)	.791(**)	.817(**)	.881(**)	.862(**)	.849(**)	1				
CVCA	0.315	.825(**)	0.401	.605(**)	.587(**)	.875(**)	.791(**)	.778(**)	.883(**)	.871(**)	.834(**)	.958(**)	1			
RV	0.367	.854(**)	.517(*)	.714(**)	.599(**)	.813(**)	.796(**)	.731(**)	.843(**)	.878(**)	.843(**)	.875(**)	.845(**)	1		
RA	0.344	.804(**)	0.23	.658(**)	.473(*)	.770(**)	.668(**)	.674(**)	.806(**)	.856(**)	.799(**)	.887(**)	.860(**)	.895(**)	1	
VHS	-0.418	-0.25	-0.328	-0.183	-0.068	-0.206	-0.408	-0.289	-0.296	-0.285	-0.32	-0.189	-0.225	-0,143	-0,131	1

was determined that age and gender were not statistically significant in the measurements (P>0.05). Anatomical structures of the heart were found to be statistically significant with the weight of dogs only with thoracic height (TH) and cranial vena cava (CVC) (P<0.05). Vertebral heart scale (VHS) males are larger than females. Only thoracic width (TW) females were found to be larger than males in the measurements obtained. The correlation of measurements of age, weight and anatomical structures is given in *Table 2*. There is a significant correlation between age, thoracic width and heart width (P<0.05). It was found to be statistically insignificant with other parameters (P>0.05). Vertebral heart scale was found to be statistically insignificant with any measurement parameter (P>0.05).

DISCUSSION

In this study, fifteen different breeds of dogs of different weights, whose CT taken in our hospital, were evaluated to determine the values of VHS and heart anatomical structures.

Vertebral heart scale has become an important marker in the diagnosis of heart diseases in cats and dogs. In clinical practice, breed-related differences in VHS value have been observed between dog breeds and accordingly weight differences. This study was conducted to determine whether the weight, age, sex and breed factor differed on the results by compiling the tomography images of the dogs brought to our hospital with different complaints.

Cardiomegaly, which is the most common heart disease, is formed in dogs with valvular diseases, dilated cardiomyopathy, congestive heart failure and congenital heart diseases ^[25]. The type of heart disease will affect the accuracy of a diagnosis based on measurements of the vertebral heart scale. Heart diseases can impose different loads on the heart depending on their pathophysiology and the heart's response varies according to the load ^[26]. Volume-loading diseases such as mitral regurgitation cause eccentric hypertrophy or enlargement of the heart chambers with a corresponding increase in the external dimensions of the heart. Diseases that exert pressure loads, such as aortic stenosis, tend to cause concentric hypertrophy, i.e. thickening of the myocardium occupying the ventricular lumen without any significant change in external dimensions. The observed inter-racial differences in the diagnostic accuracy of the vertebral heart scale are at least partly due to pathophysiological differences between the conditions to which the breeds are predisposed ^[19]. As Lamb et al.^[19] noted, vertebral heart scale values greater than 10.4v for the Yorkshire terrier and 11.1v for the Cavalier King Charles Spaniel should provide about 80 percent accuracy in diagnosing heart disease. With these data obtained from breed-based research, the veterinarian's diagnosis of heart diseases is accelerated.

Considering that dogs being male or female may show differences in VHS measurements, the gender was also included in our study as a statistical criteria and differences were determined according to gender. The same researchers also indicated that female dogs have a lower VHS value than male dogs. According to Buchanan and Bücheler ^[20], there was no difference in the VHS value in dogs between males and females. The fact that the thoracic width determined in our study is greater in females and the VHS value is higher in male dogs supports the effect of gender on sizing.

Sagoglu ^[26] calculated the VHS value as 11v and above in dogs with mitral valve disease, dilated cardiomyopathy, congestive heart failure, congenital heart disease and developed cardiomegaly. Buchanan and Bücheler ^[20] reported in their study that healthy dogs have a VHS value of 10.5 and below.

The margin of error that may arise in heart score measurements using X-ray images is important during diagnosis. It is seen that many different results have been obtained in the researches. Regarding the direction of X-rays, some researchers noted that the heart silhouette appears larger than the left view because the heart is on the left side in Whippets ^[27]. It is also showed that a greater view on heart radiographs taken from the right view in Beagles ^[21]. Different notifications are also seen in studies conducted in rodents ^[28-30].

In the present study, VHS values were determined with many dog breeds. The values determined in dogs are equivalent to the studies performed and give results equivalent to the values obtained in healthy dogs. The VHS value increased with the size of the dog, but it was observed that the heart scale increased in dogs with heart disease, regardless of size. Mean values were calculated in our study. However, it has been detected that the Pekingese dog has a VHS of 12v. This indicates that this small-sized dog has a higher VHS value than the larger-sized dogs and it shows as cardiomegaly in a this Pekingese dog.

There is a difference between male and female VHSs. Males appeared to have a greater VHS value than females. In the data obtained from the right and left radiographs, it was observed that there was no difference between the directions of the VHS value.

Wagner et al.^[23] in their study on healthy cats, they reported that chest width was higher than chest height, and heart height was higher than heart width. They also found that the parameters in the measurements of males were higher than females. In this study, thoracic width was found to be greater than thoracic height in dogs. However, it was observed that the heart width was greater than the heart height in dogs. It was determined that thoracic width was higher in females than in males.

In the measurement of the anatomical structures of the heart in dogs in this study, the measurements made from different dog breeds were similar to other studies. There were small differences on average depending on the weight of the breed type of the dogs. In studies conducted on different dog breeds, the aortic root was measured as 12.8 ± 0.31 mm and the left atrium as 15.9 ± 0.38 mm ^[26], on English Bulldogs, the left atrium as 47.57 ± 5.26 mm and the right atrium as 31.0 ± 96.05 mm ^[15], in another research the average length of the left atrium was measured as 22.56 mm and the average diameter of the right atrium

was 18.00 mm ^[31]. Changes in these values also support the importance of breed and weight differences between dogs in the diagnosis of cardiac problems.

In conclusion, this study aimed to reveal the heart anatomical measurements and vertebral heart scales taken from different breed of dogs. This study would be a guide to the researches conducted by examining CT images of dogs of the same breed and to precise their VHS and heart anatomical structure reference values.

Declarations

Availability of Data and Materials: The authors declare that data supporting the study findings are also available to the corresponding author.

Funding Support: None.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Approval: The ethics committee report for the study was obtained from Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee of Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa (Approval No: İÜC-HADYEK/ 29.11.2023-848033) and the Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Ethics Committee (Report Number: 2022/38).

Author Contributions: In the author's contribution to this study, BCG and EO collected CT. BCG, DOE, YA manuscript design. BCG and ÇPY Completed the article hypothesis and writing phase.

References

1. Maşlak B: Molecular characterization of staphylococcus pseudintermedius species isolated from dogs with pyoderma. *PhD Thesis*, Graduate School of Education: Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa; 2023.

2. Cipone M, Diana A, Gandini G, Fava D, Trenti F: Use of computed tomography in thoracic diseases of small animals. *Vet Res Commun*, 27 (Suppl. 1): 381-384, 2003. DOI: 10.1023/b:verc.0000014185.64233.25

3. Glenn WV, Johnston RJ, Morton PE, Dwyer SJ: 1975 Memorial Award Paper. Image generation and display techniques for CT scan data. Thin transverse and reconstructed coronal and sagittal planes. *Invest Radiol*, 10 (5): 403-416, 1975. DOI: 10.1097/00004424-197509000-00002

4. Sánchez Fernández JM, Anta Escuredo JA, Sánchez Del Rey A, Santaolalla Montoya F: Morphometric study of the paranasal sinuses in normal and pathological conditions. *Acta Otolaryngol*, 120 (2): 273-278, 2000. DOI: 10.1080/000164800750001080

5. Gundemir O, Akcasiz ZN, Yilmaz O, Hadžiomerović N: Radiographic analysis of skull in Van Cats, British Shorthairs and Scottish Folds. *Anat Histol Embryol*, 52 (3): 512-518, 2023. DOI: 10.1111/ahe.12909

6. Gündemir O, Szara T, Pazvant G, Erdikmen D, Duro S, Pérez W: Radiometric analysis of the thoracic limb phalanges in Arabian horses and Thoroughbred horses. *Animals*, 11 (8):2205, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/ ani11082205

7. Aydoğdu S, Eken E, Koplay M: Sexual dimorphism in the sheep corpus callosum using 3 tesla MRI. *EJVS*, 37, 225-234, 2021. DOI: 10.15312/ EurasianJVetSci.2021.347

8. Courtenay LA, Maté-González M, Aramendi J, Yravedra J, González-Aguilera D, Domínguez-Rodrigo M: Testing accuracy in 2D and 3D geometric morphometric methods for cut mark identification and classification. *PeerJ*, 6:e5133, 2018. DOI: 10.7717/peerj.5133

9. İşbilir F, Güzel BC: Morphometric analysis of the mandible of ram and ewe romanov sheep (Ovis aries) with 3D modelling: A CT study. *Anat Histol Embryol*, 1-8, 2023. DOI: 10.1111/ahe.12932

10. Baygeldi SB, Güzel BC, Kanmaz YA, Yılmaz S: Evaluation of skull and mandible morphometric measurements and three-dimensional modelling of computed tomographic images of porcupine (*Hystrix cristata*). *Anat Histol Embryol*, 51 (4): 549-556, 2022. DOI: 10.1111/ahe.12830

11. Demircioglu I, Yilmaz B, Gündemir O, Dayan MO: A threedimensional pelvimetric assessment on pelvic cavity of gazelle (Gazella subgutturosa) by computed tomography. *Anat Histol Embryol*, 50 (1): 43-49, 2021. DOI: 10.1111/ahe.12597

12. Güzel BC, Koçyiğit A, Demircioğlu İ, Demiraslan Y: Investigating metacarpi of Hamdani sheep via different measurement and modelling methods: A methodological study. *Anat Histol Embryol*, 51 (4): 484-491, 2022. DOI: 10.1111/ahe.12816

13. Gündemir O: Shape analysis of fossa masseterica and processus coronoideus in domestic cats (*Felis catus*) and domestic dogs (*Canis familiaris*). *Anat Histol Embryol*, 52 (6): 899-906 2023. DOI: 10.1111/ahe.12947

14. Langhorn R, Willesen JL: Cardiac troponins in dogs and cats. J Vet Intern Med, 30 (1): 36-50, 2016. DOI: 10.1111/jvim.13801

15. Hostnik ET, Scansen BA, Habing AM, Chiappone GA, Layman RR, White RD: Comparison of cardiac measurements by multi-detector computed tomography angiography and transthoracic echocardiography in English bulldogs. *J Vet Cardiol*, 19 (6): 480-491, 2017. DOI: 10.1016/j. jvc.2017.10.003

16. Lord PF, Hansson K, Carnabuci C, Kvart C, Häggström J: Radiographic heart size and its rate of increase as tests for onset of congestive heart failure in Cavalier King Charles Spaniels with mitral valve regurgitation. *J Vet Intern Med*, 25 (6): 1312-1319, 2011. DOI: 10.1111/j.1939-1676.2011.00792.x

17. Timperman L, Habing G, Green E: The vertebral heart scale on CT is correlated to radiographs in dogs. *Vet Radiol Ultrasound*, 62 (5): 519-524, 2021. DOI: 10.1111/vru.12976

18. Litster AL, Buchanan JW: Vertebral scale system to measure heart size in radiographs of cats. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 216 (2): 210-214, 2000. DOI: 10.2460/javma.2000.216.210

19. Lamb CR, Wikeley H, Boswood A, Pfeiffer DU: Use of breed-specific ranges for the vertebral heart scale as an aid to the radiographic diagnosis of cardiac disease in dogs. *Vet Rec*, 148 (23): 707-711, 2001. DOI: 10.1136/ vr.148.23.707

20. Buchanan JW, Bücheler J: Vertebral scale system to measure canine heart size in radiographs. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 206 (2): 194-199, 1995.

21. Kraetschmer S, Ludwig K, Meneses F, Nolte I, Simon D: Vertebral heart scale in the beagle dog. *JSAP*, 49 (5): 240-243, 2008. DOI: 10.1111/j.1748-5827.2007.00531.x

22. Henjes CR, Nolte I, Wefstaedt P: Multidetector-row computed tomography of thoracic aortic anomalies in dogs and cats: patent ductus arteriosus and vascular rings. *BMC Vet Res*, 7:57, 2011. DOI: 10.1186/1746-6148-7-57

23. Wanglerm A, Samachikthummakun C, Kitnitchee Z, Sirinitikorn T, Junnong S, Sutthigran S, Choisunirachon N, Thanaboonnipat C: Computed tomographic evaluation of heart size in clinically healthy cats. *Open Vet J*, 13 (3): 337-347, 2023. DOI: 10.5455/OVJ.2023.v13.i3.10

24. Gibson EA, Culp WTN, Kent MS, Mayhew PD, Wisner ER, Wells A, Visser LC: Treatment of a heart base tumor and chylothorax with endovascular stent, stereotactic body radiation therapy, and a tyrosine kinase inhibitor in a dog. *J Vet Cardiol*, 33, 61-68, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j. jvc.2020.11.004

25. Alihosseini H, Çolakoğlu EÇ, Haydardedeoğlu AE: Radiographic cardiomegaly in dogs:from radiography to clinical approach. *MAE Vet Fak Derg*, 2 (2): 163-170, 2017. DOI: 10.24880/maeuvfd.346468

26. Sagoglu H: Evaluation of MR-PRO-adrenomedullin and copeptin levels and their relationship with NT-PRO-BNP and troponin levels in dogs with hearth disease. *PhD Thesis*, Institute of Graduate Studies: İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa; 2023.

27. Bavegems V, Van Caelenberg A, Duchateau L, Sys SU, Van Bree H, De Rick A: Vertebral heart size ranges specific for whippets. *Vet Radiol Ultrasound*, 46 (5): 400-403, 2005. DOI: 10.1111/j.1740-8261.2005.00073.x

28. Moarabi A, Mosallanejad B, Ghadiri A, Avizeh RJIJoVS: Radiographic measurement of vertebral heart scale (VHS) in New Zealand white rabbits. *IJVS*, 10, 37-42, 2015.

29. Onuma M, Ono S, Ishida T, Shibuya H, Sato T: Radiographic measurement of cardiac size in 27 rabbits. *J Vet Med Sci*, 72 (4): 529-531, 2010. DOI: 10.1292/jvms.09-0390

30. de Moura CR, das Neves Diniz A, da Silva Moura L, das Chagas Araújo Sousa F, Baltazar PI, Freire LD, Guerra PC, de Sousa JM, Giglio RF, Pessoa GT, de Sá RP, Alves FR: Cardiothoracic ratio and vertebral heart scale in clinically normal black- rumped agoutis (*Dasyprocta prymnolopha*, wagler 1831). *J Zoo Wildl Med*, 46 (2): 314-319, 2015. DOI: 10.1638/2014-0038r.1

31. Fries RC, Gordon SG, Saunders AB, Miller MW, Hariu CD, Schaeffer DJ: Quantitative assessment of two- and three-dimensional transthoracic and two-dimensional transesophageal echocardiography, computed tomography, and magnetic resonance imaging in normal canine hearts. *J Vet Cardiol*, 21, 79-92, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.jvc.2018.09.005

Research Article

Estrous Cycle Length in the Algerian Arbia Goat: Exfoliative Vaginal Cytology and Serum Progesterone Levels

Achour YAHIA ¹ Nabila HAMMAMI ¹ Khelaf SAIDANI ¹ Khadidja HAMRAT ²

- ¹Laboratory of Biotechnologies Related to Animal Reproduction (LBRA), Institute of Veterinary Sciences, Saad Dahleb University, BP270, Soumaa, 09000, Blida, ALGERIA
- ² Veterinary Medicine Faculty, University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine, Calea Mănăştur 3-5, 400372, Cluj-Napoca ROMANIA
- ³ Animal Health & Production Laboratory, Higher National Veterinary School, Issad Abbes, 16000, Algiers, ALGERIA



(*) Corresponding author: Nora MIMOUNE Phone: +213 554226487 E-mail: nora.mimoune@gmail.com

How to cite this article?

Yahia A, Hammami N, Saidani K, Hamrat K, Mimoune N: Estrous cycle length in the Algerian Arbia goat: Exfoliative vaginal cytology and serum progesterone levels. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 311-317, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.30898

Article ID: KVFD-2023-30898 Received: 11.10.2023 Accepted: 30.01.2024 Published Online: 02.02.2024

Abstract

This study aimed to estimate the estrous cycle length of the Algerian Arbia goat in Northern Algeria. For this, eighteen (18) Arbia goats, aged between 2 and 6 years, were used in our work that took place in the experimental farm of the Saad Dahlab University (Blida, Algeria). Blood samples were taken from each goat twice a week (at a 2 or 3-day interval) for 3 months. The serum progesterone concentration was determined by Radio-Immuno-Assay. Smears of the vaginal mucosa were taken at the same time as the blood samples. The predominance of superficial cells on the smear of the vaginal mucosa as well as a serum progesterone level less than 1 ng/mL expressed the return to estrous which was considered the beginning of a new cycle. A negative correlation was observed between the percentage of superficial cells (SC) and serum progesterone (P4) levels in all goats. Our results showed a significant difference (P<0.05) between the means of different cycle lengths obtained among the females. In addition, normal cycles had an average of 20.11±1.85 days (17-25 days) representing 59.6% of cycles. Besides, a large number of short cycles (<17 days) with an average of 14.41±1.51 days were found representing 25.5% of recorded cycles. The number of long cycles (>25 days; with an average of 32.14±5.58 days), represented 14.9% of recorded cycles. Following these results, it can be concluded that the local goat in Northern Algeria had different types of cycles (normal, short, and long) with a large percentage of normal cycles.

Keywords: Arbia goat, Cycle length, Serum progesterone, Vaginal cytology smears

INTRODUCTION

Small ruminant production is one of the most important sources of meat in Algeria and plays a vital role in the country's food security ^[1]. Furthermore, the reproductive performance of ruminants is among the major concerns of breeders and their technical supervisors ^[2]. Knowledge of the reproductive physiology of the estrous cycle is important for animal management and to determine the reproductive and productive potential of animals ^[3]. The latter plays a key role in farm economics, not only in determining animal performance but also in decisions concerning selection and culling ^[2].

Perfect knowledge of the characteristics of the sexual cycle and its different stages is of decisive value in the success of breeding. In females with normal cycles, morphological, endocrine and secretory changes that occur in the ovaries and tubules usually represent the stage of the cycle. These changes have been associated with sexual steroid hormone levels. In the absence of infection, circulating levels of progesterone and estradiol 17 β are the main determinants of the model of vaginal cytology ^[4,5].

It is well known that the female reproductive tract is a target for sex steroid hormones. The endometrium and the vaginal epithelium are especially influenced by sex hormones which determine their development and function ^[6]. The serum levels of estradiol 17 β (E2) and progesterone (P4) directly influence the cytology pattern of the vagina. Examination of vaginal cells is a useful indicator of the estrous cycle in different species ^[7,8].

Vaginal cytology changes during the estrous cycle have been studied in sheep ^[9], goats ^[6], bovine ^[10] and rodents [11]. The morphology of exfoliated cells has been found to be very useful to determine the physiological and pathological status of the female as well as a tool for hormonal bioassay in several animal species ^[5,12]. Many researchers have studied the variations which occur in the vaginal mucosa at different phases of estrus cycle by using vaginal smears ^[13,14]. These variations occur under the influence of steroid hormones [15]. Exfoliated cells are a normal occurrence during the estrous cycle due to the increase of estrogen. As the stages of the cycle advance to estrus, mostly cornified epithelial cells are present ^[14]. The relative proportion of different types of vaginal epithelial cells can be used as a marker of the endocrine environment^[15,16].

In Algeria, as far as the authors know, there is little or no work done on the nature of reproductive cyclicity in local goats and the characterization of sexual cycle parameters. These data are imperfectly known and are still unclear. Thus, the purpose of the present work was to study the reproductive cyclicity by determining the estrous cycle length of the Algerian Arbia goat.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

All the animal studies were conducted with the utmost regard for animal welfare, and all animal rights issues were appropriately observed. No animal suffered during the course of the work. All the experiments were carried out according to the guidelines of the Institutional Animal Care Committee of the Algerian Higher Education and Scientific Research (Agreement Number 45/DGLPAG/ DVA.SDA.14).

Study Area

This current study took place in the experimental farm of the Saad Dahlab University of Blida 1, in Blida region, located between latitude $36^{\circ}28$ ' North and longitude $2^{\circ}49$ ' East. It is bordered in the North by Tipaza and Algiers, East by Boumerdes and Bouira, South by Medea and West by Ain Defla (*Fig. 1*). It has a Mediterranean climate characterized by cold and rainywinters and hot and dry summers.

Animals

Eighteen Arbia goats, aged between 2 to 6 years, with an average live weight of 31.28 kg were used in our experiment.

To ensure that the females were not pregnant, an ultrasound examination was performed for each goat. Throughout the study period, the goats were separated from the males (buck) to avoid any unwanted protrusions.

Before the start of the study, the entire herd used for the

 11
 20
 14
 26
 10
 31
 30
 35
 74
 10
 13
 10
 95
 54
 10
 10
 95
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 10
 <td

experiment underwent internal and external antiparasitic treatment using Ivermectin (Ivomec 1%[®], Merial). The study took place during September, October, and November.

Diet

The entire herd received an identical diet throughout the experiment period. The animals received a daily feed ration consisting of oat hay, and a concentrate based on crushed barley, corn and bran distributed at a rate of 500 g/day/animal (In addition to the contribution acquired by free grazing in the meadow of the experimental station). Water was supplied *ad-libitum*.

Vaginal Smear and Cytology

Vaginal smears were collected from each female twice a week (at 2 or 3-day interval) for 3 months. We studied 312 smears in total. The smear collection procedure involved using a vaginoscope for parting the vulva lips and inserting a 10 cm long cotton-tipped sterile swab into the vagina to a depth of about 5-7 cm. The swab inside the vagina was rotated through 2-3 revolutions against the vaginal wall. It was withdrawn and rolled on a clean glass slide to form two parallel tracks of smear material on the glass surface. The smear was immediately fixed with absolute methanol, air-dried and stained with the Giemsa stain. The vaginal cells were classified under a light microscope into three basic cell types with different diameters; superficial squamous cells with light cytoplasm, intermediate squamous cells and parabasal cells [14]. Each cell type was counted and then expressed as a percentage of the total ^[15]. The predominance of superficial cells on the smear of the vaginal mucosa means the return to heat which was considered the beginning of a new cycle [17].

Hormonal Assay

In order to measure serum progesterone, blood samples (5 mL) were taken from the jugular vein of all females



313

twice a week (at a 2 or 3-day interval) for 3 months (in the same time as vaginal cytology samples). Following centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 20 min, serum was harvested and stored at -20°C until assayed. Progesterone concentration was determined by the RIA technique using an Immunotech kit (RIA Progesterone from IMMUNOTECH SAS France). The analysis was carried out at the Nuclear Research Center in Draria, Algiers.

Estrous cycle length was defined as the number of days between the onsets of two consecutive estrous periods ^[18]. Serum progesterone levels below 1 ng/mL associated with the predominance of superficial epithelial cells on vaginal smears indicated the beginning of a new cycle ^[19]. We were therefore able to determine the different lengths of estrous cycles by the detection of estrous, the perception at the same time of a large percentage of superficial cells on vaginal smears and the decrease of serum progesterone (<1 ng/mL).

Twenty-four samples were taken from each goat during the 3 months of the study (vaginal smears and blood samples), corresponding to 864 samples analyzed (432 smears and 432 serums).

Statistical Analysis

The differences between the percentage of epithelial cell types as well as the cycle length recorded after analysis of vaginal cytology and the determination of serum progesterone levels were calculated by the ANOVA test (statistical software Past3).

RESULTS

According to our results (*Table 1*), in 75.7% of all vaginal smears, intermediate epithelial cells predominated, followed by the superficial epithelial cells with 20% of smears, and a rate of 4.3% for the parabasal epithelial cells that were rarely encountered (P<0.05) (*Table 2*).

Table 1.	able 1. Percentage of recorded epithelial cells																	
							Pe	rcentag	e of Sup	erficiel (Cells (%)						
Sample	goat 1	goat 2	goat 3	goat 4	goat 5	goat 6	goat 7	goat 8	goat 9	goat 10	goat 11	goat 12	goat 13	goat 14	goat 15	goat 16	goat 17	goat 18
1	2	9	30	30	9	9	11	0	0	20	2	22	12	10	1	29	76	2
2	7	12	50	40	3	52	4	1	0	80	4	0	16	64	5	87	23	13
3	12	65	7	10	50	76	10	3	80	5	7	3	75	30	23	38	2	73
4	21	43	0	1	64	33	32	2	33	3	0	9	26	12	68	18	7	33
5	26	5	2	0	13	15	99	0	11	2	80	20	23	0	12	2	0	5
6	73	8	90	0	38	5	65	5	67	9	76	39	0	2	4	6	28	2
7	25	12	20	12	17	0	8	10	32	18	11	18	20	5	0	12	64	12
8	2	15	10	34	14	0	2	55	11	74	2	8	65	88	0	0	23	69
9	5	43	1	80	71	0	1	92	39	20	4	30	25	20	15	24	10	21
10	11	16	3	0	77	10	5	42	34	2	34	11	4	15	56	77	75	11
11	12	6	45	10	22	8	7	22	56	12	42	22	5	9	40	12	9	5
12	28	7	70	5	17	22	11	30	25	65	76	11	10	12	11	5	2	3
13	29	8	0	0	78	32	15	27	19	7	10	50	22	25	10	2	16	6
14	56	52	0	0	49	49	55	0	4	5	8	22	78	90	82	17	22	56
15	0	62	2	22	5	38	78	4	25	12	2	5	33	33	24	22	11	11
16	15	5	1	0	10	15	5	2	65	0	56	10	12	20	2	92	73	20
17	32	18	0	8	85	21	13	0	45	6	31	65	5	12	1	53	20	8
18	33	19	78	23	20	9	5	4	32	66	78	21	8	6	21	25	8	4
19	46	12	23	0	15	78	0	0	19	1	23	54	0	23	90	19	11	5
20	3	86	3	11	12	14	0	0	20	9	3	32	0	62	28	3	4	3
21	33	82	4	42	10	8	4	2	5	32	15	77	10	27	17	1	9	0
22	4	5	12	90	79	6	60	0	10	30	3	81	15	5	6	67	94	1
23	63	3	30	67	9	0	88	1	72	28	5	17	24	10	11	18	6	9
24	10	11	88	30	71	10	76	2	12	90	2	32	17	2	65	2	0	2

Table 2. Percentage of epithelial cell type encountered on analyzed smears								
Cell Type	Parabasal	Superficial	Intermediate					
Smear rate where cell type predominates	4.3%	20%	75.7%					
P-value		<0.05						

Table 3. P	rogestera	one level:	5															
		Progesterone Levels (ng/mL)																
Sample	goat 1	goat 2	goat 3	goat 4	goat 5	goat 6	goat 7	goat 8	goat 9	goat 10	goat 11	goat 12	goat 13	goat 14	goat 15	goat 16	goat 17	goat 18
1	1.8	1.6	1.1	0.8	1.5	1.6	0.9	1.8	1.1	1.3	0.9	1.2	1.8	1.9	1.7	2	0.2	1.8
2	1.9	1.6	0.5	0.5	1.3	1.1	1	1.6	1.4	0.4	0.6	1.7	2	0.2	0.9	0	0.9	1.1
3	1.3	0.6	1.6	1.2	0.7	0.6	1.1	1.5	0.6	1.2	0.8	1.3	0.3	1.6	1.5	1.3	1.9	0.4
4	1.2	1	1.9	1.4	0.8	1.5	1	1.5	1.5	1.4	0.9	1.5	1.1	1.3	0.2	1.8	1.3	1.9
5	0.9	0.8	1.5	1.3	1.3	1.2	0.6	1.7	1.5	1.3	0.7	0.6	1.3	1	1.5	1.2	2.4	2.1
6	0.3	0.8	0.6	1.2	1.1	1.7	1	1.4	0.3	1.1	0.8	1.5	1.9	1.9	1.3	1.4	1.5	1.9
7	0.8	0.9	1.3	1.1	1.2	1.3	1.9	1.6	1.6	1.3	1.4	1.3	1.1	1.7	1.9	1.1	0.6	0.9
8	2	1.2	1.4	1.3	0.9	1.6	1.2	1.8	1	0.5	1.3	1.9	0.6	0.7	1.2	2.3	0.8	0.3
9	1.2	0.5	1.2	0.7	0.6	1.7	1	0.1	0.9	1.7	1.2	1.2	1.1	0.9	1.7	1.8	1.1	1.8
10	0.8	0.7	1.6	1.6	1	1.7	1.3	0.9	1	1.8	0.6	1.4	1.5	1	0.6	0.4	0.3	1.9
11	1.1	1	1.4	1.2	1	3	1.1	1	0.5	1.1	0.7	0.8	1.9	1.4	0.8	1.9	2	1.5
12	1.7	1.2	0.8	0.8	0.6	1.6	1.5	1.2	1.3	0.7	0.6	1.5	1.7	2.1	1.1	1	1.5	1.5
13	2.3	1.1	6.2	1.2	0.5	1.3	1.2	1.1	1.7	1.3	1.5	0.4	1.2	1.1	1.2	1.2	1.3	1.2
14	0.1	0.8	1.3	1.5	0.7	1.2	1.7	1.8	5.9	1.4	1.2	1.2	0.7	0.5	0.3	1.3	1.1	0.7
15	1.6	0.6	1.5	1.2	0.9	0.8	0.5	4.8	3.3	1.5	1.1	1.3	1.3	1.5	1	0.9	1.6	1.1
16	0.9	1.2	1.2	1.1	1.5	3	1.5	1.4	0.2	1.2	0.5	1.2	1.8	3	1.8	0.2	0.4	1.5
17	1.8	1	1.4	0.8	0.1	1.5	1.2	1.4	0.9	0.9	0.5	0.5	2.1	1.9	2.2	1.4	1.7	1.2
18	1.8	0.9	0.1	1.5	1.2	1.2	1	1.5	1.6	0.5	0.9	1.1	1.5	1.6	1.3	1.6	1.1	1.7
19	1.6	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.1	0.4	2	1.2	1.6	1.8	1.3	1.4	2	1.1	0.2	1.2	1.9	1.8
20	0.4	0.1	1.2	1.2	1	1.6	1	1.2	1.3	1.5	1.2	1.2	1.8	0.3	1.1	1	1.3	1.2
21	1.4	0.5	1.4	0.8	1.2	1.2	1.3	1.5	0.8	0.7	1	0.8	0.9	1.8	1.4	1.1	1.5	1.3
22	1.3	1.4	1.2	0.8	0.2	1.4	1	1.5	1	1.1	1.2	1.2	1.3	2	1.5	0.3	0.1	2.3
23	0.3	1.2	1.1	0.9	1.3	1.3	0.7	2.2	0.4	1.3	1.4	1.1	1.5	1.8	0.3	2.4	1.8	2.2
24	1.2	1.3	0.7	1.1	0.3	1	0.8	1.1	1.4	0.8	1.4	1.2	0.7	0.9	0.9	1.2	2.1	1.3

In this study, variations in progesterone levels ranging from 0.1 ng/mL to 6.2 ng/mL were found (*Table 3*). A negative correlation was observed between the percentage of superficial cells (SC) and serum progesterone (P4) levels in all goats (when the percentage of the superficial cells increased, the serum progesterone level decreased) (*Fig. 2*).

Throughout the study, we recorded for all the goats, 47 cycles of different types (lengths) which are presented in *Table 4*.

The average cycle length observed was; 20.11 ± 1.85 days for normal cycles, 14.41 ± 1.51 days for short cycles, and

 32.14 ± 5.58 days for long cycles (*Table 5*). There was significant difference in the estrous cycle lengths among the different goats (P<0.05).

Fig. 3 shows the frequency of the different cycle lengths revealed throughout the study. It was noted that the majority of cycles were between 14 and 24 days with some cycles less than 14 days and some cycles more than 25 days.

Data in *Table 3* indicate that the frequency of normal cycles (from 17 to 25 days) was the most important which reached a rate of 59.6% (28 cycles of 47cycles recorded) followed by short cycles (<17 days) with a rate of 25.5%



0 (Numb	per and Duration of	f Cycle		
Goat Number	Short (< to 17d)	Normal (17 to 25d)	Long (> to 25d		
1	-	-	(31d), (35d)		
2	-	(21d), (18d), (21d)	-		
3	(14d), (14d)	(17d), (21d)	-		
4	(16d)	-	(42d)		
5	(15d)	(21d)	-		
6	-	(18d)	(26d)		
7	-	-	(28d), (35d)		
8	-	-	-		
9	(11d)	(17d), (19d), (24d)	-		
10	(15d)	(21d), (21d), (21d)	-		
11	(15d)	(24d)	-		
12	(15d), (15d)	-	-		
13	(16d)	(21d)	-		
14	-	(20d), (19d), (20d)	-		
15	(15d)	(18d), (21d), (19d)	-		
16	-	(20d), (22d)	(28d)		
17	(12d)	(21d), (19d), (22d)	-		
18	-	(17d), (20d)	-		
Average +/- SD	14.41±1.51d	20.11±1.85d	32.14±5.58d		
P value		0.02623			

(12 cycles of 47 cycles recorded) and finally the lowest rate was that of long cycles (>25 days) with a rate of 14.9% (7 cycles of 47 cycles recorded).

315

Table 5. Frequency and percentage of different cycle lengths									
	Cycle Length (days)								
Parameter	Short (< 17d)	Normal (17d - 25d)	Long (> 25d)	Total					
Number of cycle	12	28	7	47					
Percentage of cycles	25.5	59.6	14.9	100					
P-value	0.005								
d: day									



A significant difference (P<0.05) was recorded between the percentages of cycle lengths found.

DISCUSSION

The predominance of intermediate cells in the majority of analyzed smears seems to be related to the luteal phase with a high rate of serum P4 (which is the longest phase of the estrous cycle). On the other hand, smears dominated by superficial epithelial cells corresponded to samples with a decrease in P4 levels, which indicates the estrous phase as reported previously ^[7]. Sitaresmi ^[17]found that intermediate cells dominated the majority of the smears, especially on the metestrus and diestrus. Ola et al.^[6] noted that intermediate and parabasal cells were more commonly encountered in the smears from days corresponding to the luteal phase under progesterone control. These results are in agreement with those reported by Zarkaoui and soukouti ^[20] in Damascus does, which have shown that the follicular phase had an average length of 3.1±0.6 days (range: 2-5 days), with a mean progesterone level of 0.68±0.79 nmol L⁻¹ (range: 0.00-2.81 nmol L⁻¹).

These cyclical relationships between the exfoliated cells and the ovarian steroid hormones have been strongly established for small ruminants and for other species ^[5,6,8,21].

In the current study, data showed that the average normal estrous cycle length in the Algerian Arbia goat was 20.1 ± 1.85 days (17-25 days). In addition to the normal cycles, the females presented a great percentage of short

cycles (25.5%) with an average of 14.41±1.51 days. Long cycles were found with a percentage of 14.9% and an average of 32.14±5.58 days. These results are consistent with the study conducted by Yahia et al.^[22]. These latter concluded that the average length of normal cycles for Algerian local goats was 19.23 days. In the same context, Charallah ^[23] confirmed that the normal estrous cycle length was 20 days in the Bedouin goat, with the existence of other types (short and long cycles). Derquaoui and El Khaldi ^[24] noticed that the average duration of the estrous cycle in D'man goats was20.96±2.84 days for normal cycles and 10.5±3.45 days for short cycles. In local Moor goats in Tunisia, the average duration of normal cycles was 21.1±1.5 days ^[25]. Corteel ^[25] found that the goat showed only 6-8estrous cycles during each year and the frequent duration was 21 days.

On the contrary, longer or shorter cycles (less or more than 21 days) were observed by several authors. Lahirigoyen [27] mentioned that the average duration of short cycles was 6 days and those of long cycles ranged between 30 and 44 days. The west African dwarf goats exhibited medium (regarded as normal) cycle lengths of between 19-22 days ^[28,29]. In fact, 86%, 32%, of cycles were short, respectively, in the Nubian goat ^[30], and in Creole ^[31]. A study with Alpine goats during the breeding season recorded 77% of normal cycles (17-25 days) with an average duration of 20.7 days, 14% were short cycles (8 days on average) and 9% were long cycles (39 days on average) [32], which is in agreement with our results. It would seem that the relatively high incidence of short cycles was a characteristic of the goat species ^[24,32]. The origin and etiology of short cycles in small ruminants are not fully elucidated, but they can be explained by the fact that the corpus luteum of short cycles is of bad quality and that its secretory function is limited as a consequence ^[31]. This fact is strongly influenced by food level ^[33].

In addition, the periods found in this work are similar to those reported for a certain tropical alpine breed in different countries. Greyling ^[34] showed that the normal estrous cycle length was 20.7 ± 0.7 days.The normal cycle duration of 19.7 ± 1.5 was revealed in the Matou goat in China by Moaeen-ud-Din et al.^[35]. The normal estrous cycle length recorded our study (20.11 ± 1.85 days), is very close to those reported in Red Sokoto goats in Nigeria ^[36] and in Criollo goats in Chile ^[37] (21.3 and 20.7, respectively).

The present study showed a negative correlation between the percentage of superficial cells (SC) and serum progesterone (P4) levels in all goats, and the average normal estrus cycle length in Algerian Arbia goats was 20.11 ± 1.85 days with a percentage of 59.6%. To this type of cycles, were added short and long cycles with different rates. In addition, it has been suggested that a vaginal cytology exam is highly indicative of the effect of progesterone in the goat reproductive tract. It was possible through this work, for the first time, to characterize the estrous cycle length of the Algerian Arbia goat and to determine the estrus phase by researching the high rate of superficial epithelial cells and the low level of serum progesterone. These findings are important and useful in assessing the physiology of the estrous cycle of the Algerian Arbia goat as a primary parameter of reproduction.

Declarations

Availability of Data and Materials: The datasets during and/or analyzed during the current study available from the corresponding author (N. Mimoune) on reasonable request.

Funding Support: There is no funding source.

Ethical Statement: All the experiments were carried out according to the guidelines of the Institutional Animal Care Committee of the Algerian Higher Education and Scientific Research (Agreement Number 45/DGLPAG/DVA.SDA.14).

Competing Interests: The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Author Contributions: YA, NH, KS, KH, NM: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Writing -Original Draft, Writing - Review & Editing.

REFERENCES

1. Ait Issad N, Abdelouahed K, Mimoune N, Bekhouche S, Boubeuker R, Hamoudi Adjmi H, Ait Hamouda TG, Degui D, Kaidi R, Khelef D: Molecular detection of *Toxoplasma gondii* in ewes placenta in Northeastern Algeria. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 28 (2): 267-274, 2022. DOI: 10.9775/ kvfd.2021.26887

2. Mimoune N, Azzouz MY, Khelef D, Kaidi R: Ovarian cysts in cattle: A review. *Vet Stanica*, 52 (5): 587-603, 2021. DOI: 10.46419/vs.52.5.10

3. Mimoune N, Messai CR, Khelef D, Salhi O, Azzouz MY, Kaidi R: Reproductive parameters and metabolic profile of repeat breeder cows. *Livest Res Rural Dev*, 29 (8):2017, 2017.

4. Yang L, Yao X, Chen X, Zang S, Sun H, Liu Y, Dun W: Expression of follicle-stimulating hormone, luteotropic hormone, estrogen and progesterone receptors in ovary, oviduct and endometrium after estrus induction in ewe. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 26 (1): 65-70, 2020. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2019.22274

5. Bello UM, Ojo SA, Ghaji A, Voh (Jr) AA, Bappah MN, Igbokwe CO : Cyto-morphological changes in exfoliated vaginal cells and thermal rhythms of red sokoto does during the oestrous cycle. *Adv Anim Vet Sci*, 11 (1): 94-103, 2023. DOI: 10.17582/journal.aavs/2023/11.1.94.103

6. Ola SI, Sanni WA, EgbunikeG: Exfoliative vaginal cytology during the estrous cycle of West African dwarf goats. *Reprod Nutr Dev*, 46, 87-95, 2006. DOI: 10.1051/rnd:2005067

7. Quartuccio M, Cristarella S, Medica P, Fazio E, Mazzullo G, Rifici C, Liotta L, Satué K: Endometrial cytology during the different phases of the estrous cycle in jennies: New evidences. *Animals*, 10 (6):1062, 2020. DOI: 10.3390/ani10061062

8. Johnson AK: Normal feline reproduction: The queen. *J Feline Med Surg*, 24 (3): 204-211, 2022. DOI: 10.1177/1098612X221079706

9. Ribeiro CV, Neves TA, Fagundes GB, do Nascimento DM, da Silva CMG, Arrivabene M, Dias FEF, Cavalcante TV: Morphological characterization of vaginal epithelial cells of Santa Inês ewes subjected to estrus synchronization. *Comun Sci*, 10 (1): 5-9, 2019. DOI: 10.14295/cs.v10i1.2756 **10.** Rahayu J, Salmah S, Yusuf M, Ramadhan B, Kesuma Sari D: The profile and percentage of vaginal epithelial cell numbers during the estrous cycle in Bali cattle. *IOP Conf Ser: Earth Environ Sci*, 247:012006, 2019. DOI: 10.1088/1755-1315/247/1/012006

11. Quignon C: Collection and analysis of vaginal smears to assess reproductive stage in mice. *Current Protoc*, 3 (9):e887, 2023. DOI: 10.1002/ cpz1.887

12. Lafi SQ, Khamas WA, Hailat NQ, Al-Darraji AM, Fathalla MA: Vaginal cytology in small ruminants. *Indian Vet J*, 74, 662-665, 1997.

13. Keshav K, Dipyaman S, Sheetal SK, Alok K: Vaginal cytology: Method for detection of estrus in canine. *Pharm Innov J*, 12 (3): 1493-1494, 2023.

14. Dudek RW: High Yield Histology. 222-223, Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, 2004.

15. Lamond DR, Lang DR: Investigation of the vaginal smear (Allen-Doisy) assay of oestrogen in ovariectomized ewes. *Aust J Agric Res*, 16 (2): 201-210, 2005. DOI : 10.1071/AR9650201

16. Arthur GH, Noakes DE, Pearson H, Parkinson TJ: Veterinary Reproduction and Obstetrics. 155-256, WB Sanuders Company, 1996.

17. Sitaresmi PI, Widyobroto BP, Bintara S, Widayati DT: Exfoliative vaginal cytology of Saanen goat (*Capra hircus*) during estrus cycle. *IOP Conf Ser: Earth Environ Sci*, 387:012009, 2019. DOI: 10.1088/1755-1315/387/1/012009

18. Chemineau P, Daveau A, Maurice F, Delgadillo JA: Seasonality of œstrus and ovulation is not modified by subjecting female Alpine goats to a tropical photoperiod. *Small Ruminant Res*, 8, 299-312, 1992. DOI: 10.1016/0921-4488(92)90211-L

19. ThimonierJ: Détermination de l'état physiologique des femelles par analyse des niveaux de progestérone. *INRA Prod Anim*, 13 (3): 177-183, 2000. DOI: 10.20870/productions-animales.2000.13.3.3779

20. Zarkawi M, Soukouti A: Serum progesterone levels using radioimmunoassay during oestrous cycle of indigenous Damascus does. *New Zealand J Agric Res*, 44 (2-3): 165-169, 2001. DOI: 10.1080/ 00288233.2001.9513473

21. Widayati DT, Sitaresmi PI, Bintara S, Widyobroto BP: Estrus detection through vaginal pH in Saanen Etawah crossbreed goats. *Pak J Biol Sci*, 21, 383-386, 2018. DOI: 10.3923/pjbs.2018.383.386

22. Yahia A, Kaidi R, Hamrat K, Hamoudi M: Duration of estrous cycle and duration of estrus in local goats in the region of Kabylia (Algeria) "behavioral study". *Agric Sci Pract J*, 79 (3-4): 111-118, 2011.

23. Charallah S, Khammar F, Amirat Z, Lakhdari Y: Evaluation de l'activité sexuelle mâle et femelle: Caractérisation zootechnique et nutritionnelle chez la chèvre bédouine. **In**, *Proceeding 7e Conference Internationale Sur les Caprins*, Tours, France, 460, 1990.

24. Derquaoui L, El Khaledi O: Evaluation de l'activité sexuelle pendant la

saison de baisse de fertilité chez la chèvre de race D'man. **In**, 2nd *Conference African Small Ruminant Research Network*, Arusha, Tanzania, Addis-Abeba, Ethiopie, Cipea, 49-51, 1994.

25. Lassoued N, Rekik M: Variations saisonnières de l'oestrus et de l'ovulation chez la chèvre locale Maure en Tunisie. *REMVT*, 58 (1-2): 69-73, 2005. DOI: 10.19182/remvt.9942

26. Corteel JP : Le contrôle du Cycle Sexuel de la chèvre. 1ere Journée de la Recherche Ovine et Caprine. INRA- ITOVIC, 1, 28-47, 1975.

27. LahirigoyenM:Contribution à la Définition d'un Plan de Testage des Caprins. INRA - Paris, 1973.

28. Akusu MO: Ovarian activities and reproductive potentials of the West African dwarf goat in Ibadan. *PhD thesis*, Department of Veterinary Surgery and Reproduction, University of Ibadan, Ibadan, Nigeria, 1987.

29. Prasad SP, Bhattacharrya NK: Oestrus cycle behaviour in different seasons in Barbari nannies. *Indian J Anim Sci*, 49, 1058-1062, 1979.

30. Camp JC, Wildt DE, Hourard PK, Stuart LD, Chadraborty PK: Ovarian activity during abnormal length oestrus cycles in the goats. *Biol Reprod*, 28, 673-681, 1983. DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod28.3.673

31. Chemineau P, Thimonier J: Methods for evaluation of reproduction and growth rate performance in sheep and goat. *World Rev Anim Prod*, 22, 28-32, 1986.

32. Baril G, Chemineau P, Cognié Y, Guérin Y, Leboeuf B, Orgeur P, Vallet JC : Manuel de formation pour l'insémination artificielle chez les ovins et les caprins. Et. FAO Ed.de FAO: Production et santé animales. FAO Ed, 83, 1993.

33. Oldman CM, Martin GB: Stimulation of seasonally anovular Merino ewes by rams. II. Premature regression of ram-induced corpora lutea. *Anim Reprod Sci*, 1, 291-295, 1979. DOI: 10.1016/0378-4320(79)90014-9

34. Greyling JPC: Reproduction traits in the Boer goat doe. *Small Ruminant Res*, 36 (2): 171-177, 2000. DOI: 10.1016/s0921-4488(99)00161-3

35. Moaeen-ud-Din M, Yand LG, Chen SL, Zhang ZR, Xiao JZ, Wen QY, Dai M: Reproductive performance of Matou goat under sub-tropical monsoonal climate of Central China. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 40 (1): 17-23, 2008. DOI: 10.1007/s11250-007-9043-z

36. Pathiraja N, Oyedipe EO, Gyang EO, Obasi A: Plasma progesterone levels during oestrous cycle and their relationship with the ovulation rate in Red Sokoto (maradi) goats. *Br Vet J*, 147:57-62, 1991. DOI: 10.1016/0007-1935(91)90067-W

37. Santa-Maria A, Cox J, Munoz E, Rodriguez R, Caldera L: Study of sexual cycle, reproductive seasonality and control of estrus in Criollo goats in Chile. **In**, *International Atomic Energy Agency, Livestock Reproduction in Latin America, Panel Proceedings Series* - International Atomic Energy Agency, IAEA, Vienna, 363-385, 1990.

Research Article

Temperature Humidity Index: Influence on Milk Yield and Milk Composition of Multiparous West African Dwarf Does

Afolabi Taoheed YUSUFF¹^(*) Abdulhammed Abiodun BADMOS¹ Oluwasayope Ibidapo ALLI¹ Victoria Oluladun CHIMEZIE¹ Abdulhammed Abimbade ADEYEMI² Timothy Rotimi FAYEYE¹

¹University of Ilorin, Department of Animal Production, Ilorin, NIGERIA

² Al-Hikma University, Department of Animal Science, Ilorin, NIGERIA



(*) **Corresponding author:** Afolabi Taoheed YUSUFF Tel: +234 806 0132238 E-mail: yusuff.at@unilorin.edu.ng

How to cite this article?

Yusuff AT, Badmos AA, Alli OI, Chimezie VO, Adeyemi SA, Fayeye TR: Temperature humidity index: Influence on milk yield and milk composition of multiparous West African Dwarf does. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 319-324, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.30997

Article ID: KVFD-2023-30997 Received: 19.11.2023 Accepted: 16.04.2024 Published Online: 19.04.2024

Abstract

This study examined the influence of ambient temperature (AT), relative humidity (RH) and temperature-humidity index (THI) on milk yield (MY) and milk compositions (MC) of West African Dwarf (WAD) goats using a total of thirty-six (36) lactating does. The goats were milked twice daily for twelve (12) weeks during which, AT and RH were monitored. The AT and RH data were used to generate THI. The milk collected at every milking was quantified and also analysed for MC, The AT, RH and THI during each milking period were categorized into low, medium and high ranges, under which the corresponding MY and MC were fixed. The data generated were subjected to Analysis of Variance of a Completely Randomized Design. The result revealed that the highest MY (350.28 mL), recorded during low AT range, was not significantly different from 329.43 mL obtained during medium AT, while high RH range (70-99%) facilitates higher MY (364.30 mL) compare to low and medium ranges. AT exerted no significant difference on all the MCs except protein. Milk fat was highest (7.34%) at low THI, while the lactose (11.30%) at high THI range was significantly higher compared to other ranges. A relatively higher MY (324.35 mL) and milk density (1034.94 kg/m³) was obtained within medium THI range (75.6-85.6). It is concluded that, AT and RH exhibit a synergistic effect on MY and some of the MCs.It is recommended that thermo-comfort THI for dairy WAD goats is between 75.6 and 85.6.

Keywords: Ambient temperature, Milk composition, Milk yield, Relative humidity, and Temperature- humidity index

INTRODUCTION

Agriculture contributes to climatic change and as well, being negatively affected by it. The nature and the extent of animal agriculture practised in any region of the globe are commonly influenced by the interactions among numerous physical, biological and socioeconomic factors ^[1,2]. As agriculture tends towards increased commercialization, impact on climate change becomes more apposite ^[3]. Thus, improving animal agriculture needs to consider the interactions between animals and the environment. Complexities between livestock sector and climatic change were identified to be significant and generally overlooked, particularly in Africa where livestock plays a crucial role in poverty alleviation and rural development ^[4].

Small ruminants play a predominant role in the economy of million people and have provided meat, milk, skin and many other indirect benefits for centuries ^[5]. The demand

for livestock (including small ruminants) products and consequential increase in production has been largely driven by the rapid growth of human population, increases in income and urbanization ^[6]. Therefore, climatic change becomes a serious long- term challenge faced by small ruminants' owners worldwide. The influence of climatic change in terms of sudden temperature change has caused significant losses in animal production ^[7] and therefore generates the need for detailed studies on the adaptive processes of breeds, especially goats, to better understand the adaptation parameters and processes of these animals.

Change in relative humidity and ambient temperature constitute meaningful effects on animal behaviour as a result of neuron endocrine response which consequently influences production and health status of animals ^[8,9]. Thus, temperature change is a major threat to the viability and sustainability of milk production in goats as well as relative humidity ^[10]. Livestock generally express their full potential when environmental conditions are favourable.



Earlier researchers demonstrated that air temperature and relative humidity are the major natural physical environmental factors affecting livestock. Changes in these factors are recognized as a potential hazard in livestock growth and production ^[4] and thus, seasonal variations in these factors are therefore undeniable physiological stressors which affect the animal's biological systems.

High-producing animals tend to have reduced productivity when subjected to greater influence by climatic factors, particularly those raised under tropical conditions, due to high air temperature and relative humidity ^[11]. Some authors also asserted that high temperatures may reduce feed intake, lower milk production, leading to energy deficits that may lower fertility, fitness and longevity in animal ^[12]. Research findings by ^[13,14], indicated that effective environmental temperature above 30°C activates the stress response system in lactating goats and in response goats reduces intake of feed which is directly associated with negative energy balance, which is largely responsible for the decline in milk synthesis. However, the findings by ^[15] concluded that goat breeds differ in capability to tolerate heat. Evaluation of goat milk yield and composition with respect to ambient temperature and relative humidity on West African Dwarf does is practically non-existent in literature. Therefore, this study was designed to investigate the influence of ambient temperature, relative humidity and relative-humidity index on the milk yield and milk composition of West African Dwarf does.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

All the handling of the goats conforms to the guidelines of Ethical Review Committee of University of Ilorin, Nigeria. Ethical approval to undertake the research was given by the Ethical Review Committee of University of Ilorin, Nigeria. The protocol identification Code and Ethical Approval Number assigned to the research are UERC/ AGR/174 and UERC/ASN/2020/2039 respectively.

Experimental Site

This research was carried out at the Small Ruminant Unit of the Teaching and Research Farm, University of Ilorin, Nigeria. The ambient temperature of the site ranges from 19.00°C to 42°C while its relative humidity ranges from 21-83% depending on the period of the year.

Animals and Management

This research was conducted using thirty-six (n=36) apparently healthy lactating West African Dwarf (WAD) does. The does were free of mastitis and other physiological disorder. All the does were fed *ad-libitum* with the same ration (*Table 1*), compounded to satisfy the nutrient

Table 1. Composition of diets fed to experimental goats						
Feed Ingredient	Percentage (%)					
Wheat Bran	25					
Palm Kernel Cake	15					
Groundnut Cake	5					
Rice Bran	5					
Corn Bran	10.5					
Maize	20					
Cassava Peel	19					
Salt	0.5					
Estimated TDN	59.09					
Estimated CP	12.23					

requirement of lactating does ^[16]. The experiment lasted for a period of twelve weeks. The does were managed within housing units that permit ample exercise and limited degree of freedom which was strictly in line with guideline of University of Ilorin ethical review committee. The milking of each of the does commenced at five-day post-paturm and for a period of twelve weeks. The records of milk yield, ambient temperature and relative humidity were taken at every milking period.

Experimental Design and Data Collection

This experiment was laid out in a Completely Randomized Design (CRD). The does were milked twice daily (morning: 07.00 am - 09.00 am; evening: 05.00 am - 07.00 am) for a period of twelve weeks. Hand stripping was done in order to stimulate milk let down before the use of the milking machine, which has a calibrated cylinder for measuring the milk yield of each doe. Milk samples from the does were taken to the laboratory for milk composition analysis using a milk analyzer (Milch analyser, Ultrascan 3100, count: 1288, SN: 28214 PC151). A digital thermo-hygrometer placed within the housing unitswas used to monitor the ambient temperature (AT) and relative humidity (RH) twice per day during every milking process. The recorded morning and evening AT and RH values were averaged to obtain daily day AT and RH during the period of the experiment. These values were categorized as low, medium and high. The AT ranges for each of the categories are: low (17.5-25.6); medium (25.7-33.8) and; High (33.9-42.0) while the ranges for the RH are: low (10-39%); medium (40-69%); and high (70-99%). The sample sizes being the total number of animals whose data collection period fell within the stated categories of AT and RH throughout the period of the experiment were: Low (n=31), Medium (n=27), and High (n=26) for AT, while that of RH are; Low (n=27), Medium (n=28), and High (n=29). Collected data on AT and RH were used to calculate temperaturehumidity index (THI) as reported [17].
$THI = 0.8 \times AT + RH\% \times (AT - 14.4) + 46.4$

where, AT = air temperature in °C; RH = relative humidity in %.

The THI values were also categorized as: low (65.5-75.50; medium (75.6-85.6) and; high (85.7-95.7). The sample sizes being the number of animals observed within each THI categories were: Low (n=28), Medium (n=26) and High (n=30).

Statistical Analysis

The three categories of each of AT, RH and THI (low, medium and high) were treated as independent variables while the corresponding values of milk yield and milk composition were considered as dependent variable. The data obtained were tested for normal distribution using DATAtab statistic calculator. The parameter whose data that did not follow normal distribution were transformed prior analysis of variance using Minitab Statistical package Version 17. Least Significant Difference Test was used for post hoc.

RESULTS

The influence of ambient temperature on daily milk yield (DMY) and milk composition of WAD does is presented in *Table 2*. A significant difference (P<0.05) was observed in the DMY of the multiparous WAD does at different ranges of ambient temperature (AT). The DMY when AT was medium (350.28 mL/day) as well as low (329.43 mL/day) were not significantly different from each other but were significantly higher (P<0.05) than 210.56 mL/day obtained when AT was within high range. All the milk compositions evaluated were not affected by ambient temperature except milk protein. The average milk protein of the does during the days within high AT (4.72%) was significantly higher (P<0.05) compare to when AT was either within low or medium range. The milk produced

during the days with medium and low AT had comparable milk protein of 3.83 and 3.85% respectively.

The influence of relative humidity (RH) on the milk yield and milk composition of WAD does is presented in *Table 3*. The DMY of the multiparous WAD does was significantly (P<0.05) influenced by RH with the highest yield (364.30 mL/day) being produced when the RH of the day was high. The yield during moderate RH (332.18 mL/day) was also significantly higher than 257.48 mL/ day produced during the day with low RH range. The milk fat obtained when the RH was on the high side was also significantly lower compare to when RH was low or medium. All other milk compositions were not affected by RH. The SNF, density, FP, protein, lactose and salt content of the milk showed no significant difference (P>0.05) at the different levels of relative humidity.

The influence of temperature-humidity index (THI) on milk yield and milk composition of lactating WAD goats is presented in *Table 4*. Significant differences (P<0.05) were observed in the milk yield of the does and, in the fat, density and lactose content of the milk at the three THI categories (low, medium and high). The highest milk yield (324.35 mL) and milk density (1034.94 kg/m³) were obtained when the THI range was medium. These values were significantly higher than the corresponding values obtained at low and high THI (MY: 246.30 mL vs 205.00 mL; Density: 1032.38 vs1030.10). The milk fat and milk density during the days that exhibited medium and high THI were not significantly different from each other. A significantly higher milk fat, and lower milk density was however recorded during the day with low THI. The milk lactose recorded during high THI days (11.30%) was significantly higher than 5.66 and 6.07% recorded for low and moderate THI days respectively. No significant difference (P>0.05) was observed between classes of THI with respect to SNF, FP, protein and salt content of the milk.

Table 2. Influence of ambient temperature on average milk yield and milk composition of West African Dwarf does								
		Ambient Temperature						
Milk Parameters	Low (n =31)	Medium (n =27)	High (n =26)	SEM	P-Value			
DMY (mL)	350.28ª	329.43ª	210.56 ^b	22.45	0.001			
Fat (%)	7.09	6.95	7.76	0.85	0.114			
SNF (%)	11.03	10.94	10.65	0.19	0.955			
Density (kg/m ³)	1033.19	1034.30	1034.15	1.15	0.167			
FP (°C)	-0.68	-0.50	-0.73	0.29	0.692			
Protein (%)	3.83 ^b	3.86 ^b	4.72ª	0.54	0.018			
Lactose (%)	5.68	6.05	7.05	0.39	0.131			
Salt (%)	0.86	0.90	0.87	0.06	0.442			
ab M	er in de commence de la filie		DAY D - L Mill Y	IL ONT C.I.IN.	Est ED Environmental			

^{ab} Means with different superscript in the same row are significantly P<0.05 different from one another. DMY: Daily Milk Yield; SNF: Solid Non-Fat; FP: Freezing point

Table 3. Influence of relative humidity on milk yield and milk composition of lactating West African Dwarf goats								
		Relative Humidity						
Milk Parameters	Low (n = 27)	Medium (n=28)	High (n=29)	SEM	P-Value			
DMY (mL)	257.48°	332.18 ^b	364.30ª	25.55	0.000			
Fat (%)	7.34ª	7.33ª	6.17 ^b	0.98	0.000			
SNF (%)	10.46	11.57	10.38	1.34	0.300			
Density (kg/m ³)	1034.17	1033.42	1034.44	0.79	0.228			
FP (°C)	-0.72	-0.69	-0.36	0.39	0.345			
Protein (%)	4.32	3.87	3.82	0.57	0.146			
Lactose (%)	6.46	5.77	6.16	0.72	0.397			
Salt (%)	0.87	0.87	0.90	0.06	0.561			

abc Means with different superscript in the same row are significantly P<0.05 different from one another. DMY: Daily Milk Yield; SNF: Solid Non-Fat; Fp: Freezing point

Table 4. Influence of Temperature-humidity index on milk yield and milk composition of West African Dwarf does									
	Te	mperature-Humidity Index							
Milk Parameters	Low (n = 28)	Medium (n=26)	High (n=30)	SEM	P-Value				
DMY (mL)	246.30 ^b	324.35ª	205.00°	23.45	0.000				
Fat (%)	7.55ª	6.78 ^b	7.13 ^b	0.38	0.009				
SNF (%)	11.41	10.62	10.77	0.82	0.590				
Density (kg/m ³)	1032.38 ^b	1034.94ª	1030.01°	2.36	0.000				
FP (°C)	-0.68	-0.52	-0.726	0.32	0.772				
Protein (%)	3.80	4.05	4.00	0.27	0.482				
Lactose (%)	5.66 ^b	6.07 ^b	11.30ª	3.23	0.000				
Salt (%)	0.86	0.89	0.90	0.08	0.373				
abc M	in the design of the second second second		DAV Della M	U. V. 11 OME C	1.1 Mar E-C ED Engeling to the				

abe Means with different superscript in the same row are significantly P<0.05 different from one another. DMY: Daily Milk Yield; SNF: Solid Non-Fat; FP: Freezing point

DISCUSSION

Variation in adaptability to fluctuations in weather and other environmental factors is one of the primary factor responsible for global distribution of species and breeds of livestock ^[18-20]. Despite being reported to be adaptable to a vast weather condition, some specific breeds of goat are strictly predominant in few regions than others. Thus, definition of thermo-comfort zone using temperature range subsists. However, discrepancies exist in the reported range, as some researchers ^[21,22] concluded that goats in the hot climate are liable to perform excellently between (12-24°C) while other researchers [23] indicated between 20 and 30°C. The current result, however, disagrees with the thermo-comfort temperature specified for goat by these authors, with the comparable yield (350.28 mL and 329.43 mL) obtained at low (17.5-25.6) and medium (25.7-33.8) ambient temperature ranges focused in the current study. This may suggest breed variation in adaptability to AT, which was also reported by some authors ^[24,25]. A marked reduction in the milk yield at AT of between 33.9 and 42.0°C suggests inhibition of production capacity and thermo-regulatory compensation for energy balance ^[26]. The milk yield obtained during low and medium AT in the current study are of close range with 3339.20mls reported for white WAD goat ^[27].

The present result also corroborates with the report in which the production and quality of goat's milk were indicated to be directly related to climatic variations and the combined action of these factors ^[23]. The significant effect of AT on protein, RH on fat and THI on fat, density and lactose reveals that synergy exist between AT and RH. However, the present study contradicts ^[28] who reported that stressful environmental conditions may not alter the composition of goat milk if they are well adapted to their environment. The trends of THI, RH and AT impacts on milk fat, protein and other compositions in the current study may explain the complexities in the thermoregulatory mechanisms in goat and thus reaffirm the statement that environmental effects on milk composition is not conclusive ^[26]. A similar increase in milk protein but not other milk compositions, as observed in the current study, was also reported ^[26] in goat during period of high AT while some previous studies ^[10,29,30] reported a contrary result. Reduction in milk yield at the expense of maintaining milk fat at high AT and, increased milk protein at low RH, as well as high lactose when THI was high substantiates the influence of these environmental factors on metabolic changes and hormonal reactions ^[24]. In contrary to some authors ^[31] who noted that goats are more comfortable in environment where average RH is 65%, the highest milk in the current study was recorded when RH was between 70-99%. This might suggest breed variation in adaptability to weather factors ^[15].

Defining heat stress using THI in goat has been discussed by several authors [32,33]. There is, however, a clear demarcation of discomfort levels across breeds. This is equally noticed in the current study with WAD goat producing significantly higher milk yield at THI higher than 79 which was reported [34] to be a dangerous level for Saanen goats managed in Brazil. The result in the current study aligns with the report by some authors ^[35] which indicated in good performance in Anglo-Nubian goat at THI of 83.00 denoting better adaptability of these breeds to tropical regions. A relatively high milk yield between the THI of 75.6 and 85.6 in the present study portrays a disagreement with the earlier findings [36] which noted 80-85 THI as a dangerous level. However, a marked reduction when THI is between 85.7 and 95.7 may be an indication that the WAD goats are heat-stressed within this range ^[29]. The effect of heat stress on milk fat content is contentious. Some authors reported a negatively correlated effects [37,38] while ^[39] established no relationship. The present result, however, agrees with [40], who found lower values of milk fat content when the temperature-humidity index was higher than 75. Similarly, earlier findings [39,40] found milk lactose content to be non-significantly between dairy animals maintained at temperature-humidity index <75 and those maintained at temperature-humidity index >75 but, the current study is not in line with these two reports as the lactose content recorded for high (85.7-95.7) temperature-humidity index was significantly different (P<0.05) from the lactose content recorded for low (65.5-75.5) and moderate (75.6-85.6) temperature-humidity index. Alteration in milk protein reported by these authors as temperature humidity index changes was also not observed in the current study. All contradictions might be as a result in difference in species, breed, nutrition and other environmental factors. The response of the goats in relation THI result in the current study aligns with the report that there is higher tendency of better performance at THI of between 65-72^[30].

It is concluded that changes ambient temperature, relative humidity and temperature-humidity influence milk yield in a non-uniform trend while only THI affects more milk compositions than AT and RH. It is also concluded that WAD goat for dairy purpose perform optimally at AT of 17.5 to 33.8°C, RH of 70-99%, and THI of between75.6 and 85.6.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The data that supports the findings of this study are available on request from the corresponding author (A. T. Yusuff).

Acknowledgments: The authors appreciate the management team of University of Ilorin Teaching and Research Farm for the support rendered during the conduct of this study.

Funding Support: This work was supported by the Tertiary Education Trust Fund (Nigeria) [Tetfund IBR Grant, 2017].

Competing Interest: The authors of this article hereby declare that there exist no potential conflict, be it personal, financial, cultural or what so ever, with respect to the objectivity of the manuscript.

Authors Contributions: Fund acquisition and revision of final manuscript: T.R. Fayeye; Conceptualization, data collection and analysis, manuscript preparation: A. T. Yusuff; Project supervision and manuscript proofreading: V.O. Chimezie; Data curation and analysis, and manuscript proofreading: O.I. Alli; Data interpretations and manuscript proofreading: A.A. Badmos; Laboratory analysis and manuscript proofreading: S. A. Adeyemi.

REFERENCES

1. Sabiha NE, Rahman S: Environment-smart agriculture and mapping of interactions among environmental factors at the farm fevel: A directed graph approach. *Sustainability*, 10 (5): 1580, 2018. DOI: 10.3390/su10051580

2. Ortiz AMD, Outhwaite CL, Dalin C, Newbold T: A review of the interactions between biodiversity, agriculture, climate change, and international trade: Research and policy priorities. *One Earth*, 4 (1): 88-101, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.oneear.2020.12.008

3. Paparrizos S, Baggen Y, van Dalen M, Ploum L, Ludwig F: Commercialization pathways for climate services for small holder farmers in the global South. *Clim Serv*, 30:100354, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j. cliser.2023.100354

4. Cheng M, Bruce M, Carl B, Fei C: Climate change and livestock production: A literature review. *Atmosphere*, 13 (1):140, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/ atmos13010140

5. Yusuff AT, Fayeye TR: Repeatability estimates for body weight, skin and leather properties in pure and reciprocal crosses of Nigerian goats. *Nigerian J Anim Sci*, 20 (4): 317322, 2018.

6. Latino LR, Pica-Ciamarra U, Wisser D: Africa: The livestock revolution urbanizes. *Glob Food Sec*, 26:100399, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.gfs.2020.100399

7. Husen HM, Bekere H, Hussen DH, Yusuf MA: Review on impact of climate change on livestock health and productivity. *BAOJ Nutr*, 1 (1):1001, 2022. DOI: 10.2139/ssrn.3517784

8. Berihulay H, Abied A, He X, Jiang L, Ma Y: Adaptation mechanisms of small ruminants to environmental heat stress. *Animals (Basel)*, 9 (3):75, 2019. DOI: 10.3390/ani9030075

9. Collier RJ, Baumgard LH, Zimbelman RB, Xiao Y: Heat stress: Physiology of acclimation and adaptation. *Anim Front*, 9 (1): 12-19, 2019. DOI: 10.1093/af/vfy031

10. Zhu X, Wen J, Wang J: Effect of environmental temperature and humidity on milk production and milk composition of Guanzhong dairy goats. *Vet Anim Sci*, 9:100121, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.vas.2020.100121

11. Sejian V, Bhatta R, Gaughan JB, Dunshea FR, Lacetera N: Review: Adaptation of animals to heat stress. *Animal*, 12 (2): 431-444, 2018. DOI: 10.1017/S1751731118001945

12. Habeeb AA, Osman SF, Teama FEI, Gad AE: The detrimental impact of high environmental temperature on physiological response, growth, milk production, and reproductive efficiency of ruminants. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 55:388, 2023. DOI: 10.1007/s11250-023-03805-y

14. Fonseca WJL, Azevêdo DMMR, Campelo JEG, Fonseca WL, Luz CSM, Oliveira MRA, Evangelista AF, Borges LS, Sousa Júnior SC: Effect of heat stress on milk production of goats from Alpine and Saanen breeds in Brazil. *Arch Zootec*, 65 (252): 615-621, 2016.

15. Sarangi S: Adaptability of goats to heat stress: A review. *Pharma Innovation*, 7 (4):1114-126, 2018.

16. National Research Council, NRC: Nutrient Requirements of Small Ruminants: Sheep, Goats, Cervids, and New World Camelids. The National Academies Press, Washington DC, 2007.

17. Thom EC: The discomfort index. *Weatherwise*, 12, 57-60, 1959. DOI: 10.1080/00431672.1959.9926960

18. Bernabucci U: Climate change: impact on livestock and how can we adapt. *Anim Front*, 9 (1): 3-5, 2019. DOI: 10.1093/af/vfy039

19. Godde CM, Mason-D'Croz D, Mayberry DE, Thornton PK, Herrero M: Impacts of climate change on the livestock food supply chain: A review of the evidence. *Global Food Sec*, 28:100488, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j. gfs.2020.100488

20. Habte M, Eshetu M, Maryo M, Andualem D, Legesse A: Effects of climate variability on livestock productivity and pastoralists perception: The case of drought resilience in Southeastern Ethiopia. *Vet Anim Sci*, 16:100240, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.vas.2022.100240

21. Muller CJC, Botha JA, Coetzer WA, Smith WA: Effect of shade on various parameters of Friesian cows in a Mediterranean climate in South Africa. 2. Physiological responses. *S Afr J Anim Sci*, 24, 56-60, 1994.

22. Hammadi M, Fehem A, Harrabi H, Ayeb N, Khorchani T, Salama AAK: Shading effects on respiratory rate and rectal temperature in Tunisian local goat kids during summer season. *Proc. XI International Conference on Goats*, 23-27 September, Gran Canaria, Spain, 2012.

23. de Souza PT, Salles MGF, de Araújo AA: Impact of heat stress on the physiology, reproduction and production of goats. *Ciênc Rural*, 42, 1888-1895, 2012.

24. Coloma-García W, Mehaba N, Such X, Caja G, Salama AAK: Effects of cold exposure on some physiological, productive, and metabolic variables in lactating dairy goats. *Animals*, 10 (12):2383, 2020. DOI: 10.3390/ani10122383

25. Habibu B, Umar KM, Yaqub LS, Salifu S, Makun HJ: Thermoregulation in humid climate-adapted and Savannah breeds of goats exposed to West African cold (harmattan) season. *Agric Trop Subtrop*, 54 (1): 192-200, 2021. DOI: 10.2478/ats-2021-0020

26. Thammacharoen S, Saipin N, Nguyen T, Chaiyabutr N: Effects of High Ambient Temperature on Milk Protein Synthesis in Dairy Cows and Goats: Insights from the Molecular Mechanism Studies. Chaiyabutr N (Ed): Milk Protein: New Research Approaches. IntechOpen, 2022.

27. Williams TJ, Ozoje MO, Okwelum N, Adewumi OOO, Iyasere OS, Abioja MO, Opeloyeru OK, Awotedu OO: Milk yield in West African dwarf goats as influenced by coat colour, liveweight, week of lactation and udder circumference. *Nigerian J Anim Prod*, 46 (1): 352-332, 2019.

28. Shamay A, Mabjeesh SJ, Shapiro F, Silanikove N: Adrenocorticotrophic hormone and dexamethasone failed to affect milk yield in dairy goats: Comparative aspects. *Small Ruminant Res*, 38 (3): 255-259. DOI: 10.1016/S0921-4488(00)00152-8

29. Contreras-Jodar A, Salama AAK, Hamzaoui S, Vailati-Riboni M, Caja G, Loor JJ: Effects of chronic heat stress on lactational performance and the transcriptomic profile of blood cells in lactating dairy goats. *J Dairy Res*, 85 (4): 423-430, 2018. DOI: 10.1017/S0022029918000705

30. Salama AAK, Contreras-Jodar A, Love S, Mehaba N, Such X, Caja G: Milk yield, milk composition, and milk metabolomics of dairy goats intramammary-challenged with lipopolysaccharide under heat stress conditions. *Sci Rep*, 10 (1): 5055 2020. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-61900-8

31. Srivastava A, Yadav P, Mahajan A, Anand M, Yadav S, Madan AK, Yadav B: Appropriate THI model and its threshold for goats in semiarid regions of India. *J Therm Biol*, 95:102845, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j. jtherbio.2021.102845

32. Cicero HO, Lallo CHO, Cohen J, Rankine D, Taylor M, Cambell J, Stephenson T: Characterizing heat stress on livestock using the temperature humidity index (THI)-prospects for a warmer Caribbean. *Reg Environ Change*, 18, 2329-2340, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/s10113-018-1359-x

33. Kaushik R, Arya A, Kumar D, Goel A, Rout PK: Genetic studies of heat stress regulation in goat during hot climatic condition. *J Therm Biol,* 113:103528, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2023.103528

34. Vitaliano AB, Salles MGF, Neto AMV, Rodrigues ICS, de Araújo AA: Comportamento reprodutivo caprino e ovino, utilizando o efeito macho interespécie. *Rev Acad Ciênc Agrár Ambient*, 10, 221-228, 2012. DOI: 10.7213/academica.7701

35. Alves AS, Souza BB, Silva EMN, Silva GA, de Batista NL: Determinação dos parâmetros fisiológicos e gradientes térmicos de caprinos jovens Anglonubianos no semiárido brasileiro. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol*, 2, 90-94.2014. DOI: 10.14269/2318-1265/jabb.v2n3p90-94

36. Silanikove N, Koluman N: Impact of climate change on the dairy industry in temperate zones: Predications on the overall negative impact and on the positive role of dairy goats in adaptation to earth warming. *Small Ruminant Res*, 123 (1): 27-34. DOI: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2014.11.005

37. Habimana V, Nguluma AS, Nziku ZC, Ekine-Dzivenu CC, Morota G, Mrode R, Chenyambuga SW: Heat stress effects on milk yield traits and metabolites and mitigation strategies for dairy cattle breeds reared in tropical and sub-tropical countries. *Front Vet Sci*, 10:1121499, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1121499

38. Bernabucci U, Basiricò L, Morera P, Dipasquale D, Vitali A, Piccioli-Cappelli F, Calamari L: Effect of summer season on milk protein fractions in Holstein cows. *J Dairy Sci*, 98, 1815-1827, 2015. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2014-8788

39. Cowley FC, Barber DG, Houlihan AV, Poppi DP: Immediate and residual effects of heat stress and restricted intake on milk protein and casein composition and energy metabolism. *J Dairy Sci*, 98, 2356-2368, 2015. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2014-8442

40. Abeni F, Calamari L, Maianti MG, Cappa V, Stefanini L: Effetti dello stress termico sulle bovine in lattazione ed accorgimenti alimentari miranti ad attenuarne l'impatto su quantità e qualità del latte prodotto. *Annali Fac Agric UCSC*, 33, 151-170, 1993.

Research Article

Effects of Dietary Supplementation with *Clostridium butyricum* on Rumen Fermentation, Rumen Microbiota and Feces in Beef Cattle

Jiajun HE ¹ ^(b) Zhenzhou WU ² ^(b) Liu YU ³ ^(b) Li Li ¹ ^(b) Guoqiang ZHAO ¹ ^(c) Dangdang WANG ⁴ ^(b) Xiangxue XIE ¹ ^(*) ^(c)

¹Department of Ruminant Product Research and Development, Guangdong VTR Bio-Tech Co., Ltd., Zhuhai, 519060, CHINA

² Animal Product Research and Development Department, Wellhope Foods Company Limited, Shenyang, 110164, CHINA

³ Agricultural Comprehensive Administrative Law Enforcement, Jinpu New District. Dalian, 116000, CHINA

⁴ Department of Animal Science, Northwest A&F University. Yangling 712100, CHINA



(*) Corresponding author: Xiangxue XIE
 Phone: +86-13080649403
 E-mail: xxiangxue@163.com
 How to cite this article?

He J, Wu Z, Yu L, Li L, Zhao G, Wang D, Xiangxue Xie X: Effects of dietary supplementation with *Clostridium butyricum* on rumen fermentation, rumen microbiota and feces in beef cattle. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 325-333, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31114

Article ID: KVFD-2023-31114 Received: 21.11.2023 Accepted: 24.02.2024 Published Online: 20.03.2024

Abstract

This study investigated how Clostridium butyricum affected rumen fermentation and the microbial communities of rumen and feces in beef cattle. Twenty beef cattle were divided into two groups: the control group (CK) and the C. butyricum group (CB, fed 2.5 x 108 CFU/kg of dry matter intake per day). The results showed that C. butyricum increased rumen pH, ammonia-N concentration, and microbial crude protein (MCP) concentration (P<0.05). Ruminal propionate and butyrate concentration increased, while the ruminal acetate to propionate ratio decreased (P < 0.05). For rumen microbiota, observed species, Chao 1, and ACE indices were higher (P<0.05) with supplemented C. butyricum. At the phyla level, the C. butyricum enhanced the proportion of Firmicutes and decreased Bacteroidota (P<0.01). Christensenellaceae R-7 group, Methanobrevibacter, Oscillospiraceae NK4A214 group, Desulfovibrio, Streptococcus, and C. butyricum were increased (P<0.05) at the genus and species levels in the CB group. The proportion of Prevotella, Christensenellaceae R-7 group, Blautia, and Megasphaera elsdenii increased, while Escherichia coli decreased (P<0.05) in feces. E. coli and Salmonella populations were significantly reduced (P<0.01). These results indicated that diets supplemented with C. butyricum could improve rumen fermentation by increasing the diversity and altering the microbial community structure of the rumen. Additionally, the supplemented C. butyricum changed the fecal microbiota and decreased the harmful bacteria population in beef cattle.

Keywords: *Clostridium butyricum*, Fecal *E. coli*, Fecal microbiota, Rumen fermentation, Rumen microbiota, Microbial population

INTRODUCTION

Ruminants have many microorganisms in their gastrointestinal tracts. They are crucial for animal health processes, such as digesting nutrients and mediating animal immune and physiological responses ^[1]. The rumen microorganisms enable ruminants to use energy stored in plant material through complex interactions ^[2]. Changing the rumen microbial composition can affect the energy-harvesting ability, health, and rumen function of ruminants ^[3]. A typical and stable microbial community is an essential guarantee of ruminant health, playing vital roles in promoting the development of gastrointestinal morphology and structure, maintaining normal immune function, resistance to exogenous pathogenic factors, and so on. The microbial composition in the gastrointestinal tracts is fundamental because it can affect production performance and animal health ^[4]. Understanding the relationships between microbial communities in the gastrointestinal tracts and the ruminant animal has been shown to provide essential animal benefits. It has been reported that dietary-supplemented probiotics can improve productive performance by altering gastrointestinal bacterial communities in ruminants ^[5].

Clostridium butyrium, a strictly anaerobic bacterium, is a gram-positive bacteria that can form endospores. Additionally, *C. butyrium* can tolerate complex environments in the gastrointestinal tracts of ruminants compared with *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium*^[6]. Therefore, *C. butyricum* belongs to typical intestinal microorganisms and is used in feed additives. Furthermore, extensive

 \odot \odot

Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg

research studies have confirmed that C. butyricum could enhance intestinal health and function in weaned piglets [7] and chickens [8]. Additionally, diets supplemented with C. butyricum can improve the short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) content, the microbial diversity of gastrointestinal tracts, and production performance in Pekin ducks ^[9]. Additionally, C. butyricum produces lipoteichoic acid, SCFAs, hydrogen, and bacteriocin, helping to enhance the anti-oxidant and anti-bacterial functions of the intestines of animals ^[10]. Probiotic effect of C. butyricum has been demonstrated in monogastric animals, but few studies have been revealed in ruminants. Ruminants have a complex digestive system, and diet digestion occurs initially in the rumen. Rumen microorganisms break down diet components such as carbohydrates, plant fiber, and proteins, producing short-chain fatty acids. Thus, we hypothesized that dietary supplements with C. butyricum would affect rumen microbiota and rumen fermentation function of beef cattle. In addition, rumen microorganisms have attracted considerable attention in ruminant nutrition ^[5], but limited attention has been focused on the hindgut microorganisms. Therefore, this research examined how C. butyricum affected rumen fermentation and the microbial communities of rumen and feces.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Northwest A&F University (NWAFAC1008) approved this animal study.

Animals, Experimental Design, and Feeding Management

This animal experiment was conducted at a beef cattle breeding base in Guangdong VTR Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. (Zhuhai, China). Twenty beef steers (500±34 kg) were divided into two groups according to body weight, with 10 beef cattle in an open-sided house. Beef steers in the control group (CK) were fed a basal diet, and the experimental group (CB) was fed a basal diet with 2.5 x 108 CFU/kg C. butyricum of dry matter intake, respectively. C. butyricum was deposited in the Guangdong Microbial Culture Collection Center (GDMCC) and provided by Guangdong VTR Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. The deposition number was GDMCC NO: 61311. The experimental period lasted 40 days. The basal diet was designed to meet the requirements for the growth of beef cattle based on the Feeding Standard of Beef Cattle (NY/Y 815-2004). Beef cattle were fed twice daily at 7:30 and 14:30 and allowed free access to water.

Collection of Samples

On the last days of the trial (day 40), a flexible oral

stomach tube (the Laboratory of the Chinese University of Agriculture, Beijing, China) was used to collect rumen samples at 3, 6, and 9 h after feeding [11]. The first 50 mL of rumen samples were discarded to minimize contamination with saliva. Rumen samples from each beef cattle were homogenized and filtered using four layers of gauze to obtain rumen liquids ^[12]. The rumen liquid was immediately used to determine pH and stored at -20°C freezer for determining rumen fermentation parameters. Approximately 2 mL of rumen samples were placed in a sterile frozen tube, immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C freezer for microbial community analysis. On the same day, rectal fecal samples were collected 4 h after feeding, placed in a sterile frozen tube, and stored at -80°C freezer for further analysis of the fecal community^[13]. Approximately 20 g of fresh fecal samples were used to determine the microbial population.

Measurements of Rumen Fermentation Parameters

The pH value was obtained via a PHS-3C pH meter (INESA Scientific Instruments, Shanghai, China) after the collection of the rumen fluid. Then, the sample was centrifuged at 10.000 x g for 20 min, and an aliquot (3 mL) of supernatants was used to determine the contents of ammonia-N (NH₂-N), microbial crude protein (MCP), acetic acid, propionic acid, and butyric acid. First, the MCP content was measured using the spectrophotometric method ^[14]. Next, NH₂-N concentration was determined using the phenol/hypochlorite method ^[15]. Finally, the concentrations of acetic, propionic, and butyric acids were determined using gas chromatography (Agilent GC 8860, Agilent Company, US) [16]. Briefly, an aliquot (0.1 mL) of supernatants was added to 0.8 mL 25% (w/v) metaphosphoric acid. Then, the supernatant sample was injected into a silica column of GC after centrifuging at $12.000 \times g$ for 20 min.

Microbial Community Analysis

Rumen and fecal samples were used to determine bacterial flora in the digestive tract and investigate microbial community changes after dietary supplementation with C. butyricum. First, total DNA was extracted from the rumen and fecal samples using the sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) method [17]. Subsequently, the integrity and concentration of the DNA were verified using 0.7% agarose gel electrophoresis. The distinct V3-V4 regions of 16S rRNA were sequenced on a sequencing platform (Novaseq6000, Novogene Technology Company, China). The raw sequence data were obtained after sequencing and stored as fastq format [11]. The sequence data were filtered to remove barcodes and primers. Then, the sequence data were spliced using Fast Length Adjustment of Short Reads (FLASH; Version 1.2.7, http://ccb.jhu.edu/ software/FLASH/) according to Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology (QIIME; Version 1.9.1, http://

327

qiime.org/scripts/split_libraries_fastq.html) process ^[18]. After quality filtering, the effective tags were assembled to obtain operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) at a 97% similarity level by the clustering method of the UPARSE-OTU algorithm (Version 7.0.1001; *http://www.drive5.com/uparse/*) and relative abundance information. Based on the OTU results, alpha diversity analysis was obtained using QIIME ^[19]. Online repositories (*https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/PRJNA852290*) contained the datasets.

Microbial Population Analysis

The populations of *Escherichia coli*, *C. butyricum*, and *Salmonella* were measured using the spread-plate method. Briefly, samples (20 g) were homogenized in sterile water (180 mL) and shaken at room temperature for 20 min. The colonies were counted after inoculating serial dilutions on agar plates and spreading them evenly ^[19]. *E. coli* was incubated on MacConkey agar at 37°C for 24 h. *C. butyricum* was incubated using a reinforced medium for *Clostridia* agar at 37°C under anaerobic conditions for 18 h. *Salmonella* was incubated using Selenite Cystine Broth agar for 24 h.

Statistical Analysis

A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to analyze all data based on a completely randomized using SPSS Statistics (version 22.0; IBM Corp., Armonk, N. Y., USA) general linear model procedure. Replications were considered experimental units. A P-value <0.05 was defined as significant, and a P-value <0.01 as extremely significant.

RESULTS

Rumen Fermentation Parameters

The results of ruminal pH, ammonia-N, MCP, acetate, propionate, and butyrate concentrations are shown in *Table 1*. There was a tendency to an increase in rumen pH (P=0.078) by adding *C. butyricum*. The contents of ammonia-N and MCP in the CB group were higher

(P<0.05) than those of the CK group. Propionate and butyrate concentrations increased (P<0.05) by adding *C. butyricum*. At the same time, the acetate-to-propionate ratio decreased (P<0.05). The acetate concentrations did not differ in the two groups.

Rumen Microbiota

These OTUs of the rumen sample that are shared and unique among the two groups are shown in *Fig. 1*. An evaluation of the distribution of OTUs was conducted using the Venn and Flower diagrams. In total, 2521 OTUs were clustered. Of the 1.952 common OTUs, 202 and 367 were unique to the CK and CB groups. The population of OTUs was more enhanced than in the CK group (2.319 vs.



Fig 1. Venn analysis of operational taxonnmic units (OTUs) of rumen sample. (A), Each circle represented a group. The common OTUs were showed in the overlapping part, while the numbers in the non-overlapping part represent unique OTUs in each group. (B), Each petal represented a sample, while different colors represented different samples. The numbers of common OTUs were showed in the overlapping part. CK, the control group; CB, the *C. butyricum* group

2.154). Alpha diversity can reflect the species richness and diversity of the microbial community. The alpha diversity indices of the rumen samples in the two groups are given in *Table 2*. The observed species, Chao 1, and ACE indices were increased (P<0.05) with added *C. butyricum*. There were no effects on the Shannon, Simpson, and PD-whole-tree indices in the two experimental groups with added *C. butyricum*. Our results indicated that dietary added *C. butyricum* positively affected rumen microbial structure.

Table 1. Ruminal fermentation parameters of beef cattles with C.butyricum supplementation								
Thomas	Treat	ment	CEM.					
Item	СК	СВ	SEM	P-value				
pH	6.58	6.65	0.021	0.078				
Ammonia-N (mg/100 mL)	8.01 ^b	8.18ª	0.043	0.034				
MCP (mg/mL)	6.11 ^b	6.22ª	0.190	0.001				
Acetate (mmol/L)	54.36	56.89	1.432	0.401				
Propionate (mmol/L)	15.14 ^b	19.89ª	1.117	0.025				
Butyrate (mmol/L)	9.68 ^b	13.32ª	0.955	0.050				
Acetate/propionate	3.73ª	2.88 ^b	0.208	0.033				
CK, the control group; CB, the C. butyricum group	up; SEM, standard error of	the mean; MCP, microbial	crude protein					

Table 2. OTUs number of alpha diversity indices of microbial community of rumen									
Items	Observed-Species	Shannon	Simpson	Chao1	ACE	Goods-Coverage	PD-Whole-Tree		
СК	1287 ^b	7.915	0.986	1396.8 ^b	1404.1 ^b	0.995	94.919		
СВ	1403ª	7.892	0.982	1512.2ª	1516.4ª	0.995	99.476		
SEM	29.543	0.0997	0.002	28.029	27.373	0.0002	2.283		
Р	0.044	0.916	0.373	0.031	0.032	0.664	0.342		
CK the control grou	up CB the C hutvricum o	rout SFM standard	error of the mean						

CK, the control group; CB, the C. butyricum group. SEM, standard error of the mean



The proportion of ruminal microbiota is shown in Fig. 2. At the phyla level, a diet supplemented with C. butyricum had an enhanced proportion of Firmicutes (36.0 vs. 47.9; P<0.001), Euryarchaeota (0.43 vs. 5.44; P<0.001), and decreased the proportion of Bacteroidota (48.7 vs. 34.9; P=0.003). In addition, dietary supplemented with C. butyricum enhanced the proportion of Christensenellaceae R-7 group (4.08 vs. 9.94; P=0.026), Methanobrevibacter (0.48 vs. 3.88; P=0.019), Oscillospiraceae NK4A214 group (4.18 vs. 6.92; P=0.043), Desulfovibrio (0.04 vs. 0.16; P=0.010), Streptococcus (0.02 vs. 0.15; P=0.042), and reduced the proportion of Prevotella (27.2 vs. 11.2; P<0.001), and Fibrobacter (0.21 vs. 0.42; P=0.038) at the genus level. At the species level, dietary supplemented with C. butyricum enhanced the proportion of Treponema bryanti (0.20 vs. 0.46; P=0.022), C. butyricum (0.000 vs. 0.003; P=0.022), and decreased Prevotella ruminicola (4.67 vs. 1.13; P=0.002), Parabacteroides sp. CT06 (0.20 vs. 0.14; P=0.039). On the other hand, Ruminococcus bicirculans tended to decrease with C. butyricum supplementation (0.40 vs. 0.31; P=0.093).



Fig 3. Venn analysis of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) of fecal sample. (A), Each circle represented a group. The common OTUs were showed in the overlapping part, while the numbers in the non-overlapping part represent unique OTUs in each group. (B), Each petal represented a sample, while different colors represented different samples. The numbers of common OTUs were showed in the overlapping part. CK, the control group; CB, the *C. butyricum* group

Fecal Microbiota

The shared and unique OTUs of the fecal samples among the two groups are illustrated in *Fig. 3*. An evaluation of the distribution of OTUs was carried out using the Venn and Flower diagrams. In total, 2000 OTUs were clustered.

Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg

HE, WU, YU, LI, ZHAO, WANG, XIE

Table 3. OTUs number of alpha diversity indices of microbial community in feces								
Items	Observed-Species	Shannon	Simpson	Chao1	ACE	Goods-Coverage	PD-Whole-Tree	
СК	1011 ^b	7.683 ^b	0.989	1093.06	1091	0.997	71.103	
СВ	1083ª	7.897ª	0.989	1137.85	1145	0.997	79.374	
SEM	16.249	0.053	0.0005	15.429	15.95	0.0001	2.310	
Р	0.016	0.035	0.640	0.155	0.088	1.000	0.070	
CV the control and	the CP that C hastamicaum a	would SEM standard	arror of the mean			·		

CK, the control group; CB, the C. butyricum group. SEM, standard error of the mean



The second	Denner C. Instantion		Feces	
Items	Kumen C. <i>butyricum</i>	C. butyricum	E. coli	Salmonella
СК	1.22 ^b	3.18	4.84ª	2.96 ^a
СВ	5.54ª	2.98	3.76 ^b	1.74 ^b
SEM	0.653	0.102	0.185	0.210
Р	<0.001	0.332	<0.001	<0.001

Of the 1340 common OTUs, 335 and 325 were unique to the CK and CB groups. The alpha diversity indices of the fecal samples in the two groups are given in *Table 3*. The observed species and Shannon indices were higher (P<0.05) than the CK group. In addition, ACE and PD-whole-tree indices increased with added *C. butyricum*. However, the two groups did not differ in Simpson, Chao 1, or goods-coverage indices.

The microbial relative proportions of the fecal sample are shown in *Fig. 4*. At the phyla level, dietary supplemented

with *C. butyricum* led to an enhanced relative proportion of Cyanobacteria (0.14 vs. 0.69; P<0.001), Unidentified Bacteria (2.16 vs. 3.07; P=0.046), and Fusobacteriota (0.006 vs. 0.079; P=0.023). At the genus level, dietary supplemented with *C. butyricum* enhanced the proportion of *Prevotella* (1.11 vs. 2.72; P=0.002), *Christensenellaceae* R-7 group (1.36 vs. 2.12; P=0.014), *Blautia* (0.65 vs. 0.99; P=0.007) and reduced the proportion of *Faecalibacterium* (1.07 vs. 0.50; P=0.031), *Dorea* (0.14 vs. 0.05; P=0.050). *Ruminococcus* decreased in the CB group compared to the CK group (1.33 vs. 0.59; P=0.070). At the species level, dietary added *C. butyricum* enhanced the proportion of *M. elsdenii* (0.002 vs. 0.013; P=0.003) and decreased the proportion of *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* (1.06 vs. 0.50; P=0.033), *Ruminococcus* sp._N15.MGS-57 (0.60 vs. 0.06; P=0.029), *Bacteroides plebeius* (0.49 vs. 0.10; P=0.034), *Lactobacillus reuteri* (0.20 vs. 0.06; P=0.031), *Lactobacillus intestinalis* (0.42 vs. 0.02; P=0.033) and *E. coli* (0.19 vs. 0.10; P=0.005).

Microbial Rumen Population and Fecal Samples

The microbial rumen population and fecal samples are shown in *Table 4*. The *C. butyricum* rumen population in the CB group increased (P<0.001), while the *E. coli* and *Salmonella* feces populations decreased significantly (P<0.001). There were no observed effects on the *C. butyricum* population in feces with dietary *C. butyricum* supplementation.

DISCUSSION

Ruminal fermentation parameter includes a range of indicators and can reflect the function and health status of the rumen. Ruminal pH is mainly related to the dietary digestion rate, especially the degradation rate of concentrate grains. Therefore, it is a critical fermentation parameter for the rumen environment and function ^[20]. It has been reported that added probiotics resulted in a high ruminal pH in cows ^[15]. Cai et al. reported that dietary supplemented with *C. butyricum* increased ruminal pH in goats ^[16]. Our results showed that ruminal pH increased with added *C. butyricum*, potentially associated with the rising proportion of bacteria that utilize lactic acid ^[15]. The result indicated that added *C. butyricum* could stabilize the ruminal pH as other probiotics.

Furthermore, the appropriate ammonia-N concentration can provide a nitrogen source for microorganisms and promote the synthesis of MCP [21]. The principal fermentation products of rumen are acetate, propionate, and butyrate, which account for as much as 70% of the overall metabolizable energy provision in ruminants ^[22]. A previous study reported that added C. butyricum enhanced ruminal NH₃-N concentration but did not affect the MCP concentration in goats [16]. In our research, adding C. butyricum improved the concentration of NH₃-N, propionate, and butyrate but decreased the acetate-to-propionate ratio in beef cattle. Our results indicated that adding C. butyricum enhanced ruminal protein and energy supply and positively affected rumen fermentation. Ruminal fermentation parameters can reflect the situation of the dietary digestion in the rumen and are closely related to ruminal microorganisms ^[2]. Therefore, we analyzed the ruminal microbial flora to find out why C. butyricum affected rumen fermentation.

Rumen microbiota is a vital factor in immune function and the efficiency of nutrient digestion. There is a large number of microorganisms in the gastrointestinal tracts of ruminants. The degradation of nutrients by ruminal microorganisms produces acetate, propionate, butyrate, and MCP, which supply energy and protein for ruminants. Therefore, determining the function of rumen microbiota is essential for understanding their role in animal metabolism^[4]. In the research, adding *C. butyricum* enhanced the number of OTUs and the observed species, Chao 1, and ACE indices. The results indicated that *C. butyricum* positively affected microbial diversity, consistent with previous research^[23].

Bacteroidota and Firmicutes were the most abundant bacteria in the rumen [24]. Many microorganisms belonging to Firmicutes can degrade fiber from dietary compounds and produce SCFAs ^[24]. The Firmicutes to Bacteroidota (F/B) ratio is a valuable indicator of the ability to absorb and store energy ^[25]. Our results indicated that added C. butyricum enhanced the proportion of Firmicutes but reduced the proportion of Bacteroidota. The F/B ratio was enhanced, which indicated that added C. butyricum improved the energy absorption capacity of the rumen microbiota. At the genus level, Christensenellaceae R-7 group and Oscillospiraceae NK4A214 group were the top two species belonging to Firmicutes. Our results showed that supplemented with C. butyricum could enhance the proportion of Christensenellaceae R-7 group and Oscillospiraceae NK4A214 group, thereby enhancing the relative proportion of Firmicutes. Changing the rumen microbial composition can affect the energyharvesting ability and rumen function of ruminants ^[14]. The results indicated that added C. butyricum changed the ruminal microbial flora structure, affecting the rumen fermentation in beef cattle.

The effects on the fermentation parameters were closely related to the rumen flora structure ^[14]. Specifically, Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens, Ruminococcus albus, Ruminococcus flavefaciens, and Fibrobacter succinogenes belong to cellulolytic bacteria and primarily produce acetate by degrading plant fiber ^[12]. Our results indicated that supplementation with C. butyricum did not affect the proportion of dominant cellulolytic bacteria including F. succinogenes, B. fibrisolvens, R. albus, and R. flavefaciens. Therefore, the acetate concentration showed no difference between the two groups. Streptococcus and Ruminobacter amylophilus are amylolytic bacteria that produce propionate ^[25]. R. bromii can degrade resistant starch and xylan, while Ruminococcus degrades complex deoxy sugars, such as fucose and rhamnose [11]. Our study indicated that the proportion of Streptococcus increased. This result was probably why the propionate content in the CB group was higher. Provotella, the most abundant bacterial genus ^[26], can produce SCFAs by metabolizing dietary fiber ^[12]. Our study showed that the proportion of *Provotella* decreased with added *C. butyricum*. The low ruminal pH can promote the growth of *Prevotella* ^[26]. Therefore, the reduced proportion of *Provotella* in the CB group was probably due to the higher rumen pH. The increased rumen pH might be linked to *Desulfovibrio*, a lactate-utilizing bacteria. The proportion of *Desulfovibrio* increased with added *C. butyricum*. The *C. butyricum* also stimulated the development of lactate-fermenting bacteria via outcompeting lactate-producing bacteria for using sugar ^[25], thereby inhibiting lactate accumulation and increasing ruminal pH.

Methanobrevibacter, an essential member of methanogenic archaea, could produce methane by using H_2 as a substrate to reduce CO_2 ^[27]. In the study, the proportion of *Methanobrevibacter* was increased, potentially associated with the rising proportion of fiber-degrading bacteria, including carbohydrate-fermenting and H_2 producing bacteria ^[27]. In addition, *C. butyricum* positively affected production performance and ruminal nutrition digestibility ^[16]. Therefore, the increased proportion of *Methanobrevibacter* did not cause adverse effects on beef cattle.

Rumen microorganisms have attracted considerable attention, but limited attention has been paid to the hindgut microorganisms of ruminants. Diverse gut microorganisms are prominent in host metabolism, nutrient digestion, growth performance, and overall animal health ^[17]. Previous studies have reported that diets supplemented with C. butyricum could affect the intestinal microbiota by increasing bacterial abundance and diversity ^[28]. The observed species, Chao 1, and ACE indices increased with C. butyricum supplementation. These results showed that added C. butyricum enhanced the diversity of fecal microbial communities. The diversity of the intestinal microbiota serves as the foundation for nutrient digestion, intestinal functions, and promoting intestinal immune system development in animals ^[29]. Zeng et al.^[8] found that Firmicutes, Bacteroidota, and Proteobacteria are the dominant phyla in the feces of ruminants. Added C. butyricum enhanced the Firmicutes proportion but reduced the Proteobacteria proportion ^[23]. However, our results showed that the addition of C. butyricum improved the abundance of Cyanobacteria and Fusobacteriota without affecting the proportion of Firmicutes, Bacteroidota, and Proteobacteria in feces. This lack of impact on impact on the latter phyla may be attributed to the presence of rumen microbial communities in ruminants.

This research revealed that by adding *C. butyricum* to the diets of the analyzed ruminants, the proportions of *Prevotella* and *M. elsdenii* increased, while the relative

proportion of E. coli decreased. Provotella can decompose hemicellulose and is essential for utilizing non-fibrous polysaccharides ^[6]. Such an addition improves the production of acetates, propionates, and butyrates with the degradation of starch, xylan, and proteins [30]. The proportion of *Provotella* is predominant in animal feces^[31]. M. elsdenii is an essential bacteria that converts lactate to acetate, propionate, butyrate, and valerate ^[32]. A previous study reported that C. butyricum could enhance the concentrations of SCFAs in feces ^[32]. The SCFAs could promote beneficial bacteria proliferation and inhibit the harmful bacteria E. coli, possibly due to the reduced pH [33]. Adding C. butyricum to diets reduced the proportion of *E. coli* and regulated the intestinal microbial structure by enhancing the amino acid metabolism and recombining proteins related to microbiota^[34].

Broilers fed with C. butyricum reduced the E. coli and enhanced *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* populations^[34]. Zhang et al.^[32] observed that C. butyricum could benefit the gut ecosystem by increasing the Lactobacillus population and reducing the counts of C. perfringens. The microbial composition in the gastrointestinal tracts of ruminants is fundamental because it can affect production performance and animal health. The results indicated that added C. butyricum reduced the harmful bacteria E. coli and Salmonella population compared with the CK group. This result may be attributed to the ability of C. butyricum to produce various beneficial materials and compete with pathogens for nutrition and attachment sites, thereby inhibiting the growth of harmful bacteria^[35]. In this experiment, beef cattle fed C. butyricum could decrease the harmful bacteria counts and were beneficial to the gastrointestinal tract and animal health.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Material: The corresponding author can provide the datasets of this research upon reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank all the participants who took part in this study.

Funding Support: The research was supported by a research project funded by the Ministry of Agriculture of China (Grant number. 201503134).

Competing Interests: There is no conflict of interest between the manuscript's material and any financial organization.

Ethics Statement: The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Northwest A&F University (NWAFAC1008) approved this animal study.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization: J. He, X. Xie, Z. Wu; Data curation: J. He, L. Yu, L. Li; Formal analysis: J. He, G. Zhao; Methodology: G. Zhao, D. Wang; Software: D. Wang, L. Yu; Validation: D. Wang; Investigation: X. Xie; Writing - original draft: J. He; Writing - review & editing: J. He, X. Xie.

REFERENCES

1. Zhu Y, Wang Z, Hu R, Wang X, Li F, Zhang X, Zou H, Peng Q, Xue B, Wang L: Comparative study of the bacterial communities throughout the gastrointestinal tract in two beef cattle breeds. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 105 (1): 313-325, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s00253-020-11019-7

2. Paz HA, Hales KE, Wells JE, Kuehn LA, Freetly HC, Berry ED, Flythe MD, Spangler ML, Fernando SC: Rumen bacterial community structure impacts feed efficiency in beef cattle. *J Anim Sci*, 96 (3): 1045-1058, 2018. DOI: 10.1093/jas/skx081

3. Friedman N, Jami E, Mizrahi I: Compositional and functional dynamics of the bovine rumen methanogenic community across different developmental stages. *Environ Microbiol*, 19 (8): 3365-3373, 2017. DOI: 10.1111/1462-2920.13846

4. Amachawadi RG, Tom WA, Hays MP, Fernando SC, Hardwidge PR, Nagaraja TG: Bacterial community analysis of purulent material from liver abscesses of crossbred cattle and Holstein steers fed finishing diets with or without tylosin. J Anim Sci, 99 (4): 76-79, 2021. DOI: 10.1093/jas/skab076

5. Adeyemi JA, Peters SO, De Donato M, Cervantes AP, Ogunade IM: Effects of a blend of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*-based direct-fed microbial and fermentation products on plasma carbonyl-metabolome and fecal bacterial community of beef steers. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 11:14, 2020. DOI: 10.1186/ s40104-019-0419-5

6. Zhan HQ, Dong XY, Li LL, Zheng YX, Gong YJ, Zou XT: Effects of dietary supplementation with *Clostridium butyricum* on laying performance, egg quality, serum parameters, and cecal microflora of laying hens in the late phase of production. *Poult Sci*, 98 (2): 896-903, 2019. DOI: 10.3382/ps/ pey436

7. Fu J, Wang T, Xiao X, Cheng Y, Wang F, Jin M, Wang Y, Zong X: *Clostridium Butyricum*ZJU-F1 benefits the intestinal barrier function and immune response associated with its modulation of gut microbiota in weaned piglets. *Cells*, 10 (3):527, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/cells10030527

8. Zeng X, Li Q, Yang C, Yu Y, Fu Z, Wang H, Fan X, Yue M, Xu Y: Effects of *Clostridium butyricum-* and *Bacillus spp.*-based potential probiotics on the growth performance, intestinal morphology, immune responses, and caecal microbiota in broilers. *Antibiotics*, 10 (6):624, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/ antibiotics10060624

9. Liu Y, Liu C, An K, Gong X, Xia Z: Effect of dietary *Clostridium butyricum* supplementation on growth performance, intestinal barrier function, immune function, and microbiota diversity of Pekin ducks. *Animals*, 11 (9):2514, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/ani11092514

10. Zhang X, Yun Y, Lai Z, Ji S, Yu G, Xie Z, Zhang H, Zhong X, Wang T, Zhang L: Supplemental *Clostridium butyricum* modulates lipid metabolism by reshaping the gut microbiota composition and bile acid profile in IUGR suckling piglets. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 14 (1):36, 2023. DOI: 10.1186/ s40104-023-00828-1

11. Ogunade IM, Lay J, Andries K, McManus CJ, Bebe F: Effects of live yeast on differential genetic and functional attributes of rumen microbiota in beef cattle. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 10:68, 2019. DOI: 10.1186/s40104-019-0378-x

12. Li Y, Wang Y, Lv J, Dou X, Zhang Y: Effects of dietary supplementation with *Clostridium butyricum* on the amelioration of growth performance, rumen fermentation, and rumen microbiota of holstein heifers. *Front Nutr,* 8:763700, 2021. DOI: 10.3389/fnut.2021.763700

13. Xu H, Huang W, Hou Q, Kwok LY, Sun Z, Ma H, Zhao F, Lee YK, Zhang H: The effects of probiotics administration on the milk production, milk components and fecal bacteria microbiota of dairy cows. *Sci Bull*, 62 (11): 767-774, 2017. DOI: 10.1016/j.scib.2017.04.019

14. Zhang X, Liu X, Chang S, Zhang C, Du W, Hou F: Effect of *Cistanche deserticola* on rumen microbiota and rumen function in grazing sheep. *Front Microbiol*, 13:840725, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.840725

15. Thrune M, Bach A, Ruiz-Moreno M, Stern MD, Linn JG: Effects of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* on ruminal pH and microbial fermentation in dairy cows: Yeast supplementation on rumen fermentation. *Anim Feed Sci Technol*, 8 (6): 1323-1335, 2009. DOI: 10.1016/j.livsci.2009.02.007

16. Cai L, Yu J, Hartanto R, Qi D: Dietary Supplementation with *Saccharomyces* cerevisiae, *Clostridium butyricum* and their combination ameliorate rumen

fermentation and growth performance of heat-stressed goats. *Animals*, 11 (7):2116, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/ani11072116

17. Sato Y, Kuroki Y, Oka K, Takahashi M, Rao S, Sukegawa S, Fujimura T: Effects of dietary supplementation with *Enterococcus faecium* and *Clostridium butyricum*, either alone or in combination, on growth and fecal microbiota composition of post-weaning pigs at a commercial farm. *Front Vet Sci*, 6:26, 2019. DOI: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00026

18. Haas BJ, Gevers D, Earl AM, Feldgarden M, Ward DV, Giannoukos G, Ciulla D, Tabbaa D, Highlander SK, Sodergren E, Methé B, DeSantis TZ, Human Microbiome Consortium, Petrosino JF, Knight R, Birren BW: Chimeric 16S rRNA sequence formation and detection in Sanger and 454-pyrosequenced PCR amplicons. *Genome Res*, 21 (3): 494-504, 2011. DOI: 10.1101/gr.112730.110

19. Zhao G, Wu H, Li L, He J, Hu Z, Yang X, Xie X: Effects of applying cellulase and starch on the fermentation characteristics and microbial communities of Napier grass (*Pennisetum purpureum Schum*) silage. *J Anim Sci Technol*, 63 (6): 1301-1313, 2021. DOI: 10.5187/jast.2021.e107

20. Yi S, Wu H, Liu Y, Dai D, Meng Q, Chai S, Liu S, Zhou Z: Concentrate supplementation improves cold-season environmental fitness of grazing yaks: Responsive changes in the rumen microbiota and metabolome. *Front Microbiol*, 14:1247251, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2023.1247251

21. Zhu Z, Song ZH, Cao LT, Wang Y, Zhou WZ, Zhou P, Zuo FY: Effects of traditional Chinese medicine formula on ruminal fermentation, enzyme activities and nutrient digestibility of beef cattle. *Anim Sci J*, 89 (4): 661-671, 2018. DOI: 10.1111/asj.12978

22. Wang Q, Gao X, Yang Y, Zou C, Yang Y, Lin B: A comparative study on rumen ecology of water buffalo and cattle calves under similar feeding regime. *Vet Med Sci*, 6 (4): 746-754, 2020. DOI: 10.1002/vms3.302

23. Huang T, Peng XY, Gao B, Wei QL, Xiang R, Yuan MG, Xu ZH: The effect of *Clostridium butyricum* on gut microbiota, immune response and intestinal barrier function during the development of necrotic enteritis in chickens. *Front Microbiol*, 10:2309, 2019. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02309

24. Li K, Mehmood K, Zhang H, Jiang X, Shahzad M, Dong X, Li J: Characterization of fungus microbial diversity in healthy and diarrheal yaks in Gannan region of Tibet Autonomous Prefecture. *Acta Trop*, 182, 14-26, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2018.02.017

25. Molist F, Manzanilla EG, Pérez JF, Nyachoti CM: Coarse, but not finely ground, dietary fibre increases intestinal *Firmicutes*: Bacteroidetes ratio and reduces diarrhoea induced by experimental infection in piglets. *Br J Nutr*, 108 (1): 9-15, 2012 DOI: 10.1017/S0007114511005216

26. Stevenson DM, Weimer PJ: Dominance of *Prevotella* and low abundance of classical ruminal bacterial species in the bovine rumen revealed by relative quantification real-time PCR. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 75 (1): 165-174, 2007. DOI: 10.1007/s00253-006-0802-y

27. Malik PK, Trivedi S, Mohapatra A, Kolte AP, Sejian V, Bhatta R, Rahman H: Comparison of enteric methane yield and diversity of ruminal *methanogens* in cattle and buffaloes fed on the same diet. *PLoS One*, 16 (8):e0256048, 2021. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0256048

28. Xu L, Sun X, Wan X, Li K, Jian F, Li W, Jiang R, Han R, Li H, Kang X, Wang Y: Dietary supplementation with *Clostridium butyricum* improves growth performance of broilers by regulating intestinal microbiota and mucosal epithelial cells. *Anim Nutr*, 7 (4): 1105-1114, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j. aninu.2021.01.009

29. Xu Y, Yang H, Zhang L, Su Y, Shi D, Xiao H, Tian Y: High-throughput sequencing technology to reveal the composition and function of cecal microbiota in Dagu chicken. *BMC Microbiol*, 16 (1):259, 2016. DOI: 10.1186/s12866-016-0877-2

30. Deusch S, Camarinha-Silva A, Conrad J, Beifuss U, Rodehutscord M, Seifert J: A structural and functional elucidation of the rumen microbiome influenced by various diets and microenvironments. *Front Microbiol*, 8:1605, 2017. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01605

31. Dou S, Gadonna-Widehem P, Rome V, Hamoudi D, Rhazi L, Lakhal L, Larcher T, Bahi-Jaber N, Pinon-Quintana A, Guyonvarch A, Huërou-Luron IL, Abdennebi-Najar L: Characterisation of early-life fecal microbiota in susceptible and healthy pigs to post-weaning diarrhoea. *PLoS One*, 12 (1):e0169851, 2017. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169851 **32.** Zhang J, Chen X, Liu P, Zhao J, Sun J, Guan W, Johnston LJ, Levesque CL, Fan P, He T, Zhang G, Ma X: Dietary *Clostridium butyricum* induces a phased shift in fecal microbiota structure and increases the acetic acid-producing bacteria in a weaned piglet model. *J Agric Food Chem*, 66 (20): 5157-5166, 2018. DOI: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b01253

33. Cao G, Tao F, Hu Y, Li Z, Zhang Y, Deng B, Zhan X: Positive effects of a *Clostridium butyricum*-based compound probiotic on growth performance, immune responses, intestinal morphology, hypothalamic neurotransmitters, and colonic microbiota in weaned piglets. *Food Funct*, 10 (5): 2926-2934,

2019. DOI: 10.1039/c8fo02370k

34. Liu M, Uyanga VA, Cao X, Liu X, Lin H: Regulatory effects of the probiotic *Clostridium butyricum* on gut microbes, intestinal health, and growth performance of chickens. *J Poult Sci*, 60 (2):2023011, 2023. DOI: 10.2141/jpsa.2023011

35. Mookiah S, Sieo CC, Ramasamy K, Abdullah N, Ho YW: Effects of dietary prebiotics, probiotic and synbiotics on performance, caecal bacterial populations and caecal fermentation concentrations of broiler chickens. *J Sci Food Agric*, 94 (2): 341-348, 2014. DOI: 10.1002/jsfa.6365

Research Article

Effect of Dietary Inclusion of Alfalfa Polysaccharide on Performance and Immune System Efficacy of Broiler Chickens

Yongjun DONG 10 Lirong WANG 10 Mengting ZHANG 10 Kai ZHANG 10 Shouping ZHANG 1(*)

¹ College of Animal Science and Veterinary Medicine, Henan Institute of Science and Technology, Xinxiang 453003, CHINA



Abstract

^(*) **Corresponding author:** Shouping ZHANG Phone: +86-0373-3040718 E-mail: zsp031659@126.com

How to cite this article?

Dong Y, Wang L, Zhang M, Zhang K, Zhang S: Effect of dietary inclusion of alfalfa polysaccharide on performance and immune system efficacy of broiler chickens. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 335-340, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31166

Article ID: KVFD-2023-31166 Received: 14.11.2023 Accepted: 27.03.2024 Published Online: 03.04.2024 This study was conducted to investigate the effect of Alfalfa polysaccharide (APS) on the growth performance and immune responses of broilers. A total of 400 1-day-old Avian broiler chicks were randomly divided into four treatment groups and administered intranasal with different levels of APS (0, 2.5, 5.0 or 10.0 mg/dose) on day 1 and day 14. Growth performance, phagocytic activity, T lymphocyte transformation, and serum antibody titers against the Newcastle disease virus (NDV) vaccine were examined. During the study period of 42 days, no significant differences were observed in food intake among treatment groups (P>0.05). The APS administered groups displayed a low FCR, especially the 2.5 mg groups (P<0.05). Broilers with 2.5 mg APS displayed a much higher phagocytic activity than the control group (P<0.05). At the same time, APS enhanced the T lymphocyte transformation in response to phytohaemagglutinin (PHA). The antibody titer to NDV was not influenced by APS on day 14, while it improved on day 28 and day 42, especially in the 2.5 mg group (P<0.05). And the above data suggest that APS could improve innate and cellular immune responses in broilers.

Keywords: Alfalfa polysaccharide, Broilers, Diseases, Growth, Immunity

INTRODUCTION

Polysaccharides are biomolecules existing in higher plants, animal cell membranes, and microbial cell walls^[1]. They are important components of all living organisms, serving as both energy source for cell metabolism and structural element of the cell. They are involved in several physiological and pathological processes of the body ^[2]. Studies have proved that polysaccharides have anti-inflammatory and anti-infective properties, prevent gastrointestinal inflammation, promote the development of immune organs, and enhance the body's immune system ^[3,4]. However, although polysaccharides have a wide range of functions, they are difficult to produce synthetically on a large scale due to their complex structure, difficult synthesis process, and high production costs. Based on that, naturally extracted plant polysaccharides appear particularly convenient.

Plants polysaccharides can be extracted from a wide range of plant-based sources and have low cost, low toxicity, and lesser side effects, thus overcoming the shortcoming of synthetic polysaccharides. This has attracted the attention of many scholars ^[3]. So far, a variety of polysaccharides have been isolated from plants. Research has suggested that plant polysaccharides have obvious effects on growth promotion, macrophage phagocytosis, cellular immunity, and humoral immunity of livestock and poultry in a certain dose range ^[5]. The effectiveness of plant polysaccharides as an immuno-enhancer is influenced by various factors, such as their components and structure, the dosage used, the route of administration, and the species of animal being treated. It has been found that a variety of plant polysaccharides with immune activity, such as Astragalus polysaccharide, can significantly enhance the phagocytic function of macrophages, increase the spleen weight of mice, and have bactericidal, antiviral and anti-infective effects ^[6,7]; another polysaccharide lentinan can promote the oxidative stress around lung cancer cell tumor^[8].

Alfalfa is an important source of legume feed for livestock. It is called the king of forage. It has the effects of clearing heat, detoxicating, and curing jaundice, urinary calculus, and other diseases ^[9,10]. The alfalfa polysaccharide (APS) is extracted from the stems and leaves of alfalfa. The

 \odot \odot

Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg

extraction process is simple and feasible, and the cost is low. It is suitable for large-scale production and feed supplementation ^[11]. However, the effect of additive APS in the diet of broiler remains unclear.

In the present research, different doses of APS were administered to 1-day- old broilers to study its effect on growth performance and immune function, including macrophage phagocytosis activity, peripheral lymphocyte transformation and antibody titer. These findings can provide a theoretical reference for the application of APS as an immune-enhancer in the poultry industry.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

Experimentation with animals was approved by the Experimental Animal Management Methods of Xinxiang Medical University (Approval number: 201206078) and followed Henan Authority's Experimental Animal Regulations.

Alfalfa Polysaccharide

The APS used in this study was purchased from Shanghai Moqi Biology Co.Ltd. (Shanghai, China). The purity of APS was 95%. The molecular weight of APS was determined by LC-MS and ranged from 8 to 160.000 daltons.

Experimental Animals and Management

A total of 400 1-day-old Avian broiler female chicks (Dayong Broiler Breeding Corp., Henan, China) were randomly assigned into four groups, with 10 replicate pens per group and 10 birds per pen for a 42-day feeding trial. Different dosage of APS (0, 2.5 mg, 5 mg, 10 mg) was dissolved in 50 μ L PBS and administered intranasally to broilers on day 1 and day 14.

Maize-soybean-based basal diets without antibiotics were formulated to meet the nutrient requirements as recommended by the National Research Council (1994) during the starter (days 1-21) and finisher (days 22-42) periods. The ingredient compositions of the basal diet are shown in *Table 1*. Body weight gain (BWG) was recorded on day 1 and day 42, and feed intake (FI) was measured over the period of 42 days to calculate the feed conversion ratio (FCR).

All the birds were housed in electrically heated cages and had free access to clean water and feed. Under the lighting program, the broilers were provided light for 23 h for the first 2 weeks, and 20 h afterwards. The birds were kept at a temperature of 33-34°C for the first week. Then, the temperature was decreased by 2-3°C per week till 24°C was attained.

Macrophages Phagocytic Activity Assay

Phagocytic ability was determined by carbon clearance,

Table 1. Composition of basal diet		
Composition	0-3 w	4-6 w
Corn (%)	52.71	59.01
Soybean (%)	40.00	33.80
Soybean oil (%)	3.00	3.00
Calcium hydrophosphate (%)	1.90	1.25
mountain flour (%)	1.10	1.80
Salt (%)	0.37	0.37
Trace element premix (%) ^a	0.50	0.50
Multi-vitamin (%) ^b	0.20	0.20
methionine (%)	0.19	0.07
lysine (%)	0.05	0.03
Choline chloride (CC) (50%)	0.20	0.16
Metabolic energy (MJ/Kg) ^c	12.71	12.78
Crude protein (%) ^d	21.37	18.99
Calcium (%)	1.08	1.03
Available phosphorus (%)	0.62	0.55
Lysine (%)	1.25	1.10
methionine (%)	0.54	0.39

^a Provided the following per kilogram of diet: Vit. A (β-carotene), 1500 IU; Vit. D, 1250 IU; Vit. E (dl-α-tocoperol), 15 IU; Vit. K, 2.2 mg; Vit. B₂, 1.5 mg; Vit. B₂, 8.0 mg; Vit. B₆, 2.5 mg; Vit. B₁₂, 0.011 mg; niacin, 44.00 mg; D-pantothenic acid, 11.00 mg; folic acid, 0.9 mg; D-biotin, 0.11 mg; choline, 550 mg ^b Fe, 80.00 mg; Cu, 8.00 mg; I, 0.35 mg; Se, 0.15 mg; Zn, 80.00 mg

^{c,d} measured value

as proposed by previous study elsewhere ^[12]. Briefly, two broilers from each cage on day 14 and 28 were randomly selected and injected colloidal carbon (drawing ink, Pelikan; 1 mL/kg BW) intravenously. Two (T1) and ten (T2) minutes after the injection, 200 μ L blood was collected from the wing and mixed with 2 mL sodium citrate, which was then centrifuged at 530 g for 5 min. The supernatant was used to measure the optical density (OD) at 600 nm. The phagocytic index was calculated as follows: phagocytic index = body weight/(liver weight + spleen weight) × K1/3. The carbon clearance (K) was calculated as follows: K = (lgOD1-OD2)/T2-T1. OD1 and OD2 were the optical density at 600 nm of the supernatant at T1 and T2, respectively.

T Lymphocyte Transformation Rate

A sterile collection of 5 mL blood was performed from chicken hearts on days 14, 28, and 42. Heparin (1 mL) was used for anticoagulation. The blood samples were allowed to stand for 1 h and then 6 mL of lymphocyte separation solution was added (the ratio of blood and separation solution is 1:1). Next, the sample was centrifuged for 20 min at 3000 rpm to absorb the middle cloudy white blood cell layer, washed three times with Hank's solution, and centrifuged again for 10 min at 2000 rpm. The living cells (trypan blue staining) were resuspended and the number of cells was adjusted to 3 ×10⁶ per mL using RPMI1640 culture medium (Gibco, Los Angeles, CA, USA). Thereafter, a certain dose of phytohemagglutinin (PHA) (sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) was added with a final concentration of 10 µg/mL. After giving a slight shaking, the cells were cultured in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C for 72 h (Thermo, Waltham, MA, USA).

Then, the cells were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 10 min, and the supernatant was discarded. The precipitate cell (1 mL) was placed on a clean slide and fixed with methanol. After washing with PBS and drying, cells were stained with Giemsa for no less than 3 h. Finally, the number of transformed cells in 200 lymphocytes was observed and counted under the microscope.

Newcastle Disease Virus Antibody Titer

The birds were administrated the Newcastle disease virus (NDV) vaccine (La Sota) at day 1 (intranasal) and day 14 (intramuscular). And on days 14, 28, and 42, 10 broilers were randomly selected from each group. Blood was collected from these chickens and serum was separated by centrifugation. The haemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay was performed using 96-well V-shaped haemagglutination platelets. The titer of antibodies was measured by log2.

Statistical Analysis

Data were reported as means and analyzed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using SPSS 17.0. The significance of differences among different groups was evaluated by least significant difference (LSD) post-hoc multiple comparisons test.

RESULTS

The effects of APS treatment on growth performance were evaluated through FI, BWG, and FCR and are shown in *Table 2*. No significant differences were found in the FI of broilers among different treatment groups (P>0.05). Compared to the control group, the APS caused positive effects on BWG and FCR of other groups (P<0.05). A quadratic decrease in FCR was observed in groups supplemented with APS. The highest ADG and lowest FCR values were observed in the 2.5 mg APS group. These data suggest that APS improves the broilers' growth performance.

To explore the effect of APS on phagocytic ability, India ink was injected into the peripheral vein of broilers and the carbon clearance level was determined on days 14 and days 28 (*Table 3*). It was demonstrated that chicks administered with APS possessed a faster carbon clearance rate, which revealed a higher phagocytosis activity than that of the control group. The highest phagocytosis index (9.48) on day 14 was observed in the group administered with 2.5 mg APS (P<0.05). The same tendency was also observed in the 2.5 mg group on day 28; the highest phagocytosis index was 11.13 (P<0.05). On day 42, 2.5 mg and 5 mg APS administered groups showed an improvement in the phagocytosis index (P<0.001), and the highest index was 14.77. These data suggest that APS can improve the phagocytosis ability of peritoneal macrophages in broilers.

To further explore the effect of APS on cellular immunity, the lymphocyte transformation rate after PHA stimulation was measured. The T lymphocyte transformation rate at different ages of broilers in each group is displayed in *Table 4*. We found no significant difference in the T

Table 2. Effect of APS administration on growth performance of broilers							
Itomo	APS Dosage (mg)		P-value				
nems	0	2.5	5	10	ANOVA	Linear	Quadratic
FI	82.25±1.049	82.28±0.748	82.23±0.940	82.33±1.017	1.000	0.964	0.969
BWG	43.18±1.083 ª	49.02±1.070 ^b	45.93±0.920ª	45.96±1.092 ^{a,b}	0.008	0.274	0.011
FCR	1.90±0.023 ª	1.68±0.025 ^b	1.79±0.025 °	1.79±0.027 °	0.000	0.069	0.000
Means that do not	share similar letter i	n row are significant	tly different, P≤0.05				

Table 3. Phagocytic index of macrophages in peripheral blood of broilers									
T4		APS Dos	APS Dosage (mg) P-value			P-value	ue		
Items	0 2.5 5 10				ANOVA	Linear	Quadratic		
14d	6.76±0.434ª	9.48±0.166 ^b	6.82±0.387 ^{a,c}	6.76±0.825 ^{a,c}	0.002	0.259	0.013		
28d	8.18±0.848 ª	11.13±0.819 ^b	9.29±0.582 ^{a,b}	8.45±0.442 a,c	0.029	0.744	0.013		
42d	10.08±0.249ª	14.77±0.329 ^b	11.10±0.271 °	10.83±0.335 ª	0.000	0.749	0.000		
Means that do not	share similar letter i	in row are significan	tly different, P≤0.05						

Table 4. Lymphocyte transformation rate of broilers								
T4		APS Dosage (mg) P-valu			P-value	ie		
Items	0	2.5	5	10	ANOVA	Linear	Quadratic	
14d	9.14±0.283 ª	11.64±0.180 ^b	10.90±0.396 ^b	8.90±0.106 ^{a,c}	0.000	0.236	0.000	
28d	12.92±0.595ª	15.91±1.301 ^b	14.1±0.415 ^{a,b}	13.83±0.351 ^{a,b}	0.075	0.791	0.045	
42d	17.9±0.465 °	22.81±0.378 ^b	20.38±0.404 °	20.31±0.182 °	0.000	0.010	0.000	
Means that do not .	share similar letter i	n row are significant	ly different, P≤0.05			·		

Table 5. Antibody titers to Newcastle disease virus vaccine (log2)								
Therese		APS Dosage (mg) P-value						
nems	0	2.5	5	10	ANOVA	Linear	Quadratic	
14d	5.5±0.141	5.7±0.106	5.5±0.115	5.3±0.082	0.135	0.130	0.093	
28d	7.5±0.124ª	8.0±0.124 ^b	7.7±0.118 ^{a,b}	7.7±0.141 ^{a,b}	0.078	0.604	0.063	
42d	7.5±0.141 ª	8.2±0.129 ^b	7.7±0.103 a,c	8.0±0.124 ^{b,c}	0.004	0.089	0.126	
Means that do not	share similar letter i	n row are significant	ly different P<0.05					

lymphocyte transformation rate among the 5 mg and 10 mg APS administered groups on day 14 and 28 (P>0.05). However, on day 42, all of the APS administered groups (2.5 mg, 5 mg, 10 mg) showed marked improvement in T lymphocyte transformation in the peripheral blood (P<0.001) compared to the control group. Between the three APS administered groups, the 2.5 mg group showed significant improvement in the blood T lymphocyte conversion rate during the study period (P<0.05). These data suggest that APS can improve the peritoneal T lymphocyte transformation in broilers.

We measured the antibody titer to Newcastle disease virus (NDV) vaccine in the serum. As show in Table 5, there was no significant difference among the groups in the NDV antibody titer on day 14 (P>0.05). However, on day 28 and day 42, groups with APS dose of 5 mg and 10 mg showed increased NDV antibody titer at a certain extent (P>0.05) compared with the control group. Moreover, the 2.5 mg group showed a significant increase in NDV titer of broilers (P<0.05). These data suggest that APS can improve the humoral immunity in broilers at a certain extent.

DISCUSSIONS

The biological activity of polysaccharides as an immuneenhancer is not only related to their molecular weight, solubility, viscosity, and chemical structure, but also closely related to the route of administration, dosage, animal species, and other factors ^[13,14]. In this research, the watersoluble APS extracted from the stems and leaves of alfalfa during pregnancy was non-starch polysaccharide, which was given to broilers through nasal drip after autoclaving. Experimental results suggest that water-soluble APS given intranasal can improve the growth performance and immune ability of broilers.

Macrophages are very important to the immune system of the body. They play the functions of monitoring, defense, antigen presentation, and regulation and elimination of apoptotic cells in the body, and are the first line of defense of the body's immune system ^[15,16]. The enhancement of phagocytic rate or phagocytic ability is one of the most significant characteristics of activated macrophages, which helps to improve the body's defense and anti-infection ability. In this research, our data demonstrate that APS could increase the phagocytic activity of macrophages. Our results are consistent with previous studies that suggested that bioactive polysaccharides could enhance the phagocytic activity of macrophages ^[17,18].

T lymphocyte proliferation is a direct indicator reflecting the characteristics of cellular immune function. Generally, lymphocytes can be divided and proliferate after being stimulated by corresponding antigen substances and produce antibodies or lymphoid factors against related antigens. Therefore, lymphocytes are the most important immune effector cells in animals ^[19,20]. The results of this study show that different dosages of APS could promote the proliferation of T lymphocytes in chicken peripheral blood, indicating that APS has immune potentiation. However, this effect was found to be more significant in the low dosage group (2.5 mg) than in the medium (5 mg) and high (10 mg) dosage groups, indicating that APS can promote the proliferation of peripheral blood T lymphocytes but its effect depends on the dosage and that the appropriate dose is an important factor affecting its immune enhancement effect. These data were further verified by other plant polysaccharides with suitable dosage on the proliferation activities of murine spleen lymphocytes [21].

The titer of Newcastle disease HI antibody in broiler serum was determined by erythrocyte agglutination test at different growth stages. It can be seen from the results of the titer of the HI antibody in the serum on day 14 that the enhancement effect on the humoral immune function of broilers is not obvious. On day 28 and day 42, the 2.5 mg group showed enhanced humoral immune function. There is a certain difference between the results of NDV HI antibody across the three stages. Part of the difference may be due to the interference of the maternal antibody of NDV in the younger chicken, resulting in the insignificant increase of the HI titer of NDV by APS^[22].

In the present research, chicks administered with different doses of APS demonstrated a positive effect on their growth performance, phagocytic ability, T lymphocyte proliferation, and NDV antibody titer. However, when different doses of APS were given to broilers through a nasal drip, they did not display dose dependence for the above indicators. This may be attributed to the complex structure of APS. As they are complex biological macromolecule material, polysaccharides could interact with each other to create a network structure and absorb water molecules when the concentration is increased, which could affect their biological activity ^[23].

In conclusion, intranasally administered APS at a dose of 2.5 mg had positive effects on broiler performance. It stimulated phytohemagglutinin-induced T-lymphocyte transformation and increased phagocytic activity without adversely affecting Newcastle disease virus antibody production. The immunomodulatory effects of APS on poultry production are likely to enhance the response the birds' diseases resistance ability.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The data and materials set during the current study are available from the corresponding author (S. Zhang) on reasonable request.

Funding Support: This work was supported by the Leading Talents of Scientific and Technological Innovation in the Central Plains (No. 224200510024), National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 32202763), the Program for Innovative Research Team (in Science and Technology) in University of Henan Province (No. 22IRTSTHN026).

Competing of Interest: The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Ethical Statement: Experimentation with animals was approved by the Experimental Animal Management Methods of Xinxiang Medical University (Approval number: 201206078) and followed Henan Authority's Experimental Animal Regulations.

Author's Contribution: Y. Dong and S. Zhang designed this study. Y. Dong and L. Wang executed the experiment and analyzed the data. All authors interpreted the data, critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual contents and approved the final version.

Reference

1. Yu Y, Shen M, Song Q, Xie J: Biological activities and pharmaceutical applications of polysaccharide from natural resources: A review. *Carbohydr Polym*, 183, 91-101, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2017.12.009

2. Mukherjee S, Jana S, Khawas S, Kicuntod J, Marschall M, Ray B, Ray S: Synthesis, molecular features and biological activities of modified plant polysaccharides. *Carbohydr Polym*, 289:119299, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j. carbpol.2022.119299

3. Chen F, Huang G: Preparation and immunological activity of polysaccharides and their derivatives. *Int J Biol Macromol*, 112, 211-216, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.01.169

4. Swierczewska M, Han HS, Kim K, Park JH, Lee S: Polysaccharide-based nanoparticles for theranostic nanomedicine. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 99 (Pt A): 70-84, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.addr.2015.11.015

5. Yin M, Zhang Y, Li H: Advances in research on immunoregulation of macrophages by plant polysaccharides. *Front Immunol*, 10:145, 2019. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00145

6. Li CX, Liu Y, Zhang YZ, Li JC, Lai J: Astragalus polysaccharide: A review of its immunomodulatory effect. *Arch Pharm Res*, 45 (6): 367-389, 2022. DOI: 10.1007/s12272-022-01393-3

7. Li W, Hu X, Wang S, Jiao Z, Sun T, Liu T, Song K: Characterization and anti-tumor bioactivity of astragalus polysaccharides by immunomodulation. *Int J Biol Macromol*, 145, 985-997, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.09.189

8. Li M, Du X, Yuan Z, Cheng M, Dong P, Bai Y: Lentinan triggers oxidative stress-mediated anti-inflammatory responses in lung cancer cells. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 477 (2): 469-477, 2022. DOI: 10.1007/s11010-021-04293-0

9. Chen S, Wan C, Ma Y, Zhang K, Wang F, Shen S: Study on the quality of mixed silage of rapeseed with alfalfa or myriophyllum. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 20 (5): 3884, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ijerph20053884

10. Jonker A, Yu P: the role of proanthocyanidins complex in structure and nutrition interaction in alfalfa forage. *Int J Mol Sci*, 17 (5):793, 2016. DOI: 10.3390/ijms17050793

11. Zhang C, Li Z, Zhang CY, Li M, Lee Y, Zhang GG: Extract methods, molecular characteristics, and bioactivities of polysaccharide from alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.). *Nutrients*, 11 (5):1181, 2019. DOI: 10.3390/nu11051181

12. Zhang S, Zhu C, Xie H, Wang L, Hu J: Effect of gan cao (*Glycyrrhiza uralensis* Fisch) polysaccharide on growth performance, immune function, and gut microflora of broiler chickens. *Poult Sci*, 101 (10):102068, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.psj.2022.102068

13. Wusiman A, Rexiati S, Aziz M, Cheng X, Mai Z, Abulaiti A, Wutikuer A, Rozi P, Abuduwaili A, Abula S: Preparation and sulfate modified of *Lagenaria siceraria* (Molina) Standl polysaccharide and its immune-enhancing adjuvant activity. *Poult Sci*, 101 (11):102112, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.psj.2022.102112

14. Yang X, Wei S, Lu X, Qiao X, Simal-Gandara J, Capanoglu E, Wozniak L, Zou L, Cao H, Xiao J, Tang X, Li N: A neutral polysaccharide with a triple helix structure from ginger: Characterization and immuno-modulatory activity. *Food Chem*, 350:129261, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j. foodchem.2021.129261

15. Wynn TA, Chawla A, Pollard JW: Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease. *Nature*, 496 (7446): 445-455, 2013. DOI: 10.1038/ nature12034

16. Yan ZQ, Hansson GK: Innate immunity, macrophage activation, and atherosclerosis. *Immunol Rev*, 219, 187-203, 2007. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00554.x

17. Ghosh S, Khatua S, Dasgupta A, Acharya K: Crude polysaccharide from the milky mushroom, *Calocybe indica*, modulates innate immunity of macrophage cells by triggering MyD88-dependent TLR4/NF-kappaB pathway. *J Pharm Pharmacol*, 73 (1): 70-81, 2021. DOI: 10.1093/jpp/rgaa020

18. Xie Y, Wang L, Sun H, Wang Y, Yang Z, Zhang G, Jiang S, Yang W: Polysaccharide from alfalfa activates RAW 264.7 macrophages through MAPK and NF-kappaB signaling pathways. *Int J Biol Macromol*, 126, 960-968, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.12.227

19. Datta S, Sarvetnick N: Lymphocyte proliferation in immune-mediated diseases. *Trends Immunol*, 30 (9): 430-438, 2009. DOI: 10.1016/j. it.2009.06.002

20. Heinzel S, Marchingo JM, Horton MB, Hodgkin PD: The regulation of lymphocyte activation and proliferation. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 51, 32-38, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.01.002

21. Cao LZ, Lin ZB: Comparison of the effects of polysaccharides from wood-cultured and bag-cultured *Ganoderma lucidum* on murine spleen lymphocyte proliferation *in vitro*. *Yao Xue Xue Bao*, 38 (2): 92-97, 2003.

22. Bertran K, Lee DH, Criado MF, Balzli CL, Killmaster LF, Kapczynski DR, Swayne DE: Maternal antibody inhibition of recombinant Newcastle disease virus vectored vaccine in a primary or booster avian influenza

vaccination program of broiler chickens. *Vaccine*, 36 (43): 6361-6372, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.09.015

23. Hosseini SM, Emam-Djomeh Z, Negahdarifar M, Sepeidnameh M, Razavi SH, Van der Meeren P: Polysaccharide type and concentration affect nanocomplex formation in associative mixture with betalactoglobulin. *Int J Biol Macromol*, 93 (Pt A): 724-730, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j. ijbiomac.2016.09.037

Research Article

Immunohistochemical Localization of Leptin and Ghrelin in Kidney Tissue of Capsaicin Administered Diabetic and Non-diabetic Rats

Seyit Ali BİNGÖL^{1(*)} [©] Turgay DEPREM² [©] Serap İLHAN AKSU² [©] Serap KORAL TAŞÇI² [©] Dilem Gülece ERMUTLU² [©] Şahin ASLAN² [©]

¹ Kafkas University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, TR-36000 Kars - TÜRKİYE
 ² Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, TR-36000 Kars - TÜRKİYE



(*) Corresponding author: Seyit Ali BİNGÖL
Phone: +90 474 225 1196
Cellular phone: +90 532 693 0537
Fax: +90 474 225 1196
E-mail: seyitali.bingol@gmail.com

How to cite this article?

Bingöl SA, Deprem T, İlhan Aksu S, Koral Taşçı S, Ermutlu Dg, Aslan Ş: Immunohistochemical localization of leptin and ghrelin in kidney tissue of capsaicin administered diabetic and non-diabetic Rats. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 341-347, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31202

Article ID: KVFD-2023-31202 Received: 16.11.2023 Accepted: 29.02.2024 Published Online: 22.03.2024

Abstract

In this study, we investigated the effect of Capsaicin (CAP) on leptin and ghrelin expression in diabetic kidneys by immunohistochemical method. The subjects were separated into 5 groups: control, sham, diabetes, CAP, and D+CAP. Streptozotocin (45 mg/kg, single dose) was administered to each rat in the diabetes and D+CAP groups intraperitoneally. Rats with blood glucose levels of 200 mg/dL or higher were considered diabetic. Capsaicin (1 mg/kg) was administered subcutaneously to the rats in the CAP and D+CAP groups every day for 2 weeks. H&E, PAS, and Crossman's Triple staining were performed to examine the histology of the kidney. Leptin and ghrelin in the kidney were examined by immunohistochemical method. Histological examination revealed normal kidney tissue in the control, sham, and CAP groups. The diabetes group showed the glomerulus with scattered and narrowing of the Bowman's capsule. While leptin immunoreactivity was most intense in the diabetes group, it was observed the weakest in the CAP and D+CAP groups. While strong ghrelin immunoreactivity was seen in the control and sham groups, mild immunoreactivity was seen in the CAP group, and weak immunoreactivity was seen in the diabetes and D+CAP groups. In this study, we concluded that the application of CAP could prevent loss of appetite by reducing the leptin expression during diabetes, but could not protect ghrelin from adverse effects of diabetes.

Keywords: Capsaicin, Diabetes, Ghrelin, Immunohistochemical, Leptin

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is a metabolic disease characterized by insulin secretion disorder or increased insulin resistance. A diabetic patient has an increased blood glucose level because of both of these conditions ^[1]. DM is asymptomatic or characterized by clinical symptoms. These clinical symptoms, which include weight loss, polyuria, polydipsia, polyphagia, and weakness, affect many organs and systems ^[2].

Capsaicin (CAP) is a chemical compound of chili and regulates the spiciness of hot chili pepper, usually termed a hot pepper (*Capsicum annuum L.*) ^[3]. *Capsicum annuum* L. contains protein, ascorbic acid, thiamine, red carotenoids, iron, copper, manganese, magnesium, zing, oxalates, phosphorus, flavonoids, calcium, water and vitamins, alongside capsaicin ^[4,5]. CAP consists of a long hydrophobic carbon tail containing a polar amide group (C18H27NO3) and a benzene ring. It is a lipophilic, volatile, pungent, hydrophobic, colorless, and odorless white crystalline powder ^[5]. CAP increases lipid peroxidation which decreases the amount of adipose tissue, and serum triglycerides. CAP has also an effect to inhibit the glycogen metabolism in skeletal muscles ^[6].

Leptin, which is known as an anorexigenic hormone, has an appetite suppression. It does this function by connecting its receptors in the hypothalamus. There is a relationship between leptin levels and some diseases such as cardiovascular diseases, chronic kidney disease, and DM ^[7,8]. It has been understood that it plays a role in the regulation of all system functions because leptin receptors are almost found in all organs ^[9]. A kind of leptin resistance can occur with leptin receptor downregulation, and leptin does not work properly in this condition ^[10,11].

 \odot \odot

Ghrelin is an orexigenic hormone that increases appetite so it has the opposite effect of leptin^[12]. Ghrelin is found in many organs such as the stomach, liver, hypothalamus, pancreas, and kidney^[13]. The ghrelin receptor is also expressed in the kidneys^[14]. Ghrelin stimulates insulin secretion in the pancreas^[15]. While there is insulin resistance in DM, ghrelin upgrades insulin signaling^[16].

The purpose of this study is to investigate the effect of CAP on leptin and ghrelin by immunohistochemical method and on the histological structure by histochemical method in diabetic and non-diabetic rat kidneys.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

We received approval from Kafkas University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee (KAÜ-HADYEK: 2019-057) for the applications performed on rats in the study.

Animals and Experimental Design

The study was started after the rats were adapted to the environment for one week. After this process, 30 female Wistar albino rats (three months aged, weighing 200-220 g) were separated into 5 groups: control, sham, diabetes, CAP, and D+CAP. The control group was left untreated, only a citrate buffer (0.1 M, pH 4.5) was injected via i.p. into the rats in the sham group, CAP was injected into the rats in the CAP and D+CAP groups and Streptozotocin (STZ) was injected to the rats in diabetes and D+CAP groups. Experimental applications were performed at Kafkas University Experimental Animal Application and Research Center. Rats were kept in standard cages in a room that had 22±2°C room temperature, and 12 h of light and dark cycle. They were fed ad libitum with a standard rat diet and water except 8 h before STZ injection and taking blood samples. The duration of the study lasted for 14 days and the study started with STZ injection which was accepted the day 0. After 14 days, cervical dislocation was applied to the rats under ether anesthesia, and kidney tissues were taken.

Preparation of STZ and Induction of Diabetes

STZ (Sigma S0130-100 MG) was dissolved in a citrate buffer (0.1M at pH 4.5). Then it was administered intraperitoneally to each animal in diabetes and D+CAP groups as a single dose of 45 mg/kg ^[17]. Blood samples were drawn from all rats 72 h after STZ and citrate buffer administration. Before blood samples were taken, all subjects in the study were left fasting for 8 h. Rats with blood glucose levels of 200 mg/dL or higher in the test made with a glucometer (Accu-Chek-Go, Roche) were considered diabetic ^[18].

Preparation and Application of CAP

CAP (Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA) was dissolved in 10% ethanol, 1% Tween 20, and 80% distilled water and administered subcutaneously to each rat in the CAP and D+CAP groups as a dose of 1 mg/kg on the 3^{rd} day and following every day until the end of the study.

Histological Procedure

The collected kidney samples were stored in 10% formalin solution. Then the tissues were prepared by going through routine histological procedures. Slides were sectioned from the kidney tissues by using a microtome (Leica-RM2125 RTS, Germany). Crossman's triple staining, Periodic Acid Schiff (PAS), and Hematoxylin & Eosin (H&E) staining were applied to the sections taken for histological examinations. A light microscope (Olympus Bx51, Japan) was used to evaluate the slides histologically.

Immunohistochemical Procedure

Avidin-Biotin-Peroxidase complex (ABC) technique [19] was applied to examine the immunolocalization of leptin and ghrelin antibodies in kidneys. The slides were deparaffinized with xylene, rehydrated with alcohol, and washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), respectively. After those processes, the slides were incubated for 10 min in 3% H₂O₂ (prepared in 0.1 M PBS) to inhibit endogenous peroxidase activity. After washing with PBS (3x5 min), the slides were kept in the microwave at 800 watts for 10 min to reveal antigens. The slides were washed with PBS (3x5 min) again, and incubated for 10 min with UV block serum (10%, Ultra V Block, Fremont CA) to prevent non-specific binding. The kidney tissues on slides were incubated with anti-leptin primary antibody (Ob Antibody (A-20): sc-482; Santa Cruz) (1:400), and antighrelin primary antibody (Phoenix-H-031-31) (1:400) at room temperature for one hour. After the slides were washed with PBS, a secondary antibody (Biotinylated Goat Anti-Rabbit [Lab. Vision, 510.991.2800]) was added to the sections and kept at room temperature for 30 min. The slides were washed with PBS (3x5 min), then slides were incubated with streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase (Ultravision Detection System Large Volume Anti-Polyvalent, HRP, Thermo-scientific, UK) at room temperature for 15 min. Diaminobenzidine-hydrogen peroxidase (DAB) ^[20] was used to apply chromogen to the slides after the slides were washed with PBS again (3x5 min). Hematoxylin was used as a counterstain. Covered slides with entallen were examined under a light microscope (Olympus Bx51, Japan). The immunoreactivity scores of leptin and ghrelin in proximal tubules were determined according to the reaction intensity (strong=3, mild=2, weak=1, negative=0). For this aim, 20 tubules of each subject in each group were randomly selected, and the same histologist scored a total of 120 tubules in each

343

group. In order to understand whether it was the specific immunoreactivity, a negative control was prepared by performing all steps without adding a primary antibody.

Statistical Analysis

In our study, the number of proximal tubules samples used for Leptin and Ghrelin immunoreactivity scoring was subjected to G*Power (Universität Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany) analysis, and was confirmed with 96% reliability. Immunoreactivity scoring data were analysed statistically by using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 22 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Normality test (Shapiro-Wilk) and variance homogeneity test (Levene) were performed. P<0.05 was found for both tests and for both leptin and ghrelin. Since parametric assumptions were not met, Kruskal Wallis analysis of variance was performed. Kruskal Wallis test found P<0.05, then a OneWay ANOWA (Post-hoc, Tamhane) test was performed to find out which group caused the difference.

RESULTS

Histological Results

Histologically the kidney tissues were seen as normal in the control, sham, and CAP groups. In the diabetic rats, it was observed that the glomerulus of Malpighi bodies in the cortex were scattered, and there were narrowing in the Bowman's capsules and glomerular contraction. Different cell sizes, cytoplasm disorders, cell scattering, and cell shedding were locally observed in the tubular epithelial cells of the diabetes group. Lymphocyte infiltration was also found between some tubules (*Fig. 1*). In the D+CAP group, the structure of Malpighi bodies was similar to the control group. However, vacuolization and different cell



Macula densa *(arrowhead)*, Lympocyte cells *(tailed arrow)*, Glomeruli (G), Distal tubules (Td), Proximal tubules (Tp). H&E, Scale bar: 100 μm; PAS, Scale bar: 50 μm; Triple, Scale bar: 50 μm

Table 1. The Comparison of immunoreactivity for leptin and ghrelin in proximal tubules								
Groups	N	Number of Proximal Tubules	Immnoreactivity Score of Leptin (Mean±SD)	Immnoreactivity Score of Ghrelin (Mean±SD)				
Control	6	120	$1.85{\pm}0.6^{a}$	2.98±0.1ª				
Sham	6	120	$1.87{\pm}0.6^{a}$	2.96±0.1ª				
CAP	6	120	1.02 ± 0.5^{b}	1.82 ± 0.5^{b}				
Diabetes	6	120	2.96±0.1°	1.17±0.5°				
D+CAP	6	120	1.09 ± 0.6^{b}	1.10±0.6°				
P-value			0.001*	0.000*				

^{abc} Values within a row with different superscripts differ significantly at P<0.05; SD: Standard deviation; * Statistically significant</p>



D- D+CAP group, **E**- Control group, **F**- Diabetes group. General localization of leptin immunoreactivity in groups (A, B, C, D). Glomeruli (G), Distal tubules (Td), Proximal tubules (Tp), Macula densa (*double arrows*), Nuclear Leptin immunoreactivity (*star*)

sizes were observed in the epithelial cells of the tubules in the D+CAP group (*Fig. 1*).

In the PAS staining, we determined PAS+ areas in the basal membrane of tubules, brush border of the proximal tubules, and cytoplasm of the distal tubules in all groups. PAS positivity of glomeruli and cytoplasm of the distal tubule cells was more distinct in the D+CAP group than that of the other groups. It was also found that PAS positivity was higher in the D+CAP group and the lower in the diabetes group compared to others (*Fig. 1*).

Immunohistochemical Results

In general, we observed that leptin immunoreactivity in the kidney was stronger in the cortex than in the medulla (*Fig. 2-A,B,C,D*). It was seen as weaker in the distal tubule and macula densa compared to the proximal tubule. However, it was not seen in Malpighi bodies in the cortex (*Fig. 2-E,F*). We determined leptin immunoreactivity both in cytoplasm and in nuclei but leptin showed only cytoplasmic immunoreactivity in some cells. Leptin immunoreactivity was not detected in the wall of the blood vessels.

Leptin immunoreactivity was the strongest in the diabetes

group, while it exhibited the weakest immunoreactivity in the CAP and D+CAP groups, and mild immunoreactivity in the control and sham groups (*Table 1*). In diabetes and D+CAP groups, leptin immunoreactivity was stronger in the inner cortex and weaker in the outer cortex than that of other groups in which leptin immunoreactivity had a homogeneous distribution in the cortex (*Fig. 2*).

We observed that ghrelin immunoreactivity was widely distributed in the kidney tissue, and it was weaker in the medulla compared to the cortex. The intensity of ghrelin immunoreactivity was seen especially in the part of the cortex close to the organ capsule (Fig. 3-A). Bowman capsule cells and some cells in the glomeruli had weak ghrelin immunoreactivity. Distal tubule epithelial cells had weaker immunoreactivity than that of the proximal tubule. It was noted that the ghrelin immunoreactivity in the proximal tubule epithelial cells was located and concentrated in their basal part (Fig. 3-B,C). The ghrelin immunoreactivity was usually observed in cytoplasm, but in some cells, it was seen in both cytoplasm and nuclei. In addition, ghrelin immunoreactivity was determined to be widespread in the medulla, but weaker than in the cortex (*Fig. 3-D*,*E*,*F*).



Fig 3. Ghrelin immunoreactivity in the kidney tissues. **A**- Control group, **B**- Control group, **C**- Diabetes group, **D**- CAP group, **E**- D+CAP group, **F**- Sham group. Medulla (M), Glomeruli (G), Distal tubules (Td), Proximal tubules (Tp), Nuclear ghrelin immunoreactivity *(star)*

It was found that control and sham groups had the strongest, CAP group had moderate, diabetes and D+CAP groups had the weakest ghrelin immunoreactivity when groups compared with each other (P<0.05) (*Table 1*).

DISCUSSION

DM is a chronic and metabolic disease characterized by the inability to produce or use insulin, and it is one of the major global health problems ^[21]. In our study, we aimed to examine the effects of CAP application to diabetic rats on both leptin and ghrelin immunoreactivity in the kidney, and also its effects on the kidney histological structure.

In previous studies, researchers said that STZ elevated the blood glucose level in rats at a dose of 45 mg/kg and caused DM ^[22,23]. STZ caused high blood glucose levels and DM by injuring the pancreas β cells ^[24]. In our study, STZ increased the blood-glucose level in rats at a dose of 45 mg/kg as reported in the previous studies.

Tubular atrophy, thickening of the tubular basement membrane, and interstitial inflammation may be some of the histological changes in the diabetic kidney ^[25]. One of these changes is the result of hyperglycaemic conditions of DM because glucose binds to the amino groups of proteins in the early phase of diabetes during hyperglycemia ^[26]. Under diabetic conditions, all cells of the kidney may be affected, including endothelial cells, tubule interstitial cells, podocytes, and mesangial cells. On the other hand, damage or dysfunction in any cell type can spread to all kidney cells and ultimately affect kidney function ^[27]. In a study, the researchers declared that the PAS stain was strong in the mesangial matrix of glomeruli in diabetic animals [28]. We observed glomerular thickening, irregularity in tubular epithelial cells, an increase in some epithelial cell size, and a narrowing as a result of thickening of the basal membranes of the tubules

in the tubulointerstitial areas in diabetic kidney tissue. We also determined that the PAS reaction in the mesangial matrix of glomeruli and in the brush border of tubules was strong in the D+CAP group and the kidney histological structure of this group was similar to the control group.

Leptin and ghrelin are the main hormones by working together in opposite directions and regulating the appetite and hunger sensations ^[29,30]. While leptin is considered an endogenous anorexigenic hormone, ghrelin is considered the most potent endogenous orexigenic peptide, and both of them play important roles in glucose homeostasis ^[30,31].

A team of researchers reported that leptin immunoreactivity was observed in the distal and proximal tubules, and its immunoreactivity was found at the same location in all groups but weaker immunoreactivity in diabetic kidneys [32]. We determined intense leptin-immunoreactivity in the cortex compared to the medulla and in the proximal tubules compared to the distal tubules and macula densa. In our study, there was not any leptin immunoreactivity in the glomeruli, Bowman capsule cells, and vascular endothelial cells. In addition, unlike the previous study mentioned above, we determined more intense leptin immunoreactivity in the diabetes group than that of the others. We think that CAP decreases leptin expression when diabetes increases leptin expression because of our finding of the weakest leptin immunoreactivity in the CAP and D+CAP groups and highest leptin immunoreactivity in the diabetes group.

In a study, it was stated that ghrelin immunoreactivity was found clearly in the macula densa, which is a part of the distal tubules, and also found in the ascending loops, but not in the proximal tubules, descending loops, collecting ducts, glomeruli and interstitial cells ^[33]. In another study related to diabetic nephropathy, the researchers declared that ghrelin immunoreactivity was weak in the collecting

ducts, mild in the distal tubules, and negative in the glomeruli and proximal tubules. In addition, they noted that ghrelin immunoreactivity in the diabetes group was found stronger than that of the control group ^[34]. Unlike in the previous studies, we found ghrelin immunoreactivity in the proximal tubules and glomeruli, and even it was strong in the proximal tubules. We also determined that ghrelin immunoreactivity was located in the basal part of the proximal tubule cells. Because of this result, we consider that proximal tubules can be mistaken for distal tubules in terms of ghrelin immunoreactivity localization. In addition, we found that ghrelin immunoreactivity was weaker in the medulla compared to the cortex, and Bowman's capsule cells and some cells in the glomeruli had weak ghrelin immunoreactivity. We determined strong ghrelin immunoreactivity in the control and sham groups, mild immunoreactivity in the CAP group, and weak immunoreactivity in the diabetes and D+CAP groups. We consider that CAP has a suppression effect on ghrelin expression but diabetes has more suppression effect on its expression.

In conclusion, diabetes has bidirectional effects on appetite because it both increases leptin and decreases ghrelin. In our study, the leptin immunoreactivity increased in the diabetes group compared to the control and sham groups, while the ghrelin immunoreactivity decreased in the diabetes group compared to the control, sham, and CAP groups. We considered that the application of CAP can prevent loss of appetite by reducing the leptin expression during diabetes, and CAP cannot protect ghrelin from the adverse effects of diabetes.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The findings of the current study are available from the corresponding author (SA Bingöl) upon reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: We thank the Scientific Research Projects Coordinator at Kafkas University (Project No: 2021-TS-08).

Financial Support: This study was financially supported by the Scientific Research Projects Coordinator at Kafkas University (Project No: 2021-TS-08).

Conflict of Interest: The author declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Author Contributions: S.A.B, T.D, S.K.T, and S.A designed and performed the study; S.I performed immunohistochemical stain and scored immunoreactivity degree; D.G.E performed histochemical stains; S.A.B, T.D and S.I wrote the results; S.A.B. reviewed the literature and wrote the article.

REFERENCES

1. Akash MSH, Rehman K, Tariq M, Chen S: Zingiber officinale and type 2 diabetes mellitus: Evidence from experimental studies. *Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr*, 25 (2): 91-112, 2015. DOI: 10.1615/critreveukaryotgeneexpr. 2015013358

2. Verma H, Chakole S, Laishram G: A brief study on diabetes mellitus: pathophysiology diagnosis. *J Pharm Res Int*, 33 (60B): 1675-1681, 2021. DOI: 10.9734/JPRI/2021/v33i60B34793

3. Sahid ZD, Syukur M, Maharijaya A: Diversity of capsaicin content, quantitative, and yield components in chili (*Capsicum annuum*) genotypes and their F1 hybrid. *Biodiv J Biol Div*, 21 (5): 2251-2257, 2020. DOI: 10.13057/biodiv/d210555

4. Niamke AM, Dosso M, Coulibaly A, Djaman AJ: Study of the physicochemical properties, the anti-nutrient, antioxidant and mineral composition of *Capsicum annuum* chili pepper sold in the three (3) main markets of Korhogo, in the North of Cote d'Ivoire. *Eur J Appl Sci*, 9 (4): 94-107, 2021. DOI: 10.14738/aivp.94.10590

5. Hernandez-Perez T, Gomez-Garcia MDR, Valverde ME, Paredes-Lopez O: *Capsicum annuum* (hot pepper): An ancient Latin-American crop with outstanding bioactive compounds and nutraceutical potential. A review. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf*, 19 (6): 2972-2993, 2020. DOI: 10.1111/1541-4337.12634

6. Shin MK, Yang SM, Han IS: Capsaicin suppresses liver fat accumulation in high-fat diet-induced NAFLD mice. *Anim Cells Syst*, 24 (4): 214-219, 2020. DOI: 10.1080/19768354.2020.1810771

7. Katsiki N, Mikhailids D, Bnach M: Leptin, cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*, 39 (7): 1176-1188, 2018. DOI: 10.1038/aps.2018.40

8. Mechanick JI, Zhao S, Garvey WT: Leptin, an adipokine with central importance in the global obesity problem. *Glob Heart*, 13 (2): 113-127, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.gheart.2017.10.003

9. Stepien M, Wlazel RN, Pardowski M, Banach M, Rysz M, Misztl M, Rysz J: Serum concentrations of adiponectin, leptin, resistin, ghrelin and insulin and their association with obesity indices in

10. Martin RL, Perez E, He YJ, Dawson R, Millard WJ: Leptin resistance is associated with hypothalamic leptin receptor mRNA and protein downregulation. *Metabolism*, 49 (11): 1479-1484, 2000. DOI: 10.1053/ meta.2000.17695

11. Erichsen JM, Fadel JR, Reagan LP: Peripheral versus central insulin and leptin resistance: Role in metabolic disorders, cognition, and neuro-psychiatric diseases. *Neuropharmacology*, 203:108877, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j. neuropharm.2021.108877

12. Sagkan Ozturk A, Arpacı A: The interaction of obesity and ghrelin/ leptin. *Mustafa Kemal Üniv Tip Derg*, 9 (35): 136-151, 2018. DOI: 10.17944/ mkutfd.328412

13. Wang G, Lee HM, Englander E, Greeley GH: Ghrelin-not just another stomach hormone. *Regul Pept*, 105 (2): 75-81, 2002. DOI: 10.1016/S0167-0115(02)00012-5

14. Mori K, Yoshimoto A, Takaya K, Hosoda K, Ariyasu H, Yahata K, Mukoyama M, Sugawara A, Hosoda H, Kojima M, Kangawa K, Nakao K: Kidney produces a novel acylated peptide, ghrelin. *FEBS Letters*, 486 (3): 213-216, 2000. DOI: 10.1016/S0014-5793(00)02308-5

15. Adeghate E, Ponery AS: Ghrelin stimulates insulin secretion from the pancreas of normal and diabetic rats. *J Neuroendocrinol*, 14 (7): 555-560, 2002. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2826.2002.00811.x

16. Tam BT, Pei XM, Yung BY, Yip SP, Chan LW, Wong CS, Siu PM: Unacylated ghrelin restores insulin and autophagic signaling in skeletal muscle of diabetic mice. *Pflug Arch Eur J Phy*, 467 (12): 2555-2569, 2015. DOI: 10.1007/s00424-015-1721-5

17. Kurum A, Kocamis H, Deprem T, Cinar MU: Determining gene expression profile of GPX 1 in the liver of diabetic rats treated with capsaicin by real-time PCR. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 21 (2): 259-263, 2015. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2014.12233

18. Deprem T, Ilhan Aksu S, Koral Tasci S, Bingol SA, Gulmez N, Aslan S: Immunohistochemical distributions of HGF and PCNA in the kidneys of diabetic and non-diabetic mice. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 26 (3): 321-327, 2020. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2019.23002

19. Hsu SM, Raine L, Fanger H: Use of avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (ABC) in immunoperoxidase techniques: A comparison between ABC and unlabelled antibody (PAP) procedures. *J Histochem Cytochem*, 29 (4): 577-580, 1981. DOI: 10.1177/29.4.6166661

347

20. Shu S, Ju G, Fan L: The glucose oxidase-DAB-nickel method in peroxidase histochemistry of the nervous system. *Neurosci Lett*, 85 (2): 169-171, 1988. DOI: 10.1016/0304-3940(88)90346-1

21. Berbudi A, Rahmandika N, Tjahjadi AI, Ruslami R: Type 2 diabetes and its impact on the immune system. *Curr Diabetes Rev*, 16 (5): 442-449, 2020. DOI: 10.2174/1573399815666191024085838

22. Rahim OO, Cocimen N, Ragbetli MC: The effects of streptozotocin on spinal cord motor neurons count in rat: A stereological study. *East J Med*, 24 (2): 141-145, 2019. DOI: 10.5505/ejm.2019.78942

23. Revathy J, Srinivasan S, Abdullah SHS, Muruganathan U: Anti hyperglycemic effect of hesperetin, a citrus flavonoid, extenuates hyperglycemia and exploring the potential role in antioxidant and antihyperlipidemic in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 97 (1): 98-106, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.10.102

24. Moosavi A, Yazdanparast R: Beta cell regeneration upon magainin and growth hormonetreatment as a possible alternative to insulin therapy. *FEBS Open Bio*, 13 (3): 447-458, 2023. DOI: 10.1002/2211-5463.13556

25. An Y, Xu F, Le W, Ge Y, Zhou M, Chen H, Zeng C, Zhang H, Liu Z: Renal histologic changes and the outcome in patients with diabetic nephropathy. *Nephrol Dial Transpl*, 30 (2): 257-266, 2015. DOI: 10.1093/ ndt/gfu250

26. Qiu HY, Hou NN, Shi FJ, Liu YP, Kan CX, Han F, Sun XD: Comprehensive overview of human serum albumin glycation in diabetes mellitus. *World J Diabetes*, 12 (7): 1057-1069, 2021. DOI: 10.4239/wjd.v12. i7.1057

27. Maezawa Y, Takemoto M, Yokote K: Cell biology of diabetic nephropathy: Roles of endothelial cells, tubulointerstitial cells and podocytes. *J Diabetes Invest*, 6 (1): 3-15, 2015. DOI: 10.1111/jdi.12255

28. Chen S, Feng B, Thomas AA, Chakrabarti S: miR-146a regulates glucose induced upregulation of inflammatory cytokines extracellular matrix proteins in the retina and kidney in diabetes. *PLoS One*, 12:e0173918, 2017. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173918

29. Patruno EA, Ostrowska L, Goscik J, Pietraszewska B, Kretowski A, Gorska M: The relationship between the leptin/ghrelin ratio and meals with various macronutrient contents in men with different nutritional status: A randomized crossover study. *Nutr J*, 17 (1):118, 2018. DOI: 10.1186/s12937-018-0427-x

30. Arabi YM, Jawdat D, Al-Dorzi HM, Tamim H, Tamimi W, Bouchama A, Sadat M, Afesh L, Abdullah ML, Mashaqbeh W, Sakhija M, Al-Dawood A: Leptin, ghrelin, and leptin/ghrelin ratio in critically ill patients. *Nutrients*, 12 (1): 36, 2020. DOI: 10.3390/nu12010036

31. Yada T, Dezaki K, Sone H, Koizumi M, Damdindorj B, Nakata M, Kakei M: Ghrelin regulates insulin release and glycemia: Physiological role and therapeutic potential. *Curr Diabetes Rev*, 4 (1): 18-23, 2008. DOI: 10.2174/157339908783502352

32. Elis Yildiz S, Deprem T, Karadag Sari E, Bingol SA, Koral Tasci S, Aslan S, Nur G, Sozmen M: Immunohistochemical distribution of leptin in kidney tissues of melatonin treated diabetic rats. *Biotech Histochem*, 90 (4): 270-277, 2015. DOI: 10.3109/10520295.2014.983548

33. Yabuki A, Taharaguchi S, Ichii O, Kojima M, Nishi Y, Mifune H, Kamimura R, Matsumoto M, Suzuki S: Immunohistochemical localization of ghrelin in rodent kidneys. *Histochem Cell Biol*, 126 (2): 231-238, 2006. DOI: 10.1007/s00418-006-0165-6

34. Kuloglu T, Dabak DO: Determination of ghrelin immunoreactivity in kidney tissues of diabetic rats. *Ren Fail*, 31 (7): 562-566, 2009. DOI: 10.1080/08860220903050405

Research Article

Seroprevalence and Assessment of Risk Factors Associated to Borrelia burgdorferi Infection in Egyptian Horses

Mohammed H. ALRUHAİLİ ^{1,2} ^(b) Mohamed MARZOK ^{3,4} ^(*) ^(b) Hattan S. GATTAN ^{2,5} ^(b) Mohamed SALEM ^{3,6} ^(b) Hany M. ABD EL-LATEEF ^{7,8} ^(b) Abdelfattah SELİM ⁹ ^(*) ^(b)

¹ Department of Clinical Microbiology and Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, King AbdulAziz University, Jeddah, SAUDI ARABIA

² Special Infectious Agents Unit, King Fahad Medical Research Center, King AbdulAziz University, Jeddah, SAUDI ARABIA

³Department of Clinical Sciences, College of Veterinary Medicine, King Faisal University, Al-Ahsa 31982, SAUDI ARABIA

⁴ Department of Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kafr El Sheikh University, Kafr El Sheikh, EGYPT

⁵ Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences, Faculty of Applied Medical Sciences, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, SAUDI ARABIA

⁶ Department of Medicine and Infectious Diseases, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Cairo University, Cairo, EGYPT

⁷ Department of Chemistry, College of Science, King Faisal University, Al-Ahsa 31982, SAUDI ARABIA

⁸Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Sohag University, Sohag 82524, EGYPT

⁹Department of Animal Medicine (Infectious Diseases), Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Benha University, Toukh 13736, EGYPT



^(*) **Corresponding author:** Abdelfattah SELIM & Mohamed MARZOK

Phone: +20 1017447734 (A. S)

E-mail: abdelfattah.selim@fvtm.bu.edu.eg (A. S), mmarzok@kfu.edu.sa (M. M)

How to cite this article?

Alruhaili MH, Marzok M, Gattan HS, Salem M, Abd El-Lateef HM, Selim A: Seroprevalence and assessment of risk factors associated to *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection in Egyptian horses. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 349-354, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31264

Article ID: KVFD-2023-31264 Received: 22.11.2023 Accepted: 26.02.2024 Published Online: 08.03.2024

Abstract

Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato can infect horses. However, the extent to which Egyptian horses get infected and seroconvert owing to this pathogen is unclear. Thus, this study aimed to determine the seroprevalence of *B. burgdorferi* and estimate its associated risk factors. A total of 385 serum samples collected from asymptomatic horses reared in three governorates in Egypt were screened using a commercial IDEXX SNAP 4Dx Plus kit. The results revealed that 58 (15.1%) out of 385 horses had antibodies against *B. burgdorferi* with Giza governorate showing the highest prevalence rate (30/130; 23.1%). According to univariate logistic regression analysis, locality, age, breed of examined horses and application of hygienic measures in house were significantly associated with *B. burgdorferi* infection. Furthermore, the multivariate logistic regression study revealed that thoroughbred horses older than four years old and raised in Giza governorate under unsanitary conditions, were more likely to be infected with *B. burgdorferi* than others. The serological evidence of *B. burgdorferi* in Egyptian horses and assessment of the risk factors associated with infection, necessitate wide range screening of this disease in other areas as well for efficient diagnosis and control.

Keywords: Borrelia burgdorferi; SNAP test; Risk factors; Horses; Egypt

INTRODUCTION

Horse Lyme borreliosis (LB) was first reported in Wisconsin state at USA, an area where *Borrelia burgdorferi* is widespread ^[1]. *B. burgdorferi* is spread by the biting of hard ticks i.e. *Ixodes* spp., whereas mammals and birds act as reservoirs ^[2,3].

There is no typical symptom of Lyme disease among horses ^[4], but some may show meningitis, encephalitis ^[5],

radiculoneuritis^[6], arthritis, lameness^[7], and panuveitis^[1]. Human infection is usually associated with erythematous rash, neurological abnormalities, and arthritis, but some patients do not show any symptoms, as with horses^[8].

The LB in horse is difficult to diagnose since specific antibodies against the *B. burgdorferi* sensu lato complex are not necessarily associated with clinical signs and symptoms ^[9]. Depending on the distribution of *Ixodes*

 \odot \odot

spp. ticks infected with *Borrelia burgdorferi*, equine LB seroprevalence varies across geographic regions. However, it is not clear whether high antibody levels correlate with clinical signs in infected hosts, or whether clinical signs are unrelated to antibody levels ^[10-12].

A number of previous studies on *B. burgdorferi* seroprevalence found 47.8% seropositive horses in Slovakia ^[13], 29.0% in Denmark ^[14], 25.6% in Poland ^[15], 6.8% in Sweden ^[16], 16.1% in Germany ^[17], 6.3% in Turkey ^[18], 34% in Mexico ^[19], 33% in France ^[20], 58.7% in Minnesota ^[12], 63% in Wisconsin ^[21], 60% in New Jersey ^[22] and 60-90% in Austria ^[23]. The available information concerning the seroprevalence of *B. burgdorferi* s.l. in horses in Egypt is rare.

Although both direct and indirect pathogen detection methods are available, direct detection of *Borrelia* spp. by culture is challenging and costly ^[24]. Although polymerase chain reaction (PCR) can detect *Borrelia* specific DNA during most stages of the disease, various in-house PCR tests have not been validated under standardized study conditions as methods for detecting *Borrelia* spp. from various sample materials. As a result, the use of PCR for detecting *Borrelia* spp. in routine diagnostics remains restricted ^[25,26]. Serological approaches for identifying specific antibodies against members of the *B. burgdorferi* complex remain a sensitive, low-cost, and quick laboratory diagnostic tool in both human and veterinary medicine ^[24].

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to determine the seroprevalence of *B. burgdorferi* s.l. among horses residing in three governorates in Egypt.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

The Benha University ethics committee for animal studies authorized all operations, including the collection and processing of blood samples. The animals' owners gave their informed consent for the collection of samples. The Benha ethics committee ensured that all operations followed all applicable laws and rules. The ARRIVE criteria were followed throughout the study process.

Study Area

The research was conducted in three Egyptian governorates: Giza, Kafr ElSheikh and Qalyubia which are located at 29.9870°N 31.2118°E, 31°06'42″N 30°56'45″E and 30.41°N 31.21°E, respectively (*Fig. 1*).

Egypt has mostly hot and dry climate characteristics (Köppen climate classification BWh). Giza has a desertlike climate, which is characterized by warm summers with temperature range between 25-45°C and moderate



winters with low rainfall (100 mm). Kafr ElSheikh and Qalyubia governorates situated at the Nile Delta, have hot desert climates (Köppen: BWh), like most of Egypt. In the Nile Delta, temperatures are relatively moderate, but they rarely reach 35°C during the summer. The delta region receives about 100-200 millimeters of rainfall on average per year, most of which falls in the winter. A variety of habitats, including lakes, marshes, grass pastures, and agricultural areas, may be found in the study area. These habitats together support many biological species and the proliferation of ticks.

Sample Size and Sampling

A cross-sectional study was carried out from January to December 2022. A sample size of 385 was calculated based on an estimated 50% prevalence. The samples were collected from asymptomatic horses distributed in three governorates (130 from Giza, 140 from Kafr El Sheikh and 115 from Qalyubia) under the study. These horses were raised by individual farmers and did not suffer from any disease or clinical signs.

Blood sample (10 mL) was collected from jugular vein of each horse, transferred immediately to Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory, Benha university and centrifugated at 1500xg for 10 min to separate the sera. The sera samples were kept at -20°C till serological analysis.

Questionnaire

The examined horses included those kept for drafting and others being raised for breeding. These animals living in indoor house and some of them have outdoor yard. Each horse owner was asked to fill out a questionnaire that assessed each horse's farm management and demographics. Demographics included: sex (male or female), age (<2, 2-4 and >4 years) and breed (Arabian, Thoroughbred and mixed). Management related questions included: if owners apply regular cleaning of stable every week and application of acaricides (every month) or not.

Serological Analysis

The IDEXX SNAP 4Dx Plus (IDEXX Laboratories) was used in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions to test sera for the existence of antibodies against *B. burgdorferi*.

Three drops of serum and four drops of conjugate are added to the sample tube, the tube is inverted four times and then the entire contents of the tube are poured into the "sample well" of the SNAP device. Results are read 8 minutes after the test is activated. According to the published data by Chandrashekar, Daniluk ^[27], this test was validated for detection of antibodies to *B. burgdorferi* by 100% sensitivity and 95% specificity.

In addition, all examined samples with IDEXX SNAP 4Dx Plus were confirmed by by Viramed Biotech AG - Borrelia B31 IgG ViraStripe (Vuramed Biotech AG, Planegg, Germany).

Data Analysis

The IBM SPSS Statistics program (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA, version 24) was used to conduct the statistical analysis. The variations in seroprevalences of variable groups were analyzed using the chi-square test. P-values under 0.05 were regarded as significant. The relationship between *B. burgdorferi* infection and the relevant risk variables was evaluated using univariate analysis.

All variables (locality, age, breed and hygienic measures) with *P* values less than 0.25 in the univariate analysis were subjected to multivariable logistic regression analysis ^[28-31].

To determine the strength of the correlation between the presence of *B. burgdorferi* and other factors, odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were computed. The model's fit was assessed using the Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test.

Results

Using ELISA, 58 (15.1%) of 385 horse blood samples tested positive for *B. burgdorferi* with IDEXX SNAP 4Dx Plus and Borrelia B31 IgG ViraStripe[®]. The seroprevalence *B. burgdorferi* was varied significantly between different localities, Giza had the greatest prevalence (23.1%), followed by Kafr ElSheikh (12.1%) and Qalyubia (9.6%) (*Table 1*).

There was no significant difference between sex and *B. burgdorferi* seroprevalence and females showed higher seroprevalence (16.7%) than males. In addition, the univariate analysis showed age, breed and hygienic measures had significant effect (P<0.05) on seroprevalence of *B. burgdorferi* in horses. Horses older than four years were more likely to be positive (24.5%) than horses of a middle age or younger than two years (*Table 1*).

Regarding to breed, the seroprevalence of *B. burgdorferi* in thoroughbred horses (25.7%) was higher in comparison with Arabian horses (6.9%) especially in the absence of hygienic measures (17.5%) (*Table 1*).

A multivariate logistic regression model was performed on the factors with a P value less than 0.25 in univariate analysis. The study found that horses raised in Giza, had

Table 1. Seroprevalence of B. burgdorferi in horses in relation with different variables									
Variable		No of Examined Horses	Distribution (%)	No of Positive	No of Negative	% of Positive	95% CI	Statistic	
Locality	Giza	130	33.8	30	100	23.1	16.67-31.03	χ2=10.175 df=2 P=0.006*	
	Kafr ElSheikh	140	36.4	17	123	12.1	7.72-18.58		
	Qalyubia	115	29.9	11	104	9.6	5.43-16.32		
Sex	Male	115	29.9	13	102	11.3	6.72-18.38	χ2=1.812 df=1 P=0.178	
	Female	270	70.1	45	225	16.7	12.7-21.58		
Age	<2 years	99	25.7	10	76	10.1	5.58-17.6	χ2=6.374 df=2 P=0.041*	
	2-4 years	192	49.9	25	167	13.0	8.98-18.51		
	>4 years	94	24.4	23	84	24.5	16.9-34.05		
Breed	Arabian	145	37.6	10	135	6.9	3.79-12.23		
	Thoroughbred	105	27.3	27	78	25.7	18.31-34.82	$\chi^{2=16.893} df=2$ P<0.0001*	
	Mixed	135	35.1	21	114	15.6	10.41-22.62	1 1010001	
Hygienic measures	poor	286	74.3	50	236	17.5	13.52-22.3	χ2=3.910 df=1 P=0.048*	
	good	99	25.7	8	91	8.1	4.15-15.14		
Total		385		58	327	15.1	11.83-18.98		
* The results with P value less than 0.05 considered significant									

Table 2. Multivariate logistic regression analysis for the factors associated with B. burgdorferi in horses								
Variables		D	SE	OP	95% CI for OR		P Value	
variables		D	3E	UK	Lower	Upper		
Locality	Giza	1.086	0.399	2.96	1.36	6.47	0.006	
	Kafr ElSheikh	0.224	0.425	1.25	0.54	2.88	0.039	
Age	2-4 years	0.359	0.412	1.43	0.64	3.21	0.038	
	>4 years	1.230	0.436	3.42	1.46	8.03	0.005	
Breed	Thoroughbred	1.647	0.415	5.19	2.30	11.72	0.000	
	Mixed	0.992	0.420	2.70	1.18	6.14	0.018	
Hygienic measures	Poor	0.744	0.427	2.10	0.91	4.86	0.081	
R. Logistic regression coefficient, SF: Standard error OR: Odds ratio, CI: Confidence interval								

a three-fold greater likelihood (OR=2.96, 95% CI: 1.36-6.47) of being infected with B. burgdorferi than horses in other areas (Table 2). Moreover, Thoroughbreds were more likely to have B. burgdorferi infection (OR=5.19, 95% CI: 2.30-11.72), especially older examined horses more than four years (OR=3.42, 95% CI: 1.46-8.03), Table 2. Furthermore, absence of hygienic measures (OR=2.10, 95% CI: 0.91-4.86) was identified as a risk factor for B. burgdorferi infection in horses (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

Horses are frequently infested by ticks and might be directly infected by tick-borne diseases [32-35]. Lyme borreliosis is one of the most important tick-borne diseases in horses and is caused by B. burgdorferi. The serological detection of B. burgdorferi has been reported in dogs in Egypt but there is no available data about the disease in Egyptian horses.

Thus, the present study investigated the presence of antibodies against B. burgdorferi and the associated risk factor for infection.

The overall seroprevalence of antibodies against B. burgdorferi was 15.1% using IDEXX SNAP 4Dx Plus and the presence of IgG-specific antibodies against B. burgdorferi were confirmed by Borrelia B31 IgG ViraStripe.

The reported prevalence of the study lies in similar range (15-16%) reported by Tsachev et al.^[36] among horses in Northern Bulgarian using method of rapid ELISA test (SNAP 4Dx Plus Test, IDEXX Laboratories Inc., USA) and in German horse ^[17] and in Northern Algeria using ELISA [37]. The seroprevalence rate in this study was higher than those reported in Sweden 6.8% ^[16] and Turkey 6% ^[18]. In addition, seroprevalence found in this study is lower than those reported in Mexico 34% [19], France 33% [20], Minnesota 58.7% [12], Wisconsin 63% [21], New Jersey 60% [22] and Austria 60-90% [23].

Various factors influencing seroprevalence between

different countries that may explain the discrepancies in the values reported, include the number of surveyed horses, hygienic measures, environmental conditions, and the frequency of exposure to ticks [14,33,38].

In addition, the seroprevalence of B. burgdorferi was highest in Giza in comparison with other studied governorates which might be attributed to warmer weather of Giza which is significant for tick ecology ^[39-45].

There is no significant variation in seroprevalence between both sexes with a higher trend in females. This is consistent with previous findings which have been found by Lee et al.^[46] and Laamari et al.^[37].

The seroprevalence of *B. burgdorferi* increased significantly with age in horses, which concurs with a study conducted by Hansen et al.^[14]. However, other studies found no significant difference between age groups and a higher presence of antibodies in young animals [37,46]. It may be attributed to horses being exposed to ticks frequently with age, increasing their chances of contracting Lyme disease [3,10,13,20].

Several studies have indicated that the breed is a significant risk factor for B. burgdorferi infection, and in the current study, the thoroughbred horses were found more likely to contract the infection than other breeds, consistent with previous results of Lee et al.^[46]. However, Laamari et al.^[37] found no significant correlation between breed and seroprevalence of *B. burgdorferi* and Arabian horses were found more frequently infected than others [41,47].

There is no clear explanation for the higher *B. burgdorferi* seroprevalence found in our study among thoroughbred horses compared to other breeds, but it might be attributed to a difference in management. Compared to Arabian breed horses that are kept in stables and are more protected from ticks than thoroughbreds, which are housed outdoors [48,49].

Additionally, the horses were not generally well cared

or did not kept in clean houses, which made them more vulnerable to ticks and *B. burgdorferi* infection, as previously reported by Neely et al.^[50].

Limitation of the present study was sample selection bias and bias in timing of the sample.

To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to reveal the countrywide seroprevalence of *B. burgdorferi* in Egyptian horses. This study concludes that *B. burgdorferi* exists in Egyptian horses and that the frequency is highest in the Giza governorate. Furthermore, the multivariate logistic regression analysis revealed that the locality, sex, breed and hygienic measures were identified as risk factors for *B. burgdorferi* infection in horses.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials:

The data used in this article will be provided by the corresponding author (MM and AS) upon request.

Acknowledgements: The authors would like to acknowledge the Deanship of Scientific Research, Vice Presidency for Graduate Studies and Scientific Research, King Faisal University, Saudi Arabia for the financial support of this research through the Grant Number 5902.

Funding Support: This work was supported through the Annual Funding track by the Deanship of Scientific Research, Vice Presidency for Graduate Studies and Scientific Research, King Faisal University, Saudi Arabia (Grant Number 5902).

Competing Interests: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, investigation, resources, data curation, writing-original draft preparation, A.S., O.A.A., H.S.G., M.H.A., M.M., M.S.; writing-review and editing, A.S., M.M., O.A.A., M.H.A., H.S.G., M.S.; project administration, M.M.; funding acquisition, A.S., M.M., O.A.A., H.S.G., M.H.A., M.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Burgess E, Gillette D, Pickett J: Arthritis and panuveitis as manifestations of Borrelia burgdorferi infection in a Wisconsin pony. *J Amer Vet Med Assoc*, 189 (10): 1340-1342, 1986.

2. Moon S, Gwack J, Hwang KJ, Kwon D, Kim S, Noh Y, Roh J, Shin EH, Jeong K, Seok W, Youn SK: Autochthonous lyme borreliosis in humans and ticks in Korea. *Osong Public Health Res Perspect*, 4 (1): 52-56, 2013. DOI: 10.1016/j.phrp.2012.12.001

3. Butler C, Houwers D, Jongejan F, Van Der Kolk J: *Borrelia burgdorferi* infections with special reference to horses. A review. *Vet Q*, 27 (4): 146-156, 2005. DOI: 10.1080/01652176.2002.9695196

4. Burbelo PD, Bren KE, Ching KH, Coleman A, Yang X, Kariu T, Iadarola MJ, Pal U: Antibody profiling of *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection in horses. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*, 18 (9): 1562-1567, 2011. DOI: 10.1128/CVI.05123-11

5. Burgess E, Mattison M: Encephalitis associated with *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection in a horse. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 191 (11): 1457-1458, 1987.

6. James FM, Engiles JB, Beech J: Meningitis, cranial neuritis, and radiculoneuritis associated with *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection in a horse. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 237 (10): 1180-1185, 2010. DOI: 10.2460/ javma.237.10.1180

7. Browning A, Carter S, Barnes A, May C, Bennett D: Lameness associated with *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection in the horse. *Vet Rec*, 132 (24): 610-611, 1993.

8. Borchers AT, Keen CL, Huntley AC, Gershwin ME: Lyme disease: a rigorous review of diagnostic criteria and treatment. *J Autoimmun*, 57, 82-115, 2015. DOI: 10.1016/j.jaut.2014.09.004

9. Divers T, Gardner R, Madigan J, Witonsky S, Bertone J, Swinebroad E, Schutzer S, Johnson A: *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection and Lyme disease in North American horses: a consensus statement. *J Vet Inter Med*, 32 (2): 617-632, 2018.DOI: 10.1111/jvim.15042

10. Magnarelli L, Anderson J, Shaw E, Post J, Palka F: Borreliosis in equids in northeastern United States. *Amer J Vet Res*, 49 (3): 359-362, 1988.

11. Manion TB, Bushmich SL, Khan MI, Dinger J, Werner H, Mittel L, Laurendeau M, Reilly M: Suspected clinical Lyme disease in horses: Serological and antigen testing differences between clinically ill and clinically normal horses from an endemic region. *J Equine Vet Sci*, 21 (5): 229-234, 2001. DOI: 10.1016/S0737-0806(01)70041-X

12. Durrani AZ, Goyal SM, Kamal N: Retrospective study on seroprevalence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* antibodies in horses in Minnesota. *J Equine Vet Sci*, 31 (8): 427-429, 2011. DOI: 10.1016/j.jevs.2011.03.007

13. Štefančíková A, Štepánová G, Peťko B, Nadzamová D, Szestáková E, Škardová I, Leinstein R: Prevalence of antibodies to Borrelia burgdorferi in horses of East Slovakia. *Vet Med*, 45 (8): 227-231, 2000.

14. Hansen MG, Christoffersen M, Thuesen LR, Petersen MR, Bojesen AM: Seroprevalence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato and *Anaplasma phagocytophilum* in Danish horses. *Acta Vet Scand*, 52, 1-6, 2010. DOI: 10.1186/1751-0147-52-3

15. Stefanciková A, Adaszek Ł, Pet'ko B, Winiarczyk S, Dudinák V: Serological evidence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato in horses and cattle from Poland and diagnostic problems of Lyme borreliosis. *Ann Agr Environ Med AAEM*, 15 (1): 37-43, 2008.

16. Egenvall A, Franzén P, Gunnarsson A, Engvall EO, Vågsholm I, Wikström UB, Artursson K: Cross-sectional study of the seroprevalence to *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato and granulocytic *Ehrlichia* spp. and demographic, clinical and tick-exposure factors in Swedish horses. *Prev Vet Med*, 49 (3-4): 191-208, 2001. DOI: 10.1016/s0167-5877(01)00187-8

17. Käsbohrer A, Schönberg A: Serologic studies of the occurrence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* in domestic animals in Berlin (West). *Berl Munch Tierarztl Wochr*, 103 (11): 374-378, 1990.

18. Bhide M, Yilmaz Z, Golcu E, Torun S, Mikula I: Seroprevalence of anti-Borrelia burgdorferi antibodies in dogs and horses in Turkey. *Ann Agric Environ Med*, 15 (1): 85-90, 2008.

19. Masuzawa T: Terrestrial distribution of the Lyme borreliosis agent *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato in East Asia. *Jpn J Infect Dis*, 57 (6): 229-235, 2004. DOI: 10.1079/9780851996325.0201

20. Maurizi L, Marié JL, Aoun O, Courtin C, Gorsane S, Chal D, Davoust B: Seroprevalence survey of equine Lyme borreliosis in France and in sub-Saharan Africa. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis*, 10 (5): 535-537, 2010. DOI: 10.1089/vbz.2009.0083

21. Salinas-Mélendez JA, Galván de la Garza S, Riojas-Valdés VM, Wong González A, Avalos-Ramírez R: Antibody detection against *Borrelia burgdorferi* in horses located in the suburban areas of Monterrey, Nuevo León. *Rev Latinoam Microbiol*, 43 (4): 161-164, 2001.

22. Cohen ND, Heck FC, Heim B, Flad DM, Bosler EM, Cohen D: Seroprevalence of antibodies to *Borrelia burgdorferi* in a population of horses in central Texas. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 201 (7): 1030-1034, 1992.

23. Müller I, Khanakah G, Kundi M, Stanek G: Horses and borrelia: Immunoblot patterns with five *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato strains and sera from horses of various stud farms in Austria and from the Spanish Riding School in Vienna. *Int J Med Microbiol*, 291 (Suppl. 33): 80-87, 2002. DOI: 10.1016/s1438-4221(02)80017-0

24. Fingerle V, Sing A: Lyme-borreliose: Serologische und mikrobiologische Diagnostik und Differenzialdiagnostik. *DMW-Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift*, 145 (1): 29-34, 2020. DOI: 10.1055/a-0793-4544

25. Priest HL, Irby NL, Schlafer DH, Divers TJ, Wagner B, Glaser AL, Chang YF, Smith MC: Diagnosis of Borrelia-associated uveitis in two horses. *Vet Ophthalmol*, 15 (6): 398-405, 2012. DOI: 10.1111/j.1463-5224.2012.01000.x

26. Selim A, El-Haig M, Galila ES, Gaede W: Direct detection of *Mycobacterium avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis* in *bovine* milk by multiplex real-time PCR. *Anim Sci Papers Rep*, 31 (4): 291-302, 2013.

27. Chandrashekar R, Daniluk D, Moffitt S, Lorentzen L, Williams J: Serologic diagnosis of equine borreliosis: Evaluation of an in-clinic enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (SNAP (R) 4Dx (R)). *Int J Appl Res Vet Med*, 6 (3): 145-150, 2008.

28. Selim A, Attia KA, Alsubki RA, Kimiko I, Sayed-Ahmed MZ: Crosssectional survey on *Mycobacterium avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis* in Dromedary camels: Seroprevalence and risk factors. *Acta Trop*, 226:106261, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2021.106261

29. Selim A, Manaa E, Khater H: Molecular characterization and phylogenetic analysis of lumpy skin disease in Egypt. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis*, 79:101699, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.cimid.2021.101699

30. Selim A, Abdelhady A: Neosporosis among Egyptian camels and its associated risk factors. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 52 (6): 3381-3385, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s11250-020-02370-y

31. Selim A, Khater H: Seroprevalence and risk factors associated with Equine piroplasmosis in North Egypt. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis*, 73:101549, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.cimid.2020.101549

32. Selim A, Weir W, Khater H: Prevalence and risk factors associated with tropical theileriosis in Egyptian dairy cattle. *Vet World*, 15 (4): 919-924, 2022. DOI: 10.14202/vetworld.2022.919-924

33. Alsubki RA, Albohairy FM, Attia KA, Kimiko I, Selim A, Sayed-Ahmed MZ: Assessment of seroprevalence and associated risk factors for Anaplasmosis in *Camelus dromedarius*. *Vet Sci*, 9 (2):57, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/ vetsci9020057

34. Selim A, Manaa EA, Alanazi AD, Alyousif MS: Seroprevalence, risk factors and molecular identification of bovine leukemia virus in Egyptian cattle. *Animals (Basel)*, 11 (2):319 2021. DOI: 10.3390/ani11020319

35. Selim A, Abdelrahman A, Thiéry R, Sidi-Boumedine K: Molecular typing of *Coxiella burnetii* from sheep in Egypt. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis*, 67:101353, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.cimid.2019.101353

36. Tsachev I, Baymakova M, Pantchev N: Seroprevalence of *Anaplasma phagocytophilum, Ehrlichia* spp. and *Borrelia burgdorferi* infections in horses: First report from Northern Bulgaria - Short communication. *Acta Vet Hung*, 67 (2): 197-203, 2019. DOI: 10.1556/004.2019.021

37. Laamari A, Azzag N, Tennah S, Derdour SY, China B, Bouabdallah R, Ghalmi F: Seroprevalence of antibodies against *Anaplasma Phagocytophilum* and *Borrelia burgdorferi* in horses (*Equus caballus*) from Northern Algeria. *J Vet Res*, 64 (3): 413-419, 2020. DOI: 10.2478/jvetres-2020-0045

38. Selim A, Alanazi AD, Sazmand A, Otranto D: Seroprevalence and associated risk factors for vector-borne pathogens in dogs from Egypt. *Parasit Vectors*, 14 (1):175, 2021. DOI: 10.1186/s13071-021-04670-0

39. Selim A, Attia KA, Alsubki RA, Albohairy F, Kimiko I, Said MB: The first study on the seroprevalence of *Anaplasma* spp. in small ruminants and assessment of associated risk factors in North Egypt. *Vet World*, 15 (5): 1221-1227, 2022. DOI: 10.14202/vetworld.2022.1221-1227

40. Selim A, Manaa E, Abdelhady A, Ben Said M, Sazmand A: Serological and molecular surveys of *Anaplasma* spp. in Egyptian cattle reveal high *A. marginale* infection prevalence. *Iran J Vet Res*, 22 (4): 288-297, 2021. DOI: 10.22099/ijvr.2021.40587.5879

41. Selim A, Almohammed H, Abdelhady A, Alouffi A, Alshammari FA: Molecular detection and risk factors for *Anaplasma platys* infection in dogs from Egypt. *Parasit Vectors*, 14 (1):429, 2021. DOI: 10.1186/s13071-021-04943-8

42. Said MB, Attia KA, Alsubki RA, Mohamed AA, Kimiko I, Selim A: Molecular epidemiological survey, genetic characterization and phylogenetic analysis of *Anaplasma ovis* infecting sheep in Northern Egypt. *Acta Trop*, 229:106370, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2022.106370

43. Reisberg K, Selim AM, Gaede W: Simultaneous detection of *Chlamydia* spp., *Coxiella burnetii*, and *Neospora caninum* in abortion material of ruminants by multiplex real-time polymerase chain reaction. *J Vet Diagn Invest*, 25 (5): 614-619, 2013. DOI: 10.1177/1040638713497483

44. Selim A, Manaa E, Khater H: Seroprevalence and risk factors for lumpy skin disease in cattle in Northern Egypt. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 53 (3): 350, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s11250-021-02786-0

45. Selim A, Abdelhady A: The first detection of anti-West Nile virus antibody in domestic ruminants in Egypt. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 52 (6): 3147-3151, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s11250-020-02339-x

46. Lee SH, Yun SH, Choi E, Park YS, Lee SE, Cho GJ, Kwon OD, Kwak D: Serological detection of *Borrelia burgdorferi* among horses in Korea. *Korean J Parasitol*, 54 (1): 97-101, 2016. DOI: 10.3347/kjp.2016.54.1.97

47. Selim A, Yang E, Rousset E, Thiéry R, Sidi-Boumedine K: Characterization of *Coxiella burnetii* strains from ruminants in a *Galleria mellonella* host-based model. *New Microbes New Infect*, 24, 8-13, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.nmni.2018.02.008

48. Selim A, Megahed A, Kandeel S, Alouffi A, Almutairi MM: West Nile virus seroprevalence and associated risk factors among horses in Egypt. *Sci Rep*, 11 (1):20932, 2021.

49. Selim A, Elhaig MM, Taha SA, Nasr EA: Antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles against field and reference strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Mycobacterium bovis* and multiple-drug-resistant tuberculosis strains. *Rev Sci Tech*, 37 (3): 823-830, 2018. DOI: 10.20506/rst.37.3.2888

50. Neely M, Arroyo LG, Jardine C, Moore A, Hazlett M, Clow K, Archer H, Weese JS: Seroprevalence and evaluation of risk factors associated with seropositivity for *Borrelia burgdorferi* in Ontario horses. *Equine Vet J*, 53 (2): 331-338, 2021. DOI: 10.1111/evj.13317

Research Article

Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells Facilitate Alveolar Bone Remodeling in Periodontitis Rats During Orthodontic Tooth Movement Through STAT3/β-Catenin

Haiyan WANG ^{1,†} ^(b) Feifei GONG ^{1,†} ^(b) Zizhong WU ² ^(b) Daofeng LAI ¹ ^(b) Kunji WU ¹ ^(b) Xiaoguang TIAN ^{2 (*)} ^(*)

† The two authors contributed equally to this study

¹Department of Orthodontics, Affiliated Haikou Hospital of Xiangya Medicine College, Central South University, Haikou 570208, Hainan Province, CHINA

² Department of Stomatology, Tai'an 88 Hospital, Tai'an 271000, Shandong Province, CHINA



(*) **Corresponding author:** Xiaoguang TIAN Phone: +86-017803664215 E-mail: tianxgta88h@dh-edu.cn

How to cite this article?

Wang H, Gong F, Wu Z, Lai D, Wu K, Tian X: Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells facilitate alveolar bone remodeling in periodontitis rats during orthodontic tooth movement through stat3/ β -catenin. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 355-361, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31356

Article ID: KVFD-2023-31356 Received: 07.12.2023 Accepted: 08.04.2024 Published Online: 18.04.2024

Abstract

We aimed to explore the performance of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) in modulating signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3)/β-catenin to facilitate alveolar bone remodeling in periodontitis rats in the process of orthodontic tooth movement. Flow cytometry was employed to identify BMSCs isolated, and then their osteogenic capacity was examined by alizarin red staining assay. BMSCs group (n=10), periodontitis + orthodontic tooth movement (PO+OTM) group (n=10), BMSCs+Static group (n=10) and negative control (NC) group (n=10) were set up for random allocation of 40 rats. The PO+OTM group had significantly decreased bone mineral density (BMD), trabecular number (Tb.N), bone volume/total volume (BV/ TV), trabecular thickness (Tb.Th), phosphorylated STAT3 (p-STAT3) ratio in alveolar bone tissues, but increased receptor activator of nuclear factor-KB ligand protein expression, trabecular space (Tb.Sp), cement-enamel junction to alveolar bone crest, and osteoclast count in comparison to those of the NC group (P<0.05). In contrast with the PO+OTM group, the BMSCs group had significantly increased BMD, Tb.N, BV/TV, Tb.Th, p-STAT3/STAT3 ratio, and protein expressions of β -catenin and osteoprotegerin, but decreased Tb.Sp (P<0.05). For periodontitis rats, BMSCs can promote osteogenic differentiation to facilitate alveolar bone remodeling in the process of orthodontic tooth movement.

Keywords: Alveolar bone loss, Bone marrow, Mesenchymal stem cells, Periodontitis

INTRODUCTION

As a most frequent-occurring oral disease in clinical practice, periodontitis exhibits a prevalence rate of about 11% according to global data ^[1]. Periodontitis leads to injuries of periodontal tissues, usually accompanied by pathological tooth migration, which injures occlusion to speed up periodontal deterioration plus the loss of alveolar bone. Finally, secondary malocclusion is developed, severely affecting the oral health and facial aesthetics of people, which often requires orthodontic treatment ^[2,3]. Orthodontic treatment can reduce the mobility degree of teeth with periodontal disease, during which, however, there is a risk of alveolar bone loss. Hence, discovering methods able to effectively avoid the loss of alveolar bone in the period of orthodontic therapy for periodontitis is a hot research topic. Belonging to mesenchymal cells

extracted from bone marrow, bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) are potentially capable of not only differentiating into osteoblasts but also promoting bone tissue generation ^[4,5]. BMSCs are characterized by rich sources, convenient acquisition, multiple differentiation abilities, and anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties, so they have been widely applied in clinical practice. BMSCs are of great significance for the repair of bone defects ^[6]. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) is a vital player in bone metabolism. After knockout of STAT3 in osteoblasts, the bone morphology of mice becomes obviously abnormal, and STAT3 can also mediate the osteogenic effect of osteoblasts on mechanical stress loading ^[7]. It is therefore speculated that STAT3 may be involved in regulating orthodontic tooth movement and bone remodeling. For periodontitis patients, β -catenin, a core regulatory factor



in the downstream of the typical Wnt pathway, has been proven to have a high expression in gingival tissues and a relation to periodontal destruction ^[8]. However, whether the STAT3/ β -catenin pathway in periodontitis rats can act as a mechanism promoting alveolar bone remodeling throughout orthodontic tooth movement has not been reported yet.

In this study, therefore, whether BMSCs can promote alveolar bone remodeling in the course of orthodontic tooth movement by modulating the STAT3/ β -catenin pathway in periodontitis rats was explored.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

This study has been approved by the ethics committee of Tai'an 88 Hospital on November 15th, 2022 (approval No. 2022-273).

Laboratory Animals

Liaoning Changsheng Biotechnology Co., Ltd. provided 40 SPF-grade male Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats [license No.: SCXK (Liaoning) 2020-0001], with an age of 6-8 weeks old plus a weight of 220-240 g. Besides, 31-week-old female SD mice weighing 18-20 g were bought. The rats and mice were kept in a unified animal house under 45-55% indoor relative humidity and 22-26°C room temperature, with a 12 h/12 h light/dark cycle, which were permitted to eat food and drink water freely during 1 week of adaptive feeding.

Reagents and Apparatus

Static, a STAT3 small molecule inhibitor, was bought from Selleck (USA). Wuhan Boster Biological Technology Co., Ltd. (China) supplied the antibodies against receptor activator of nuclear factor-kB ligand (RANKL), STAT3, phosphorylated STAT3 (p-STAT3), osteoprotegerin (OPG), β -catenin, and alkaline phosphatase (ALP), and rabbit anti-rat cluster of differentiation 29 (CD29), CD34, CD44 and CD45 antibodies were provided by Shanghai Qiming Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (China). A kit for bicinchoninic acid (BCA) was offered by Beijing Solarbio Science & Technology Co., Ltd. (China). The instruments used in this study included a dynamometer (Hangzhou Aosu Dental, China), a desktop micro-computed tomography (CT) scanner (Bruker, Siemens, Germany), and an optical microscope (Guangzhou Micro Domain Optical Instrument Co. Ltd., China).

Isolation and Identification of BMSCs

Bilateral femurs of the 3 1-week-old mice were taken out, from which the metaphyseal red bone marrow was aspirated, followed by culture in IMEM (containing $20 \mu g/mL$ heparin). Next, bone marrow cells were resuspended

and subjected to 10 min of centrifugation at 1500 rpm. Afterwards, following the absorption and discarding of the supernatant, Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium was applied to dilute bone marrow cells to 10 mL, which were sieved using a 90-mesh filter screen. Thereafter, bone marrow cells were cultured in a 37°C incubator containing 5% CO₂ for 24 h. With the 80-90% confluence achieved, trypsin (0.25%) was added for cell digestion, and then the cells were passaged (1:2), followed by observation of morphology of the third- to fifth-generation cells under the microscope. The third-generation BMSCs were harvested for 5 min of 1000 rpm centrifugation. Next, monoclonal antibodies against CD29, CD90, CD45 and CD34 were added to each tube in turn and incubated in a dark ice box for 45 min. After that, 1% BSA-containing PBS was used for cell resuspending, and CD45, CD29, CD34, and CD90 as the cell surface markers were detected by a flow cytometer.

Alizarin Red Staining

BMSCs passaged to the third generation were harvested, inoculated in each well of a 6-well plate after adjusting the density to 2×10^{5} /cells and subjected to 24 h of incubation. Next, osteogenesis induction medium (10 mm/L β-glycerophosphate, 10 mL of fetal bovine serum, 50 µm/L antithrombotic, 89 mL of Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium/F12, 1 mL of double antibody, and 100 nm/L dexamethasone) was utilized to substitute the conventional culture medium, followed by 21 d of continuous culture, during which the medium was replaced once every 3 d. Afterwards, the original culture medium was discarded, and then paraformaldehyde solution (4%) was added for 30-min fixation of washed cells. Thereafter, alizarin red staining was performed on the cells for 3 min, followed by cell washing. Finally, cells were observed under the microscope for their osteogenic capacity.

Grouping and Modeling

A random number table was employed to set up groups for totally 40 rats, namely model group (n=30) plus negative control (NC) group (n=10). Then models of periodontitis were established using all rats from model group according to the following steps. Firstly, 10% chloral hydrate was injected intraperitoneally into rats for anesthesia. Then the first molar on the left maxilla of rats was peeled off with a probe, a 0.2 mm deep retention groove was ground in the gingival sulcus near the mesial tooth neck of the molar with a rapid hand grinding machine, and the first molar was ligated with a 0.2 mm ligature. Next, rats were fed with high sugar water (100 g/L) and softened feed for 1 month. Red and swollen gums, bleeding on probing and periodontal pocket formation suggested successful modeling of periodontitis ^[9].

All the 30 rats were successfully prepared into models
of periodontitis, and the model of orthodontic tooth movement was prepared. In brief, after anesthetizing rats, a retention groove with a depth of 0.2 mm was ground on the distal surfaces of the necks of the two maxillary central incisors. Then a tension spring was utilized, with one end connected to the molar of rats and the other end connected to the incisors of rats. The force of tension spring was adjusted to 50 g by the dynamometer, and the force applying device was removed after force application for 21 d. Next, the first molar and two incisors of rats were ligated with ligature wires to keep the first molar at the position after movement. One day before the removal of the force applying device, the 30 rats were then evenly and randomly divided into periodontitis + orthodontic tooth movement (PO+OTM) group, BMSCs group and BMSCs+Static group. No treatment was conducted on rats in NC group.

Drug Intervention

One day before the removal of the force applying device, 15 μ L of BMSC suspension with a cell density of 1×10⁷ cells/mL was injected into the distal local gingival tissues and buccal and palatine mucosae of the left maxillary first molar in BMSCs group. For BMSCs+Static group, based on the treatment in BMSCs group, 10 µL of Static solution (prepared as follows: Dimethyl sulfoxide was added to dissolve the STAT3 small molecule inhibitor Static, whose final concentration of 50 µmol/L was reached through normal saline dilution) was injected into the buccal and palatine mucosae of the maxillary first molar once every two days for 14 consecutive days. In NC group and PO+OTM group, an equal volume of normal saline was injected at the same site. Following 14 d of drug intervention, all rats were anesthetized by the intraperitoneal injection of 3% pentobarbital sodium and sacrificed through cervical dislocation. Then alveolar bone tissues of the left maxillary first molar were separated, some of which were quickly frozen for 30 min by liquid nitrogen for -80°C preservation using a refrigerator. Finally, 4% paraformaldehyde solution was utilized for fixation of the remaining tissues, which were decalcified for 30 d.

Micro-CT

The maxillary alveolar bone tissues were collected, followed by removal of skin and muscle tissues. Next, the alveolar bone was scanned with the micro-CT scanner under the following conditions: tube voltage: 70 kV, current: 353μ A, and scanning thickness: 8 μ m, followed by three-dimensional image reconstruction. Afterwards, the degrees of alveolar bone loss and tissue damage were evaluated. The three-dimensional images were used to measure the distance from cement-enamel junction to alveolar bone crest (CEJ-ABC), bone mineral density

(BMD) of rats was calculated for all groups, and trabecular thickness (Tb.Th), trabecular space (Tb.Sp), bone volume/ total volume (BV/TV), and trabecular number (Tb.N) were measured.

Hematoxylin-Eosin (HE) Staining

Decalcified alveolar bone tissues were collected for paraffin embedding and tissue section (thickness: 5 μ m) preparation using a slicer. Then tissue sections were deparaffinized in xylene, dehydrated with ethanol gradient, and treated with HE staining. Afterwards, they underwent dehydration together with transparentization, followed by observation under the microscope. The degree of bone defect repair was scored according to the Lane-Sandhu histological scoring criteria ^[10], and a higher score indicated a higher repair degree.

Tartrate-Resistant acid Phosphatase (TRAP) Staining

After deparaffinization plus rehydration, the tissue sections were put in glycollate solution and incubated in the dark at 37°C for 1 h. Thereafter, tissue sections were stained in accordance with the instructions of TRAP/ ALP staining kit. Afterwards, 5 sections were randomly selected, and 5 clear positive visual fields were selected at the root of each section to count the number of osteoclasts. The cytoplasm of positive osteoclasts was pink to carmine.

Measurement of Protein Expressions of STAT3, p-STAT3, β-catenin, RANKL and OPG in Alveolar Bone Tissues by Western Blotting

The alveolar bone tissues were taken, and the BCA assay was carried out to determine the concentration of total protein therein. The protein specimens with a final concentration of 2 μ g/mL were boiled in hot water for 10 min, which were subsequently preserved by the -20°C refrigerator. Next, protein samples $(50 \ \mu g)$ were collected, mixed with loading buffer, and denatured in boiling water. Thereafter, SDS-PAGE separation and PVDF membrane transfer were adopted for the protein specimens. Afterwards, 5% skim milk was supplemented to seal the membrane for 1 h, followed by membrane washing with Tris-buffered saline solution with Tween (1 mL/L). Afterwards, primary antibodies were added for overnight incubation (4°C) of the membrane, and then cleaning agent was used for rinsing. Thereafter, secondary antibodies (1:5000) were employed for room-temperature incubation of the membrane for 2 h. Then electrochemiluminescence liquid was added for development and exposure. Finally, Image Lab software was adopted to analyze the relative expression of each protein, with GAPDH as the internal reference.

Statistical Analysis

Experimental data were subjected to statistical analysis

through GraphPad Prism 8.0 software. Mean \pm standard deviation (X \pm s) was used as the expressing format of all measurement data with normal distribution. The measurement data underwent statistical comparison among groups by one-way ANOVA and between groups through the LSD-t test. The difference of statistical significance was denoted with P<0.05.

RESULTS

Microscopically, BMSCs passed to the third generation were mostly spindle-shaped and arranged radially (*Fig. 1-A*). The results of flow cytometer exhibited a positive expression rate of 98.3%, 99.1%, 2.3%, and 3.6% for CD29, CD90, CD45, and CD34 antibodies, respectively, which are in line with the surface markers of mesenchymal stem cells, implying that the isolated cells were BMSCs (*Fig. 1-B-E*).

According to alizarin red staining assay, BMSCs had more mineralized nodules and a significantly increased alizarin red stained area than Control cells (P<0.05), indicating that BMSCs possess osteogenic capacity (*Fig. 2*).

Compared with those in NC group, Tb.Th, BMD, Tb.N, and BV/TV significantly declined while CEJ-ABC plus Tb.Sp significantly rose in PO+OTM group (P<0.05). In contrast with PO+OTM group, BMSCs group had

significantly elevated BMD, Tb.Th, Tb.N, and BV/TV but significantly dropped CEJ-ABC and Tb.Sp (P<0.05). BMSCs+Static group presented significantly lower BMD, Tb.N, BV/TV, and Tb.Th, as well as significantly higher Tb.Sp and CEJ-ABC than BMSCs group (P<0.05) (*Fig. 3*).

In NC group displayed neatly arranged periodontal membrane fibers together with smooth alveolar bone and root surfaces and no distinct osteoclasts. In PO+OTM group, periodontal membrane fibers were disorganized, and the alveolar bone was observed with scattered bone absorption lacunae on the pressure surface in addition to active osteoclasts on the noncontinuous surface, with a marked elevation in the number of osteoclasts compared with NC group (P<0.05). As for BMSCs group, periodontal ligament fibers exhibited gradually regularized arrangement, and by contrast to PO+OTM group, it had a significantly smaller number of osteoclasts (P<0.05). According to Fig. 4, BMSCs+Static group displayed similar changes to PO+OTM group, with obviously disordered or even broken periodontal ligament fibers and an obvious increase in the number of osteoclasts in comparison to BMSCs group (P<0.05).

PO+OTM group had lower p-STAT3/STAT3 ratio and protein expressions of β -catenin and OPG and a higher protein expression of RANKL in alveolar bone tissues



Fig 1. Morphology and identification of BMSCs. A: BMSCs typically spindle-shaped and arranged radially, B-E: Identification of cell surface markers by the flow cytometer





Fig 3. Alveolar bone remodeling of rats. **A:** f Alveolar bone under micro-CT scan, **B-G:** Comparisons of Tb.Th, BMD, BV/TV, Tb.Sp, Tb.N, and CEJ-ABC in alveolar bone. 'P<0.05 *vs.* NC Group, *P<0.05 *vs.* PO+OTM Group, *P<0.05 *vs.* BMSCs Group



Fig 4. HE + TRAP staining assays on alveolar bone tissues. **A:** HE staining assay on alveolar bone tissues (\times 200), **B:** TRAP staining assay on alveolar bone tissues (\times 200). The black arrow represents osteoclasts



Fig 5. Expressions of STAT3, p-STAT3, β-catenin, RANKL and OPG proteins in alveolar bone tissues of rats. **A:** Protein bands of STAT3, p-STAT3, β-catenin, RANKL and OPG, **B:** Comparison of p-STAT3/STAT3 ratio in alveolar bone tissues, **C:** Comparison of protein expression of β-catenin from alveolar bone tissues, **D:** Comparison of expression of RANKL protein from alveolar bone tissues, **E:** Comparison of expression of OPG protein from alveolar bone tissues. 'P<0.05 *vs.* NC Group, *P<0.05 *vs.* PO+OTM Group, ^ΔP<0.05 *vs.* BMSCs Group

than NC group (P<0.05). Compared to PO+OTM group, BMSCs group displayed elevated p-STAT3/STAT3 ratio and protein expressions of β -catenin and OPG and a decreased protein expression of RANKL in alveolar bone tissues (P<0.05). BMSCs+Static group possessed significantly lower p-STAT3/STAT3 ratio and protein expressions of β -catenin and OPG in alveolar bone tissues besides significantly higher protein expression of RANKL than BMSCs group (P<0.05) (*Fig. 5*).

DISCUSSION

As a chronic inflammation of periodontal tissues, periodontitis refers to gingivitis-induced inflammation spreading to the periodontal membrane, alveolar bone, cementum and so on, which can result in tooth loss in severe cases ^[11]. Orthodontic treatment can align dentition while bringing periodontitis under control, enabling the recovery of adjacent relationship and chewing function of teeth to normal levels ^[12]. However, alveolar bone loss or resorption occurs due to periodontitis-induced destruction of periodontal tissue, weakening tooth support and reducing the stability of tooth movement, which leads to the instability of teeth during orthodontic treatment to easily result in bad movement such as inclination and rotation.

Stem cell transplantation has become a new strategy for the treatment of bone defects due to the rapid development of tissue engineering ^[13,14]. BMSCs are considered ideal bone repair cells by tissue engineering due to such characteristics as easy isolation, convenient acquisition, abundant sources, stable biocompatibility, and osteogenic differentiation potential. BMSCs have become a hot spot in the repair of bone defects in tissue engineering in recent years since they can differentiate into many types of cells and have the potential of multi-directional differentiation. BMSCs are capable of differentiating into osteoblasts by proper induction ^[15], and can exert potential curative effects in the treatment of bone defects and soft tissue injuries by releasing various osteogenically active factors. Sun et al.^[16] proved that BMSCs were beneficial for alveolar bone defects in rats in terms of regeneration and repair. Likewise, we herein found that BMSCs in periodontitis rats promoted alveolar bone remodeling throughout tooth movement in orthodontic treatment.

The regeneration and repair of alveolar bone defects are realized through a series of repeated tissue resorption and formation processes, during which osteoclasts are responsible for absorbing bone tissue, whereas osteoblasts are responsible for forming new bone tissue. The two kinds of cells are in a dynamic equilibrium state due to the mutual suppression between them ^[17]. Osteoclasts are a kind of highly differentiated cells, which are derived from hematopoietic stem cells and can be fused by peripheral blood mononuclear cells and osteoclast precursor cells.

However, there are too many osteoclasts in the alveolar bone due to the inflammation caused by alveolar bone defects, and their function is abnormal, jointly giving rise to excessive bone resorption and thus weakening osteogenic function. As a result, the normal osteogenesisosteoclast balance is destroyed, and thus the repair process of alveolar bone defects is hindered ^[18]. In this study, the micro-CT results shows that BMSCs significantly elevated BMD, Tb.Th, Tb.N, and BV/TV but significantly dropped CEJ-ABC and Tb.Sp. Moreover, BMSCs promoted OPG to express by impeding the production of RANKL, thus decreasing the osteoclast count in alveolar bone tissues while facilitating alveolar bone remodeling.

The Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is able to mediate bone formation, i.e. bone formation can be triggered by activating the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway, while it is hindered by repressing this pathway. The Wnt/ β -catenin pathway can modulate osteogenesis plus osteoclast differentiation by keeping OPG/RANKL balance ^[19]. Lan et al.^[20] reported that activating the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway facilitated periodontal ligament stem cells to differentiate into osteoblasts. Besides, STAT3 may influence the Wnt/ β catenin pathway to modulate bone formation ^[21]. In this research, STAT3 attenuated the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway from activation, inhibition of osteoclasts and promotion of alveolar bone remodeling by BMSCs in PO+OTM rats.

In conclusion, for periodontitis rats, BMSCs can promote osteogenic differentiation to facilitate alveolar bone remodeling in the process of orthodontic tooth movement, of which the action mechanism may be related to activating the STAT3/ β -catenin signal to suppress osteoclast differentiation.

Declarations

Availability of Data and Materials: The datasets used and/ or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author (X. Tian) on reasonable request.

Ethical Approval: This study has been approved by the ethic committee of our hospital (approval No. 2022-273), and great efforts have been made to minimize the animals' suffering.

Acknowledgements: None.

Financial Support: This study was financially supported by the Tai'an City Science and Technology Innovation Development Project.

Conflict of Interest: There is no conflict of interest.

Authors' Contributions: H. Wang and F. Gong designed the study and drafted the paper; Z. Wu, D. Lai, and K. Wu performed and analyzed the experiments; X. Tian designed the study and significantly revised the paper. All authors have approved the submission and publication of this paper.

References

1. Wang W, Zheng C, Yang J, Li B: Intersection between macrophages and periodontal pathogens in periodontitis. *J Leukoc Biol*, 110, 577-583, 2021.

DOI: 10.1002/JLB.4MR0421-756R

2. Martin C, Celis B, Ambrosio N, Bollain J, Antonoglou GN, Figuero E: Effect of orthodontic therapy in periodontitis and non-periodontitis patients: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *J Clin Periodontol*, 49 (Suppl. 24): 72-101, 2022. DOI: 10.1111/jcpe.13487

3. Alghamdi B, Jeon HH, Ni J, Qiu D, Liu A, Hong JJ, Ali M, Wang A, Troka M, Graves DT: Osteoimmunology in periodontitis and orthodontic tooth movement. *Curr Osteoporos Rep*, 21, 128-146, 2023. DOI: 10.1007/s11914-023-00774-x

4. Purwaningrum M, Jamilah NS, Purbantoro SD, Sawangmake C, Nantavisai S: Comparative characteristic study from bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *J Vet Sci*, 22 (6):e74, 2021. DOI: 10.4142/jvs.2021.22.e74

5. He M, Lei H, He X, Liu Y, Wang A, Ren Z, Liu X and Yan G, Wang W, Wang Y, Li G, Wang T, Pu J, Shen Z, Wang Y, Xie J, Du W, Yuan Y, Yang L: METTL14 regulates osteogenesis of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells via inducing autophagy through m6A/IGF2BPs/Beclin-1 signal axis. *Stem Cells Transl Med*, 11, 987-1001, 2022. DOI: 10.1093/stcltm/szac049

6. Yu K, Huangfu H, Qin Q, Zhang Y, Gu X, Liu X, Zhang Y, Zhou Y: Application of bone marrow-derived macrophages combined with bone mesenchymal stem cells in dual-channel three-dimensional bioprinting scaffolds for early immune regulation and osteogenic induction in rat calvarial defects. *ACS Appl Mater Interfaces*, 14, 47052-47065, 2022. DOI: 10.1021/acsami.2c13557

7. Zhou S, Dai Q, Huang X, Jin A, Yang Y, Gong X, Xu H, Gao X, Jiang L: STAT3 is critical for skeletal development and bone homeostasis by regulating osteogenesis. *Nat Commun*, 12:6891, 2021. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-021-27273-w

8. Naruse H, Itoh S, Itoh Y, Kagioka T, Abe M, Hayashi M: The Wnt/β catenin signaling pathway has a healing ability for periapical periodontitis. *Sci Rep*, 11:19673, 2021. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-99231-x

9. Chen Y, Zhou T, Zhang HH, Kang N: Bovine lactoferrin inhibits alveolar bone destruction in an orthodontic rat model with periodontitis. *Ann Anat,* 237:151744, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.aanat.2021.151744

10. Heiple KG, Goldberg VM, Powell AE, Bos GD, Zika JM: Biology of cancellous bone grafts. *Orthop Clin North Am*, 18, 179-185, 1987.

11. Lei F, Li M, Lin T, Zhou H, Wang F, Su X: Treatment of inflammatory bone loss in periodontitis by stem cell-derived exosomes. *Acta Biomater*, 141, 333-343, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2021.12.035

12. Gehlot M, Sharma R, Tewari S, Kumar D, Gupta A: Effect of orthodontic treatment on periodontal health of periodontally compromised patients. *Angle Orthod*, 92, 324-332, 2022. DOI: 10.2319/022521-156.1

13. Costa CA, Deliberador TM, Abuna RPF, Rodrigues TL, Souza SLS, Palioto DB: Mesenchymal stem cells surpass the capacity of bone marrow aspirate concentrate for periodontal regeneration. *J Appl Oral Sci*, 30:e20210359, 2022. DOI: 10.1590/1678-7757-2021-0359

14. Song W, Bo X, Ma X, Hou K, Li D, Geng W, Zeng J: Craniomaxillofacial derived bone marrow mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (BMSCs) for craniomaxillofacial bone tissue engineering: A literature review. *J Stomatol Oral Maxillofac Surg*, 123, e650-e659, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j. jormas.2022.06.002

15. Wu S, Zhang L, Zhang R, Yang K, Wei Q, Jia Q, Guo J, Ma C: Rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells induced by rrPDGF-BB promotes bone regeneration during distraction osteogenesis. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol*, 11:1110703, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fbioe.2023.1110703

16. Sun X, Mao Y, Liu B, Gu K, Liu H, Du W, Li R, Zhang J: Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes enhance 3D-printed scaffold functions and promote alveolar bone defect repair by enhancing angiogenesis. *J Pers Med*, 13 (2):180, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/jpm13020180

17. Shen H, Zhuang Y, Zhang C, Zhang C, Yuan Y, Yu H, Si J, Shen G: Osteoclast-driven osteogenesis, bone remodeling and biomaterial resorption: A new profile of bmp2-cpc-induced alveolar bone regeneration. *Int J Mol Sci*, 23 (20):12204, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/ijms232012204

18. Udagawa N, Koide M, Nakamura M, Nakamichi Y, Yamashita T, Uehara S, Kobayashi Y, Furuya Y, Yasuda H, Fukuda C, Tsuda E: Osteoclast differentiation by RANKL and OPG signaling pathways. *J Bone Miner Metab*, 39, 19-26, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s00774-020-01162-6

19. Xu D, Gao HJ, Lu CY, Tian HM, Yu XJ: Vitamin D inhibits bone loss in mice with thyrotoxicosis by activating the OPG/RANKL and Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathways. *Front Endocrinol*, 13:1066089, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/ fendo.2022.1066089

20. Lan Q, Cao J, Bi X, Xiao X, Li D, Ai Y: Curcumin-primed periodontal ligament stem cells-derived extracellular vesicles improve osteogenic ability through the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway. *Front Cell Dev Biol*, 11:1225449, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2023.1225449

21. Yadav PS, Feng S, Cong Q, Kim H, Liu Y, Yang Y: *Stat3* loss in mesenchymal progenitors causes Job syndrome-like skeletal defects by reducing Wnt/β-catenin signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 118:e2020100118, 2021. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.2020100118

Research Article

The Effect of *Ferula communis* L. on Body-Relative Organ Weight, Serum and Tissue Oxidative Status, Biochemical and Pathological Changes in Rats Exposed to Continuous Light

Buket BOĞA KURU ¹ ^(*)

¹ Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Animal Breeding and Husbandry, TR-36100 Kars - TÜRKİYE ² Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Physiology, TR-36100 Kars - TÜRKİYE

³ Kafkas University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, TR-36100 Kars - TÜRKİYE

⁴ Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Animal Nutrition and Nutritional Diseases, TR-36100 Kars -TÜRKİYE

⁵ Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, TR-36100 Kars - TÜRKİYE



(*) Corresponding author: Buket BOĞA KURU
Phone: +90 474 242 6807-5115
Cellular phone: +90 541 513 0609
Fax: +90 474 242 6853
E-mail: buket_vetfak@hotmail.com

How to cite this article?

Boğa Kuru B, Makav M, Yıldız G, Ölmez M, Kuru M, Bektaşoğlu F, Beşeren H, Şahin T, Kırmızıbayrak T: The effect of *Ferula communis* L. on body-relative organ weight, serum and tissue oxidative status, biochemical and pathological changes in rats exposed to continuous light. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 363-374, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31403

Article ID: KVFD-2023-31403 Received: 14.12.2023 Accepted: 15.04.2024 Published Online: 22.04.2024

Abstract

The goal of this study was to investigate the effects of Ferula communis L. on growth performance, relative organ weights, tissue and serum oxidative status, and biochemical and histopathological changes in rats exposed to continuous light. Rats exposed to continuous light for 10 days were given F. communis orally. Daily body weight was recorded, and rats were euthanized by cervical dislocation. Blood was collected to determine relative organ weights, followed by immediate biochemical and histopathological analysis of the organs. Serum and tissue oxidative status were measured. Continuous light exposure in rats resulted in weight loss, decreased ovary, uterus, and kidney weights, diminished total antioxidant status (TAS) along with increased cortisol, total oxidant status, and oxidative stress index. However, F. communis treatment reduced serum cortisol concentration and alleviated oxidative stress by increasing TAS even under prolonged light exposure conditions. Neither continuous light exposure nor F. communis treatment caused significant changes in malondialdehyde and glutathione in organ tissues. Although continuous light caused an increase in the number of cystic follicles, F. communis treatment did not seem to have a positive effect on cystic follicle formation. In conclusion, continuous light exposure stressed the rats and increased cortisol, as well as stimulated oxidative stress and cystic follicle formation. F. communis treatment can help alleviate the harmful effects of constant light exposure.

Keywords: Body weight, Continuous light stress, Cortisol, Cystic follicle, *Ferula*, Ovary, Oxidative stress

INTRODUCTION

Ferula includes more than 170 genera, with the majority of them being found in Central Asia, the Mediterranean, and North Africa. In order to ascertain their pharmacological characteristics, *Ferula* spp. have been employed in both previous and contemporary studies on humans and animals ^[1]. In Türkiye, the genus *Ferula* is known as "Çakşır" and is represented by 25 species. The root components are renowned as potent aphrodisiacs in eastern Türkiye ^[2].

In the genus *Ferula*, components such as coumarin (ferulenol, galbanic acid, and umbelliprenin), coumarin esters (ferulon A, B), sesquiterpenes (germakrans, himacalans, carotenes, humulans, guaians, daucane esters farnesiferol A and B) and sesquiterpene lactones, monoterpene (α -pinene, β -pinene), monoterpene coumarins, prenylated coumarins, sulfur-containing derivatives, phytoestrogens (ferutinin), flavonoids, carbohydrates (galactose, glucuronic acid, arabinose, rhamnose) are well defined. This genus is utilized in traditional medicine for skin infections, psychiatric conditions, high cholesterol, diabetes, arteriosclerosis, gastrointestinal problems, osteo-



porosis, rheumatism, human immunodeficiency virus, type A influenza, cancers (uterine cancer), muscle relaxants, headache, hypertension, toothaches, and vertigo because of its abundant chemical content ^[2-4].

Studies to identify the phytochemical characteristics of *Ferula* have increased over the last 20 years ^[3,5-8]. The antioxidant qualities of extracts derived from *Ferula* species have also been the subject of certain studies. *Ferula* extracts are usually thought to have considerable antioxidant activity, according to the research ^[4,7,9]. *F. communis* extracts have powerful antioxidant capabilities and exhibit no cell toxicity in both traditional *in vitro* assays and *in vitro* cellular models (HL-60). It also possesses intracellular and extracellular scavenging properties. The presence of considerable amounts of phenolic compounds and the interesting and powerful antioxidant capabilities of *F. communis* were also discovered ^[9].

One of the most significant environmental factors influencing animal behavior is light. The temporal variation of light alters numerous physiological processes in various animal species. The major circadian oscillator in animals is located in the hypothalamic suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN), and the retinohypothalamic pathway directly links ambient light to SCN neuronal activity. The SCN controls circadian sleep patterns, body temperature, mobility, and nutrition, and these functions may be interfered with when the SCN is negatively impacted by light. Circadian rhythms are synchronized by the length of light and darkness during the day. Circadian rhythm patterns are greatly impacted by variations in the length of the light-dark period. In primates, transitory sleep patterns and body temperature are variably influenced by ambient light, and the SCN controls these circadian cycles ^[10,11].

Problems including jet lag disorder, delayed sleep phase disorder, and irregular sleep-wake rhythm are experienced as a result of variations in the 24-h circadian cycle's light/ dark cycles or sleep-wake cycles ^[10,12]. These issues can be regarded as severe stressors because they alter the homeostasis of various physiological systems. Stress is brought on by the disruption of sleep and circadian rhythms. Since lighting conditions have a negative impact on sleep, they also have a big impact on stress ^[13,14]. Distressing lighting alters the physiological and behavioral responses of rats as well as increasing corticosterone levels ^[15]. Continuous light increases both stress and fear responses in chickens ^[16].

Animal behavior is orchestrated by a complex interplay of factors. In rodents such as rats, these factors include the estrous cycle in females, exposure to a novel environment, and light ^[17]. Continuous light exposure has been shown to impact the endocrine system in rats. Specifically, it can increase serum anti-mullerian hormone and

potentially exert a stress effect on the endocrine system, as indicated by elevated corticosterone concentration ^[18]. Moreover, continuous light exposure can increase serum testosterone, luteinizing hormone to follicle-stimulating hormone (LH/FSH) ratio, and the number of cystic-like follicles ^[19]. Continuous light exposure also caused reproductive activity, endocrine system disorders, and metabolic problems (glucose intolerance) in rats. Similarly, ongoing exposure to light alters the gut flora and brings on reproductive problems like polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) ^[18].

The objective of this study was to ascertain how *Ferula communis* L. affected the body weight and relative organ weights, tissue and serum oxidative status, and biochemical and pathological alterations in rats exposed to continuous light.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

The Kafkas University Local Ethics Committee for Animal Experiments (KAÜ-HADYEK/2021-153), Kars, Türkiye, gave its clearance before this study could be conducted. According to the *Laboratory Animal Care and Use Manual*, all procedures were carried out.

Animal

Thirty-two, 3-month-old female Wistar albino rats weighing 275-300 g were utilized. The groups were housed in standard conditions at $23\pm1^{\circ}$ C and $50\pm5\%$ humidity after a fifteen-day adaptation period. Commercial pellet feed (Bayramoğlu Yem^{*}, Erzurum, Türkiye) and water were given *ad libitum* to the groups.

Vaginal Cytology

Vaginal cytology was performed on the rats to determine their estrous cycle stage prior to the initiation of the experiment. The study started in diestrus because the luteal phase lasts longer than the follicular phase. Swabs were collected for cytology using the vaginal lavage technique as described in the literature ^[20]. Swabs were examined under a light microscope (Olympus CX23* Binocular Microscope, Olympus, Japan) after being stained with Giemsa (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). When a combination of a diminished large cell profile, an elevated neutrophil count, tiny and big nucleated epithelial cells, and a very low number of anucleated keratinized cells were observed in cytology, the time period was regarded as diestrus ^[20]. Rats in diestrus were used in the experiment.

Progesterone Analysis

Vaginal cytology was used to determine which rats were in diestrus, and blood was taken from the tail vein and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 min to assess the serum

365

progesterone concentration. Using commercial kits, a Roche Cobas c501[®] autoanalyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany) was used to measure the serum progesterone concentration. Rats were included in the groups if their progesterone concentration was greater than 1 ng/mL.

Ferula communis L. Extraction and GCMS Analysis

The *Ferula communis* L. roots of a plant were gathered from Ağrı Province, located in the Eastern Anatolia Region of Türkiye, in 2021. The plant was verified by Kafkas University Department of Botanical Sciences in Kars, Türkiye. The root oil was extracted using hydrodistillation with a Clevenger-type instrument for 4 h, using 10 mL of n-Hexane (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) as the collecting solvent. The oil was then dried with anhydrous sodium sulfate, filtered, and stored in sealed vials at 4°C, protected from light until it was analyzed.

Three samples of oil were obtained through hydrodistillation, and analysis was carried out with GCMS using a capillary column of HP-5MS at 70eV (J & W Scientific, Folsom). The instrument was set up using the procedure developed by Nguir et al.^[21]. Sigma-Aldrich, Milan, Italy, provided the standards for the component analysis. Authentic standards provided by the supplier (Sigma-Aldrich, Milan, Italy) and computer matching with the WILEY275, NIST05, and ADAMS libraries, as well as comparisons of mass spectra and retention indices (RI) to those described in the literature ^[22,23], were used to identify the volatile components. The percentage compositions of the oil components were calculated using electronic integration with flame ionization detection (FID, 280°C) by dividing the area of each component by the sum of the areas of all components separated under these conditions. The percentage values for volatile components were calculated using the average of three oil sample injections. The active compounds of Ferula communis L. roots are given in *Table 1*.

Experimental Design

The groups were formed to be balanced in terms of body weight. Pellet feeds were left in the cage to avoid casting shadows.

The experiment consisted of four groups of rats. The first group (G1) served as the control group and was not given any treatment. They were kept in 12/12 light/dark conditions for ten days. The second group (G2) was also kept in 12/12 light/dark conditions for ten days but was given *Ferula communis* L. orally by gavage at a daily dose of 150 mg/kg. The third group (G3) was kept in 12/12 light/light conditions for ten days with no treatment. The fourth group (G4) was also kept in 12/12 light/light conditions for ten days but was given *Ferula communis* L. orally by gavage at a daily dose of 150 mg/kg. Each group consisted of eight rats.

Body Weight

Rats were weighed daily for ten days.

Euthanasia

After intramuscular injections of xylazine HCl (15 mg/ kg, Rompun[®], Bayer, Germany) and ketamine HCl (75 mg/kg, Ketasol[®], Richter Pharma AG, Austria), rats were euthanized by cervical dislocation at the end of the study. After that, rapid blood collection and organ sampling were performed.

Blood Collection

A gel-vacuum tube (BD Vacutainer[®] SST II Advance, Becton, Dickinson and Company, UK) was used to collect blood through a cardiac puncture. The blood was centrifuged (NF 400R[®], Nüve, Türkiye) at +4°C for 10 min at 3000 rpm. Following centrifugation, the sera were separated into individual microcentrifuge tubes and kept at -18°C until biochemical analyses were performed.

Table 1. The chemical composition of the essential oil from Ferula communis L. roots.								
No	Compounds	% Composition	No	Compounds	% Composition			
1	Dillapiole	7.9	11	(E)-nerolidol acetate	3.4			
2	Guaiol	7.3	12	(Z)-lanceol	3.1			
3	Spathulenol	6.8	13	β-Barbatene	6.1			
4	Myristicin	6.0	14	Epizonarene	6.1			
5	T-cadinol	5.9	15	α-Zingibirene	4.7			
6	β-Gurjunene	3.4	16	β-Bisabolene	5.1			
7	(E)-β-farnesene	4.7	17	γ-Cadinene	4.8			
8	(E)-nerolidol	3.5	18	Trans- Calamenene	3.9			
9	T-Muurolol	3.0	19	Elemicin	6.0			
10	α -Cadinol	2.8	-	-	-			

Organ Weights

The stomach, liver, kidneys, spleen, total intestine, uterus, and ovaries were dissected immediately after euthanasia. The thorax was opened, and the heart and lungs were taken out and weighed. The eyes were also taken out and weighed. The aforementioned organs were removed from their surrounding tissues, and they were then instantly weighed to three decimal places (dual organs weighed together). The organs were divided for biochemical and histological analysis just after weighting. Separated for biochemical analysis were the right ovary, kidney, and eye, while for histopathological evaluation were the left ovary, kidney, and eye.

Biochemical Analyses

A fully automated ADVIA Centaur[®] XP analyzer (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics, Tokyo, Japan) and a compatible commercial kit were used to assess serum 25-OHvitamin D (vit D) and cortisol concentrations using the chemiluminescent immunoassay method.

Serum glucose, calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), and phosphorus (P) were measured by the photometric method using a fully automatic Abbot[®] ARCHITECT analyzer (Abbott Diagnostics, Lake Forest, IL, USA) and commercial kits.

Total antioxidant status (TAS) and total oxidant status (TOS) in serum were measured using a commercial kit (Rel Assay Diagnostics[®], Mega Tip, Türkiye) using the colorimetric method.

The oxidative stress index (OSI) was initially defined as the ratio of TOS to TAS. The resultant unit of TAS, mmol Trolox equivalent/L, was changed to μ mol Trolox equivalent/L in order to do the calculation, and OSI was then determined using the formula below ^[24]:

OSI (Arbitrary unit) = TOS (μ mol H₂O₂Eq/L)/TAS (μ mol Trolox Eq/L) x 100

For malondialdehyde (MDA) and glutathione (GSH) analyses, organ samples from the heart, kidney, uterus, ovary, and eye were homogenized with phosphate buffer (pH 7.4), and their homogenates were separated by centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 10 min. Before performing MDA and GSH measurements, homogenates were placed into separate microcentrifuge tubes and kept at -18°C. GSH and MDA analyses were performed on tissue homogenates using the methods described by Beutler et al.^[25] and Yoshoiko et al.^[26], respectively.

Histopathology

The tissues were fixed for eight hours in 10% buffered formaldehyde. Tissues were embedded in paraffin after a typical histological follow-up. Hematoxylin & Eosin was used to stain the tissues after they had been cut into 4 μ m pieces and deparaffinized in an oven for 40 min at 62°C. Lastly, histopathologic features were assessed by light microscopy (Olympus BX46°, Olympus Corporation, Japan).

The left ovary sections were examined for the presence of Graafian follicles ^[27,28], cystic follicles, and corpus luteum ^[18,28].

Statistical Analysis

Before commencing the study, the sample size was determined through a power analysis using G*Power version 3.1.9.7 (University of Düsseldorf, Germany). The calculation was based on a test power of 0.95, a significance level of 0.05, and an effect size (d) of 1.83, as reported in a study ^[29].

The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to evaluate the normal distribution of the data. A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to compare normally distributed data. Following the check for homogeneity of variances with Levene's test, the Tukey honestly significant difference (HSD) test was used with the posthoc comparison. When the variables were not normally distributed, Kruskal-Wallis ranked one-way analysis of variance was used for multiple comparisons, and pairwise comparisons of parameters with significance were evaluated using the Mann-Whitney U test. A Bonferroni correction was applied to the P value in this test result (adjustment significant P value). The chi-square test or Fisher's exact test was used to compare the ratios of Graafian follicles, cystic follicles, and corpora lutea in the groups. Data are given as mean ± standard deviation (SD). GraphPad Prism® (Version 8.0, GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) and SPSS® (Version 26.0, SPSS Inc./IBM Group, Chicago, IL, USA) programs were used for statistical analysis. A P value of <0.05 was considered significant in the multiple or pairwise comparisons.

RESULTS

Body Weight Changes

In terms of body weight change over time, there was no statistically significant difference among the groups (P>0.05). The control group's body weight did not alter noticeably (G1). Rats lost weight when exposed to constant light (G3). Gaining body weight was positively impacted by *F. communis* (G2). Continuous light's detrimental impact on body weight was not identified in G4. *Fig. 1* displays the change in body weight in rats.

Organ Weights

The effects of continuous light exposure on the weight of the liver, spleen, stomach, whole intestine, heart, lungs,

367



and eyes were not statistically significant (P>0.05). The relative weights of the organs were unaffected by the *F. communis* treatment, either positively or negatively (*Fig. 2*). The relative kidney weight was statistically different between the G2 and G3 groups, increasing in G2 but decreasing in G3 (P=0.017, *Fig. 2*).

Regarding relative organ weight, prolonged exposure to light had the greatest impact on the uterus and ovaries

(*Fig. 2*). A statistical significance was found in the multiple comparisons of ovarian weight between groups (P=0.003). In G3 compared to G1, G2, and G4, ovarian weight was significantly decreased (P=0.023, P=0.01, and P=0.005, respectively). Relative uterine weight was changed by continuous light exposure, and multiple comparisons of groups were statistically significant (P=0.009). Uterine weight was lower in G3 than in G1 (P=0.02), G2 (P=0.02),

and G4 (P=0.025). Surprisingly, *F. communis* treatment (G4) seems to have removed the deleterious effects of continuous light exposure on both ovarian and uterine weight (*Fig. 2*).

Biochemical Changes

The highest serum vit D concentration was measured in G3, there were no statistically significant differences among groups. (P>0.05, *Fig. 3*). Continuous light exposure in G3 generated a substantial increase in serum cortisol concentration compared to the other groups (G1, G2, and G4). Multiple comparisons for serum cortisol concentration were statistically significant (P=0.003). *F. communis* tends to lower serum cortisol concentrations even with prolonged exposure to light (G4). Surprisingly and remarkably, there was a statistical difference (P=0.04) in blood cortisol between G3 and





369



G4 (*Fig. 3*). Again, serum cortisol concentration was not altered in G4 exposed to continuous light. The absence of a significant difference between G1 and G4 shows that *F. communis* is able to avoid an increase in cortisol following continuous light exposure (*Fig. 3*).

Serum glucose concentrations were not statistically significant among groups (P>0.05). The variation in serum glucose concentration according to groups is shown in *Fig. 3*. Continuous light exposure or *F. communis* treatment did not have a statistically significant effect on serum Ca, P, and Mg concentrations (P>0.05, *Fig. 3*).

Serum Oxidative Status

There was a statistically significant difference in TOS between the groups (P=0.025). Constant light exposure enhanced TOS in rats. The increase in TOS in G3 was significantly different compared to G1 (P=0.037) and G2 (P=0.043) (*Fig. 4*). The *F. communis* treatment (G4) reduced continuous light stress but was not statistically significant compared to G3 (P>0.05).

Although the *F. communis* therapy (G2) increased TAS compared to G1 and G4, it was not statistically significant.

TAS decreased as a result of continuous light exposure (G3). Therefore, there was a statistically significant difference between G2 and G3 (P=0.005). Although there was no statistically significant difference, TAS appears to be higher in G4 than in G3 (*Fig. 4*).

Continuous light exposure (G3) increased OSI in rats. OSI in G3 was statistically higher than in G1 (P=0.007), G2 (P=0.002) and G4 (P=0.04) (*Fig.* 4). The *F. communis* treatment had a positive effect on the reduction of OSI. OSI was lower than G3 in G4 and statistically similar to G1 and G3 (*Fig.* 4).

Tissue Oxidative Status

Rat liver, heart, kidney, uterus, ovary, and eye MDA and GSH levels were not significantly affected by continuous light exposure or *F. communis* treatment (P>0.05, *Fig.* 5). Thus, continuous light stress or treatment with *F. communis* had no effect on the tissue's oxidative status (*Fig.* 5).

Histopathology

The livers of all rats did not exhibit any signs of necrosis, apoptosis, or fibrosis. There was only mild



Fig 6. Histopathological changes in various organs (H&E x200). Liver - G1: Liver tissue of the control group (H&E, x200) in the usual histomorphology with the portal area indicated by the arrow. G2: Portal area shown with an arrow, central vein with an asterisk. Liver tissue of the *Ferula communis* group in usual histomorphology (H&E, x200). G3: The liver tissue of the light group with mild portal inflammation, the portal area is indicated by the arrow (H&E, x200). G4: Mild portal inflammation with portal area with arrow and central vein with asterisk, liver tissue of the Light + *F. communis* group (H&E, x200). Kidney - G1, G2, G3, and G4: Arrows represent glomeruli, stars represent tubules. Renal tissue samples in usual histomorphology (H&E, x200). Spleen - G1, G2: Samples of spleen tissue in usual histomorphology. Asterisks indicates white pulp (H&E, x200). G3: The arrow indicates one of the hemosiderin-loaded macrophages in the red pulp. Pigmentation of the macrophage represents the sign of bleeding (H&E, x200). G4: A star indicates white pulp, and an arrow indicates one of the hemosiderin-loaded macrophages in the red pulp. Pigmentation of the macrophage represents the sign of bleeding (H&E, x200).



portal inflammation and congestion, and no observable difference in morphology between the groups. The kidneys had minimal congestion, hyaline cast deposition in some areas, and calcification in collecting ducts in a few tissues, but no evidence of necrosis, apoptosis, or inflammation.

(H&E, x200)

The spleen tissue of G1, G2, and G4 had areas of congestion and hemosiderin-loaded macrophages, but no other pathological findings. G3 showed more prominent bleeding and congestion, but not significantly different from the other groups (*Fig. 6*). The heart tissues showed



Fig 8. Ovarian histopathological alterations in the various groups. **A:** Numerous secondary follicles (*arrow*) and corpus luteum (CL) are seen in the G1 (H&E, x40), **B:** In G2, the corpus luteum (CL) and the primary follicle, which is marked by an arrow, are visible (H&E, x40), **C:** In G3, there are more secondary follicles (*arrow*), corpus luteum (CL), and follicular cysts (C) (H&E, x40), **D:** A considerably smaller corpus luteum (CL) and enlarged follicular cysts (C) in G4 (H&E, x40)

bleeding and congestion, but no other pathological finding. Uterine samples were examined for congestion, hemorrhage, endometritis, and hyperplasia, but none of the rats had hyperplasia. Some rats had focal endometritis and hemosiderin-loaded macrophages, indicating previous bleeding. Ocular tissue samples consistently showed the typical histomorphological appearance. The typical histomorphological appearance was consistently seen in the ocular tissue samples (*Fig. 7*).

The ovary was examined in different groups of rats, and in G1, the structures looked normal, with a corpus luteum present and no cystic follicles seen in the ovarian sections (*Fig. 8-A*). In G2, two rats lacked corpora lutea, while two others had cystic follicles (*Fig. 8-B*). In G3, cystic follicles were found in almost all rats and were also present in the corpus luteum (*Fig. 8-C*). Finally, in G4, all rats had both cystic follicles and the corpus luteum (*Fig. 8-D*).

There were no significant differences between the groups regarding the presence of Graafian follicles or corpora lutea (P>0.05). However, while no cystic follicles were

Table 2. Ratio of Graafian follicle, cystic follicle and corpus luteum ingroups								
Groups	Graafian Follicles % (+/-)	Cystic Follicles % (+/-)	Corpus Luteum % (+/-)					
Control (G1)	100 (8/0)	$0^{a}(0/8)$	100 (8/0)					
Ferula (G2)	87.5 (7/1)	25ª (2/6)	75 (6/2)					
Light (G3)	100 (8/0)	87.5 ^b (7/1)	100 (8/0)					
Ferula + Light $100 (8/0)$ $100^{b} (8/0)$ $100 (8/0)$								
^{a-b} Different letters in	the same column are s	tatistically significant	(P<0.05)					

found in G1, the highest rate of cystic follicles was observed in G3 and G4 (P<0.05). Exposure to continuous light was found to increase the incidence of cystic follicles in rats. Interestingly, in G3 and G4, where the rate of cystic follicles was high, all rats still had corpus luteum. Although continuous light exposure increased the number of cystic follicles, treatment with *F. communis* did not have a positive effect on cystic follicle formation (*Table 2*).

DISCUSSION

Ferula communis exhibits a wide range of pharmacological effects both in vitro and in vivo, such as antidiabetic, antibacterial, antiproliferative, and cytotoxic actions. It comprises various bioactive compounds with diverse biological activities [4,21,30]. Likewise, several studies have shown that Ferula communis possesses potent antioxidant activity ^[9,31]. Therefore, our goals were to induce stress in rats by continuously exposing them to light and to evaluate the effects of Ferula communis treatment on body weight, relative organ weight, serum and tissue oxidative status, and biochemical and pathological changes. F. hermonis treatment had a positive effect on body weight gain in growing female and male rats [32]. Continuous light exposure has a limited effect on body weight [15,18,33]. Short-term continuous light exposure in our study slightly decreased body weight gain, but it was not statistically effective. However, if the light duration was extended, perhaps it would have an effect on body weight. The decrease in weight gain can be explained by the fact that continuous light exposure reduces feed consumption ^[34]. In the present study, rats exposed to continuous light exhibited a favorable response to F. communis treatment in terms of weight gain.

In our study, neither continuous light exposure nor F. communis treatment had a significant effect on most of the relative organ weights in rats, which was further supported by histopathological findings. Continuous light exposure did, however, adversely affect the relative weights of the ovaries and uterus in rats. The G3 group had significantly lower ovary and uterus weights compared to the other groups. Similar results were observed in a study where rats were exposed to continuous light for an extended period [35]. In this study, F. communis appeared to mitigate the negative effects of continuous light on ovary and uterus weight. It is possible that continuous light exposure disrupts the estrous cycle [18], leading to lower genital organ weights in G3. F. communis may have facilitated more regular estrous cycles through its estrogenic effects. A study supporting our findings reported that Ferula can be used as a therapy for female infertility ^[36]. In our study, kidney weight was not significantly affected by continuous light exposure but was lower in the F. communis group compared to the control group. Histopathologically, the kidney tissue was normal in all groups. This was an interesting finding. Perhaps continuous light exposure led to reduced water intake in rats, which in turn could have contributed to the decrease in kidney weight [34].

Long-term exposure to light can interfere with circadian rhythms, which has an impact on key physiological processes and organ systems ^[37]. Agonistic behaviors that disturb the in-group order are also brought on by constant

light exposure in some animals ^[15]. Along with in-group restlessness, disrupted physiological processes and agonistic behaviors lead to stress, and the most significant consequence of this is an increase in corticosterone concentration ^[15,38]. As blood cortisol concentration was found to be statistically higher in G3 compared to the other groups, our study suggests that continuous light exposure (G3) induces severe stress. While the behavior of the groups was not directly observed, it is inferred that G3 experiences severe stress due to constant illumination. The results in G4 were also highly intriguing, as F. communis may have prevented the increase in serum cortisol concentrations following prolonged exposure to light. G4's serum cortisol concentrations was lower than that of G3 because it was comparable to that of G1 and G2. F. communis may include anticatabolic substances that function by inhibiting cortisol receptors, yet it is difficult to describe how Ferula carries out this activity [39]. Also, there is evidence to suggest that the ferulic acid found in F. *communis* lowers corticosterone concentrations ^[40].

F. communis possesses a large number of antioxidants and has been proven to be a potent radical scavenger in numerous tests [3,4,30]. The active component of Ferula, ferutinin, possesses antioxidant, antibacterial, antiinflammatory, estrogenic, and anti-cancer properties [41]. Ferula contains flavonoids, which act as natural antioxidants and free radical scavengers [42]. Numerous studies have demonstrated that a wide range of diseases and inflammatory conditions trigger and exacerbate oxidative stress in the organism [43-45]. Stress was induced in this study by continuous light exposure, and an increase in serum oxidative stress parameters was also observed. Constant illumination increased TOS and OSI while decreasing TAS in G3. This was able to be changed by the F. communis treatment, which increased TAS in G4. Again, OSI decreased more in G4 than in G3. No appreciable variations in tissue oxidative status were discovered. In any event, prolonged exposure to light did not seriously damage the tissues. The ovary was found to be more sensitive to continuous light exposure than other organs in histopathological investigations. The results show that F. communis can be employed as a radical scavenger to defend against oxidative stress.

Continuous light exposure can form polycystic ovarylike structures in rats. Continuous light can prevent the formation of the luteinizing hormone peak in rodents, preventing ovulation from triggering. In earlier studies, this topic has been thoroughly examined ^[18,46,47]. In our study, continuous light induced cystic follicle formation. Cystic follicles were detected in both G3 and G4 groups. The presence of corpus luteum alongside these cystic follicles suggests that cyclic activity continued in the rats. While serum progesterone levels were not measured at

the study's conclusion, histopathological analysis revealed the clear presence of numerous corpus luteum. Despite the estrogenic properties of Ferula, it appears to have partially induced cystic follicle production. However, corpus luteum were not identified in two G2 rats. This may have been brought on by Ferula's estrogenic effects. Moreover, the rate of cystic follicles was not sufficiently decreased with F. communis treatment. The percentage of cystic follicles in G4 was statistically similar to G3. The impact of Ferula on the cystic follicle may become clearer with continued use. It should be emphasized that cystic follicles are less frequent in G4 histopathologically. In patients with polycystic ovaries, F. communis treatment has already decreased the number of cystic follicles [48,49]. F. *communis* may have successfully treated it by suppressing the increased androgen concentration in the polycystic ovary with an estrogenic effect [48].

In conclusion, continuous light exposure can cause stress and increase cortisol concentration in rats. It can also lead to oxidative stress and cystic follicle formation. *Ferula* treatment can reverse the harmful effects of continuous light exposure with its antioxidant and estrogenic effects. There may still be some unknowns regarding *Ferula's* ability to eliminate cystic follicles. Therefore, detailed studies are needed to determine the effects of short-term or long-term use of *F. communis*.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author (B. Boğa Kuru) upon reasonable request.

Funding Support: This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Ethical Approval: Kafkas University Local Ethics Committee for Animal Experiments (KAÜ-HADYEK/2021-153), Kars, Türkiye, gave its clearance before this study could be conducted.

Conflict of Interests: The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Author Contributions: BBK, MM: Designing the study, MM, MK, FB, BBK: Implementation of the experimental protocol, data collection, BBK, TK: Data interpretation, data analysis and statistical analysis, MM, MK: Biochemical analysis, MÖ, TŞ: Extraction and GCMS analysis, GY, HB: Histopathology, BBK: Writing-Original drafting. All authors contributed to the article and gave final approval of the version to be submitted.

REFERENCES

1. Akaberi M, Iranshahy M, Iranshahi M: Review of the traditional uses, phytochemistry, pharmacology and toxicology of giant fennel (*Ferula communis* L. subsp. *communis*). *Iran J Basic Med Sci*, 18:1050, 2015.

2. Deveci E, Tel-Çayan G, Duru ME: Phenolic profile, antioxidant, anticholinesterase, and anti-tyrosinase activities of the various extracts of *Ferula elaeochytris* and *Sideritis stricta. Int J Food Prop*, 21, 771-783, 2018. DOI: 10.1080/10942912.2018.1431660

3. Sonigra P, Meena M: Metabolic profile, bioactivities, and variations in the chemical constituents of essential oils of the Ferula genus (Apiaceae). *Front Pharmacol*, 11:2328, 2021. DOI: 10.3389/FPHAR.2020.608649

373

4. Ghasemi Z, Rezaee R, Aslani MR, Boskabady MH: Anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidant, and immunomodulatory activities of the genus *Ferula* and their constituents: A review. *Iran J Basic Med Sci*, 24:1613, 2021. DOI: 10.22038/IJBMS.2021.59473.13204

5. Zhou Y, Xin F, Zhang G, Qu H, Yang D, Han X: Recent advances on bioactive constituents in Ferula. *Drug Dev Res*, 78, 321-331, 2017. DOI: 10.1002/DDR.21402

6. Ghareeb DA, ElAhwany AMD, El-Mallawany SM, Saif AA: *In vitro* screening for anti-acetylcholiesterase, anti-oxidant, anti-glucosidase, anti-inflammatory and anti-bacterial effect of three traditional medicinal plants. *Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip*, 28, 1155-1164, 2014. DOI: 10.1080/13102818.2014.969877

7. Dehpour AA, Ebrahimzadeh MA, Fazel NS, Mohammad NS: Antioxidant activity of the methanol extract of *Ferula assafoetida* and its essential oil composition. *Grasas Y Aceites*, 60, 405-412, 2009. DOI: 10.3989/ GYA.010109

8. Maggi F, Bramucci M, Cecchini C, Coman MM, Cresci A, Cristalli G, Lupidi G, Papa F, Quassinti L, Sagratini G, Vittori S: Composition and biological activity of essential oil of *Achillea ligustica* All. (Asteraceae) naturalized in central Italy: Ideal candidate for anti-cariogenic formulations. *Fitoterapia*, 80, 313-319, 2009. DOI: 10.1016/J.FITOTE.2009.04.004

9. Rahali FZ, Kefi S, Bettaieb Rebey I, Hamdaoui G, Tabart J, Kevers C, Franck T, Mouithys-Mickalad A, Hamrouni Sellami I: Phytochemical composition and antioxidant activities of different aerial parts extracts of *Ferula communis* L. *Plant Biosyst*, 153, 213-221, 2019. DOI: 10.1080/11263504.2018.1461696

10. Purushothaman S, Saxena S, Meghah V, Meena Lakshmi MG, Singh SK, Brahmendra Swamy CV, Idris MM: Proteomic and gene expression analysis of zebrafish brain undergoing continuous light/dark stress. *J Sleep Res*, 24, 458-465, 2015. DOI: 10.1111/JSR.12287

11. Ikeda M, Sagara M, Inoué S: Continuous exposure to dim illumination uncouples temporal patterns of sleep, body temperature, locomotion and drinking behavior in the rat. *Neurosci Lett*, 279, 185-189, 2000. DOI: 10.1016/S0304-3940(99)00943-X

12. Starnes AN, Jones JR: Inputs and outputs of the mammalian circadian clock. *Biology (Basel)*, 12:508, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/biology12040508

13. Morgan KN, Tromborg CT: Sources of stress in captivity. *Appl Anim Behav Sci*, 102, 262-302, 2007. DOI: 10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2006.05.032

14. Depres-Brummer P, Levi F, Metzger G, Touitou Y: Light-induced suppression of the rat circadian system. *Am J Physiol*, 268, R1111-R1116, 1995. DOI: 10.1152/AJPREGU.1995.268.5.R1111

15. Van Der Meer E, Van Loo PLP, Baumans V: Short-term effects of a disturbed light-dark cycle and environmental enrichment on aggression and stress-related parameters in male mice. *Lab Anim*, 38, 376-383, 2004. DOI: 10.1258/0023677041958972

16. Kang SW, Christensen KD, Kidd MT, Orlowski SK, Clark J: Effects of a variable light intensity lighting program on the welfare and performance of commercial broiler chickens. *Front Physiol*, 14:1059055, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/FPHYS.2023.1059055

17. Miller CK, Halbing AA, Patisaul HB, Meitzen J: Interactions of the estrous cycle, novelty, and light on female and male rat open field locomotor and anxiety-related behaviors. *Physiol Behav*, 228:113203, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2020.113203

18. Chu W, Zhai J, Xu J, Li S, Li W, Chen ZJ, Du Y: Continuous lightinduced PCOS-like changes in reproduction, metabolism, and gut microbiota in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Front Microbiol*, 10:3145, 2020. DOI: 10.3389/FMICB.2019.03145

19. Yue F, Xing L, Wu S, Wei L, Zhou Z, Shi Y, Lam SM, Shui G, Xiang X, Russell R, Zhang D: Constant light exposure alters gut microbiota and short-/medium-chain fatty acids and aggravates PCOS-like traits in HFD-fed rats. *Obesity*, 30, 694-706, 2022. DOI: 10.1002/OBY.23380

20. Cora MC, Kooistra L, Travlos G: Vaginal cytology of the laboratory rat and mouse: Review and criteria for the staging of the estrous cycle using stained vaginal smears. *Toxicol Pathol*, 43, 776-793, 2015. DOI: 10.1177/0192623315570339

21. Nguir A, Mabrouk H, Douki W, Ben Ismail M, Ben Jannet H, Flamini G, Hamza MA: Chemical composition and bioactivities of the essential oil from different organs of *Ferula communis* L. growing in Tunisia. *Med Chem Res*, 25, 515-525, 2016. DOI: 10.1007/S00044-016-1506-1

22. Adams RP: Identification of Essential Oil Components by Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry. Texensis Publishing, Gruver, TX USA, 2017.

23. NIST N: EPA/NIH Mass Spectral Library (NIST 05) and NIST Mass Spectral Search Program, https://chemdata.nist.gov; *Accessed:* 25.03.2023.

24. Gökçe E, Cihan P, Atakişi O, Kırmızıgül AH, Erdoğan HM: Oxidative stress in neonatal lambs and its relation to health status and passive colostral immunity. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 251:110470, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/J. VETIMM.2022.110470

25. Beutler E, Duron O, Kelly BM: Improved method for the determination of blood glutathione. *J Lab Clin Med*, 61, 882-888, 1963.

26. Yoshioka T, Kawada K, Shimada T, Mori M: Lipid peroxidation in maternal and cord blood and protective mechanism against activated-oxygen toxicity in the blood. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 135, 372-376, 1979. DOI: 10.1016/0002-9378(79)90708-7

27. Jennings R, Premanandan C: Veterinary Histology. The Ohio State University, Columbus, US, 2017.

28. Tufekci KK, Kaplan S: Beneficial effects of curcumin in the diabetic rat ovary: A stereological and biochemical study. *Histochem Cell Biol*, 159, 401-430, 2023. DOI: 10.1007/S00418-022-02171-4

29. Makav M, Kuru M, Aras ŞY, Sarı EK, Bulut M, Alwazeer D: The effect of hydrogen-rich water on letrozole-induced polycystic ovary syndrome in rats. *Reprod Biomed Online*, 47:103332, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j. rbmo.2023.103332

30. Ceylan S, Cetin S, Camadan Y, Saral O, Ozsen O, Tutus A: Antibacterial and antioxidant activities of traditional medicinal plants from the Erzurum region of Turkey. *Ir J Med Sci*, 188, 1303-1309, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/S11845-019-01993-X

31. Dadasoglu E, Oztekin A, Dadasoglu F: Antibacterial and antioxidant activity of essential oil and extracts of *Ferula communis* and determination of chemical composition of its essential oil. *Fresenius Environ Bull*, 27, 4186-4191, 2018.

32. Abdel-Kader MM, Kassem SS, Danial EN, Raouf AA El, Hanafi EM: Evaluation of *Ferula hermonis* root extract as a growth promoter. *Int J Acad Res*, 3, 140-147, 2011.

33. Mahmoud I, Salman SS, al-Khateeb A: Continuous darkness and continuous light induce structural changes in the rat thymus. *J Anat*, 185 (Pt 1): 143-149, 1994.

34. Wideman CH, Murphy HM: Constant light induces alterations in melatonin levels, food intake, feed efficiency, visceral adiposity, and circadian rhythms in rats. *Nutr Neurosci*, 12, 233-240, 2009. DOI: 10.1179/147683009X423436

35. Lambert HH: Continuous red light induces persistent estrus without retinal degeneration in the albino rat. *Endocrinology*, 97, 208-210, 1975. DOI: 10.1210/ENDO-97-1-208

36. Hammam A mohsen M, Elmotayam AK, Elnattat WM, Ali GA, Madbouly A elnaser M, El Khatteb RM, Abdelhameed MF, Ali AH,

Qasim S, Ahmed SR: Assessment of *Ferula hermonis Boiss* fertility effects in immature female rats supported by quantification of ferutinin via HPLC and molecular docking. *J Ethnopharmacol*, 289:115062, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/J. JEP.2022.115062

37. Albers HE, Gerall AA, Axelson JF: Circadian rhythm dissociation in the rat: Effects of long-term constant illumination. *Neurosci Lett*, 25, 89-94, 1981. DOI: 10.1016/0304-3940(81)90106-3

38. Abílio VC, Freitas FM, Dolnikoff MS, Castrucci AML, Filho RF: Effects of continuous exposure to light on behavioral dopaminergic supersensitivity. *Biol Psychiatry*, 45, 1622-1629, 1999. DOI: 10.1016/S0006-3223(98)00305-9

39. Allouh MZ: Effect of *Ferula hermonis* root extract on rat skeletal muscle adaptation to exercise. *Exp Biol Med*, 236, 1373-1378, 2011. DOI: 10.1258/ EBM.2011.011164

40. Dhillon HK, Singh T, Goel RK: Ferulic acid inhibits catamenial epilepsy through modulation of female hormones. *Metab Brain Dis*, 37, 2827-2838, 2022. DOI: 10.1007/S11011-022-01054-w

41. Macrì R, Musolino V, Gliozzi M, Carresi C, Maiuolo J, Nucera S, Scicchitano M, Bosco F, Scarano F, Ruga S, Zito MC, Guarnieri L, Bombardelli E, Mollace V: *Ferula* L. plant extracts and dose-dependent activity of natural sesquiterpene Ferutinin: From antioxidant potential to cytotoxic effects. *Molecules*, 25:5768, 2020. DOI: 10.3390/MOLECULES25235768

42. Safaeian L, Ghannadi A, Javanmard SH, Vahidian MH: The effect of hydroalcoholic extract of *Ferula foetida* stems on blood pressure and oxidative stress in dexamethasone-induced hypertensive rats. *Res Pharm Sci*, 10:326, 2015.

43. Eroğlu HA, Makav M, Adalı Y, Çitil M: Effects of ozone and L-carnitine on kidney MDA, GSH, and GSHPx levels in acetaminophen toxicity. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 26, 127-134, 2020. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2019.22456

44. Makav M, Dolanbay T, Gül HF, Karakurt E: Determinate of ECG, oxidative stress, and angiogenesis in APAP induced toxicity in rats. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 27, 483-488, 2021. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2021.25733

45. Akbudak IH, Kılıc-Erkek O, Bor-Kucukatay M: Desflurane 6% inhalation inhibits erythrocyte deformability and alters oxidative stress in rat lung and kidney in a time-dependent manner. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 29, 273-279, 2023. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.29165

46. Kang X, Jia L, Shen X: Manifestation of hyperandrogenism in the continuous light exposure-induced PCOS rat model. *Biomed Res Int*, 2015:943694, 2015. DOI: 10.1155/2015/943694

47. Kang X, Jia L, Li Y, Zhang X: Acupuncture attenuates hyperglycaemia and improves ovarian function in female rats subjected to continuous light exposure. *Acupunct Med*, 35, 352-359, 2017. DOI: 10.1136/ ACUPMED-2016-011137

48. Shieh A, Bagheri SM, Yadegari M, Javidmehr D, Farhadi Z: Therapeutic effect of *Ferula assa-foetida* oleo-gum resin in rats with letrozole-induced polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Exp Reprod Med*, 49, 239-247, 2022. DOI: 10.5653/CERM.2022.05449

49. Zeng LH, Rana S, Hussain L, Asif M, Mehmood MH, Imran I, Younas A, Mahdy A, Al-Joufi FA, Abed SN: Polycystic ovary syndrome: A disorder of reproductive age, its pathogenesis, and a discussion on the emerging role of herbal remedies. *Front Pharmacol*, 13:874914, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/FPHAR.2022.874914

Research Article

Probiotic Edible Film Added with Aqueous Clove Extract Milk Powder^{[1][2]}

Lejaniya ABDUL KALAM SALEENA ¹^(b) Kar Lin NYAM ¹^(b) Liew Phing PUI ^{1 (*)}

^[1] This work was supported by UCSI Research Excellence & Innovative Grant, UCSI University, Malaysia (REIG-FAS-2021/003)

^[2] Presented as an oral presentation at 5th International Food, Agriculture and Veterinary Sciences Congress Held Online on March 17-19, 2023, Kafkas University and IKSAD Institute, Kars, Türkiye

¹UCSI University, Faculty of Applied Sciences, Department of Food Science and Nutrition, 56000, Cheras, Kuala Lumpur, MALAYSIA



(*) **Corresponding author:** Liew Phing PUI Phone: +603-9101 8880 E-mail: zoepui123@gmail.com

How to cite this article?

Abdul Kalam Saleena L, Nyam KL, Pui LP: Probiotic edible film added with aqueous clove extract milk powder. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 375-382, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.30895

Article ID: KVFD-2024.30895 Received: 23.01.2024 Accepted: 19.04.2024 Published Online: 24.04.2024

Abstract

The integration of aqueous clove extract (ACE) and spray-dried probiotics into an edible film presents numerous health advantages, such as enhanced probiotic stability and antibacterial efficacy against harmful bacteria like Klebsiella pneumoniae and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. This study aimed to formulate a probiotic edible film with antibacterial properties by incorporating milk powder containing ACE and probiotic strains, namely Streptococcus thermophilus ATCC 19258, Lactobacillus bulgaricus ATCC 11842, and Lactococcus lactis MG1363. The milk powders, containing 7.5% (w/v) ACE with various probiotic strains, were combined with 2% (w/v) pectin biopolymer and 60% (w/w) glycerol plasticizer to produce the probiotic edible film with ACE. Antibacterial effects were investigated using disc diffusion, while probiotic film viability was assessed through the pour plate method. The study revealed higher viability in the probiotic strains L. lactis and S. thermophilus within the edible film, compared to L. bulgaricus. The specific strains exhibited increased antibacterial activity against K. pneumoniae and P. aeruginosa, underscoring the critical role of probiotic strain selection in determining functional properties. Notably, the edible film containing L. lactis and S. thermophilus demonstrated substantial antibacterial activity against both pathogens. However, further research is imperative to optimize industrial-scale production methods, assess efficacy in diverse food items, evaluate sensory properties, gauge barrier attributes, and investigate the impact of storage conditions on stability and performance.

Keywords: Probiotic edible film, S. thermophilus, L. bulgaricus, L. lactis, Viability, Antibacterial

INTRODUCTION

Pneumonia is an acute respiratory infection which affects the lungs, causing cough, nasal congestion, difficulty breathing, syanosis, hypoxia, fever and dizziness ^[1]. The World Health Organization states that in 2019, an estimate of 740 180 children under 5 years old lost their lives to pneumonia, which accounted for 14% of all deaths ^[2]. Pneumonia is typically caused by bacterial infection (90%), intoxication, and immuno-deficiency. Opportunistic pathogens *Puedomonas aeruginosa* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* are known to cause major respiratory tract diseases, gastrointestinal infections, and bacteremia, and are particularly dangerous for those with AIDS, cancer, and severe burns. *K. pneumoniae* and *P. auroginosa* are two of the major pathogens causing pneumonia ^[3].

Incorporation of fermented products into one's daily diet, along with starter strains of *Lactobacillus bulgaricus*

and Streptococcus thermophils, help to boost the immune system and can prevent respiratory infections. This is attributed to the immunoregulatory properties of these strains, which in turn strengthens a person's respiratory tract [4]. The study by Fauziah et al.[1] suggested that soyghurt with a concentration of 80% L. bulgaricus has the potential to exhibit bactericidal activity against K. pneumoniae strains, indicating its potential as a functional food product. Additionally, fermented milk is commonly used as a delivery system for various probiotics and bioactive compounds derived from medicinal herbs, as it can help to improve the viability and stability of probiotics and other bioactive compounds during storage and gastrointestinal transit. It can also provide a convenient and palatable means of delivering these beneficial compounds to consumers ^[5].

For centuries, clove (*Syzygium aromaticum* L.) has been a popular culinary spice and employed in traditional

medicine to treat different ailments. Clove ingredients have been found to possess antiviral, antibacterial and anti-inflammatory properties, particularly in relation to respiratory issues ^[6]. The study by Ogwaro et al.^[7] reported that the use of clove extracts during fermentation and storage has the potential to improve the microbiological safety of fermented milk. The study found that the addition of clove extracts to fermented milk inhibited the growth of pathogenic bacteria such as Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli, and Salmonella typhi, which are known to cause foodborne illnesses. Clove extracts contain natural antimicrobial compounds such as eugenol, which have been shown to exhibit strong antimicrobial activity against various microorganisms. Therefore, the use of clove extracts in fermented milk could provide a natural and effective means of improving its microbiological safety and extending its shelf life.

The starter cultures S. thermophilus and Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. bulgaricus are commonly used probiotics that have beneficial effects on gut health [8]. Lactococcus strains are also important probiotics that have been observed to produce bacteriocins, which are antimicrobial peptides that can inhibit the growth of pathogenic bacteria ^[9]. The use of edible films for delivering bioactive compounds and probiotics can help to protect these compounds from degradation during storage and transport, increasing their effectiveness and shelf life of probiotics. The incorporation of bioactive compounds and probiotics into edible films has the potential to transform food products into "functional" foods, which can provide additional health benefits beyond basic nutrition. This can add value to the food market and provide consumers with healthier options ^[10]. The European Food Safety Authority, and Food and Drug Administration have both allotted the group of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) and clove extract the category of "qualified presumption of safety" (QPS) and "generally recognized as safe" (GRAS) respectively, allowing for their use in the food industry ^[6,11].

Encapsulation is an advanced method for safeguard and increase the shelf life of probiotics, where the active component will be covered by a protective coating made of food-grade material during processing. Spray drying is one among that, spraying probiotic and protective material mixture into a heated chamber, the moisture evaporates and leave dry particles with probiotics ^[12]. To ensure the survival of probiotics, their insertion in edible films protects them from various physical and chemical hazards during processing and storage ^[13]. Because of the growing desire for minimally processed foods, edible film created from naturally derived biopolymers become highly popular; this can assist to extend probiotic shelf life and improve quality ^[14].

Functional probiotic microencapsulation with antibacterial potential is a promising alternative to antibiotics, as it

allows the gradual release of functional compounds to prevent diseases ^[10]. Hence, the present work was aimed to produce fermented milk powder encapsulated in pectin biopolymer with ACE incorporated with *Streptococcus thermophilus* ATCC 19258, *L. delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* ATCC 11842 = JCM 1002, and *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *tcremoris* MG1363, respectively, their viability in edible film and antibacterial effect against *K. pneumoniae* ATCC 700603 *and P. aeruginosa* ATCC 27853 were determined.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study Materials

The research utilized low-fat UHT milk sourced from Nestle products Sdn. Bhd. in Malaysia, *S. thermophilus* ATCC 19258, and *L. delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* ATCC 11842 = JCM 1002, which were isolated from yoghurt by Malaysia Milk Sdn. Bhd. (MariGold, Malaysia). *L. lactis* subsp. *cremoris* MG1363 was obtained from the culture collection at the University of Putra Malaysia, Malaysia. All lactic acid bacteria were confirmed by 16S rRNA sequencing and the data was analysed by BLAST. Pathogenic strains *K. pneumoniae* ATCC 700603 and *P. aeruginosa* ATCC 27853 were obtained from the culture collection of UCSI University.

Preparation of ACE

Clove (*Syzygium aromaticum*) buds were procured from a local market in Cheras, Malaysia (Voucher no. KM 0042/22, Herbarium- Institute of Bioscience, University Putra Malaysia). These buds were oven-dried overnight at 60°C, and then powdered in a mixer and sieved. Subsequently, 10% (w/v) clove powder was added to sterile distilled water and kept at 50°C for 24 h. The resulting ACE was filtrated using a Whatman no. 1 filter paper, followed by a 0.22 µm syringe filter ^[15].

Preparation of Functional ACE Incorporated Fermented Milks

Fermented milks were prepared with slight modifications of method by Kanik et al.^[16]. To produce functional fermented milk samples, 7.5 mL of ACE was added to 92.5 mL of low-fat UHT milk, which was homogenized for 5 min at room temperature. Then the mixture was inoculated with 1% fermented milk starter cultures containing *L. delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus*, *S. thermophilus*, and *L. lactis*. The inoculated fermented milks were then incubated for 18 h at 42°C, 37°C, and 30°C, respectively. The fermented milks were then stored in the refrigerator at 4°C for 24 h before analysis.

Preparation of Functional ACE Incorporated Fermented Milk Powders

For functional fermented milk powder samples production, each fermented milks were spray dried at 4°C feed

temperature, 140°C inlet temperature and 30% pump speed with 100% aspiration (BÜCHI mini spray dryer, B-290, Switzerland)^[17]. The fermented milk powder with *L. delbrueckii subsp. bulgaricus, S. thermophilus*, and *L. lactis*, respectively were then stored in the refrigerator (4°C) for 24 h prior to analysis.

Preparation of Functional Edible films with Fermented Milk Powder

Pectin edible film with specific fermented milk powder was prepared according to Ribeiro et al.^[18] with slight modifications. The sterile casting solution was formulated using a combination of pectin biopolymer at a concentration of 2% (w/v) and glycerol plasticizer at a proportion of 60% (w/w). For functional edible film samples production, fermented milk powder (7.5%) with *L. delbrueckii subsp. bulgaricus, S. thermophilus,* and *L. lactis,* respectively were added. The inoculated edible films with each fermented milk powders were then dried in oven (Memmert, Germany) for 24 h at 30°C. Prepared edible films were then stored in the dedicator for further analysis.

Viability of Lactic Acid Bacteria

The viable counts of *S. thermophilus*, *L. delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus*, and *L. lactis* in samples were determined using the conventional pour plate count technique. *Streptococcus thermophilus* agar (HIMEDIA, India)^[19] was used for the enumeration of *S. thermophilus* (37°C for 48 h), modified reinforced clostridial medium (mRCM)^[20] for *L. bulgaricus* (37°C for 48 h), and GM17 agar^[21] for *L. lactis* (30°C for 48 h). For each sample, 1 g was diluted with 9 mL of normal saline for serial dilution, and the plates were then incubated in an aerobic environment. The results were expressed as colony-forming units per millilitre (log CFU/mL).

Antibacterial Analysis

Mueller Hinton Agar (MHA) was placed on sterilised petri plates and allowed to completely solidify. A bacterial suspension of K. pneumoniae ATCC 700603 and P. aeruginosa ATCC 27853 (0.1 OD) was equally (100 µL per plate) dispersed onto the surface of the medium using a sterile coating rod ^[22]. To test the antibacterial activity of fermented milk supernatant, 10 g of fermented milks were centrifuged (MIKRO 220R, Germany) at 4.000 rpm (1431 x g) for 30 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then filtered using a 0.22 µm millipore membrane syringe filter before being used ^[23]. After 10 min in the treatment supernatant, each sterile disc was dried for one minute before being placed on the petri plates. The plates were incubated at 37°C and the diameter of the inhibition zone was measured using a Vernier caliper after 24 h using disc diffusion method [24]. Following that, a reconstituted

fermented milk powder solution was made by dissolving 20% (w/v) of the powder in sterile distilled water. Sterile discs were then immersed in the solution for 10 min before being dried for one minute before being tested for antibacterial activity ^[25,26]. Then disc diffusion method was then used to detect the antibacterial activity of the edible film. The films were clipped into disk-shaped samples with a diameter of 6 mm for analysis ^[27]. Sterile blank disc and chloramphenicol (10%) were used as the negative and positive controls ^[28], respectively.

Statistical Analyses

Totally three trials were conducted and the data obtained were subjected to statistical analysis. To find significant differences between the samples (P<0.05), all data were subjected to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Tukey's post hoc test with SPSS statistics (IBM SPSS statistics 20 version).

RESULTS

Antibacterial Effect of Aqueous Clove Extract (ACE)

Clove extract is an effective and natural alternative to synthetic preservatives, and is a valuable tool in the food industry for maintaining the safety and quality of food products. Clove has anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, anti-thrombotic, antioxidant, antimutagenic, and anti-ulcerogenic attributes ^[29]. The effect of varying concentrations of aqueous clove extract on the antibacterial zone of inhibition (mm) against *K. pneumoniae* and *P. aeruginosa* is presented in *Table 1*.

Viability of Functional Fermented Milks, Fermented Milk Powders and Edible Films

Farmers incorporate different spices into milk either prior to or during fermentation, with the aim of enhancing the flavor and aroma of the fermented product ^[30]. Moreover, the inclusion of clove in fermented milk aids in its preservation and inhibits the proliferation of bacteria, which can cause food spoilage ^[7]. Researchers have found that the acceptable concentration of clove in yogurt,

Table 1. The impact of varying ACE concentrations on the antibacterial zoneof inhibition (mm) against K. pneumoniae and P. aeruginosa								
Concentration of ACE	Zone of Inhi	bition (mm)						
(%)	K. pneumoniae	P. aeruginosa						
0% (blank)	6.00 ± 0.00^{d}	6.00 ± 0.00^{d}						
2.5 %	7.67±0.58°	7.33±0.58°						
5 %	9.33±0.58 ^b	9.00±0.00 ^b						
7.5 %	11.00 ± 0.00^{a}	10.33±0.58ª						

Results were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation, values are means of triplicates (n=3). abcd means in the same columns followed by same uppercase letters are non-significant (P<0.05) via one way ANOVA with tukey test

Table 2. The viability and rate of survival of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk with and without the presence of aqueous clove extract (ACE)										
	S. thermophilus		L. bulg	garicus	L. lactis					
Fermented Milks	Viability (log CFU/mL)	Survivability (%)	Viability (log CFU/mL)	Survivability (%)	Viability (log CFU/mL)	Survivability (%)				
Without ACE	13.83±0.02 ^{Aa}	100.00	13.93±0.03 ^{Aa}	100.00	13.22±0.08 ^{Ab}	100.00				
5% ACE	13.19±0.017 ^{Ba}	95.35	13.21±0.11 ^{Ba}	94.83	12.02±0.07 ^{Bb}	90.92				
7.5% ACE 12.21±0.11 ^{Ca} 88.29 12.10±0.16 ^{Ca} 86.86 10.78±0.08 ^{Cb} 81.54										

Results were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation, values are means of triplicates (n=3).^{ABC} means in the same column followed by same uppercase letters and ^{ab} means in the same rows followed by same lowercase letters are non-significant (P<0.05) via one way ANOVA with tukey test

Table 3.	Viability and	l reduction	percentage	of lactic	acid bacte	ria in ACE	enriched	fermented	milk, st	brav drie	l powder,	and edible	film

Sources	S. thermophilus		L. bul	garicus	L. lactis		
	Viability (log CFU/mL)	Reduction (%)	Viability (log CFU/mL)	Reduction (%)	Viability (log CFU/mL)	Reduction (%)	
Fermented milk	12.21±0.11 ^{Aa}	0.00	12.10±0.16 ^{Aa}	0.00	10.78±0.08 ^{Ab}	0.00	
Spray dried powder	y dried powder 9.74±0.10 ^{Ba} 20.23		9.39±0.06 ^{Bb}	22.40	9.75±0.05 ^{Ba}	9.55	
Edible film	n 8.09±0.06 ^{Cab} 33.74		7.95±0.05 ^{cb}	34.30	8.13 ± 0.08^{Ca}	24.58	

Results were expressed as mean ± standard deviation, values are means of triplicates (n=3). ABC means in the same column followed by different uppercase letters and ^{ab} means in the same rows followed by different lowercase letters are significant (P<0.05) via one way ANOVA with tukey test separately

Table 4. Antibacterial zone of inhibition (mm) of edible film, spray dried powder and fermented milk against P. aeruginosa and K. pneumoniae										
Source			Zone of Inh	nibition (mm)						
	S. thern	nophilus	L. bul	garicus	L. lactis					
	P. aeruginosa	K. pneumoniae	P. aeruginosa	K. pneumoniae	P. aeruginosa	K. pneumoniae				
Fermented milk	8.67±0.58 ^{Bb}	8.00 ± 0.00^{Ba}	9.33±0.58 ^{Aab}	$8.00{\pm}0.00^{Aa}$	10.00 ± 0.00^{Ba}	8.33±0.58 ^{Ba}				
Spray dried powder	9.67 ± 0.58^{ABb}	8.67 ± 0.58^{Ba}	9.33±0.58 ^{Ab}	8.33±0.58 ^{Aa}	11.67 ± 0.58^{ABa}	9.67 ± 0.58^{Ba}				
Edible film 11.33±1.15 ^{Aa} 11.00±0.00 ^{Aa} 8.00±0.00 ^{Bb} 8.67±0.58 ^{Ab} 13.33±1.15 ^{Aa} 11.67±0.58 ^{Aa}										

Results were expressed as mean ± standard deviation, values are means of triplicates (n=3). ^{AB} means in the same columns followed by different uppercase letters and ^{ab} means in the same rows followed by different lowercase letters are significant (P<0.05) via one way ANOVA with tukey test separately for P. aeruginosa and K. pneumoniae

as determined by its sensory attributes, was below the concentration required for microbial inhibition, resulting in a sublethal effect on both *Lactobacillus* sp. and the yogurt starter culture, without compromising the fermentation process. *Table 2* presents the viability and survivability of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk without ACE and with varying percentages of ACE.

Numerous studies have demonstrated the benefits of microencapsulation in enhancing the survival of probiotics across various manufacturing techniques and unfavourable gastrointestinal conditions. Probiotic products can be sensitive to environmental factors such as temperature, moisture, oxygen, and light. Exposure to unfavorable conditions during processing, packaging, and storage can lead to a reduction in the viability of the probiotic microorganisms, which can, in turn, compromise the efficacy of the product. Edible films made from pectin can improve the quality of food products by acting as a barrier to moisture, oxygen, and other gases that can cause spoilage, resulting in an extended shelf life. Additionally, pectin-based films can provide a protective coating to encapsulate and preserve probiotics ^[31]. *Table 3* displays the viability of lactic acid bacteria in spray-dried fermented milk powder, and edible film.

Antibacterial Effect of Functional Fermented Milk, Fermented Milk Powders and Edible Films

K. pneumoniae and *P. aeruginosa* are capable of inhabiting the oral cavity, pharynx, and gastrointestinal tract of humans, and are highly virulent and antibiotic resistant. Currently, *K. pneumoniae* is the predominant cause of pneumonia acquired in hospital settings ^[32]. *Table 4* displays the impact of edible film, spray dried powder, and fermented milk on the antibacterial zone of inhibition (mm) against *P. aeruginosa* and *K. pneumoniae*. In this study, the antibacterial activity of edible films, spray dried powder, and fermented milk containing *S. thermophilus*, *L. bulgaricus*, and *L. lactis* against *P. aeruginosa* and *K. pneumoniae* was examined. The edible film with *S*. *thermophilus* and *L. lactis* shows a significantly higher zone of inhibition against both *P. aeruginosa* and *K. pneumoniae* in the present study, measuring 11.33 ± 1.15 mm and 13.33 ± 1.15 mm, respectively, and 11.00 ± 0.00 mm and 11.67 ± 0.58 mm, respectively. The literature findings reported four categories of active compound inhibition in bacteria, with the diameter of the inhibition zone classified as weak (5 mm), moderate (5-10 mm), strong (10-20 mm), and very strong (20-30 mm) ^[28].

DISCUSSION

A significant increase in the antibacterial zone of inhibition (mm) against *K. pneumoniae* and *P. aeruginosa*, with values of 11.00 ± 0.00 and 10.33 ± 0.58 respectively, was observed for 7.5% of ACE, in comparison to 5% and 2.5%. In vitro testing was conducted to assess the antibacterial effects of clove ethanolic extract on *K. pneumoniae* and *P. aeruginosa*, resulting in maximum zones of inhibition of 16mm and 14mm, respectively ^[33]. These results were consistent with previous research by which showed that clove water extract inhibited the growth of *P. aeruginosa*. Furthermore, antibacterial properties were observed in clove extracts prepared from both aqueous and ethanol-based solutions against both *K. pneumoniae* and *P. aeruginosa*, with the most significant activity being observed against *K. pneumoniae* ^[34].

The viability of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk was significantly reduced with the addition of ACE, as indicated by the results. The fermented milk without ACE had the highest viability of lactic acid bacteria. These findings suggest that the addition of ACE negatively affected the viability of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk. The viability of S. thermophilus, L. bulgaricus, and L. lactis fermented milk with 7.5% ACE was observed to be 12.21±0.11, 12.10±0.16, and 10.78±0.08 (log CFU/mL), respectively. Although there is no agreement among the global scientific community regarding the ideal dosage of probiotics needed to obtain health benefits, various studies have suggested that minimum doses ranging from 10⁶ to 10⁹ CFU/day may be necessary to produce therapeutic effects^[11]. For probiotic foods to provide health benefits, they must contain a minimum of 10⁷ cfu/g of probiotic bacteria. According to the findings gathered thus far, it can be inferred that fermented milk containing 7.5% ACE integration has demonstrated adequate viability, making it a viable candidate for both spray drying and edible film production, thereby enhancing the longevity of its viability according to Pourjafar et al.^[35].

In the present study, it was observed that the viability of *S. thermophilus* and *L. lactis* in fermented milk powder and their respective edible film was significantly higher than that of *L. bulgaricus*. The viable count of edible films prepared with *S. thermophilus*, *L. lactis*, and *L.*

379

bulgaricus in pectin biopolymer were $8.09\pm0.06 \log CFU/mL$, $8.13\pm0.08 \log CFU/mL$, and $7.95\pm0.05 \log CFU/mL$, respectively. Similarly, for spray-dried powder, the viable count was $9.74\pm0.10 \log CFU/mL$, $9.75\pm0.05 \log CFU/mL$, and $9.39\pm0.06 \log CFU/mL$, respectively. These results were consistent with previous reports that *S. thermophilus* was less susceptible to spray-drying than *L. delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus*. In addition, probiotic yogurt powder containing *Lactobacillus paracasei* and *S. thermophilus* had viable counts exceeding 10^8 CFU/g , while the less heat-tolerant *L. delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* survived only at 10^5 CFU/g of powder. Also the coatings made with *S. thermophilus*, *L. bulgaricus*, and *L. acidophilus* exhibited the best protective properties against microbial spoilage, higher viability (10^8 CFU/g), and increased shelf life ^[36].

According to Gul & Atalar^[37] the viability of *Lactobacillus* sp. reduced by 0.43-1.62 log on spray drying, where *L. paracasei* NFBC 338 and *L. rhamnosus* GG survived spray-drying of reconstituted skim milk at approximately 80% and 60%, respectively. Similarly, the viability of *Lactobacillus* strains after spray-drying process shows 1.69-1.99 log-reduction^[38]. Correspondingly, fresh yoghurt *Lactobacillus* viability also dropped from 7.42-6.15 log CFU/g on spray drying, indicating a 17.1% loss in viability ^[39]. In comparison to different film-forming solutions, edible films containing *Lactobacillus* strains showed a decrease in viability ranging from 0.4 to 2 log CFU/g ^[40].

Furthermore, Ma et al.^[41] reported that the *Lactococcus* strain showed the best viability and antimicrobial activity when added to edible film. A survival rate of 21.6% *for Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *cremoris* was observed to be higher when spray drying was carried out at 130°C, utilizing lactose and sodium caseinate as the drying agents. Various inlet temperatures were used, resulting in a loss of viability ranging from 0.60 to 1.22 log cycles for *Lactococcus* ^[42]. The study suggested that the reason for the high retention of *Lactococcus* survivability 93.14±2.74%, in edible film, could be linked to the utilization of a lower drying temperature of 30°C and an extended adaptation time of one day ^[43]. The results were consistent with the present study.

As a result of atypical encapsulation procedure, it is possible to reduce the viability of the *Lactobacillus* and *Lactococcus* strains, which could have consequences for their prospective application of probiotics. The ability of lactic acid bacteria to survive in edible film can be influenced by the base material of the film, nutritional content, initial viability of bacteria, pH, and osmotic pressure. Further research is required to enhance the encapsulation procedure to reduce the loss of viability while maximizing the potential advantages. *Lactococcus* has been found to contain antibacterial compounds that inhibit the growth of *Pseudomonas*, making it a potential preventative and treatment option for *Pseudomonas* infections ^[44]. To ensure the safety of food, researchers have investigated the antimicrobial properties of *Lactococcus* strains found in spontaneously fermented camel milk and the elimination mechanism of *K. pneumoniae* in pasteurized camel milk. All milk samples that were inoculated with a *L. lactis* strain were devoid of *K. pneumoniae* after 75 h of testing ^[45]. Hence, the antimicrobial activity observed in *L. lactis* cannot be ascribed to the organic acids or hydrogen peroxide generated by the culture, as the inhibitory effects remained unchanged even after neutralization or treatment with catalase in the cell-free supernatant preparations.

P. aeruginosa is an opportunistic pathogen that can cause food spoilage through its lipolytic and proteolytic activities, although this can be prevented by the hydrogen peroxide produced by *Lactobacillus* species. Furthermore, according to Jamalifar et al.^[46], *Lactobacillus acidophilus* strain exhibited strong (90 % inhibitory activity) antipseudomonal activity against multi-drug resistant clinical isolates. The current findings are in agreement with those of Pulusani et al.^[47], *L. bulgaricus* was found to produce a robust zone of inhibition against the growth of *P. aeruginosa*, measuring over 25 mm, while *L. acidophilus* and *S. thermophilus* exhibited zones of inhibition ranging from 21-25 mm. Yerlikaya et al.^[48] also reported the highest antimicrobial effect of *L. bulgaricus* (17 ± 1.7mm) than *S. thermophilus* against *P. aeruginosa*.

The current findings align with the outcomes presented by Fauziah et al.^[1], signifies that *L. bulgaricus* found in soyghurt can impede the attachment of K. pneumoniae to HEp2 cell lines. Following a period of pre-infection, co-infection, and post-infection with *L. bulgaricus* at a concentration of 108 CFU/mL for 5 hours, the adhesion of K. pneumoniae ATCC 700603 decreased by 6.42%, 19.505%, and 35.405%, respectively. Similarly, the adhesion of K. pneumoniae S941 decreased by 10.11%, 37.845%, and 43.74%, while K. pneumoniae CT1538 showed a decline of 30%, 31.055%, and 55.875%. In addition, it has been demonstrated that strains of L. bulgaricus and S. thermophilus isolated from homemade yogurts exhibit antimicrobial activity against K. Pneumoniae. Furthermore, the impact of L. bulgaricus has been uncovered by researchers who observed that antimicrobial effect was attributed to the unique characteristics of L. bulgaricus, which resulted in the production of more advanced lactic acid^[49]. Previous studies have demonstrated that lactic acid possesses significant antibacterial and antifungal properties^[50].

Pseudomonas aeruginosa and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* are of multidrug-resistant gram-negative bacteria that are frequently associated with bacterial pneumonia. Clove has

traditionally been used as a natural cure for a variety of diseases, including respiratory problems, headaches, and sore throats. Current study revealed that combining ACE with specific strains of S. thermophilus, L. bulgaricus, and L. lactis in fermented milk, spray dried powder, and edible films can potentially have an antibacterial impact against P. aeruginosa and K. pneumoniae. The recommended lactic acid bacteria viability for the final edible film made with these strains was 107 CFU/mL. L. lactis and S. thermophilus ACE integrated edible film and spray dried powder were found to have much higher viability and antibacterial action than L. bulgaricus. Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are known to produce organic acids that reduce pH and enhance the formation of hydrogen peroxide and bacteriocins, both of which have antibacterial effects against a variety of pathogenic pathogens, including Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. However, further research is needed, to fully understand the combined effects of multiple natural antimicrobial agents and lactic acid bacteria, its mechanisum of action in an actual food system to establish its potential value in preventing foodborne diseases.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The datasets used and/ or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author (L. P. Pui) on reasonable request.

Acknowledgement and Funding Support: This work was supported by UCSI Research Excellence & Innovative Grant, UCSI University, Malaysia (REIG-FAS- 2021/003).

Competing Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest

Ethical Statement: Ethics committee approval is not required for this study.

Authors Contribution: Study design: LAKS and LPP; Experiments: LAKS; Data analysis: LAKS, LPP and KLN; Writing - Original draft preparation: LAKS; Writing - Review & Editing: all authors; All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Fauziah PN, Chrysanti, Sayuti JN: Effects of *Lactobacillus bulgaricus* in soyghurt on inhibition of adhesion *Klebsiella pneumoniae* strains in HEp-2 cell lines. *Int Food Res J*, 25 (4): 1720-1725, 2018.

2. World Health Organization: Revised WHO classification and treatment of childhood pneumonia at health facilities: Evidence summaries. *WHO*, 1 p, 2022.

3. Riquelme SA, Ahn D, Prince A: *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* adaptation to innate immune clearance mechanisms in the lung. J Innate Immun, 10 (5-6): 442-454, 2018. DOI: 10.1159/000487515

4. Racedo S, Villena J, Salva S, Alvarez S: Influence of yogurt consumption on the respiratory immune response. *Food Agric Immunol*, 20 (3): 231-244, 2009. DOI: 10.1080/09540100903061659

5. Paz D, Aleman RS, Cedillos R, Olson DW, Aryana K, Marcia J, Boeneke C: Probiotic characteristics of *Streptococcus thermophilus* and *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* ssp. *bulgaricus* as influenced by carao (*Cassia grandis*). *Fermentation*, 8 (10):499, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/fermentation8100499

6. Vicidomini C, Roviello V, Roviello GN: Molecular basis of the

therapeutical potential of clove (*Syzygium aromaticum* L.) and clues to its anti-COVID-19 utility. *Molecules*, 26 (7):1880, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/molecules26071880

7. Ogwaro BA, O'Gara EA, Hill DJ, Gibson H: The effect of combined clove and cinnamon extracts on growth and survival of *Escherichia fergusonii* and *Salmonella typhimurium* in milk pre and post fermentation. *J Food Sci Nutr Res*, 5 (1): 430-451, 2022. DOI: 10.26502/jfsnr.2642-11000090

8. Sácz-Orviz S, Rendueles M, Díaz M: Impact of adding prebiotics and probiotics on the characteristics of edible films and coatings - A review. *Food Res Int*, 164:112381, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2022.112381

9. Vargas LA, Olson DW, Aryana KJ: Whey protein isolate improves acid and bile tolerances of *Streptococcus thermophilus* ST-M5 and *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* ssp: *bulgaricus* LB-12. *J Dairy Sci*, 98 (4): 2215-2221, 2015. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2014-8869

10. Silva SPM, Ribeiro SC, Teixeira JA, Silva CCG: Application of an alginate-based edible coating with bacteriocin-producing *Lactococcus* strains in fresh cheese preservation. *LWT*, 153:112486, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j. lwt.2021.112486

11. Espitia PJP, Batista RA, Azeredo HMC, Otoni CG: Probiotics and their potential applications in active edible films and coatings. *Food Res Int*, 90, 42-52, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2016.10.026

12. Vieira da Silva B, Barreira JCM, Oliveira MBPP: Natural phytochemicals and probiotics as bioactive ingredients for functional foods: Extraction, biochemistry and protected-delivery technologies. *Trends Food Sci Technol*, 50, 144-158, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.tifs.2015.12.007

13. Mbye M, Baig MA, AbuQamar SF, El-Tarabily KA, Obaid RS, Osaili TM, Al-Nabulsi AA, Turner MS, Shah NP, Ayyash MM: Updates on understanding of probiotic lactic acid bacteria responses to environmental stresses and highlights on proteomic analyses. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf*, 19 (3): 1110-1124, 2020. DOI: 10.1111/1541-4337.12554

14. Parreidt TS, Müller K, Schmid M: Alginate-based edible films and coatings for food packaging applications. *Foods*, 7 (10): 170, 2018. DOI: 10.3390/foods7100170

15. Himani, Kumar N, Prabhakar PK, Pant V: Physical, mechanical, functional, and thermal characterization of chitosan: Maltodextrin blends edible oral film incorporated with aqueous clove extract. *Starch*, 73 (1-2):1900220, 2021. DOI: 10.1002/star.201900220

16. Kanik, Jairath G, Singh B, Dhar JB, Sharma R, Gopinath D, Sharma N, Mal G: Antihypertensive activity of fermented milk containing various aqueous herbal extracts. *Int J Food Sci Agric*, 5 (2): 326-331, 2021. DOI: 10.26855/ijfsa.2021.06.018

17. Rawat K, Kumari A, Kumar R, Partibha: Spray dried fermented milk products. *Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci*, 9 (7): 1293-1299, 2020. DOI: 10.20546/ijcmas.2020.907.148

18. Ribeiro MCE, Chaves KS, Gebara C, Infante FNS, Grosso CRF, Gigante ML: Effect of microencapsulation of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* LA-5 on physicochemical, sensory and microbiological characteristics of stirred probiotic yoghurt. *Food Res Int*, 66, 424-431, 2014. DOI: 10.1016/j. foodres.2014.10.019

19. Downes FP, Ito K: Culture methods for enumeration of microorganisms. Compend Methods Microbiol Exam Foods. 4th Ed., APHA, Washington, D.C, 2001.

20. Nwamaioha NO, Ibrahim SA: A selective medium for the enumeration and differentiation of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* ssp. *bulgaricus. J Dairy Sci*, 101 (6): 4953-4961, 2018. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2017-14155

21. Liu Y, Charamis N, Boeren S, Blok J, Lewis AG, Smid EJ, Abee T: Physiological roles of short-chain and long-chain menaquinones (vitamin K2) in *Lactococcus cremoris. Front Microbiol*, 13 (3): 1-18, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.823623

22. Akhondali Z, Dianat M, Radan M: The antimicrobial activity of probiotic bacteria *Escherichia coli* isolated from different natural sources against hemorrhagic *E. coli* O157:H7. *Electron Physician*, 7 (1): 971-976, 2015. DOI: 10.19082/6548

23. Dhawi F, El-beltagi HS, Aly E: Antioxidant, antibacterial activities and mineral content of buffalo yoghurt fortified with fenugreek and *moringa oleifera* seed flours. *Foods*, 9 (1157): 1-16, 2020. DOI: 10.3390/foods9091157

24. Elobaid R, Kaur B, Vijayalakshmi N: Isolation and identification of *Bifidobacterium* from dairy products and screening its antibacterial activity. *Quest Int J Med Health Sci*, 3 (2): 38-43, 2020. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.4473214

25. Sablania V, Don Bosco SJ, Ahmed T, Venkateswara Sarma V: Antimicrobial and antioxidant properties of spray dried *Murraya koenigii* leaf powder. *J Food Meas Charact*, 13 (3): 2288-2297, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/ s11694-019-00148-x

26. Partheniadis I, Vergkizi S, Lazari D, Reppas C, Nikolakakis I: Formulation, characterization and antimicrobial activity of tablets of essential oil prepared by compression of spray-dried powder. *J Drug Deliv Sci Technol*, 50 (1): 226-236, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.jddst.2019.01.031

27. Stroescu M, Stoica-Guzun A, Isopencu G, Jinga SI, Parvulescu O, Dobre T, Vasilescu M: Chitosan-vanillin composites with antimicrobial properties. *Food Hydrocoll*, 48, 62-71, 2015. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodhyd. 2015.02.008

28. Sanam MUE, Detha AIR, Rohi NK: Detection of antibacterial activity of lactic acid bacteria, isolated from Sumba mare's milk, against *Bacillus cereus, Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Escherichia coli. J Adv Vet Anim Res*, 9 (1): 53-58, 2022. DOI: 10.5455/javar.2022.i568

29. Gulten O, Mahabbat M, Mustafa V: The antibacterial activities of *syzygium aromaticum* (L.) merr. & perry against oral bacteria and its antioxidant and antimutagenic activities. *Int J Pharm Sci Res*, 9 (11): 4634-4641, 2018.

30. Vallverdú-Queralt A, Regueiro J, Martínez-Huélamo M, Rinaldi Alvarenga JF, Leal LN, Lamuela-Raventos RM: A comprehensive study on the phenolic profile of widely used culinary herbs and spices: Rosemary, thyme, oregano, cinnamon, cumin and bay. *Food Chem*, 154 (2014): 299-307, 2014. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.12.106

31. Younis HGR, Abdellatif HRS, Ye F, Zhao G: Tuning the physicochemical properties of apple pectin films by incorporating chitosan/pectin fiber. *Int J Biol Macromol*, 159, 213-221, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.05.060

32. Chang D, Sharma L, Dela Cruz CS, Zhang D: Clinical epidemiology, risk factors, and control strategies of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection. *Front Microbiol*, 12 (December): 1-9, 2021. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2021.750662

33. Faujdar S, Bisht D, Amisha S: Antibacterial activity of *Syzygium aromaticum* (clove) against uropathogens producing ESBL, MBL, and AmpC beta-lactamase: Are we close to getting a new antibacterial agent? *J Fam Med Prim Care*, 6 (2): 169-170, 2017. DOI: 10.4103%2Fjfmpc.jfmpc_908_19

34. Liu J, Shahid Mahmood M, Abbas RZ, Dillawar A, Nawaz Z, Luqman M, Abbas A, ur Rehman A, Rafique R: Therapeutic appraisal of ethanolic and aqueous extracts of clove (*Syzygium aromaticum*) and garlic (*Allium sativum*) as antimicrobial agent. *Pak J Agric Sci*, 58 (1): 245-251, 2021. DOI: 10.21162/PAKJAS/21.650

35. Pourjafar H, Noori N, Gandomi H, Basti AA, Ansari F: Viability of microencapsulated and non-microencapsulated *Lactobacilli* in a commercial beverage. *Biotechnol Rep*, 25:e00432, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.btre.2020. e00432

36. Gregirchak N, Stabnikova O, Stabnikov V: Application of lactic acid bacteria for coating of wheat bread to protect it from microbial spoilage. *Plant Foods Hum Nutr*, 75 (2): 223-229, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s11130-020-00803-5

37. Gul O, Atalar I: Different stress tolerance of spray and freeze dried *Lactobacillus casei* shirota microcapsules with different encapsulating agents. *Food Sci Biotechnol*, 28 (3): 807-816, 2019. DOI: 10.1007%2Fs10068-018-0507-x

38. Kiekens S, Vandenheuvel D, Broeckx G, Claes I, Allonsius C, De Boeck I, Thys S, Timmermans JP, Kiekens F, Lebeer S: Impact of spraydrying on the pili of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG. *Microb Biotechnol*, 12 (5): 849-855, 2019. DOI: 10.1111%2F1751-7915.13426

39. El-Sayed HS, Salama HH, Edris AE: Survival of *Lactobacillus helveticus* CNRZ32 in spray dried functional yogurt powder during processing and storage. *J Saudi Soc Agric Sci*, 19 (7): 461-467, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j. jssas.2020.08.003

40. Sogut E, Filiz BE, Seydim AC: Whey protein isolate- and carrageenanbased edible films as carriers of different probiotic bacteria. *J Dairy Sci*, 105 (6): 4829-4842, 2022. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2021-21245 **41. Ma D, Jiang Y, Ahmed S, Qin W, Liu Y:** Physical and antimicrobial properties of edible films containing *Lactococcus lactis. Int J Biol Macromol,* 141, 378-386, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.09.006

42. Martins E, Cnossen DC, Silva CRJ, Cezarino JC, Nero LA, Perrone IT, Carvalho AF: Determination of ideal water activity and powder temperature after spray drying to reduce *Lactococcus lactis* cell viability loss. *J Dairy Sci*, 102 (7): 6013-6022, 2019. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2019-16297

43. Tan EW, Tan KY, Phang LV, Kumar PV, In LLA: Enhanced gastrointestinal survivability of recombinant *Lactococcus lactis* using a double coated mucoadhesive film approach. *PLoS One*, 14 (7):e0219912, 2019. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219912

44. Beeram E, Silpa C: Antagonist effect of *Lactococcus* on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolated from milk and curd. *Sci Arch*, 2 (2): 109-112, 2021. DOI: 10.47587/SA.2021.2208

45. Bragason E, Berhe T, Dashe D, Sørensen KI, Guya ME, Hansen EB: Antimicrobial activity of novel *Lactococcus lactis* strains against *Salmonella Typhimurium* DT12, *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 VT⁻ and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in raw and pasteurised camel milk. *Int Dairy J*, 111:104832, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.idairyj.2020.104832

46. Jamalifar H, Rahimi HR, Samadi N, Shaverdi AR, Sharifian Z,

Hosseini F, Eslahi H, Fazeli M: Antimicrobial activity of different *Lactobacillus* species against multi-drug resistant clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Iran J Microbiol*, 3 (1): 21-25, 2011.

47. Pulusani SR, Rao DR, Sunki GR: Antimicrobial activity of lactic cultures: Partial purification and characterization of antimicrobial compound(s) produced by *Streptococcus thermophilus*. *J Food Sci*, 44 (2): 575-578, 1979. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.1979.tb03839.x

48. Yerlikaya O, Saygili D, Akpinar A: Evaluation of antimicrobial activity and antibiotic susceptibility profiles of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* and *Streptococcus thermophilus* strains isolated from commercial yoghurt starter cultures. *Food Sci Technol*, 41 (2): 418-425, 2021. DOI: 10.1590/fst.03920

49. Akpinar A, Yerlikaya O, Kiliç S: Antimicrobial activity and antibiotic resistance of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* ssp. *bulgaricus* and *Streptococcus thermophilus* strains isolated from Turkish homemade yoghurts. *J Microbiol*, 5 (6): 675-682, 2011.

50. Stanojević-Nikolić S, Dimić G, Mojović L, Pejin J, Djukić-Vuković A, Kocić-Tanackov S: Antimicrobial activity of lactic acid against pathogen and spoilage microorganisms. *J Food Process Preserv*, 40 (5): 990-998, 2016. DOI: 10.1111/jfpp.12679

Research Article

Response Surface Methodology Mediated Optimization of Medium Components for Growth Density and Rate of *Mycoplasma gallisepticum*

Yu SUN ¹ [©] Yan YU ¹ [©] Xiubao ZHAO ² [©] Jialei ZHAO ³ [©] Xiaojing XIA ¹ [©] Zhiqiang SHEN ² ^(*) [©] Shuguang LI ² ^(*) [©] Likun CHENG ² ^(*) [©]

¹ Henan Institute of Science and Technology, College of Animal Science and Veterinary Medicine, Xinxiang 453003, CHINA

² Shandong Binzhou Animal Science and Veterinary Medicine Academy, Research Institution of Veterinarian, Binzhou 256600, CHINA

³ Shandong Lvdu Bio-science and Technology Co. Ltd., Binzhou 256600, CHINA



 (*) Corresponding author: Zhiqiang SHEN, Shuguang LI & Likun CHENG
Phone: +86-543-3418279
(Z.S.) +86-543-3418279 (S.L.) +86-543-3418279 (L.C.)
E-mail: bzshenzq@163.com

(Z.S.) lshug@163.com (S.L.) clksd@126.com (L.C.)

How to cite this article?

Sun Y, Yu Y, Zhao X, Zhao J, Xia X, Shen Z, Li S, Cheng L: Response surface methodology mediated optimization of medium components for growth density and rate of *Mycoplasma gallisepticum*. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 383-392, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31651

Article ID: KVFD-2024-31651 Received: 21.01.2024 Accepted: 16.04.2024 Published Online: 22.04.2024

Abstract

This study aimed to optimize the composition of a liquid medium for Mycoplasma gallisepticum growth rate and density through statistical approach. The growth concentration of *M. gallisepticum* was determined by plotting a standard curve using Real-Time Quantitative PCR. The one-factor-at-a-time method and the Plakett-Burman design were initially applied to identify the factors that influenced the biomass of M. gallisepticum. The steepest ascent experiment and response surface methodology (RSM) with Box-Behnken design was employed to simultaneously assess the effects of multiple factors. Finally, optimization of the initial pH and validation of the model were done. The optimum concentrations of the critical components were obtained as follows: 203.96 mL/L of horse serum, 9.64 g/L of glucose, and 9.49 g/L of PPLO broth. The nucleic acid copy number of *M. gallisepticum* reached 10^{10.5147} copies/mL and the viable cell count reached a maximum of 109.8451 CCU/mL. This medium reduced the incubation time by approximately 6 h, and *M. gallisepticum* nucleic acid concentration and viable cell count were higher than those in the modified Frey medium (9.99 and 7 times, respectively). The new liquid medium is likely to improve productivity and reduce the production costs for vaccine-manufacturing companies in the future by reducing incubation times and increasing the growth rate and concentration of M. gallisepticum.

Keywords: Body weight, Continuous light stress, Cortisol, Cystic follicle, *Ferula*, Ovary, Oxidative stress

INTRODUCTION

Mycoplasma gallisepticum is a significant pathogen in poultry and wild birds ^[1]. *M. gallisepticum* can cause Chronic Respiratory Disease (CRD) in chickens ^[2], which results in high economic losses because of reduced feed conversion efficiency, slow growth, and decreased hatchability ^[3]. Both vertical and horizontal transmission of the pathogen is possible, and *M. gallisepticum* can also cause coinfections with other respiratory pathogens, which increases the mortality rate ^[4-6]. When chickens are infected with *M. gallisepticum*, antibiotics are commonly used to control the infection. However, completely clearing *M. gallisepticum* from infected chickens is impossible, and the concerns of increased drug resistance and antibiotic residues cannot be ignored ^[7,8].

Inoculating chickens with the *M. gallisepticum* vaccine is regarded as an acceptable method for providing protection ^[9]. Presently, these vaccines are primarily produced via microbial fermentation, the medium composition and the culture concentration of highdensity fermentation culture are the critical factors that impact the cost of the vaccine ^[10]. It is uneasy to culture *M. gallisepticum* as it has limited synthesis capacity; therefore, it requires large amounts of nutrients from the external environment ^[11,12]. The most commonly used culture component in the *Mycoplasma* medium is based on pleuropneumonia-like organisms (PPLO) and is widely utilized ^[13]. The composition of the medium (carbon and nitrogen sources) is a crucial element influencing biological growth as fermentation conditions.



Hence, optimizing the medium and the fermentation conditions can aid in increasing biomass and reducing costs [14,15]. Response surface methodology (RSM) is an empirical statistical technique that uses mathematical modeling to determine the mutual effects of various process parameters on the response variable. Quantitative data generated from the design of experiments and the analysis of regression models and operational conditions can result in high-end performance ^[16]. Several statistically-based experimental designs have been used to optimize the fermentation medium, and these include full factorial design, partial factorial design, Plackett-Burman design (PBD), Box-Behnken design (BBD), and central composite design (CCD)^[17]. Currently, PBD and RSM are successfully used to optimize the variables in the culture medium. These methods are used to enhance the production of industrially important metabolites by various microorganisms such as fungi, bacteria, and actinomycetes ^[18-20]. The concentration of viable bacterial cells of Lactobacillus plantarum Y44 cultured at 37°C for 16 h in the optimized medium was 3.363×10¹⁰ CFU/mL. This amount was 6.11 times higher than that in the MRS medium ^[21]. The yield of valine was 457.23±9.52 mg/L after optimizing the fermentation medium of Streptomyces sp. Zjut-iF-354 using RSM, which is the highest yield ever reported ^[22].

In this study, the *M. gallisepticum* R strain, which was preserved via lyophilization in our laboratory, was used for fermentation. Carbon and nitrogen sources that can increase the concentration of *M. gallisepticum* were screened using the one-factor-at-a-time method. Subsequently, the primary factors that affect the concentration of *M. gallisepticum* were optimized via RSM. Furthermore, a fermentation medium suitable for industrial production was screened and verified experimentally, which laid the foundation for further industrial application.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Mycoplasma gallisepticum R Strain and Culture Medium

Mycoplasma gallisepticum R strain, which was freeze-dried and preserved by Shandong Lvdu Biotechnology Co., LTD. (Shandong, China), was used as the research object and was passaged at least three times before use. NaCl, KCl, MgSO₄·7H2O, Na₂HPO₄·12H₂O, KH₂PO₄, glucose, L-cysteine solution, arginine solution, penicillin, phenol red, and trehalose were bought from Sinopharm Chemical Reagent Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China), yeast extract and yeast peptone was bought from Angel Yeast Co., Ltd. (Hubei, China), lactalbumin hydrolysate, peptone, heart infusion broth, beef extract, brain heart infusion, trypticase soy broth, and PPLO broth was bought from ThermoFisher Scientific (Waltham, MA, USA), NADH I was bought from Beijing Ruitaibio Co., Ltd. (Beijing, China), horse serum was bought from Tianjin Kangyuan Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (Tianjin, China).

Modified Frey medium: 5.0 g of NaCl, 0.4 g of KCl, 0.2 g of MgSO₄·7H2O, 1.6 g of Na₂HPO₄·12H₂O, 0.2 g of KH₂PO₄, 10.0 g of glucose, 5.0 g of lactalbumin hydrolysate, 5.0 g of yeast extract, 10 mL of 1% NADH I, 10 mL of 1% L-cysteine solution, 20 mL of 2% arginine solution, 10 mL of penicillin 80.000 U/mL, 1 mL of 1% phenol red, 100 mL of horse serum were added into 1000 mL sterile water. These ingredients were mixed and dissolved, the initial pH was adjusted to 7.6-7.8, and bacteria were removed via filtration through a 0.22- μ m syringe filter (Guangzhou Jet Biofiltration Co., Ltd., China).

Fermentation Conditions for the *Mycoplasma* gallisepticum R Strain

This culture was inoculated aseptically (10% v/v) into 20 mL medium contained in a 100-mL glass bottle, incubated at 37°C until an orange-yellow color was obtained.

Measurement of the Nucleic Acid Concentration of Mycoplasma gallisepticum

Real-time quantitative PCR was performed to determine the nucleic acid concentration of *M. gallisepticum*. The standard curve was established according to the different concentrations of nucleic acid standard of *M. gallisepticum* and Ct value.

Sample Preparation

The fermentation medium cultured was heated at 95°C for 10-15 min and diluted 10 times for Real-Time Quantitative PCR detection.

Determination of Medium Composition Using the One-Factor-At-a-Time Method

Adequate nutrients are present in the culture medium of *M. gallisepticum*. Carbon and nitrogen sources and serum are essential for the growth of *M. gallisepticum*. To obtain a higher concentration of *M. gallisepticum*, eight basic media were configured, and the sources of carbon source (3 g/L of trehalose) and nitrogen sources (10 g/L of peptone, yeast peptone, heart infusion broth, beef extract, brain heart infusion, trypticase soy broth, PPLO broth) with different compositions were supplemented after the nitrogen source in the modified Frey medium was reduced to 50%.

Plackett-Burman Design (PBD)

The PBD was used to screen for and evaluate variables that exerted significant effects on the concentration of *M. gallisepticum*, but the results did not describe the interactions between these variables. According to the preliminary screening results, seven variables were selected, namely, brain heart infusion (X_1) , yeast extract (X_2) , lactalbumin hydrolysate (X_3) , trypticase soy broth

385

Table 1. Plackett-Burman design factors and levels								
Eastons	Variable	Le	evel					
ractors	variable	Low Level (-1)	High Level (1)					
X_1	Brain Heart Infusion	10	20					
X_2	Yeast Extract	2.5	5					
X ₃	Lactalbumin Hydrolysate	2.5	5					
X4	Trypticase Soy Broth	10	20					
X5	Horse Serum	100	200					
X ₆	Glucose	10	20					
X ₇	PPLO Broth	10	20					

 (X_4) , horse serum (X_5) , glucose (X_6) , and PPLO broth (X_7) . The high and low levels of each factor were selected. The variables represented by high and low levels were coded as +1 and -1, respectively; the concentration of components in the initial medium was set to the low level (-1), and the high level was set to twice the low level. The factors and levels are listed in *Table 1*.

The Steepest Ascent Experiment

The steepest ascent experiment was designed based on the results of PBD. The appropriate direction and change steps were determined based on the influence values of each factor. According to the results of PBD, the direction and change steps of the steepest ascent experiment were estimated. The highest concentration of *M. gallisepticum* was rapidly approached based on the three main influencing factors, namely horse serum, glucose, and PPLO broth.

Box-Behenken Design (BBD)

BBD based on response surface analysis is a statisticalmathematical method that reflects the best matching conditions obtained when factors in a multifactorial system interact with each other to achieve the maximum response value. Based on the results of PBD, three factors (horse serum, glucose, and PPLO broth) at three levels (-1, 0, and 1) were selected for the next test, and Real-Time Quantitative PCR was used to determine the concentration of *M. gallisepticum* nucleic acid. The factors and levels in the experimental program are presented in *Table 2*.

Effect of Medium pH on Concentration

The effect of the initial pH of the culture medium on concentration was investigated to determine the optimal

Table 2. Response surface experimental factors and levels								
Nama	Factors	Level						
Ivaille	ractors	-1	0	1				
X5	Horse Serum	200	205	210				
X ₆	Glucose 9 9.5 10							
X ₇	PPLO Broth	9	9.5	10				

culture conditions for the *M. gallisepticum* R strain. The pH was adjusted using 1M NaOH (7.4, 7.6, 7.8, and 8.0) before filtration and incubated until an orange-yellow color was obtained. Subsequently, Real-Time Quantitative PCR was used to determine optimal fermentation conditions and provide process parameters for fermentation and cultivation in large-volume fermenters.

Model Validation

The optimized fermentation conditions were subjected to a model validation fermentation using response surface analysis. The concentration of *M. gallisepticum* was then determined using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the color change unit (CCU) at the end of the fermentation, and the response values were compared with the predicted data.

Statistical Analysis

All experiments were repeated three times, and the data were presented as mean \pm SD. The data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA and Duncan's post-hoc pairwise multiple range test to determine the magnitude of differences, and differences between sample mean values of P<0.05 were considered significant. The quality of fit for the polynomial model equations was quantified using the determination coefficient (R²). The PBD and BBD data were analyzed using the Design Expert software (Version 10.0.3., USA), and GraphPad Prism 7.0 (GraphPad Software, USA) was used to perform all analyses.

RESULTS

Rapid Detection Method for Nucleic Acid Concentration

Based on research previously conducted in our laboratory, a standard curve was plotted by correlating Real-Time Quantitative PCR Ct values with the copy number of *M. gallisepticum* nucleic acid samples (*Fig. 1*). The equation of the standard curve was y = -3.646x+44.208, with a correlation coefficient R² of 0.998. It was utilized to



rapidly identify the concentration of *M. gallisepticum* in the following fermentation process.

Effect of Different Nutrient Sources on the Concentration of *M. gallisepticum*

Nutrient requirements are crucial during the fermentation of *M. gallisepticum*. The findings demonstrated that different nutrients had a significant effect on the growth of *M. gallisepticum* (*Table 3*). The concentration of *M. gallisepticum* increased to $10^{10.1998}$ copies/mL when the PPLO broth was added; however, the addition of a carbon source (trehalose) did not have any effect (P>0.05) on the concentration of *M. gallisepticum*. Therefore, the three best nitrogen sources (brain heart infusion, trypticase soy broth, and PPLO broth) that increased the concentration of *M. gallisepticum* were selected for the subsequent experiments.

PBD to Screen the Main Effect Factors

To determine the factors with the highest influence on the concentration of *M. gallisepticum*, 12 different media were designed and formulated for testing using PBD. The observed responses are presented in *Table 4*, and the concentration of *M. gallisepticum* nucleic acid was found to vary from $10^{7.8143}$ copies/mL to $10^{10.2333}$ copies/mL (*Table 4*).

Regression analysis and ANOVA of the PBD were performed, as shown in *Table 4*. The regression was found to be significant (P-value 0.0459), and horse serum, glucose, and PPLO broth exhibited P-values of 0.0300, 0.0185, and 0.0359, respectively (*Table 5*). Prob>F values <0.05 denote that the model term holds significance. Thus, X_5 , X_6 , and X_7 were identified to be significant model terms and were deemed to be the variables with the highest effect on the nucleic acid concentration of *M. gallisepticum*. The

Table 3. Results of the one-factor-a-time method							
Factors	Components	Copy Number (log copies/mL)					
Unoptimized medium		9.3748					
	Peptone	9.6181					
	Yeast Peptone	9.8101					
	Heart Infusion Broth	9.8126					
Nitrogen sources	Beef Extract	9.8201					
	Brain Heart Infusion	9.8439					
	Trypticase Soy Broth	9.9114					
	PPLO Broth	10.1998					
Carbon sources	Trehalose	9.3217					

Table 4. Results of the Plackett-Burman design									
Deem			Copy Number						
Kun	\mathbf{X}_1	X_2	X ₃	X_4	X5	X6	X_7	(log copies/mL)	
1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	10.1656	
2	1	-1	1	1	-1	1	1	8.2194	
3	1	1	-1	1	1	1	-1	8.7726	
4	-1	1	1	1	-1	-1	-1	10.1209	
5	1	-1	1	1	1	-1	-1	10.0577	
6	1	-1	-1	-1	1	-1	1	9.7113	
7	1	1	-1	-1	-1	1	-1	8.3793	
8	1	1	1	-1	-1	-1	1	8.2723	
9	-1	-1	1	-1	1	1	-1	10.2333	
10	-1	-1	-1	1	-1	1	1	7.8143	
11	-1	1	-1	1	1	-1	1	9.9415	
12	-1	1	1	-1	1	1	1	9.1540	

Table 5. Analysis of the variance of PBD									
Source	Factors	Freedom	Coefficient Estimate	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F-Value	P-Value		
Model		7	9.24	8.24	1.18	6.41	0.0459*		
X ₁	Brain Heart Infusion	1	-0.33	1.34	1.34	7.32	0.0538		
X ₂	Yeast Extract	1	-0.13	0.20	0.20	1.10	0.3525		
X ₃	Lactalbumin Hydrolysate	1	0.11	0.14	0.14	0.73	0.4397		
X4	Trypticase Soy Broth	1	-0.082	0.082	0.082	0.44	0.5417		
X5	Horse Serum	1	0.41	2.00	2.00	10.88	0.0300*		
X ₆	Glucose	1	-0.47	2.70	2.70	14.71	0.0185*		
X ₇	PPLO Broth	1	-0.38	1.78	1.78	9.66	0.0359*		
$D^2 = 01.81\%$	Significant difference at P<0.05								

= 91.81%; ^ Significant difference at P<0.0

Table 6. The design and results of the steepest ascent experiment								
Run	X ₅ (mL/L)	X ₆ (g/L)	X ₇ (g/L)	Copy Number (log copies/mL)				
1	200	10	10	10.4284				
2	205	9.5	9.5	10.4973				
3	210	9	9	10.4371				
4	215	8.5	8.5	10.3987				
5	220	8	8	10.3580				

remaining variables exerted minimal and mathematically insignificant effects (P>0.05), as depicted in Table 5. Furthermore, the correlation coefficients for horse serum, glucose, and PPLO broth were 0.41, -0.47, and -0.38, respectively, which indicated that horse serum exhibited a positive impact and that glucose and PPLO broth exerted negative effects (Table 5). Thus, X₅, X₆, and X₇ were selected for further optimization studies. In the next optimization step, the concentrations of horse serum, glucose, and PPLO broth in the fermentation liquid medium were increased.

The Steepest Ascent Experiment

To better approximate the domain of maximum response values for each major factor in the subsequent response surface analysis, a steepest ascent experimental design was utilized. The concentrations of horse serum, glucose, and PPLO broth were varied by 5 mL/L, 0.5 g/L, and 0.5 g/L, respectively, in the steepest ascent test, and the response values for the steepest ascent experimental design are presented in Table 6.

The nucleic acid concentration of M. gallisepticum exhibited a pattern of increase, which was followed by a decrease; hence, the design was reliable. During the second experiment, the concentration peaked at 10^{10.4973} copies/mL, which represented the maximum response value across all three factors. So, this point was selected to set the base concentration of BBD.

Optimization Using the BBD

Nutrient requirements are crucial during the fermentation of M. gallisepticum. Therefore, optimizing the nutrient composition of the medium is an effective way to increase its concentration. Response surface analysis is an effective approach to optimize fermentation parameters. This study was performed to assess the interaction of primary variables, such as X_5 (horse serum), X_6 (glucose), and X_7 (PPLO broth), using BBD to enhance the concentration of M. gallisepticum. The experimental design and obtained results are displayed in Table 7. The regression equation was obtained as follows: $Y = 10.49 - 0.1X_5$ $+0.046X_{6}-0.025X_{7}+0.038X_{5}X_{6}-0.1X_{5}X_{7}-(7.825E-003)$ $X_6X_7 - 0.21X_5^2 - 0.071X_6^2 - 0.11X_7^2$

The statistical significance of the model equations was evaluated using the F-test for ANOVA, and the results are presented in *Table 7*. The ANOVA regression model showed a determination coefficient (R²) of 0.9845, which indicated that the model accounted for 98.45% of the variance in the response (Table 8). The adjusted coefficient of determination (R²adj) was 0.9647 (Table 8), and the high value implied the strong significance of the model. In this model, P<0.05, which signified that the regression was significant. Lack of fit (P>0.05) was not significant, which denoted that the model had a high level of confidence and could predict changes in the nucleic acid concentration of M. gallisepticum (Table 8).

Table 7. The results of the Box-Behenken design									
Deer		Copy Number							
Kun	X5	X ₆	X_7	(log copies/mL)					
1	0	0	0	10.5092					
2	-1	-1	0	10.3084					
3	-1	0	-1	10.1945					
4	1	0	-1	10.1833					
5	0	0	0	10.4831					
6	0	-1	-1	10.2473					
7	0	0	0	10.5037					
8	0	-1	1	10.2189					
9	0	1	-1	10.4042					
10	1	-1	0	10.0536					
11	0	1	1	10.3445					
12	-1	1	0	10.2769					
13	0	0	0	10.4723					
14	-1	0	1	10.3468					
15	1	1	0	10.1732					
16	1	0	1	9.9191					
17	0	0	0	10.4688					

Table 8. The experimental results of the Box-Behenken design								
Source	Sum of Squares	Degree of Freedom	Mean Square	F-Value	P-Value			
Model	0.44	9	0.049	49.52	< 0.0001*			
X5	0.079	1	0.079	80.21	< 0.0001*			
X ₆	0.017	1	0.017	17.33	0.0042*			
X ₇	5.000E-003	1	5.000E-003	5.05	0.0595			
X ₅ X ₆	5.708E-003	1	5.708E-003	5.76	0.0475*			
X ₅ X ₇	0.043	1	0.043	43.77	0.0003*			
X ₆ X ₇	2.449E-004	1	2.449E-004	0.25	0.6343			
X ₅ ²	0.19	1	0.19	193.87	< 0.0001*			
X ₆ ²	0.021	1	0.021	21.30	0.0024*			
X_{7}^{2}	0.054	1	0.054	54.16	0.0002*			
Residual	6.936E-003	7	9.909E-004					
Lack of Fit	5.603E-003	3	1.868E-003	5.60	0.0647			
Pure Error	1.333E-003	4	3.333E-004					
Cor Total	0.45	16						
$R^2 = 0.9845; R^2 adj = 0.9647; * Significant difference at P<0.05$								

The optimal level of interaction between any two variables was visualized using the 3D response surface. The 3D response surface plots illustrated the correlation among horse serum, glucose, and PPLO broth (*Fig. 2-A,B,C*). According to the response surface analysis plots, the term X_5X_6 and X_5X_7 exerted a significant effect (P<0.05) on *M. gallisepticum* nucleic acid concentration (*Fig. 2-D,E*). However, X_6X_7 did not have significant effects (P>0.05) on nucleic acid concentration of *M. gallisepticum* (*Fig. 2-F*). At horse serum concentrations of 200-203.96 mL/L, the nucleic acid concentration of *M. gallisepticum* increased, but it decreased at concentrations 203.96-210 mL/L (*Fig.*



Fig 2. Response surface plots of horse serum (mL/L), glucose (g/L), and PPLO broth (g/L) on *M. gallisepticum* nucleic acid concentration. (A) The effect of horse serum and glucose levels, (B) The effect of horse serum and PPLO broth levels, (C) The effect of glucose and PPLO broth levels, (D) Horse serum and glucose levels, (E) Horse serum and PPLO broth levels, (F) Glucose and PPLO broth levels



2-A,D). With an increase in the concentrations of glucose (9.00-9.64 g/L) and PPLO broth (9.00-9.49 g/L), the nucleic acid concentration increased and then dropped. When the concentrations of horse serum, glucose, and PPLO broth were 203.96 mL/L, 9.64 g/L, and 9.49 g/L, respectively, the regression model predicted a maximum value of 10^{10.504} copies/mL.

Effects of pH of the Medium on Nucleic Acid Concentration of *M. gallisepticum*

The nitrogen source and the pH value affected the growth of *M. gallisepticum* during fermentation in the medium. The growth of *M. gallisepticum* in the optimized medium was investigated to ascertain its response to the initial pH. As shown in *Fig. 3*, the results implied that the initial pH of 7.8 resulted in the maximum nucleic acid concentration of $10^{10.492}$ copies/mL, which was not significant at pH 8.0 (P>0.05). The maximum concentration of *M. gallisepticum* was attained when the initial pH was 7.8-8.0. Lower pH led to a decrease in the nucleic acid concentration of *M. gallisepticum*, which indicated a negative impact on its growth.

Validation of the Optimized Medium

Under the optimized conditions, the nucleic acid copy number of *M. gallisepticum* reached $10^{10.5147}$ copies/mL, which was close to the predicted value of RSM, thereby indicating that the experimental values agreed well with the predicted values (*Fig. 4-A*). Compared with the unoptimized medium, the nucleic acid concentration of *M. gallisepticum* was increased by 9.99 times in the optimized medium (*Fig. 4-A*). Furthermore, the optimized medium



exerted an effect on the viable cell count, which was up to $10^{9.8451}$ CCU/mL, signifying a 7-fold increase in the viable cell count compared with the unoptimized medium (*Fig.* 4-B). The optimized medium enabled *M. gallisepticum* to reach the logarithmic growth stage earlier, which was approximately 6 h earlier compared with the unoptimized medium. The two growth curves demonstrated a rapid decline in nucleic acid concentration and viable cell count after *M. gallisepticum* reached maximum growth (*Fig.* 4-A,B).

DISCUSSION

Color change unit (CCU) is the conventional quantitative detection method for *M. gallisepticum* and this culturing step is time-consuming and difficult. In this context, Real-Time Quantitative PCR can be employed for the rapid determination of the concentration of *M. gallisepticum*^[23]. This method serves as a time-efficient alternative to conventional quantitative assays, does not require further incubation, and accelerates the process of optimization. Therefore, this technique was used to rapidly determine the concentration of *M. gallisepticum*.

The addition of different nitrogen sources can increase the growth concentration of *M. gallisepticum*. Therefore, optimizing the nutrient composition of the medium is an effective way to increase the concentration of the bacterium. Response surface analysis is an effective approach to optimize fermentation parameters. PPLO broth, tryptic soy broth, and brain heart infusion media have been used for the cultivation of microorganisms, *and* PPLO broth improved both the quantity and quality of the harvested Apx toxins of *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae*^[24]. Hwang ^[25] performed an experiment using CCDoptimized conditions and obtained 2.96 mg/L of *Mycoplasma* proteins, which was a three-fold increase over the unoptimized medium.

In the present study, the optimal carbon and nitrogen sources were determined using a unidirectional test, the main factors affecting *M. gallisepticum* growth were screened via PBD testing, and the fermentation parameters that resulted in the highest nucleic acid concentration were analyzed using a response surface analysis method. Under the optimized fermentation conditions, the nucleic acid copy number of M. gallisepticum reached 1010.5147 copies/mL, which was comparable to the predicted value. Therefore, the concentration of *M. gallisepticum* can be optimized using the RSM. The nitrogen source and the pH value affected the growth of M. gallisepticum during fermentation in the medium. The maximum concentration of M. gallisepticum was attained when the initial pH was 7.8-8.0. The growth curve of M. gallisepticum showed 9.99 times higher nucleic acid concentration and 7 times more viable cell count when compared with the unoptimized medium, which lowered the production cost. The logarithmic phase of M. gallisepticum was increased by approximately 6 h, which led to a 33.33% higher production efficiency. The new medium not only augmented the concentration but also shortened the fermentation time of M. gallisepticum. Nonetheless, attention must be paid to the harvesting time to avoid overculturing. Although the new medium increased the concentration of M. gallisepticum, serum costs remained high. Media containing 5% egg yolk, 10% horse serum, and 10% porcine serum all resulted in M. gallisepticum concentrations of up to 109 CCU/mL by the 3rd day, which could be used instead of serum. However, the number of viable organisms declined rapidly after the highest concentration was attained ^[26], which is in line with the results of the present study. Optimal lipid and albumin conditions established for M. gallisepticum were then used to propagate five different Mycoplasma spp. to growth levels that either equaled or surpassed those obtained with a medium containing 17% fetal bovine serum [27]. Lin ^[28] reported that the pH values of *M. gallisepticum* and Mycoplasma synoviae growth media were readjusted back to the original alkaline state when the pH reached 6.1 (*M. gallisepticum*) and 6.7 (*M. synoviae*), and the medium was reincubated until the pH returned to 6.7-6.9. The M. gallisepticum and M. synoviae antigen yields were 43%

and 54% higher than those obtained at the usual harvest time. In the future, the concentration of *M. gallisepticum* could be increased and the cost of its medium could be reduced by adding supplements to replace the serum or by streaming NaOH solution. The cost of immunization for the farming industry could therefore be reduced.

In conclusion, this study optimized the fermentation medium for *M. gallisepticum* culture so that the nucleic acid copy number of *M. gallisepticum* reached $10^{10.5147}$ copies/mL. Compared with the unoptimized medium, the *M. gallisepticum* nucleic acid concentration in the optimized medium was increased by 9.99 times. Moreover, the viable cell count reached a maximum of $10^{9.8451}$ CCU/mL, which was a 7-fold increase compared with the unoptimized medium. The optimized medium may allow *M. gallisepticum* to reach the logarithmic growth phase earlier than the unoptimized medium, which could provide a basis for large-scale fermentation and cultivation for vaccine enterprises.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The datasets generated and/ or analysed during the study are available from the corresponding authors and can be provided upon request.

Acknowledgments: We thank all authors for their significant contributions to this study.

Financial Support: This study was financially supported by the Double Hundred Program for foreign experts of Shandong Province (Project number: WST2017006), the National Key Research and Development Program of China (Project number: 2023YFE0106100), and the Youth Science and Technology Morning-star Project of Binzhou (Project number: QMX2023003).

Competing Interests: The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Authors' Contributions: YS performed the experiments, analysed the results, and drafted the manuscript. XZ and JZ assisted in the experimental design and summarized the experimental results. YY and XX put forward valuable suggestions for the revision and improvement of the paper. ZS, SL and LC conceived and designed the study, revised the manuscript and funded the study. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

References

1. Sawicka A, Durkalec M, Tomczyk G, Kursa O: Occurrence of *Mycoplasma gallisepticum* in wild birds: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS One*, 15 (4):e0231545, 2020. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0231545

2. Zou M, Yang W, Niu L, Sun Y, Luo R, Wang Y, Peng X: Polydatin attenuates *Mycoplasma gallisepticum* (HS strain)-induced inflammation injury via inhibiting the TLR6/ MyD88/NF-κB pathway. *Microb Pathog*, 149:104552, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104552

3. Bao J, Wu Z, Ishfaq M, Miao Y, Li R, Clifton AC, Ding L, Li J: Comparison of experimental infection of normal and immunosuppressed chickens with *Mycoplasma gallisepticum*. J Comp Pathol, 175, 5-12, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcpa.2019.12.001

4. Roberts DH, McDaniel JW: Mechanism of egg transmission of Mycoplasma

gallisepticum. J Comp Pathol, 77 (4): 439-442, 1967. DOI: 10.1016/0021-9975(67)90030-8

5. Kulappu Arachchige SN, Kanci Condello A, Zhu L, Shil PK, Tivendale KA, Underwood GJ, Noormohammadi AH, Browning GF, Wawegama NK: Effects of immunosuppression on the efficacy of vaccination against *Mycoplasma gallisepticum* infection in chickens. *Vet Microbiol*, 260:109182, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2021.109182

6. Zou M, Wang T, Wang Y, Luo R, Sun Y, Peng X: Comparative transcriptome analysis reveals the innate immune response to *Mycoplasma gallisepticum* infection in chicken embryos and newly hatched chicks. *Animals*, 13 (10):1667, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ani13101667

7. Yin X, Wang Y, Sun Y, Han Y, Sun H, Zou M, Luo R, Peng X: Downregulated gga-miR-223 inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis of MGinfected DF-1 cells by targeting FOXO3. *Microb Pathog*, 155:104927, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.micpath.2021.104927

8. Kanci Condello A, Morrow CJ, Kulappu Arachchige SN, Shil PK, Underwood GJ, Andrews DM, Omotainse OS, Noormohammadi AH, Markham PF, Wawegama NK, Browning GF: Effects of administration of tylosin on the duration of protective immunity induced by the novel *Mycoplasma gallisepticum* vaccine strain, Vaxsafe MG ts-304, in chickens. *Vet Microbiol*, 276:109605, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2022.109605

9. Elliott KEC, Branton SL, Evans JD, Peebles ED: Occurrence of horizontal transmission in layer chickens after administration of an *in ovo* strain F *Mycoplasma gallisepticum* vaccine. *Poult Sci*, 98 (10): 4492-4497, 2019. DOI: 10.3382/ps/pez306

10. Shi Y, Habibi P, Haq ANU, Saeed M, Gulghutay Amjad N, Khan I: Seed-based system for cost-effective production of vaccine against chronic respiratory disease in chickens. *Mol Biotechnol*, 65 (4): 570-580, 2023. DOI: 10.1007/s12033-022-00554-5

11. Razin S, Yogev D, Naot Y: Molecular biology and pathogenicity of mycoplasmas. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev*, 62 (4):1094-1156, 1998. DOI: 10.1128/ MMBR.62.4.1094-1156.1998

12. Mahmmoud EN, Hamad MA, Khudhur ZN: Detection of *Mycoplasma gallisepticum* in broiler chickens by PCR. *Open Vet J*, 12 (3): 329-334, 2022. DOI: 10.5455/OVJ.2022.v12.i3.4

13. Wang X, Zhang W, Hao Y: Improving *Mycoplasma ovipneumoniae* culture medium by a comparative transcriptome method. *J Vet Sci*, 21 (2):e30, 2020. DOI: 10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e30

14. Datta P, Fu L, Brodfuerer P, Dordick JS, Linhardt RJ: High density fermentation of probiotic *E. coli* Nissle 1917 towards heparosan production, characterization, and modification. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 105 (3): 1051-1062, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s00253-020-11079-9

15. Zalila-Kolsi I, Kessentini S, Tounsi S, Jamoussi K: Optimization of *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* BLB369 culture medium by response surface methodology for low cost production of antifungal activity. *Microorganisms*, 10 (4):830, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms10040830

16. Irfan M, Waqas S, Arshad U, Khan JA, Legutko S, Kruszelnicka I, Ginter-Kramarczyk D, Rahman S, Skrzypczak A: Response surface methodology and artificial neural network modelling of membrane rotating biological contactors for wastewater treatment. *Materials*, 15 (5):1932, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/ma15051932

17. Chen J, Lan X, Jia R, Hu L, Wang Y: Response surface methodology (RSM) mediated optimization of medium components for mycelial growth and metabolites production of *Streptomyces alfalfae* XN-04. *Microorganisms*, 10 (9):1854, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms10091854

18. Butsat W, Somdee T, Somdee T: A novel actinomycete *Streptomyces enissocaesilis* exhibiting algicidal activity against the toxic cyanobacterium *Phormidium angustissimum. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 30 (25): 66897-66911, 2023. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-023-27179-8

19. Mutanda I, Zahoor, Sethupathy S, Xu Q, Zhu B, Shah SWA, Zhuang Z, Zhu D: Optimization of heterologous production of *Bacillus ligniniphilus* L1 laccase in *Escherichia coli* through statistical design of experiments. *Microbiol Res*, 274:127416, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.micres.2023.127416

20. Melini F, Luziatelli F, Bonini P, Ficca AG, Melini V, Ruzzi M: Optimization of the growth conditions through response surface methodology and metabolomics for maximizing the auxin production by *Pantoea agglomerans* C1. *Front Microbiol*, 14:1022248, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2023.1022248

21. Ding X, Qian F, Mu G, Tuo Y: Optimization of medium composition of *Lactobacillus plantarum* Y44 using Plackett-Burman and Box-Behnken designs. *Prep Biochem Biotechnol*, 53 (9): 1058-1066, 2023. DOI: 10.1080/10826068.2023.2166957

22. Zhang D, Bao Y, Ma Z, Zhou J, Chen H, Lu Y, Zhu L, Chen X: Optimization of fermentation medium and conditions for enhancing valinomycin production by *Streptomyces* sp. ZJUT-IFE-354. *Prep Biochem Biotechnol*, 53 (2): 157-166, 2023. DOI: 10.1080/10826068.2022.2053991

23. Hulse LS, Hickey D, Mitchell JM, Beagley KW, Ellis W, Johnston SD: Development and application of two multiplex real-time PCR assays for detection and speciation of bacterial pathogens in the koala. *J Vet Diagn Invest*, 30 (4): 523-529, 2018. DOI: 10.1177/1040638718770490

24. Dao HT, Do VT, Truong QL, Hahn TW: Enhancement of Apx toxin production in *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* serotypes 1, 2, and 5 by

optimizing culture condition. *J Microbiol Biotechnol*, 30 (7): 1037-1043, 2020. DOI: 10.4014/jmb.1912.12042

25. Hwang MH, Damte D, Cho MH, Kim YH, Park SC: Optimization of culture media of pathogenic *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* by a response surface methodology. *J Vet Sci*, 11 (4): 327-332, 2010. DOI: 10.4142/ jvs.2010.11.4.327

26. Tamura H, Kuramasu S, Tajima Y: Efficacy of egg yolk medium in cultivation of *Mycoplasma gallisepticum. Jpn J Microbiol*, 19 (6): 463-436, 1975. DOI: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.1975.tb00966.x

27. Cluss RG, Somerson NL: Interaction of albumin and phospholipid:cholesterol liposomes in growth of *Mycoplasma* spp. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 51 (2): 281-287, 1986. DOI: 10.1128/aem.51.2.281-287.1986

28. Lin MY, Kleven SH: Improving the *Mycoplasma gallisepticum* and *M. synoviae* antigen yield by readjusting the pH of the growth medium to the original alkaline state. *Avian Dis*, 28 (1): 266-72, 1984. DOI: 10.2307/1590152
CASE REPORT

Persistent Left Cranial Vena Cava in a Cat

Zeki YILMAZ¹^(*) Meriç KOCATÜRK¹ Jørgen KOCH²

¹Bursa Uludag University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, TR-16059 Bursa - TÜRKİYE

² University of Copenhagen, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, Department of Veterinary Clinical Sciences, Frederiksberg -Copenhagen, DENMARK



Abstract

(*) Corresponding author: Zeki YILMAZ
Phone: +90 224 294 0809 Fax: +90 224 294 0873
E-mail: zyilmaz@uludag.edu.tr

How to cite this article?

Yılmaz Z, Kocatürk M, Koch J: Persistent left cranial vena cava in a cat. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 393-396, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31186

Article ID: KVFD-2023-31186 Received: 16.11.2023 Accepted: 28.02.2024 Published Online: 02.04.2024 A 9-year-old-male British fold cat was presented for a general health check before anesthesia. Clinical and laboratory examinations were unremarkable. Echocardiography showed that the cardiac anatomy and function were normal, and the presence of a dilated coronary sinus (CS), highly suggestive of a persistent left cranial vena cava (PLCVC). Clinicians should keep in mind that PLCVC may be present when a dilated CS is noted by echocardiography, and it could be confirmed simultaneously by agitated-saline-study as a non-invasive and cost-effective diagnostic tool in practice. Further research is required to elucidate whether PLCVC is an accomplice or an innocent finding in cats.

Keywords: Cat, Persistent left cranial vena cava, Thoracic venous anomaly

INTRODUCTION

Dogs and cats normally have bilateral symmetrical cranial and caudal cardinal veins in fetal life. As the fetus develops, while the right cranial cardinal veins are directly fused and transformed into the right cranial vena cava, left cranial cardinal veins usually become atrophied, and left caudal cardinal veins develop into the coronary sinus (CS). When the left cranial cardinal veins are not atrophied and remain as a left common cardinal vein at the CS, it is described as a persistent left cranial vena cava (PLCVC) ^[1,2]. Four different types of PLCVC were reported and among them type 1 is the most frequently diagnosed ^[3,4].

The prevalence of incidentally detected asymptomatic PLCVC in dogs (2.6%) ^[5] is almost similar to that in humans (0.2-3%) ^[2], but not known yet in cats. Up-to-date, according to PubMed records, there are almost 1000 studies in humans, but nearly 20 cases in dogs, and only 5 cases in cats ^[1,6-9]. PLCVC cases are primarily asymptomatic and may be identified incidentally during transthoracic echocardiography and CT angiography ^[5]. However, some cases with PLCVC may be symptomatic when a dilated CS leads to left atrial (LA) compression and arrhythmias ^[2].

There are a limited number of studies showing a diagnostic algorithm for PLCVC in cats ^[1,9]. Thus, herein, we reported how the PLCVC was diagnosed and confirmed using transthoracic echocardiography and an agitated-saline study in an asymptomatic cat in a clinical setting and discussed whether PLCVC might be an innocent finding.

CASE HISTORY

A 9-year-old male intact British Fold (4.6 kg) was presented with a clinical sign of halitosis due to dental tartar. Just after the owner approved the informed consent form, clinical and laboratory examinations were performed to decide whether the cat was suitable for anesthesia of a dental scaling procedure. There were no abnormalities of body temperature (38.3°C), heart (220 bpm) and respiratory rates (24 rpm), conjunctive mucous membranes, capillary refill time (2 sec), and lymph node palpation. Lung sounds were considered normal on auscultation, and there was no audible heart murmur. A six-lead electrocardiogram revealed a normal sinus rhythm with a normal QRS axis (CareWell 1101G, MVM Medikal, Istanbul, Türkiye). Thoracic radiography showed no thoracic abnormality. A complete blood count and serum biochemistry profile, including cardiac biomarkers, were unremarkable (data

 \odot \odot

Table 1. Some echocardiographic measurements in a cat with persistent leftcranial vena cava (PLCVC)			
Parameters		Cat with PLCVC	Reference Ranges [11]
Body weight (Kg)		4.6	4.5-5.0
Heart rate/beat per minute		220	<240
M-mode/RPSAx	RVDd (mm)	4.4	0.0-7.0
	IVSd (mm)	4.5	2.9-5.2
	LVIDd (mm)	15.1	12.7-20.3
	LVPWd (mm)	4.7	2.9-5.1
	IVSs (mm)	6.5	4.4-8.9
	LVIDs (mm)	8.1	5.7-13.4
	LVPWs (mm)	7.9	4.8-9.0
	FS % (Teich)	46.2	44.6-45.5
	EF % (Teich)	81.1	59.5-68.9
2-D/RPSAx - Aortic level	LA mm	9.7	8.2-14.9
	Ao mm	7.1	7.5-12.3
	LA/Ao	1.37	0.88-1.43
Doppler measurement/left apical 5ch	AV Vmax mm/s	82	80-150
	MV E/A	1.27	>1 - <2
	TV E/A	1.38	>1 - <2
	PV S/D ratio	0.99	0.9-1.2
	TDI MV annulus septal - E/E'	14.41	<15

RVDd: Right ventricular diameter at diastole, IVSd: Interventricular septum at diastole, LVIDd: Left ventricular internal diameter at diastole, LVPWd: Left ventricular postwall diameter at diastole, IVSs: Interventricular septum at systole, LVIDs: Left ventricular internal diameter at systole, LVPWs: Left ventricular postwall diameter at systole, LA: Left atrium, Ao: Aorta, LA/Ao: Left atrium to Aorta ratio, FS: Fractional shortening, EF: Ejection fraction, MPA Vmax: Mean pulmonary artery maximal velocity, AV Vmax: Aortic valve maximal velocity, MV E/A: Mitral inflow E/A ratio, TV E/A: Tricuspid inflow E/A ratio, PV S/D: Pulmonary vein systole (S)/diastole (D) ratio, TDI MV: Tissue Doppler Imaging Mitral Valve, RPSAx: Right parasternal short axis

not shown). Feline serum amyloid A, a non-specific inflammatory marker, was within the reference range (3.4 μ g/mL, reference <5 μ g/mL; Vcheck, Bionote, USA).

Cardiac anatomy and function were assessed by a standard echocardiographic protocol with a phased-array cardiac transducer (Vetus 7, Mindray, China) ^[10]. All measurements were found within the reference ranges (*Table 1*). Through 2-D echocardiography, dilated CS was detected as a symmetric circular shape (diameter 0.97 cm and an area of 0.76 cm²) just beneath the LA in the right parasternal long axis (RPLAX) view (*Fig. 1-A*), and as an elliptic shape through LA free wall in the left apical 4-5CH view (*Fig. 1-B*). PW Doppler showed the maximal velocity of the CS 0.49 milliseconds at systole and 0.41 milliseconds at diastole at the left apical 4CH view. After agitated-saline administration into the left brachial vein, there was immediate and sequential opacification of the dilated CS, RA, and right ventricle (*Fig. 1-C*), confirming the presence



Fig 1. 2-D echocardiographic images showed a dilated coronary sinus (CS) just beneath of the left atrium (LA) at the right parasternal long axis view (A) and through the LA free wall at left apical 4-chamber views (B). CS was detected as a circular (A) or elliptic dark shape (B). 2-D echocardiographic images before (B) and just after agitated saline injection (C) at the left apical 4-chamber views. Microbubbles were seen firstly as hyperechoic content into the CS, and then right atrium (RA) and right ventricle (RV), confirming the presence of persistent left cranial vena cava (PLCVC). LV: left ventricle, AO: aorta

of a PLSVC^[1,9]. The same procedure was repeated from the right brachiocephalic vein, and microbubbles were seen firstly in the RA and not in CS, indicating the presence of normal venous return from the right superior vena cava into the RA. After the clinical evaluation, it was noted that the presence of PLCVC might not increase the risk of

395

anesthesia, and in case a central venous catheter would be placed, the right jugular vein should be preferred.

DISCUSSION

The scarcity of research on this congenital anomaly in veterinary medicine, particularly in cats [1,6-9], may be attributed to the predominantly asymptomatic nature of PLCVC cases. According to PubMed records, the initial instances of PLCVC in cats were documented through necropsies, with Goodman reporting cases in 1950 [7] and Zeiner in 1957^[8]. After that, Heaney and Bulmer reported a case of PLCVC coexisted with cor triatriatum sinister in a kitten with a history of respiratory signs ^[6]. In recently published papers, PLCVC was detected with a polycystic renal disease in an older cat with anorexia ^[1] and a giant RA aneurysm in a young cat exhibited nasal stridor ^[9]. In the present study, the cat did not have any symptoms, except halitosis due to dental caries. Routine clinical and laboratory examinations did not show the presence of coexisting diseases.

In normal subjects, the CS is a small tubular structure just above the posterior left atrioventricular junction, and it is not remarkable during transthoracic echocardiography^[2]. However, in the presented cat, CS seemed to be dilated just beneath the LA at RPLAX and through the LA free wall at the left apical-5ch view. There is no report indicating the diameter and Doppler flow characteristic of the CS in cats. Our measurement of CS (diameter = 0.97cm) was comparable with that of a 24-year-old woman (1.5x1.6 cm) ^[12]. The range of potential diagnoses for dilated CS is extensive, primarily encompassing rightsided heart pathologies ^[2]. Specifically, in the context of CS, mild dilatation has been documented in patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction, moderate dilatation in cases of PLCVC, and severe dilatation in PLCVC cases without a right superior vena cava (RSVC)^[2,12].

The presented case had normal cardiac anatomy and functions despite a dilated CS, based on the echocardiographic evaluation. In the diagnostic workup, an agitated saline (bubble) transthoracic contrast echocardiography was performed to follow venous return from the main cranial veins to the RA in this cat ^[1,9]. When agitated-saline was injected into the left or right brachiocephalic vein, micro-bubbles appeared first in the CS or RA, respectively, confirming the presence of a PLCVC and normal RSVC, or double superior vena cava in this cat. PLCVC was classified as type 1 due to draining into the RA via the CS in our case; however, it drains into the RA through the CS and LA (unroofed CS) in type 2, directly into the LA in type 3, and connected to the left pulmonary vein in type 4^[2]. There is limited information on Doppler characteristics of CS in human and veterinary medicine. Spectral Doppler flow of CS in this cat was like those of humans and dogs and included two antegrade and a retrograde flow. Their maximal velocities were found lower than those of the previous study of a dog with PLCVC^[2].

There are some limitations in this case. Firstly, in addition to agitated saline study, CT angiography could have been performed to demonstrate a connection between PLCVC and CS, as reported in a cat ^[1] and dogs ^[5]. However, the owner did not give permission for CT angiography because of anesthesia. Since there is a good correlation between both techniques diagnosis in practice. Secondly, left and right ventricular functions could have been evaluated by new echocardiographic methods, such as 2D speckle tracking.

In conclusion, accumulated evidence suggests that PLCVC may be more common in cats than previously reported in the literature. Therefore, clinicians should keep in mind that PLCVC may be present when a dilated CS is noted by echocardiography, and it could be confirmed by transthoracic echocardiography together with an agitated saline study as a non-invasive, safe, quick, and cost-effective diagnostic tool in a clinical setting. PLCVC was not associated with other clinical findings in the presented case. However, some cases with PLCVC may be symptomatic when a dilated CS leads to cardiopulmonary diseases. Future investigations should aim to elucidate whether PLCVC plays an active role or is merely an incidental discovery in feline cases.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The original images and video records obtained during transthoracic echocardiography in this case are available from the corresponding author (Z. Yilmaz) on request.

Acknowledgements: The authors would like to thank the owner of the cat, and Emel BAŞARAN (PhD, Vet Med, PetVet, Kadiköy, Istanbul, Türkiye).

Competing Interests: The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Author Contributions: Echocardiographic examination was performed by ZY, and the article was written by ZY, MK, and JK. All approved the final version of the paper.

References

1. Cha YE, Ro WB, Song SJ, Lee MK, Kang MH, Park HM: Case report: A novel occurrence of persistent left cranial vena cava coexisting with polycystic kidney disease in a cat. *Front Vet Sci*, 5 (10):1268493, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1268493

2. Azizova A, Onder O, Arslan S, Ardali S, Hazirolan T: Persistent left superior vena cava: Clinical importance and differential diagnoses. *Insights Imaging*, 11 (1):110, 2020. DOI: 10.1186/s13244-020-00906-2

3. Zhang L, Ling G, Gang Y, Yang Z, Lu Z, Gan X, Liang H, Zeng Y, Zhang X: Classification and quantification of double superior vena cava evaluated by computed tomography imaging. *Quant Imaging Med Surg*, 12 (2): 1405-1414, 2022. DOI: 10.21037/qims-20-1387

4. Nathani S, Parakh N, Chaturvedi V, Tyagi S: Giant coronary sinus. *Tex Heart Inst J*, 38 (3): 310-311, 2011.

5. Choi SY, Song YM, Lee YW, Choi HJ: Imaging characteristics of persistent left cranial vena cava incidentally diagnosed with computed tomography in dogs. *J Vet Med Sci*, 78 (10): 1601-1606, 2016. DOI: 10.1292/jvms.15-0695

6. Heaney AM, Bulmer BJ: Cor triatriatum sinister and persistent left cranial vena cava in a kitten. J Vet Intern Med, 18, 895-898, 2004. DOI: 10.1892/0891-6640(2004)18<895:ctsapl>2.0.co;2

7. Goodman DC: A persistent left superior vena cava and anomalous anastomosing mediastinal vein in a domestic cat. *Anat Rec*, 108, 415-420, 1950. DOI: 10.1002/ar.1091080306

8. Zeiner FN: Two cases of coronary venous drainage by a persistent left superior vena cava in cat. *Anat Rec*, 129, 275-277, 1957. DOI: 10.1002/ar.1091290302

9. Block CL, Tong NM: Giant right atrial aneurysm associated with persistent left cranial vena cava in a cat. *J Vet Cardiol*, 49, 38-43, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.jvc.2023.07.003

10. Saril A, Kocaturk M, Shimada K, Uemura A, Akgün E, Levent P, Baykal AT, Prieto AM, Agudelo CF, Tanaka R, Ceron JJ, Koch J, Yilmaz Z: Serum proteomic changes in dogs with different stages of chronic heart failure. *Animals (Basel)*, 12 (4):490, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/ani12040490

11. Häggström J, Andersson AO, Falk T, Nilsfors L, Olsson U, Kresken JG, Höglund K, Rishniw M, Tidholm A, Ljungvall I: Effect of body weight on echocardiographic measurements in 19,866 pure-bred cats with or without heart Disease. *J Vet Intern Med*, 30, 1601-1611, 2016. DOI: 10.1111/ jvim.14569

12. Yurtdas M, Sahin M: Double superior vena cava (persistent left superior vena cava draining into the coronary sinus) - Case report. *Eastern J Med*, 18, 23-25, 2013.

CASE REPORT

Concurrent Occurrence of Aneurysmal Bone Cyst and Fibrous Dysplasia in the Mandibular Bone of a Neonatal Calf

Yesari EROKSUZ¹^(*) Canan AKDENIZ INCILI¹ Murat TANRISEVER² Hatice EROKSUZ¹

¹ Firat University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Pathology, TR-23200, Elazig-TÜRKİYE ² Firat University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Surgery, TR-23200, Elazig-TÜRKİYE



(*) **Corresponding author:** Yesari ERÖKSÜZ Phone: +90 537 226 8893 E-mail: yeroksuz@firat.edu.tr

How to cite this article?

Eroksuz Y, Akdeniz Incili C, Tanrisever M, Eroksuz H: Concurrent occurrence of aneurysmal bone cyst and fibrous dysplasia in the mandibular bone of a neonatal calf. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 397-400, 2024.

DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31261

Article ID: KVFD-2023-31261 Received: 21.11.2023 Accepted: 07.02.2024 Published Online: 20.03.2024

Abstract

This report documents the simultaneous occurrence of aneurysmal bone cysts and fibrous dysplasia in a neonatal calf's mandibular bone. The mandibular bones exhibited significant protrusion, cystic cavities, and thin woven bone spicules. Additionally, the bone trabeculae were underdeveloped with necrotic changes, and there was an absence of bone marrow and osteoblastic rimming in the woven bone. Aneurysmal bone cysts were characterized by blood-filled cystic spaces lacking epithelial or endothelial cells, separated by fibroblastic septa. In conclusion, a unique case of mandibular fibrous dysplasia displaying certain similarities to cherubism and ABC has been recorded in a calf.

Keywords: Aneurysmal bone cyst, Bovine, Congenital fibrous dysplasia, Mandibular bone

INTRODUCTION

Fibrous dysplasia (FD) of the bone is a congenital disorder characterized by replacing typical cortical and medullary bone with disorganized fibrous bone tissue in humans and animal species. This disorder disrupts the mechanisms of bone remodeling, leading to a developmental, nonneoplastic abnormality in bone growth ^[1]. The principal cause of FD in humans is associated with a somatic mutation in the GNAS gene (Guanine Nucleotide binding protein, Alpha Stimulating activity polypeptide) [2]. Significantly, FD is characterized by abnormal bone formations embedded within the fibrous tissues ^[1]. The incidence of FD in the animal population is reportedly rare, with documentation confined mainly to case reports including three canines [3-5], a single equine [6], multiple primate species ^[7,8], as well as a single instance in a kudu ^{[8} ¹. While it mainly impacts the craniofacial skeleton, there are recorded cases affecting the femur, tibia, and ribs in animals.

Aneurysmal bone cysts (ABCs) represent uncommon intraosseous lesions, predominantly impacting the axial and appendicular skeletons of both young animals and humans ^[9]. ABCs have been observed in a range of species, noted in canines ^[4], felines ^[10], equines ^[11], and bovines ^[12]. Morphologically, ABCs are distinguished by their expansive, osteolytic features, composed of intraosseous cavities of diverse sizes occupied by either blood or serosanguineous fluid ^[10].

The purpose of this report is to describe the morphological changes observed in a calf affected with both fibrous dysplasia and aneurysmal bone cyst of the mandibular bone in a calf.

CASE HISTORY

Ethical Consideration

Information about necropsy procedures was provided to the animal owner before the necropsy, and a consent form was obtained from him (Protocol number: 5802).

Case Description

A neonatal male calf of mixed breed was presented to the Pathology Department, Veterinary Faculty of Firat University for necropsy at two hours of birth. The calf experienced complications during birth, requiring the

 \odot \odot



Fig 1. Gross and radiological images of the mandiblar changes. **A.** Anterior view of the head, highlighting bilateral expansion and bulging of the mandible (*arrow*), **B.** Anterior view of oral cavity, there was a noticeable enlargement and swelling (*arrows*) of the mandible, **C.** In the longitudinal section of the right hemimandible, multiple cystic spaces are evident (*arrowhead*), as well as stars marking their presence, **D.** The cystic spaces in the mandible, radiological examination, Lateral view

intervention of veterinary services. The dam had been purchased in her third trimester of gestation and did not exhibit any previous health problems. Prophylactic measures included vaccination against foot-and-mouth disease and administering antiparasitic agents roughly four months before parturition. The farm, maintaining a bovine population of 30 cattle, reported no prior occurrences of congenital anomalies in calves.

Gross Lesions

The entire mandible, extending bilaterally from the symphysis to the condyles, was swollen and filled with many cystic cavities (*Fig. 1-A,B,C*). The swelling protruding outward from the mandibular symphysis measured 12x10x10 cm (*Fig. 1A*). The bone's thickness ranged from 2 to 3 mm, and the cyst-like spaces were filled with blood-tinged fluid (*Fig. 1-C*). The mandibular bone was so delicate that it could be cut with a scalpel. The affected areas exhibited a fragile and porous texture, attributable to the deterioration and enlargement. Consequently, this pathological process led to the extensive degradation of osseous tissue, forming numerous cystic cavities. Furthermore, this deterioration displaced the lower incisors and premolars from their respective alveolar lumens.

Radiological Findings

Radiographic examination revealed a mass encompassing the mandible, predominantly situated in the area typically reserved for the incisor teeth. Notably, the mandible exhibited cystic formations, particularly around the incisor zone (*Fig.1-D*). The lesion was multilocular, with well-defined boundaries consisting of multiple cysts or chambers.

Histopathologic Changes

Tissue samples from mandibula, kidney, liver, spleen, brain, lungs were fixed in a 10% formalin solution before being routinely processed and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for light microscopic examination.

Microscopically, the most common lesion was numerous thin spicules of woven bone. They had a curved configuration, often forming circular patterns reminiscent of Chinese letters (Fig. 2-A), although occasionally they appeared linear. The woven bones were embedded in fibrous tissue containing fibroblastic cells. These trabeculae lack osteoblastic rimming. Bone trabeculae showed necrosis and remodeling and were surrounded by numerous multinucleated cells. (Fig. 2-B) Throughout the stroma, multinucleated giant cells were scattered throughout the stroma (Fig. 2-C). The foci of multifocal cystic degeneration were present focally (Fig. 2-D). There was no bone marrow nor rimming of osteoblasts present. Focal calcified foci were present. Lymphoid cells were infiltrated focally at the mass, and siderophages (ironfilled macrophages) were detected in the surrounding tissue. The subepithelial oral mucosa showed hemorrhage and hyalinization of the connective tissue.

Aneurysmal bone cysts were identified in a multifocal distribution in dysplastic bone tissue. These cysts are histologically characterized by the presence of blood-filled



Fig 2. Histologic lesions of the fibrous dysplasia, x4, H&E, A. Branching and interconnecting immature bone spicules, both circular and irregular in shape (resembling Chinese characters) were embedded throughout the fibrous tissue, x40 H&E, B. Multinucleated giant cells (*arrows*) were situated in Howship's lacunae, x40 H&E, C. Diffusely distributed multinucleated cells (*arrow*), x20, H&E, D. Stromal cystic degeneration (*arrow*), x10, H&E



Fig 3. Histologic lesions of the bone, tooth, lungs, and eye, x4, H&E. **A.** Aneurysmal bone cysts *(arrows)*, x4, H&E, **B.** Separation of tooth from alveolar bone, x4, H&E

cystic spaces devoid of epithelial or endothelial cells, which are separated by fibroblastic septa (*Fig. 3-A*). The incisive teeth have become detached from the alveolar bone, with the periodontal ligament remaining in position (*Fig. 3-B*). Some alveolar spaces showed deposition of meconium, hyperemia and interstitial edema. The optic nerve in the eyes showed mild papillary edema on the optic disc.

Examination of the lungs revealed marked emphysema in some lobes, atelectasis and interlobar edema.

DISCUSSION

Fibrous Dysplasia and Aneurysmal Bone Cyst are two distinct pathological entities, each characterized by its unique pathogenetic mechanisms. A review of veterinary literature has shown no record of the simultaneous occurrence of these two conditions. Nevertheless, in humans, 36 reported cases of simultaneous fibrous dysplasia and aneurysmal bone cyst, which include four instances of mandibular involvement, as identified in literature ^[13] up to 2019. The simultaneous occurrence of these conditions is attributed to the hemodynamic disturbances arising from FD [14]. However, this concurrent presence is not specific to FD; ABCs may also occur secondarily within or adjacent to other tumours or malignant processes, like osteoblastoma. Therefore, any factor weakening the bone structure could potentially lead to the formation of ABCs [13]. An alternative explanation may be attributed to alterations in bone pressure or the redistribution of mechanical stress, stemming from structural changes within the bones. Contrary to what the name "ABC" might suggest, the term is somewhat misleading since the lesion does not present the typical features of an aneurysm or a cyst, particularly due to the lack of an endothelial lining ^[13]. At present, ABCs are recognized as benign osseous lesions that may undergo rapid enlargement and cause significant compromise to the integrity of the bones they occupy ^[13]. The differentials for ABC included hemangioma, hemangiosarcoma and osteosarcoma in this report. ABC is characterized by blood-filled spaces, delineated by connective tissue housing bone trabeculae or osteoid tissue. It also has irregular vascular channels devoid of endothelial lining. lacking malignant cells and endothelial cell. However,

osteosarcoma contains malignant osteoid or bone forming tissue and hemangiosarcoma is characterized by malignant endothelial cells forming vascular structures

FD is characterized by the presence of underdeveloped bone segments, fibroblasts, hypertrophic osteoblasts, diverse trabecular bone patterns, multinucleated osteoclastic giant cells, and the absence of rimming osteoblasts in the surfaces of the trabeculae [6,7]. In differential diagnoses, the following lesions should be considered: non-ossifying fibroma, osteoma, adamantinoma, lowgrade osteosarcoma, and Paget's disease ^[10]. The differentiation depended on the evaluation of clinical, radiological, and histopathological features in this report. In the clinical perspective, osteoma and ossifying fibroma present as palpable bony masses. Radiologically, fibrous dysplasia exhibits a distinctive ground-glass appearance. Conversely, ossifying fibroma displays a combination of radiolucent and radiopaque areas, often featuring a central calcified region. At the histopathological level, fibrous dysplasia manifests fibrous tissue with irregular trabeculae reminiscent of woven bone. In contrast, osteoma is characterized by the presence of lamellar bone ^[1,4]. Non-ossifying Fibroma has sheets of histiocytes, foam cells, and giant cells within a fibrous stroma. It does not show osteoblastic rimming, distinguishing it from fibrous dysplasia. Adamantinoma is characterized by epithelial-like nests and strands within fibrous stroma and is distinguished by the presence of epithelial components [10].

The current case, through its gross and histological findings, also exhibits characteristics similar to cherubism. This uncommon autoinflammatory bone disorder is characterized by the symmetrical expansion of fibro-osseous tissue in the mandible and/or maxilla, most commonly observed in children aged 2 to 5. Key features of the case -including bilateral mandibular involvement, bone tissue degradation, teeth dislodging from their alveoli, and the detection of osteoclast-like cells - indicate characteristics and are reportedly found in human cherubism ^[14]. Despite these similarities, the terminology "chimerism" remains unrecognized in veterinary literature. Nonetheless, a genetically developed animal model, specifically in mice, has been established ^[15].

In the present case, the diagnosis was based on the presence of woven bone spicules and the absence of osteoblastic rimming. The concurrent presence of fibrous dysplasia and cherubism presented here supports the theory that cherubism represents a hereditary form of fibrous dysplasia in humans^[14]. The pulmonary lesions, including emphysema, atelectasis, and meconium aspiration, may have arisen due to the posterior displacement of the tongue caused by the effect of the mandibular mass. Similarly; separation of teeth from alveolar bone and edema of optic nerve head were probably secondary lesions of fibrous dysplasia.

In conclusion, a unique case of mandibular fibrous dysplasia displaying certain similarities to cherubism and ABC has been recorded in a calf.

Declarations

Availability of Data and Materials: The data that support the findings of this case report are available from the corresponding author (Y. Eröksüz) upon reasonable request.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares no conflict of interest

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, YE and CAI; Acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of data, YE and HE, CAI and MT; Writing - original draft preparation, Y.E.; Review and editing, H.E., CAI, MT. All authors agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part are appropriately investigated and resolved.

REFERENCES

1. Kim HY, Shim JH, Heo CY: A rare skeletal disorder, fibrous dysplasia: A review of its pathogenesis and therapeutic prospects. *Int J Mol Sci*, 24:15591, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ijms242115591

2. Kim DY: Current concepts of craniofacial fibrous dysplasia: Pathophysiology and treatment. *Arch Craniofac Surg*, 24 (2): 41-51, 2023. DOI: 10.7181/acfs.2023.00101

3. Fitzgerald W, Slocombe R, Caiafa A: Fibrous dysplasia of mandibular boneinadog.*JVetDent*,19(2):77-81,2002.DOI:10.1177/089875640201900203

4. Soltero-Rivera M, Engiles JB, Reiter AM, Reetz J, Lewis JR, Sánchez MD: Benign and malignant proliferative fibro-osseous and osseous lesions of the oral cavity of dogs. *Vet Pathol*, 52 (5): 894-902, 2015. DOI:

10.1177/0300985815583096

5. Wilson RB: Monostotic fibrous dysplasia in a dog. *Vet Pathol*, 26:449-450, 1989. DOI: 10.1177/030098588902600513

6. Raval SH, Joshi DV, Patel BJ, Sutariya P, Patel JG, Parmar SN: Monostotic fibrous dysplasia in the nasal sinus of Marwari mare: A case report. *Indian J Vet Pathol*, 39 (4): 358-359, 2015. DOI: 10.5958/0973-970X.2015.00088

7. Sennazli G, Erdogan-Bamac O, Yuzbasioglu-Ozturk G, Koenhemsi L: A case of polyostotic fibrous dysplasia in a spider monkey (*Ateles paniscus*). *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 26 (4): 563-566, 2020. DOI: 10.9775/ kvfd.2019.23798

8. Williams WM, Lombard LS, Firfer HS: Fibrous dysplasia in a monkey and a kudu. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 147, 1049-1052, 1965.

9. Stewart HL: Aneurysmal bone cysts as a diagnostic consideration in juvenile patients: Considerations from humans and animals. *Equine Vet Educ*, 35, 189-193, 2023. DOI: 10.1111/eve.13717

10. Biller DS, Johnson GC, Birchard SJ, Fingland RB: Aneurysmal bone cyst in a rib of a cat. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 190, 1193-1195, 1987.

11. Bryant U, Fallon L, Lee Ma, Pool RB: Congenital aneurysmal bone cyst in a foal. *J Equine Vet Sci*, 32 (6): 320-323, 2012. DOI: 10.1016/j. jevs.2011.12.002

12. Belknap EB, Brodie S, Lowry J, Getzelman R: Aneurysmal bone cyst in a Holstein bull. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 201, 1413-1415, 1992. DOI: 10.2460/ javma.1992.201.09.1413

13. Rau LH, Reinheimer A, Meurer MI, Marodin AL, Espezim CS, Klüppel LE, Dos Santos Vaz Fernandes PC, Rivero ERC: Fibrous dysplasia with secondary aneurysmal bone cyst: A rare case report and literature review. *Oral Maxillofac Surg*, 23 (1): 101-107, 2019.

14. Bhattacharya S, Mishra RK: Fibrous dysplasia and cherubism. *Indian J Plast Surg*, 48 (3): 236-248, 2015. DOI: 10.4103/0970-0358.173101

15. Sharma T, Cotney J, Singh V, Sanjay A, Reichenberger EJ, Ueki Y, Maye P: Investigating global gene expression changes in a murine model of cherubism. *Bone*, 176:115135, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.bone.2020.115315

CASE REPORT

Retinoblastoma-Like Tumor with Brain Metastasis in a Border Collie

F. Eser ÖZGENCİL¹^(*) E. Esma ÇERKEZ¹ Ece YAZAN¹ Nihan DİKBAŞ TSATSARONIS¹ Özgecan KULEYİNOĞLU¹ Volkan ÇAĞLAR¹ Dilek ÖZDEMİR² A. Perran GÖKÇE¹ Aydın GÜREL² Onur ÜLGENALP¹

¹VetAmerikan Animal Hospital, TR-34406 Kağıthane, İstanbul - TÜRKİYE

² Vetlab Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory Services, Kadıköy, TR-34710 İstanbul - TÜRKİYE



(*) **Corresponding author:** F. Eser ÖZGENCİL Phone: +90 212 373 6170 Cellular phone: +90 531 559 0910 E-mail: eserozgencil@yahoo.com

How to cite this article?

Özgencil FE, Çerkez EE, Yazan E, Dikbaş Tsatsaronis N, Kuleyinoğlu Ö, Çağlar V, Özdemir D, Gökçe AP, Gürel A, Ülgenalp O: Retinoblastoma-like tumor with brain metastasis in a Border Collie. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 401-405, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.31363

Article ID: KVFD-2023-31363 Received: 07.12.2023 Accepted: 05.02.2024 Published Online: 23.02.2024

Abstract

In this report, we described the clinical, ultrasound, contrast-enhanced T2-weighted brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and histopathological findings of a retinoblastoma-like tumor with brain metastasis in a 3-year-old male Border Collie. Ophthalmoscopic and ultrasonographic examination revealed leukocoria associated with a solid mass of retinal origin in the left eye. Simultaneous contrast-enhanced T2weighted brain MRI evaluation revealed solid masses at three different locations: the first one at the levels of the suprasellar cistern, third ventricle and chiasma opticum; the second one in the medulla oblongata adjacent to the caudal cranial fossa; and the third one in the left intraocular region. Histopathological examination of the extracted mass in the globe revealed a retinoblastoma-like tumor. The patient died before receiving radiotherapy treatment. In conclusion: this report highlights the importance of early diagnosis through ophthalmoscopic and ultrasonographic examinations. Emphasizing the brain as a potential secondary metastatic site, the report underscores the critical need to create a window for timely radiotherapy. Furthermore, the recommendation is made to evaluate dogs with leukocoria during ophthalmoscopic examination for both retinoblastoma and potential brain metastasis.

Keywords: Dog, Embryonal tumors with multilayered rosettes (ETMR), Ocular neoplasia, Primary neuroectodermal tumors (PNET), Retinoblastoma-like tumor

INTRODUCTION

The most common intraocular tumors in dogs are primary melanocytic and iridociliary neoplasms. The canine eye is usually the primary neoplastic focus ^[1,2]. However, it has also been reported that the anterior uvea of the eye is a secondary metastatic focus for tumors such as transmissible venereal tumor, lymphosarcoma, and hemangiosarcoma^[1,3]. Primary neuroectodermal tumor (PNET) is a general term used to classify all embryonal neoplasms arising from the germinal neuroepithelium of the neural tube (neuroectoderm), and these tumors occur rarely in dogs^[2]. PNETs have recently been terminologically designated as embryonal tumors with multilayered rosettes (ETMR)^[4]. In humans, the majority of PNETs are observed in the pediatric population and recognized commonly as retinoblastoma arising from the primitive neuroepithelium of the retina and medulloepitheliomas arising from the primitive medullary epithelium of the ciliary body ^[5]. There are two types of retinoblastomas in humans; genetic and sporadic. Genetic retinoblastoma

originates from retinal neurons in multiple locations in both eyes and is observed in infants under the age of 1 year ^[6].

In this report, ophthalmoscopic, ultrasonographic, contrastenhanced brain MRI (CMRI), and histopathological findings of retinoblastoma-like tumor with brain metastasis in a dog were described. The importance of ophthalmoscopy and ultrasonography (USG) for early diagnosis of the patient and buying time to benefit from radiotherapy by considering the brain as a secondary metastatic site as well as the need to consider retinoblastoma in patients with leukocoria were emphasized.

CASE HISTORY

For this case report, informed consent was obtained from the patient owner.

A 3-year-old male Border Collie was admitted to VetAmerikan Animal Hospital (İstanbul-Türkiye) with complaints of loss of appetite and vision. Hematologic

 \odot \odot



Fig 1. Ophthalmoscopic and ultrasonographic examination. **A.** Neoplastic mass enlarged into the posterior chamber and corpus vitreous, and leukocoria in the left eye internal angle, **B.** In the sonogram of the left eye, transversal sections showed an echogenic solid mass of retinal origin extending to the vitreous independent of papilla nervi opticus

and biochemical parameters were within normal limits. Ophthalmoscopic examination revealed that cotton ball test, menace response, and obstacle test were negative in both eyes. Direct and indirect pupillary light reflexes were positive in the right eye and negative and fixed mydriatic in the left eye, indicating N. oculomotorius damage. In the direct and indirect ophthalmoscopic examination, the fundus of the right eye was normal, and the leukocoria in the left eye was due to the presence of a solid intraocular mass, which was considered to be originating from the retina (Fig. 1-A). Intraocular pressure (IOP) values were determined to be 21 mmHg in the right eye and 27 mmHg in the left eye. Background USG with a 15 MH probe in the left eye (Ophthalmic, Accutome, B-Scan Plus, Canada) suggested that the solitary mass of retinal origin was found to be independent of N. opticus (Fig. 1-B).

Simultaneous T2 sagittal weighted evaluation of the patient with Contrast-enhanced brain MRI (1.5 Tesla, Siemens, Magnetom Sempra, Germany) revealed solid masses of 13.4 x 9.mm intraocular in the left bulbus oculi (*Fig. 2-A*), 19.1 x 18.4 mm at the suprasellar cistern, third ventricle and chiasma opticum levels of the brain, and 4.0 x 6.7 mm adjacent to the caudal cranial fossa in the medulla oblongata (*Fig. 2-B*). Contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) scan of the thorax and abdomen (Somatom go, Germany) showed no pathologic findings.

Enucleation of the left eye was performed with standard anesthesia and surgical protocol followed by histopathologic evaluation. The eyeball was cut sagittal. A partially solid mass of 13x9 mm in size, originating from the retina and expanding into the vitreous, with no connection to the lens, was found close to the nasal angle of the eye (*Fig. 3*).

The sagittal sectioned eyeball was completely cassetted



Fig 2. Contrast-enhanced brain MRI evaluation. **A.** Intraocular mass on T2-weighted sagittal plane in left bulbus oculi at the size of 13.7×9.0 mm, **B.** Solid masses on the T2-weighted sagittal plane at the suprasellar cistern, third ventricle and chiasma opticum levels of the brain (19.1 x 18.4 mm) and in the medulla oblongata adjacent to the caudal cranial fossa (4.0 x 6.7 mm)



Fig 3. Nodular neoplastic tissue in the bulbus oculi (arrows)

and subjected to the usual routine procedures. The section surface and the tumoral mass were embedded in liquid paraffin, suitable for dissection. The prepared blocks were cut at a size of 4-5 micron thin with a rotary microtome and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) to be examined under a light microscope. The mass consisted of neoplastic cells originating from retina and expanding into the vitreous and attached to the retina at large areas (*Fig. 4-A*). The mass had no connection with the lens and ciliar body (*Fig. 4-B,C*) in serial sections and there were



between neoplastic tissue (*arrowhead*) and the lens (*arrow*) HE x4, **C**. Lack of connection between neoplastic tissue (*arrowhead*) and the ciliary body (*arrow*) HE x 4, **D**. Atypical cells in neoplastic retinal tissue, some with vacuolated cytoplasm (*circled area*) HE x 20, **E**. Atypical neuroepithelial cells forming the neoplastic tissue (*circled area and its surroundings*) HE x 20, **F**. Atypical neuroepithelial cells forming neoplastic tissue with fibrovascular stroma (*arrows*) HE x 10, **G**. Imaginary rosette-like structures in neoplastic tissue (*arrows*) HE x20, **H**. Oval polygonal neuroepithelial cells forming the neoplastic tissue and mitotic structures (*arrows*) HE x40



Fig 5. In the CMRI evaluation of the patient, on the T2-weighted sagittal plane, expansion of the mass in the suprasellar cistern, third ventricle and chiasma opticum levels of the brain to a size of 19.8 x 21.4 mm and the mass in the caudal cranial fossa adjacent to the medulla oblongata to a size of $8.2 \times 11.9 \text{ mm}$

atypical cells in the mass, some with vacuolated cytoplasm (*Fig. 4-D*). Atypical cells were oval, spindle or polygonal shaped cells of different sizes with hyperchromatic nuclei and little cytoplasm. These cells were similar to immature neuroepithelial cells of the retina (*Fig. 4-E*). In different areas of the neoplastic tissue, the majority of atypical cells formed rosette like structures (Flexner-Wintersteiner) with based on imaginary appearance (*Fig. 4-F,G*) and 2-4 mitotic figure on average at x40 objective were observed in different areas of oval polygonal neuroepithelial cells forming the neoplastic tissue (*Fig. 4-G,H*). Moreover, a focus of calcification within an area of atypical neoplastic cells was also detected. Histopathologic findings confirmed that the neoplastic tissue was a retinoblastoma-

like tissue. Treatment was suggested as planning tomography followed by intensity-modulated externalbeam radiation therapy (Trilogy /Varian Medical Systems, Palo Alto, CA) for both lesions in the brain. The patient died due to development of unconsciousness and pressure on the respiratory center because of rapid expansion of the tumor during intermittent follow-ups.

Contrast-enhanced brain MRI evaluation following death of the patient showed that the mass at the suprasellar cistern, third ventricle and chiasma opticum levels of the brain was enlarged to 19.5 x 21.4 mm, and the mass adjacent to the caudal cranial fossa of the medulla oblongata to 8.2 x 11.9 mm on the T2-weighted sagittal plane (*Fig. 5*).

DISCUSSION

Neuroblastoma, ependymoblastoma, retinoblastoma, and medulloepithelioma, which are classified in the PNET or ETMR classes, are observed in both humans and animal species, and they have been reported to occur in the peripheral and central nervous system or in the bulbus oculi ^[7-9]. The common feature of these tumors is that they have multilayered rosettes in histopathologic terms. Flexner-Wintersteiner rosettes are actual wheel-shaped rosettes in histopathologic evaluation and are known to be specific to retinoblastoma-like tumors and certain PNETs ^[10,11].

Syed NA found that the tumor contained areas of retinal photoreceptor and glial differentiation, unlike other tumors examined including Flexner-Wintersteiner rosettes, and the histopathological findings and differential staining characteristics of the retinal tumor were consistent with retinoblastoma, and they presented the first documented case of spontaneous retinoblastoma in an animal.

More recently, Regan et al.^[9] diagnosed retinoblastoma-

like tumors in 4 out of 8 dogs with PNET and interestingly reported that these tumors were frequently observed in dogs \leq 2 years of age, which was consistent with the clinical age presentation in humans, while the more common medulloepitheliomas occurred in dogs >7 years of age. They indicated that the characteristics of retinoblastoma include predominantly hyperchromatic small neuroepithelial cells, nuclei, scanty cytoplasm, and low mitotic index with smaller sized rosette formation, often characterized by a single row, as well as radially arranged neoplastic cells.

In the histopathological evaluation of our case, considering that imaginary rosette formation was observed, the tumors surrounded a central lumen containing small cytoplasmic extensions and were characteristic for retinoblastoma, and the fact that the tumor developed in a single eye and at a young age, the findings were remarkable, and the authors agreed on the diagnosis of spontaneous retinoblastoma-like tumor.

Retinoblastomas are malignant tumors arising from the primitive neuroepithelium of the retina while medulloepitheliomas arise from the primitive medullary epithelium of the ciliary body ^[5]. In our case, microscopic examination clearly showed that the neoplastic tissue originated from the retina, and the neoplasm was of retinal origin.

In a 10-year-old Golden Retriever, ETMR was considered in the histopathologic examination of a retrobulbar mass that pushed the globe to the dorsotemporal region and caused distortion. It has been reported that ETMRs are generally aggressive malignant tumors in both humans and animals, and no systemic metastasis of retrobulbar ETMRs has been reported ^[12].

In our case, MRI evaluation revealed solid mass metastatic areas of 19.1 x 18.4 mm in the suprasellar cistern, third ventricle and chiasma opticum levels of the brain and of 4.0 x 6.7 mm adjacent to the caudal cranial fossa in the medulla oblongata.

It has been emphasized that detailed ophthalmoscopic/ background sonographic examination should be performed in the differential diagnosis of retinoblastoma; retinoblastoma should be differentiated from persistent hyperplastic primary vitreous, cataract, vitreous hemorrhage, retinal detachment, and meduloepithelioma, and that background USG is necessary to recognize the type of retinoblastoma tumor in the differential diagnosis. USG diagnosis of retinoblastoma is based on demonstrating calcifications within the lesion, which produce bright signals with high reflectivity and cause shadowing ^[13]. Similar reflections were observed on sonography performed with B-Scan mode and 15 MH probe, and a calcified focus was detected on histopathologic examination. While most ophthalmic tumors are locally invasive and cause distortion of the globe, retinoblastoma has been rarely associated with pain and uveitis attack. In children with retinoblastoma, leukocoria (loss of normal fundus reflex) is related to the tumor filling the globe and is the most important clinical finding ^[14].

Unlike ciliary - uveal melanomas which may cause elevated intraocular pressure (IOP), uveitis, pain, and globe disorientation; in the present case, the neoplastic mass expanded into the vitreous inside the eye, and the animal did not develop any distress, pain, or uveitis associated with the globe position until it was visible from the outside. Leukocoria was determined as a typical finding in retinoblastoma.

Early diagnosis of ocular neoplasia is an important aspect of treatment success. It has been reported that retinoblastoma shows local invasion to choroid and sclera in humans and can metastasize hematogenously to the bone, liver, central nervous system, and other organs ^[14]. In the literature review, no case of brain metastasis associated with retinoblastoma was found in dogs, and our case was believed to be the only known case of brain metastasis associated with retinoblastoma. In addition, no malignant focus outside the brain was detected on CT evaluation. Hemangiosarcoma, mammary carcinoma and melanoma are known to be the most common metastatic intracranial neoplasms in dogs. The incidence rates of metastatic brain tumors and primary brain tumors in dogs are equal ^[15]. Early diagnosis of retinoblastoma increase survival in humans. Among the treatment options for retinoblastoma, the current approach is enucleation and external-beam therapy in humans ^[5,16]. The authors recommend examination of the brain with advanced imaging techniques in cases of suspected ocular neoplasia. When the MRI findings were evaluated in the patient that died after eye extirpation before the planned radiotherapy could be performed, it was observed that the first mass in the brain rapidly enlarged by approximately 1.2 mm², and the other mass by 21.84 mm² within 1.5 months. In the light of these findings, retinoblastoma should be considered especially in young dogs with unilateral leukocoria regardless of breed. Considering that the secondary metastatic site may be the brain and the primary and secondary foci grow very rapidly, it is believed that survival may improve with early-stage diagnosis and planned anticancer treatment.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The data used in this article will be provided by the corresponding author (E. Özgencil) upon request.

Competing Interests: The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Author Contributions: Case examination and evaluation of clinical

findings were done by FEÖ, APG, OÜ and VÇ. FEÖ, ÖK, ND and VÇ performed the operation of the patient and provided postoperative care. EEÇ and EY interpreted MRI and CT images. FEÖ and APG contributed to the discussion. AG and DÖ performed the histopathological examination of the patient. FEÖ made the article writing and ND made the submission of the article. The authors have submitted the paper collectively.

REFERENCES

1. Krieger EM, Pumphrey SA, Wood CA, Mouser PJ, Robinson NA, Maggio F: Retrospective evaluation of canine primary, multicentric, and metastatic intraocular neoplasia. *Vet Ophthalmol*, 25 (5): 343-349, 2022. DOI: 10.1111/vop.12988

2. Hamor RE: Ocular neoplasia in dogs. UFCVM. Reviewed/Revised Mar 2022 | Modified Oct 2022. https://www.msdvetmanual.com/eye-diseases-and-disorders/neoplasia-of-the-eye-and-associated-structures/ocular-neoplasia-in-dogs; *Accessed*: 03.12.2023

3. Özgencil FE, Dirilenoğlu F, Seyrek İntaş D, Gökçe AP, Akbaş GÇ, Pilli M, Gültekin Ç, Çetinkaya MA, Mocan G: Ocular transmissible venereal tumor in two dogs: Clinical and cytohistopathological evaluation. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 26 (4): 567-572, 2020. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2019.23843

4. Komori T: The 2016 WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system: The major points of revision. *Neurol Med Chir*, 57, 301-311, 2017. DOI: 10.2176/nmc.ra.2017-0010

5. Houston SK, Murray TG, Wolfe SQ, Fernandes CE: Current update on retinoblastoma. *Int Ophthalmol Clin*, 51 (1): 77-91, 2011. DOI: 10.1097/ IIO.0b013e3182010f29

6. Chung EM, Specht CS, Schroeder JW: From the archives of the AFIP: Pediatric orbit tumors and tumorlike lesions: Neuroepithelial lesions of the ocular globe and optic nerve. *RadioGraphics*, 27 (4): 1159-1186, 2007. DOI: 10.1148/rg.274075014

7. Alyahya GA, Heegaard S, Fledeliu HC, Rechnitzer C, Prause JU: Primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the orbit in a 5-year-old girl with microphthalmia. *Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol*, 238 (9): 801-806, 2000. DOI: 10.1007/s004170000178

8. Choi US, Philippe L, Alleman AR, Kim MS, Lee KC: Cytologic and immunohistochemical characterization of a primitive neuroectodermal tumor in the brain of a dog. *Vet Clin Pathol*, 41 (1): 153-715, 2012. DOI: 10.1111/j.1939-165X.2012.00404.x

9. Regan DP, Dubielzig RR, Zeiss CJ, Charles B, Hoy SS, Ehrhart EJ: Primary primitive neuroectodermal tumors of the retina and ciliary body in dogs. *Vet Ophthalmol*, 16 (1): 87-93, 2013. DOI: 10.1111/vop.12056

10. Syed NA, Nork TM, MS; Poulsen GL, Riis RC, George C, Albert DM: Retinoblastoma in a dog. *Arch Ophthalmol*, 115 (6): 758-763, 1997. DOI: 10.1001/archopht.1997.01100150760012

11. Kiratli H, Bilgic S, Gedikoglu G, Ruacan S, Ozmert E: Primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the orbit in an adult. *Ophthalmology*, 106, 98-102, 1999. DOI: 10.1016/S0161-6420(99)90020-9

12. Martins BC, Struthers J, Abbott JR, Plummer CE: Retrobulbar embryonal tumor with multilayered rosettes in a golden retriever dog. *Clin Case Rep*, 9 (2): 660-668, 2020. DOI: 10.1002/ccr3.3602

13. Cruz-Gálvez CC, Ordaz-Favila JC, Villar-Calvo VM, Cancino-Marentes ME, Bosch-Canto V: Retinoblastoma: Review and new insights. *Front Oncol*, 12:963780, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2022.963780

14. Correa ZM, Berry JL: Review of Retinoblastoma. 2016; https://www. aao.org/education/disease-review/review-of-retinoblastoma; *Accessed:* 03.12.2023

15. Miller AD, Miller CR, Rossmeisl JH: Canine primary intracranial cancer: A clinicopathologic and comparative review of glioma, meningioma, and choroid plexus tumors. *Front Oncol*, 9:1151, 2019. DOI: 10.3389/ fonc.2019.01151

16. Ancona-Lezama D, Dalvin LA, Shields CL: Modern treatment of retinoblastoma: A 2020 review. *Indian J Ophthalmol*, 68 (11): 2356-2365, 2020. DOI: 10.4103/ijo.IJO_721_20

CASE REPORT

Ethmoidal Meningoencephalocele in an Anatolian Shepherd Dog

Dilruba PERVAZ ALTUNYUVA ¹(*)

¹ Istanbul University Cerrahpaşa, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Surgery Department, TR-34320 İstanbul - TÜRKİYE



^(*) **Corresponding author:** Dilruba PERVAZ ALTUNYUVA

Phone: +90 212 473 70 70 E-mail: dilrubapervaza@gmail.com

How to cite this article?

Pervaz Altunyuva D: Ethmoidal meningoencephalocele in an Anatolian Shepherd dog. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (3): 407-410, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31535

Article ID: KVFD-2024-31433 Received: 04.01.2024 Accepted: 25.03.2024 Published Online: 02.04.2024

Abstract

Meningoencephalocele is an uncommon disorder in dogs, that has detrimental effects on both the duration and quality of life. Dogs afflicted by this condition may exhibit neurological deficits, epileptic seizures, and behavioral disorders. A 4-month-old female Anatolian Shepherd dog, weighing 13 kg presented for further investigation of a 3-week history of cluster, grand mal seizures. No abnormalities were evident on physical examination. A full neurological examination, including cranial nerve assessment was unremarkable, except a slight right proprioceptive deficit on the right front leg. MRI of the brain was performed. Protrusion of the right rostral rhinencephalon through the defect of the right cribriform plate and a right basal ethmoidal meningoencephalocele was detected. Due to the dog's age, aggressive temperament, and current clinical status, medical management was preferred, and the dog was managed on phenobarbital and levetiracetam. Seizures have remained well controlled 12 months post-diagnosis.

Keywords: Anatolian Shepherd Dog, Cluster seizure, Epilepsy, Meningoencephalocele, Magnetic resonance imaging, MRI

INTRODUCTION

In humans encephalocele refers to the abnormal protrusion of cranial contents beyond the normal confines of the skull. They may contain meninges (meningocele), brain matter and meninges (meningo-encephalocele) or they may communicate with the ventricles (meningoencephalocystocele) ^[1]. A meningo-encephalocele (MEC) is a protrusion of cerebral tissue and meninges through a cranial defect, whereas a meningocele (MC) is a herniation of the meninges only ^[2]. MECs protruding into the nasal cavity are named intranasal MECs ^[3].

This anomaly results from a focal failure of the neuroectoderm and surface ectoderm to separate during fetal development, occurring primarily during the 4th gestational week ^[4]. Genetic and environmental factors, including toxins, nutritional deficiencies, head traumas, and chronic intracranial hypertension, are identified as potential contributors to acquired cases ^[5-9]. Additionally, it has been reported that a meningoencephalocele formation occurred in a cat after the transfrontal craniotomy procedure. This situation indicates that this pathology can also develop iatrogenically ^[6]. In cases of

congenital encephalocele, it has been observed that the meninges are often protruded ^[7].

Clinical presentations in both humans and dogs range from epileptic seizures to behavioral alterations. In the canine population, ethmoidal meningoencephaloceles are associated with diverse neurological signs, including aggressiveness, hyperactivity, and distinctive behaviors like stargazing or fly-catching ^[8]. Diagnosis necessitates a comprehensive approach involving clinical evaluation and advanced imaging techniques, with MRI being crucial for delineating intracranial compartments and herniated contents. Treatment options vary, with anti-epileptic drugs proving to be effective in some cases, while surgical intervention may be considered for drug-resistant cases or those presenting with cerebrospinal fluid rhinorrhea.

This report aims to comprehensively document and analyze a rare case of ethmoidal meningoencephalocele in a 4-month-old female Anatolian Shepherd dog presenting with cluster grand mal seizures. The investigation delves into the clinical presentation, diagnostic process utilizing MRI, and the subsequent management of the dog. The report emphasizes the challenges posed by the ethmoidal meningoencephalocele in a canine patient, exploring the intricate relationship between anatomical anomalies, neurological manifestations, and treatment modalities. By providing detailed insights into this rare clinical scenario, the report contributes to the veterinary literature, fostering a deeper understanding of ethmoidal meningoencephaloceles in dogs and guiding clinicians in their diagnostic and therapeutic approaches to similar cases.

CASE HISTORY

Informed consent was obtained from the animal owner to use the data obtained from the clinical examination.

Clinical Examination

A 4-month-old, intact female Anatolian Shepherd dog, weighing 13 kg, was admitted for evaluation of worsening cluster, grand mal seizures. The dog was adopted 3 months ago, medical history is unknown and was clinically healthy for the last 2 months. The first generalized seizure which lasted around 6 min was followed by 3 more seizures on the same day. No epileptic seizures occurred for the next 3 weeks, until the day before admission. The dog had 5 more grand mal seizures, each lasting around 4 min. During examination, the dog was bright, alert, and responsive. A full neurological examination, including cranial nerve assessment was unremarkable, except a slight right proprioceptive deficit on the right front leg. Complete blood count showed a mild increase in basophil (0.26 x 10⁹/L; reference interval [RI] 0-0.1x10⁹/L) and eosinophil (1.89 x 10⁹/L; RI 0-1.6x10⁹/L) counts. Serum biochemistry analysis also revealed a minor increase in ALP (139 U/L; RI 13.0-83.0 U/L) which is consistent with young age and cluster seizures. Serum TSH, total T4 and free T4 values were within the reference range.

Imaging, Diagnosis and Outcome

The dog was sedated with 10 µg/kg-IM medetomidine (Domitor[®], Zoetis, Estonia) and 0.1 mg/kg-IM butorphanol (Butomidor[®], RichterPharma, Austria) combination. Anesthesia was induced with 0.2 mg/kg-IV propofol (Propofol® 200 mg/20 mL, Abbott, Türkiye) and maintained by an inhalation anesthetic, isoflurane at a concentration of 1% (Forane[®], liquid, Abbott, England) in 100% oxygen. MRI of the brain was performed using a 1.5 Tesla MRI system (GE Signa Excite 1.5T). T2-weighted fast recovery fast spin echo (frFSE), fluid-attenuation inversion recovery (FLAIR) in sagittal, dorsal, and transverse planes. T1-weighted fast spin echo (fSE) was performed with 4 mm slice thickness in transverse plane. Post-intravenous gadolinium contrast (0.1 mmol/kg -Gadovist[®], Bayer, Türkiye) T1-weighted fat sat fast spin echo sequence (FS-T1-fSE) was obtained with 4 mm slice thickness, in transverse and dorsal planes.

MRI revealed protrusion of the right rostral rhinencephalon through the defect of the right cribriform plate, which was measured approximately 1 cm in diameter. Herniation of the neural parenchyma to the nasal cavity was measured at 22x19x12 mm. Bilateral deep ventricular white matter and the signal intensity of gray and white matter in bilateral cerebral hemispheres were evaluated as normal. The herniation of the neural parenchyma to the right rostral rhinencephalon was consistent with a right



ethmoidal MEC. In the post-contrast examination, mild meningeal contrast enhancement was observed around the protruding rhinencephalon tissue in both transverse and dorsal planes in T1- weighted sequences (*Fig.* 1).

Cerebrospinal fluid analysis was performed after the magnetic resonance imaging process, which did not reveal any abnormalities. The dog recovered uneventfully from anesthesia. Conservative therapy with antiepileptic medication was preferred. Surgical correction of the meningoencephalocele and defect was not performed due to the dog's age, aggressive temperament, and current clinical status. The dog was discharged on the same day of diagnostic imaging.

Levetiracetam (Keppra, UCB Pharma, USA) was prescribed at 20 mg/kg PO q 8 h in combination with phenobarbital (Luminal, Bayer, Türkiye) 2 mg/kg PO q 12 h. 2 days after the patient was discharged, a single generalized epileptic seizure recurred, which was lasted less than 1 min. Phenobarbital and levetiracetam doses were adapted to the dog's changing weight each month and serum phenobarbital concentration was measured at 22.4 μ g/mL in the fourth month and 19.7 μ g/mL in the 9th month of therapy (range, 15-40 μ g/mL). Seizures have been well controlled since last seizure and no seizure activity had been observed for 12 months post-diagnosis of the meningoencephalocele.

DISCUSSION

A focal failure of the neuroectoderm and surface ectoderm to separate during fetal development results in congenital meningoencephalocele formation. In humans, it is considered a late neurulation defect taking place during the 4th gestational week may result in MECs ^[4]. In cases of congenital encephalocele, it has been observed that the meninges are often protruded ^[7].

The most common clinical signs were epileptic seizures, behavioral alterations including aggressiveness, hyperactivity, intermittent yelping, stargazing or fly-catching behavior in dogs [8]. In most cases, as outlined by Lazzerini et al.^[11], seizures serve as the primary neurological manifestation in dogs with ethmoidal MEC, although it's important to note that seizure features don't consistently seem to align with the location of the defect. Hence, although the underlying causes of seizures in individuals with encephalocele are thought to stem from cortical traction or herniation, additional factors such as hemorrhage, white matter degeneration, or the presence of infectious or non-infectious inflammatory infiltrates may also contribute to abnormal neuronal excitability^[12]. Additionally, cases of cerebrospinal fluid rhinorrhea have been documented in dogs with frontoethmoidal encephaloceles [11-13]. In Lazzerini et al. [11]'s research, when examining dogs with frontoethmoidal encephaloceles,

neurological abnormalities such as circling, proprioceptive deficits, and reduced menace response were observed. Interestingly, this study revealed that 6 out of 17 dogs with frontoethmoidal encephaloceles displayed normal neurological examination findings.

The diagnosis of encephaloceles necessitates a dual approach, combining clinical assessment with advanced imaging methods. Following the clinical and neurological evaluation, an MRI becomes essential, while a CT scan can provide valuable insights into the craniofacial skeleton's visualization. Additionally, MRI serves the purpose of delineating the communication between intracranial compartments and the herniated contents ^[12].

Dogs affected by MECs may respond to medical treatment with anti-epileptic drugs ^[11]. However, the development of drug resistance can serve as an indication for considering surgical intervention ^[11-14]. In cases where surgery is not performed, the response to anti-epileptic drugs may vary. Notably, some dogs afflicted with frontoethmoidal encephaloceles may eventually be euthanized due to unmanageable seizures ^[11-12]. Within the Lazzerini et al.^[11] study involving 11 dogs treated with anti-epileptic drugs, 2 out of the 11 dogs were seizure-free, while 3 out of 11 experienced a seizure reduction of at least \geq 50%.

The only abnormal finding obtained during the neurological examination of the patient presenting with complaints of generalized epileptic seizures is a slight proprioceptive deficit on the right front leg. In a study conducted by Lazzerini et al.^[11] in 2017, which included 22 dogs diagnosed with meningoencephalocele or meningocele, lateralized proprioceptive deficits were observed in 9 dogs, while 7 dogs had no abnormal neurological findings reported. Although the pathological mechanism causing unilateral proprioceptive deficit is not fully understood, it is believed to be the result of the mechanical traction effect of the protruding tissue on the remaining brain tissue. In this case, it is observed that the rhinencephalon, which not only transmits the sense of smell but also conveys instinctive and emotional behaviors, is protruding. Despite the patient's young age, the aggressive behavioral pattern exhibited is also thought to be related to the protrusion of the rhinencephalon.

It has been observed that clinical and neurological examination findings are not sufficient for the diagnosis of this pathology, and advanced imaging methods must be included in the diagnostic process. Due to the presence of a calvarial defect in MEC cases, diagnosis can be made not only with MRI but also with CT.

The patient's T1-weighted post-contrast MR images show mild contrast enhancement in the meninges associated with the protruded rhinencephalon tissue. Such contrast enhancement is thought to be potentially due to focal meningitis or low cerebrospinal fluid pressure and resulting intracranial hypotension. Although no pathology was detected in the CSF analysis of the case, it should be noted that CSF analysis findings may not always be consistent in cases of focal meningitis. It is thought that intracranial hypotension may have developed due to the disruption of intracranial volume balance caused by the protruding brain tissue.

Although the possibility of traumatic MEC formation cannot be ruled out since the medical history of the dog is unknown, the fact that the dog started showing clinical symptoms at a very young age increases the likelihood of this case having a primary neural tube defect etiology.

In human medicine, surgery is considered as firstline treatment for encephaloceles ^[13]. Surgery was recommended in this case; however, the dog was elected to be managed on anti-epileptic drugs. If refractory epilepsy or CSF rhinorrhea ever develop, surgical intervention is planned right after a follow-up MRI and CT scan.

In conclusion, neither medical nor surgical treatment for MECs in dogs is warranted. Although MECs are rare, it is important to include them as a potential diagnosis when assessing young dogs displaying neurological deficits, seizures, or changes in behavior. Even though surgical treatment is considered as the first-line treatment, no seizure activity was observed in 12 months following the diagnosis and the medical treatment was considered favorable for this patient.

Declarations

Availability of Data and Materials: The data that support the findings of this case report are available from the corresponding author (D. P. A.) upon reasonable request.

Acknowledgements: I would like to thank the patient owner for allowing me to collect data and publish them for this case and VRM-Veteriner Radyoloji Merkezi for conducting the MRI scan.

Conflict of Interest: The author declared that there is no conflict of interest.

References

1. Dhirawani RB, Gupta R, Pathak S, Lalwani: Frontoethmoidal

encephalocele: Case report and review on management. *Ann Maxillofac Surg*, 4 (2): 195-197, 2014. DOI: 10.4103/2231-0746.147140

2. David DJ: Cephaloceles: Classification, pathology and management-A review. *J Craniofac Surg*, 4 (4): 192-202, 1993.

3. Rapastella S, Brash R, Covey H, Sharman M: Intranasal Meningoencephalocele in a 1-year-old Staffordshire Bull Terrier with unilateral destructive rhinitis. *Vet Rec Case Rep*, 9:e195, 2021. DOI: 10.22233/9781910443774.89.2

4. Dewey CW, Brewer DM, Cautela MA, Talarico LR, Silver GM: Surgical treatment of a meningoencephalocele in a cat. *Vet Surg*, 40 (4): 473-476, 2011. DOI: 10.1111/j.1532-950X.2011.00813.x

5. Summers BA, Cummings JF, deLahunta A (Eds): Veterinary Neuropathology. 2nd ed., 68-94, St. Louis, MO, Mosby, 1995.

6. Günther C, Beckmann KM, Steffen F: Formation of a meningoencephalocele after removal of a frontal lobe meningioma by transfrontal craniotomy in a cat. *JFMS Open Rep*, 6 (2): 2055116920957195, 2020. DOI: 10.1177/2055116920957195

7. Howing EW, Vermeij-Keers C: Frontoethmoidal encephaloceles, a study of their pathogenesis. *Pediatr Neurosurg*, 27, 346-256, 1997. DOI: 10.1159/000121262

8. Martlé V.A, Caemaert J, Tshamala M, Van Soens I, Bhatti SFM, Gielen I, Piron K, Chiers K, Tiemessen I, Van Ham LM: Surgical treatment of a canine intranasal meningoencephaloecele. *Vet Surg*, 38 (4): 515-9, 2009. DOI: 10.1111/jvim.14638

9. Kennig TJ, Willcox TO, Artz GJ, Schiffmacher P, Farrell CJ, Evans JJ: Surgical management of temporal meningoencephaloceles, cerebrospinal fluid leaks, and intracranial hypertension: Treatment paradigm and outcomes. *Neurosurg Focus*, 32 (6):E6, 2012. DOI: 10.3171/2012.4.FOCUS1265

10. Nozue Y, Yamazaki M, Nakata K, Nakano Y, Yuki G, Kimata A, Kamishina H: Surgical treatment for intranasal meningoencephalocele in a cat. *Front Vet Sci*, 7:532, 2020. DOI: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00532

11. Lazzerini K, Gutierrez-Quintana R, José-Lopez R, McConnell F, Gonçalves R, McMurrough J, De Decker S, Muir C, Priestnall S.L, Mari L, Stabile F, De Risio F, Loeffler C, Tauro A, Rusbridge C, Rodenas S, Anor S, de la Fuente C, Fischer A, Bruehschwein A, Penderis J, Guevar J: Clinical features, imaging characteristics, and long-term outcome of dogs with cranial meningocele or meningoencephalocele. *J Vet Intern Med*, 31, 505-512, 2017. DOI: 10.1111/jvim.14638

12. Suryaningtyas W, Sabudi IPAW, Parenrengi MA: The extracranial versus intracranial approach in frontoethmoidal encephalocele corrective surgery: A meta-analysis. *Neurosurgical Review*, 45, 125-127, 2022. DOI: 10.1007/s10143-021-01582-6

13. Tirumandas M, Sharma A, Gbenimacho I, Shoja MM, Tubbs RS, Oakes WJ, Loukas M: Nasal encephaloceles: A review of etiology, pathophysiology, clinical presentations, diagnosis, treatment, and complications. *Childs Nerv Syst*, 29 (5): 739-744, 2013. DOI: 10.1007/ s00381-012-1998-z

14. Thompson DNP: Postnatal management and outcome for neural tube defects including spina bifida and encephaloceles. *Prenat Diagn*, 29, 412-419, 2009. DOI: 10.1002/pd.2199

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org

Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg Volume: 30, Issue: 3, Year: 2024

E-ISSN: 1309-2251

ETHICAL PRINCIPLES AND PUBLICATION POLICY

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi follows and implements internationally accepted ethical standards to provide the necessary support to original scientific ideas and to publish high quality, reliable scientific articles in this direction. The journal's publication policy and ethical principles include the ethical standards of conduct that should be followed by author(s), journal editor(s), associate editors, subject editors, reviewers, and publishers who are the participants of this action.

The ethical statement of Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi is based on the principles indicated in the "COPE Code of Conduct and Best Practice Guidelines for Journal Editors" (<u>http://publicationethics.org/files/Code_of_conduct_for_journal_editors_Mar11.pdf</u>) and "COPE Best Practice Guidelines for Journal Editors" (<u>http://publicationethics.org/files/u2/Best_Practice.pdf</u>).

GENERAL ETHICAL PRINCIPLES

• Objectivity and Independence

Editor-in-chief, editors, associate editors, and referees conduct the evaluation process of the manuscript sent to the journal objectively and in coordination within the framework of ethical principles. Editorial decisions are independent, and internal or external factors cannot influence these decisions. In accordance with the principle of impartiality, academics working in our institution are not deemed eligible to work as a section editor in Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi, in order not to be effective in the evaluation of articles due to conflict of interest.

• Privacy

The content of the articles and the personal information of the authors such as name, e-mail address, and telephone numbers that are sent to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi are used only for the scientific purposes of the journal and not for other purposes, and cannot be shared with third parties. Article evaluation processes are also carried out confidentially.

Authorship and Authors Rights

The authors of the manuscripts sent to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi must have contributed significantly to the design, execution or interpretation of the study. For example, in view of the research and publication ethics as well as authors rights, it is not acceptable to include those as authors who do not actively contribute to the research but just only help in writing or data collection processes, which may not require any scientific knowledge. All the authors in a publication should be in agreement of the names and the orders of the authors in the manuscript.

The competence of the authors to the subject of the study is evaluated by the editor within the framework of deontological rules and the professional fields of each author.

The corresponding author of the article should declare the contributions of the authors to the work under the title of "Author contributions". The corresponding author is primarily responsible for the problems that may arise in this regard.

In multidisciplinary studies, 2 authors who are from different disciplines can be "equivalent first name authors" and up to most 3 authors who are also from different disciplines can be "equivalent second name authors".

• Originality of Research Findings

The authors should declare that the article they presented contained the original research results, that the study data were analyzed correctly, and that they were prepared for publication using adequate and appropriate references, in the "cover letter" section of the on-line system at the submission stage. Using expressions such as "it is the first study done", "there has been no previous study on this subject" and "there is a limited number of studies" to add originality and importance to the article is not acceptable and may cause prevention of the scientific evaluation of the article by the editor.

• Similarity

Articles submitted to the journal are subjected to similarity analysis using appropriate software (iThenticate by CrossCheck) at the beginning and at every required stage. If unethical similarities are detected regardless of the rate of similarity, this situation is reported to the authors and corrections are requested or articles containing excessive similarities are rejected at the first evaluation stage without being evaluated.

• Plagiarism/Self-Plagiarism, Duplicate Publication

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi applies publication ethics and verifies the originality of content submitted before publication and checks all submitted manuscripts for plagiarism/self-plagiarism, similarity and duplication. All submitted manuscripts are meticilously screened by a similarity detection software (iThenticate by CrossCheck). Papers previously presented at scientific meetings and published only as an "abstract" should be indicated in the Title Page file as stated in the "Guidance for Authors". Authors do not have the right to use entire paragraphs from their previous publications into a new submission. These actions are also considered as a plagiarism. In any case, the manuscript should be original in terms of scientific contents and writing. In the event of alleged or suspected research misconduct, the Editorial Board will follow and act in accordance with "COPE Guidelines".

• Multi-part Publication (Piecemeal Publication)

Some authors may tend to divide study data into two or more articles and publish the results in different journals also having different authors names and orders. In principal, Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi is against multi-part publication. When necessary, the ethical committee approval information of the study, project information, congress presentations, etc. are checked and such situations that will create an ethical problem are identified and reported to the authors.

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org

E-ISSN: 1309-2251

Authors may think that their work should be published in multi parts that complement each other. For this, each part of the article should be titled "Part-I", "Part-II" and submitted to the journal "simultaneously". This issue can be evaluated by the editor-in-chief/subject editors/ referees who may suggest that the article can be published in parts or as a whole. In addition, rejection of a submission presented in parts means that all parts will be rejected.

• Animal Rights and Ethics

The authors are responsible for conducting experimental and clinical studies on animal experiments within the framework of existing international legislation on animal rights. Authors must also obtain permission from the Animal Experiment Ethics Committees and provide relevant information in the Material and Method section to experiment with animals. In clinical studies, as well as the approval of the ethics committee, an "informed consent form" should be obtained from the animal owners and the information related to it should be declared in the Material and Method section. Declaration of "informed consent form" is sufficient for the articles in the "Case report" and "Letter to the Editor" category.

Ethics committee permission taken for a study can only be used in one article. It is unacceptable to use the same ethics committee approval number in articles with different names and contents. The editor/subject editors can request from the corresponding author, if necessary, to send a copy of the ethics committee approval form to the journal (electronically or by post).

In cases of violation ethical rules, the article is not taken into consideration or if it is in the evaluation stage, the procedure is terminated and the article is rejected.

• Conflicts of Interest/Competing Interests

The editor-in-chief pays attention to whether there is a conflict of interest or union of interest between editors, reviewers and author (s) for an objective and unbiased evaluation of the article. In addition, the authors should disclose any financial interests or links or any conditions that may raise the bias issue in research and article under the above heading.

Copyright

Authors retain the copyright to their published work licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International license (CC BY-NC 4.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) and grant the Publisher non-exclusive right to publish the work. CC BY-NC 4.0 license permits unrestricted, non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The authors must fill in the "Copyright Agreement Form" and sign it with a wet signature. Authors who submit articles from abroad should scan the signed form and send it to the editor via the system or by e-mail. Original forms that are wet signed for articles sent domestically should be submitted to the journal via mail or cargo. The works of the authors who do not submit the Copyright Agreement Form on time are not published.

• Withdrawal of a Submission

In case of if the authors detect a significant error or deficiency in their article under review or if this error is reported to them by the editor/ subject editor/referees they can contact immediately to the editor-in-chief and ask the request to withdraw the article by stating the reason. The decision on this issue is up to the editorial board.

• Erratum

After an article has been published, the corresponding author may request the editor to publish "erratum" for any errors or inaccuracies noticed by the authors, editors or readers. In collaboration with the authors, the editor prepares and publishes the Erratum article in the first upcoming issue. These articles, like other publications, should contain the publication tag and DOI number.

Retraction

If any ethical problem is detected about the article that cannot be compensated and cannot be eliminated with erratum after the article is published, the editor-in-chief and associate editors prepare a justification about the article and apply the retraction procedure to the article. The text file on the web page of a retracted article is blocked and the reason for retraction is added to the system as a file, ensuring that it is constantly in the archive.

• Advertising

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi do not accept advertising and sponsorships that are believed to create a potential conflict of interest. If the article sent to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi is for the promotion of a commercial product and/or the work carried out is directly supported by a company, it is rejected without consideration.

OPEN ACCESS STATEMENT

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi is an open access publication. The journal's publication model is based on Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) declaration. Articles published in Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi are available online, free of charge at https://vetdergikafkas.org/archive.php.

Except for commercial purposes, users are allowed to read, download, copy, print, search, or link to the full texts of the articles in this journal without asking prior permission from the publisher or the author. The open access articles in the journal are licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) licence.

ARTICLE EVALUATION AND PUBLICATION PROCESS

• Initial Evaluation Process

Articles submitted to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi are primarily evaluated by the editors and associate editors. At this stage, articles not having suitable scope and aims, with low original research value, containing scientific and ethically important errors, having low potential to contribute to science and the journal, and having poor language and narration are rejected by the editor without peer-review process. Initial evaluation process takes up to most 2 weeks.

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

Preliminary Evaluation Process

Articles that are deemed appropriate for editorial evaluation are sent to the subject editor related to the category of articles to be examined in terms of scientific competence and to the statistics editor for evaluation in terms of statistical methods. The suject editors examine the article in all aspects and report their decisions (rejection, revision or peer-review) to the chief editor. This stage takes about 1 month.

Peer-review Process

Double-blind peer-review is applied to the articles that have completed preliminary evaluation process. Suggestions of subject editors are primarily considered in referee assignment. In addition, reviews can be requested from the referees registered in the journal's referee pool. At least 2 referees are assigned for peer-review. Opinion of more referees can be required depending on the evaluation process. At this stage, referees send their decision (reject, revision or accept) about the article to the editor-in-chief. If the rejection decision given by a referee reflects sufficient examination and evidence-based negativities or ethical problems about the scientific content and accuracy of the article, this decision is checked by the editor-in-chief and associate editors and submitted to the authors regardless of the other referees' decisions. The time given to referees to evaluate an article is ~4 weeks.

• Publication Process of an Article

Total evaluation period of an article, which is completed in the peer-review phase after completing the initial and preliminary evaluation process, takes 4-6 months. The articles that have completed the subject editorial and peer-review evaluation stages and accepted by the editorial are sent to the corresponding author for final checks and necessary final additions. After the acceptance, the article designed in the publication format of the journal is given an DOI number and published immediately on the Article in Press page. When it is time to publish the periodic edition of the journal, a selection is made from the articles kept on the Article in Press page, taking into account the submission date. The time it takes for the article to be published by taking the page number is 6-12 months.

NO PUBLICATION FEE

Processing and publication are free of charge with the journal. There is no article processing char-ges, submission fees or any other fees for any submitted or accepted articles.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PUBLISHER, EDITORS AND ASSOCIATE EDITORS

The publisher (Dean of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of Kafkas University) contributes to the execution of the journal's routine processes such as printing, archiving, and mailing, in line with requests from the editor.

The publisher undertakes to carry out an independent and fair decision-making mechanism for its editors and assistants in the article evaluation process and decisions.

The publisher undertakes to carry out an independent and fair decision-making mechanism for its editors and associate editors in the article evaluation process and decisions.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors of Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi evaluate the articles submitted to the journal regardless of their race, gender, religious belief, ethnicity, citizenship or political views. In addition, it undertakes not to give any information about the article except for the authors, subject editors and referees.

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi follows internationally accepted principles and criteria and takes the necessary decisions to apply in the journal.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors conduct the evaluation and decision process in the journal in coordination within the principles of confidentiality and have independent decision-making authority and responsibility without being affected by any internal or external factors. Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors make and implement all kinds of planning for the development of the journal and its international

recognition. They also follow national and international meetings or events on the development of journals and article evaluation, and ensures that the journal is represented on these platforms.

The editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors make every effort to ensure that the journal's subject editors and referee pool have international qualifications. Likewise, it makes the necessary attempts to strengthen the author's profile.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors make plans to improve the quality of the articles published in the journal and carry out the necessary process.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors regularly conduct and control the initial evaluation, preliminary evaluation, peer review and acceptance-rejection decisions of articles submitted to the journal. While carrying out these procedures, features such as the suitability of the study for the aims and scope of the journal, its originality, the up-to-date and reliability of the scientific methods used, and the potential it will contribute to the development of the journal as well as its benefit to science/practice are taken into consideration.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors systematically review, inspect and make decisions about the articles submitted to the journal in terms of features such as author rights, conflict of interest, observance and protection of animal rights, and compliance with research and publication ethics.

The editor-in-chief conducts the evaluation/revision process between the authors and subject editors and referees, and ensures that it is completed within the prescribed time.

ARCHIVE POLICY

The editorial office of the Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi and the publisher (Dean's Office of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kafkas University) keep all the articles (electronic and printed) published in the journal in their archives. All articles and their attachment files sent to the journal are kept securely in the archive. In light of the technological developments, the editorial office of the Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi regularly performs electronic processes for the development and updating of materials in digital environment and presents them to its readers on condition of keeping in safe the original documents and information regarding the articles.

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

Even if the journal ceases to be published for any reason, the publisher (Dean's Office of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kafkas University) will continue to protect the journal content in the long term and provide convenient access to users. Electronic services of Kafkas University Information Technologies Department will be used for the journal to maintain this responsibility.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF SUBJECT EDITORS

Subject editors do reviews and evaluations in accordance with the main publication goals and policies of the journal and in line with the criteria that will contribute to the development of the journal.

Author information is kept confidential in articles sent to the subject editor for preliminary evaluation by the editor.

Subject editors thoroughly examine the sections of the introduction, materials and methods, results, discussion and conclusion, in terms of journal publication policies, scope, originality and research ethics. Subject editor submits its decision (rejection, revision or peer-review) after evaluation to the chief editor in a reasoned report.

Subject editor may request additional information and documents related to the study from the authors, when necessary.

In multidisciplinary studies, the article can be submitted for the evaluation of multiple subject editors.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF REFEREES

Double-blinded peer-review procedure is applied in Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi in order to evaluate the articles submitted to the journal in accordance with the principle of impartiality and in objective criteria; that is, referees and writers do not know about each other.

The referees submit their opinions and reports to the editor-in-chief to ensure the control and suitability of a submitted article, its scientific content, scientific consistency and compliance with the principles of the journal. When a referee makes a decision "reject" about an article, he/she prepares the reasons for the decision in accordance with the scientific norms and presents it to the editor.

The referee(s) also gives the authors the opportunity to improve the content of the article. Accordingly, the revisions requested from the authors should be of a quality that explains/questions specific issues rather than general statements.

Referees appointed for the evaluation of the articles agree that the articles are confidential documents and will not share any information about these documents with third parties, except for the editors participating in the evaluation.

Referees should place their criticism on scientific infrastructure and write their explanations based on scientific evidence. All comments made by the referees to improve the articles should be clear and direct, and should be written away from disturbing the feelings of the author. Insulting and derogatory statements should be avoided.

If a referee has an interest relationship with the author(s) on one or more issues, he/she must report the situation to the editor and ask his/ her to withdraw from the referee position. The same is also applicable when the authors illegally obtain information about the referees of the article and try to influence them.

The editor-in-chief can share the comments and reports from the referees with the editors/associate editors and the relevant subject editor, as necessary, to ensure that the decision on the article is optimal. If necessary, the editor may share the critical decision and its grounds that a referee has sent about the article with the other referee(s) and present them to their attention.

Referee(s) may request revision many times for the article they evaluated.

The content of the referee reports is checked and evaluated by editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors. The final decision belongs to the editorial.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF AUTHOR(S)

It is not tolerable for the author (s) to send an article, which has been already sent to another journal, to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi within the scope of "which accepts" or "which publishes first" approach. If this is detected, the article is rejected at any stage of the evaluation. As a possible result of these actions, in the process following the previous acceptance of the article sent to another journal, the withdrawal request with this excuse that the authors submit for this article, the evaluation process of which is going on in our journal, is evaluated by the editors and associate editors of the journal and disciplinary action on the grounds of ethical violations about those responsible is started. This unethical action is also informed to the journal editor (if known) who accepted the article.

It is essential that the articles to be sent to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi include studies that have up-to-date, original and important clinical/practical results and prepared in accordance with the journal's writing rules.

Authors should choose the references they use during the writing of the article in accordance with the ethical principles and cite them according to the rules.

The authors are obliged to revise the article in line with the issues conveyed to them during the initial evaluation, preliminary evaluation and peer-review phases of the article and to explain the changes they made/did not make sequentially in the "response to editor" and "response to reviewer comments" sections.

If information, documents or data regarding to the study are requested during the evaluation process, the corresponding author is obliged to submit them to the editorial.

Authors should know and take into account the issues listed in the "General Ethical Principles" section regarding scientific research and authors.

The authors do not have the right to simultaneously submit multiple articles to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi. It is more appropriate to submit them with acceptable time intervals for the journal's policy.

E-ISSN: 1309-2251

INSTRUCTION FOR AUTHORS

1- Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi (abbreviated title: Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg), published bimonthly (E-ISSN: 1309-2251). We follow a double-blind peer-review process, and therefore the authors should remove their name and any acknowledgment from the manuscript before submission. Author names, affiliations, present/permanent address etc. should be given on the title page only.

The journal publishes full-length research papers, short communications, preliminary scientific reports, case reports, observations, letters to the editor, and reviews. The scope of the journal includes all aspects of veterinary medicine and animal science.

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi is an Open Access journal, which means that all content is freely available without charge to the user or his/her institution. Users are allowed to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of the articles, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without asking prior permission from the publisher or the author. This is in accordance with the BOAI definition of Open Access.

2- The official language of our journal is English.

3- The manuscripts submitted for publication should be prepared in the format of Times New Roman style, font size 12, A4 paper size, 1.5 line spacing, and 2.5 cm margins of all edges. The legend or caption of all illustrations such as figure and table and their appropriate position should be indicated in the text. Refer to tables and figures in the main text by their numbers. Also figure legends explanations should be given at the end of the text.

The figures should be at least 300 dpi resolution.

The manuscript and other files (figure etc.) should be submitted by using online manuscript submission system at the address of http://vetdergi.kafkas.edu.tr/

During the submission process, the authors should upload the figures of the manuscript to the online manuscript submission system. If the manuscript is accepted for publication, the Copyright Agreement Form signed by all the authors should be sent to the editorial office.

4- The authors should indicate the name of the institute approves the necessary ethical commission report and the serial number of the approval in the material and methods section. If necessary, the editorial board may also request the official document of the ethical commission report. In case reports, a sentence stating that "informed consent" was received from the owner should be added to the main document. If an ethical problem is detected (not reporting project information, lack of ethical committee information, conflict of interest, etc.), the editorial board may reject the manuscript at any stage of the evaluation process.

5- Authors should know and take into account the issues listed in the **"Ethical Principles and Publication Policy"** section regarding scientific research and authors.

6- Types of Manuscripts

Original (full-length) manuscripts are original and proper scientific papers based on sufficient scientific investigations, observations and experiments.

Manuscripts consist of the title, abstract and keywords, introduction, material and methods, results, discussion, and references and it should not exceed 12 pages including text. The number of references should not exceed 50. The page limit does not include tables and illustrations. Abstract should contain 200±20 words.

Short communication manuscripts contain recent information and findings in the related topics; however, they are written with insufficient length to be a full-length original article. They should be prepared in the format of full-length original article but the abstract should not exceed 100 words, the reference numbers should not exceed 15 and the length of the text should be no longer than 6 pages in total. The page limit does not include tables and illustrations. Additionally, they should not contain more than 4 figures or tables.

Preliminary scientific reports are a short description of partially completed original research findings at an interpretable level. These should be prepared in the format of full-length original articles. The length of the text should be no longer than 4 pages in total.

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

Case reports describe rare significant findings encountered in the application, clinic, and laboratory of related fields. The title and abstract of these articles should be written in the format of full-length original articles (but the abstract should not exceed 100 words) and the remaining sections should be followed by the Introduction, Case History, Discussion and References. The reference numbers should not exceed 15 and the length of the text should be no longer than 4 pages in total. The page limit does not include tables and illustrations.

Letters to the editor are short and picture-documented presentations of subjects with scientific or practical benefits or interesting cases. The length of the text should be no longer than 3 pages in total. The page limit includes tables and illustrations.

Reviews are original manuscripts that gather the literature on the current and significant subject along with the commentary and findings of the author on a particular subject (It is essential that the author/s have international scientific publications on this subject). The title and summary of this manuscript should be prepared as described for the full-length original articles and the remaining sections should be followed by introduction, text (with appropriate titles), conclusion, and references.

"Invited review" articles requested from authors who have experience and recognition in international publishing in a particular field are primarily published in our journal.

Review articles submitted to our journal must be prepared in accordance with any of the three categories listed below.

Narrative reviews describe current published information on a scientific topic. However, it does not include a specific methodological process.

Systematic reviews include the search for original studies published in that field on a specific topic, the evaluation of validity, synthesis and interpretation within a systematic methodology.

Meta-analysis is a method of evaluating the results of many studies on a subject with the methods defined in this category and statistical analysis of the obtained findings.

7- The necessary descriptive information (thesis, projects, financial supports, etc.) scripted as an italic font style should be explained below the manuscript title after placing a superscript mark at the end of the title.

8- At least 30% of the references of any submitted manuscript (for all article categories) should include references published in the last five years.

References should be listed with numerical order as they appear in the text and the reference number should be indicated inside the parentheses at the cited text place. References should have the order of surnames and initial letters of the authors, title of the article, title of the journal (original abbreviated title), volume and issue numbers, page numbers and the year of publication and the text formatting should be performed as shown in the example below.

Example: Yang L, Liu B, Yan X, Zhang L, Gao F, Liu Z: Expression of ISG15 in bone marrow during early pregnancy in ewes. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 23 (5): 767-772, 2017. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2017.17726

If the reference is a book, it should follow surnames and initial letters of the authors, title of the book, edition number, page numbers, name and location of publisher and year of publication. If a chapter in a book with an editor and several authors is used, names of chapter authors, name of chapter, editors, name of the book, edition number, page numbers, name and location of publisher and year of publication and the formatting should be performed as shown in the example below.

Example: Mcllwraith CW: Disease of joints, tendons, ligaments, and related structures. **In**, Stashak TS (Ed): Adam's Lameness in Horses. 4th ed., 339-447, Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia, 1988.

DOI number should be added to the end of the reference.

In the references can be reached online only, the web address and connection date should be added at the end of the reference information. The generally accepted scientific writing instructions must comply with the other references. Abbreviations, such as "et al" and "and friends" should not be used in the list of the references.

Follow the link below for EndNote Style of Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi;

https://researchsoftware.com/downloads/journal-faculty-veterinary-medicine-kafkas-university

9- Latin expression such as species names of bacteria, virus, parasite, and fungus and anatomical terms should be written in italic character, keeping their original forms.

10- The editorial board has the right to perform necessary modifications and a reduction in the manuscript submitted for publication and to express recommendations to the authors. The manuscripts sent to authors for correction should be returned to the editorial office within a month. After pre-evaluation and agreement of the submitted manuscripts by the editorial board, the article can only be published after the approval of the field editor and referee/s specialized in the particular field.

11- All responsibilities from published articles merely belong to the authors. According to the ethical policy of our journal, plagiarism/self-plagiarism will not be tolerated. All manuscripts received are checking by plagiarism checker software, which compares the content of the manuscript with a broad database of academic publications.

12- The editorship may request the language editing of the manuscript submitted to the journal. If the article is accepted, it will not be published without language editing. Before publication, a declaration and/or certificate stating that proofreading is done by a registered company will be requested from the corresponding author.13- No fee is charged at any stage in Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi (No APC/APF)

SUBMISSION CHECKLIST

Please use below list to carry out a final check of your submission before you send it to the journal for review. Ensure that the following items are present in your submission:

- Cover Letter

• Importance and acceptability of the submitted work for the journal have been discussed (Please avoid repeating information that is already present in the abstract and introduction).

• Other information has been added that should be known by the editorial board (e.g.; the manuscript or any part of it has not been published previously or is not under consideration for publication elsewhere.

- Title Page

- Title, Running Title (should be a brief version of the title of your paper, no exceed 50 characters)
- The author's name, institutional affiliation, Open Researcher and Contributor ID (ORCID)
- Congress-symposium, project, thesis etc. information of the manuscript (if any)
- Corresponding author's address, phone, fax, and e-mail information

- Manuscript

- Title, abstract, keywords and main text
- All figures (include relevant captions)
- All tables (including titles, description, footnotes)
- Ensure all figure and table citations in the text match the files provided
- Declarations
- Availability of Data and Materials
- Acknowledgements
- Funding Support
- Competing Interests
- Authors' Contributions

Further Considerations

- Journal policies detailed in this guide have been reviewed
- The manuscript has been "spell checked" and "grammar checked"
- Relevant declarations of interest have been made
- Statement of Author Contributions added to the text
- Acknowledgment and conflicts of interest statement provided